

# Photothermal Nanomaterials: A Powerful Light-to-Heat Converter

Ximin Cui,<sup>†</sup> Qifeng Ruan,<sup>†</sup> Xiaolu Zhuo,<sup>†</sup> Xinyue Xia, Jingtian Hu, Runfang Fu, Yang Li, Jianfang Wang,\* and Hongxing Xu\*

| Cite This: Chem. Re | v. 2023, 123, 6891–6952 | 🔇 Read C | Dnline                    |  |
|---------------------|-------------------------|----------|---------------------------|--|
| ACCESS              | III Metrics & More      |          | E Article Recommendations |  |

**ABSTRACT:** All forms of energy follow the law of conservation of energy, by which they can be neither created nor destroyed. Light-to-heat conversion as a traditional yet constantly evolving means of converting light into thermal energy has been of enduring appeal to researchers and the public. With the continuous development of advanced nano-technologies, a variety of photothermal nanomaterials have been endowed with excellent light harvesting and photothermal conversion capabilities for exploring fascinating and prospective applications. Herein we review the latest progresses on photothermal nanomaterials, with a focus on their underlying mechanisms as powerful light-to-heat converters. We present an extensive catalogue of nanostructured photothermal materials, including metallic/semiconductor structures, carbon materials, organic polymers, and two-dimensional materials. The proper material selection and rational structural design for improving the photothermal performance are then discussed. We also provide a representative overview of the latest techniques for probing photothermally generated heat at the nanoscale. We finally review the recent significant developments of photothermal



applications and give a brief outlook on the current challenges and future directions of photothermal nanomaterials.

# CONTENTS

| 1. Introduction                                 | 6892 |
|---|------|
| 2. Photothermal Conversion Mechanisms           | 6893 |
| 2.1. Plasmonic Localized Heating                | 6893 |
| 2.2. Nonradiative Relaxation in Semiconductors  | 6894 |
| 2.3. Thermal Vibrations of Molecules            | 6894 |
| 2.4. Basic Mathematical Descriptions for Photo- |      |
| thermal Conversion                              | 6894 |
| 2.4.1. Light Harvesting                         | 6894 |
| 2.4.2. Light-to-Heat Conversion                 | 6895 |
| 2.4.3. Heat Transfer                            | 6895 |
| 3. Recent Developments of Photothermal Nano-    |      |
| materials                                       | 6896 |
| 3.1. Metallic Nanostructures                    | 6896 |
| 3.1.1. Effect of the Material and Geometry      | 6896 |
| 3.1.2. Effect of Plasmon Coupling               | 6897 |
| 3.2. Semiconductors                             | 6898 |
| 3.3. Carbon-Based Nanomaterials                 | 6900 |
| 3.4. Organic Polymer Nanomaterials              | 6901 |
| 3.5. Two-Dimensional Nanomaterials              | 6902 |
| 3.6. Hybrid Photothermal Nanomaterials          | 6903 |
| 4. Probing of Photothermal Heat Generation      | 6903 |
| 4.1. Heater–Thermometer Nanoplatforms           | 6904 |
| 4.2. Non-nanoprobe Thermometry                  | 6907 |
| 5. Applications                                 | 6908 |
| 5.1. Solar Thermal Water Heating                | 6908 |
| 5.1.1. Seawater Desalination                    | 6912 |
| 5.1.2. Wastewater Purification                  | 6914 |

| 5.1.3. Electricity Generation               | 6914 |
|---|------|
| 5.2. Structural Color Printing              | 6915 |
| 5.3. Photothermal Manipulation              | 6917 |
| 5.3.1. Opto-thermophoresis of Nanomotors    | 6917 |
| 5.3.2. Photothermal Actuators and Robots    | 6918 |
| 5.4. Photothermal Catalysis                 | 6919 |
| 5.5. Selected Applications in Life Sciences | 6920 |
| 5.5.1. Photothermal Therapy (PTT)           | 6920 |
| 5.5.2. Drug Delivery                        | 6923 |
| 5.5.3. Bacterial Inhibition                 | 6924 |
| 5.5.4. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)      | 6924 |
| 5.5.5. Fight against COVID-19               | 6925 |
| 5.6. Other Applications                     | 6925 |
| 6. Conclusion and Outlook                   | 6927 |
| Author Information                          | 6928 |
| Corresponding Authors                       | 6928 |
| Authors                                     | 6929 |
| Author Contributions                        | 6929 |
| Notes                                       | 6929 |
| Biographies                                 | 6929 |
| Acknowledgments                             | 6930 |
|   |      |

Special Issue: Thermal Materials and Technology Received: March 19, 2023 Published: May 3, 2023





© 2023 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society

| Abbreviations | 6930 |
|---------------|------|
| References    | 6930 |

# 1. INTRODUCTION

The Sun, as the brightest star in the Earth's sky, supplies almost all energy for life and human activities on the Earth. Even conventional fossil fuels are the long-term storage of solar energy.<sup>1-3</sup> The Sun radiates its energy by emitting ultraviolet (UV), visible, and infrared (IR) light that carries photons with different vibrational frequencies. When encountering an object, a portion of photons in the light can be absorbed by the object, thereby heating it up. Sunlight that reaches the Earth can be largely absorbed and thus warm the atmosphere, land, and ocean, where the generated heat is essential for creating a suitable climate and environment for all living things.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, energy transfer from light to heat occurs widely in physical, chemical, and biological reactions. It is one of the most fundamental processes in nature. This light-to-heat conversion process, where materials can act as light absorbers and efficiently transfer light energy into heat, is called photothermal conversion.<sup>5</sup> The photothermal performance of a photoexcited material is mainly determined by two key intrinsic properties-the light-harvesting ability and the lightto-heat conversion efficiency. The investigation of photothermal materials with broadband absorption is beneficial for the utilization of renewable solar energy, while the engineering of materials with efficient heat generation abilities can be widely useful in various fields, including water evaporation,<sup>6</sup> photothermal catalysis,<sup>8,9</sup> and biomedicine.<sup>10,11</sup>

With the rapid development in both advanced nanotechnologies and materials science, a library of photothermal materials has been developed into nanoscale ones and designed into functional nanostructures. Similar to the classical bulk case, the photothermal effect can be universally observed in numerous nanomaterials, including metallic nanostructures,<sup>12,13</sup> semiconductors,<sup>14,15</sup> carbon-based nanomateri-als,<sup>16–19</sup> organic polymers,<sup>20,21</sup> two-dimensional (2D) transition metal carbides/nitrides (MXenes),<sup>22-24</sup> and their hybrids. In contrast to bulk structures, however, well-designed nanomaterials can exhibit unique thermal, optical, and electronic properties by tailoring their shapes, sizes, compositions, and surrounding environments, thus providing much more possibilities in tuning their photothermal properties. Based on the diversity in nanomaterials and their rich physiochemical properties, various strategies have been proposed and established for improving photothermal conversion capabilities. For example, metal nanostructures such as Au, Ag, Al, and Cu have attracted enormous attention because of their tunable localized surface plasmon resonances (LSPRs) ranging from the visible to IR region.<sup>25,26</sup> The extremely large absorption cross-sections of plasmonic metal nanostructures and their associated plasmonic heating are highly promising for converting light into heat through the LSPR effect.<sup>27,28</sup> Nanostructured semiconductors typified by metal oxides and chalcogenides represent a new type of photothermal nanomaterials, whose optical properties strongly rely on their bandgap energies.<sup>29–31</sup> Either bandgap engineering or free-carrier-induced LSPRs can govern the light absorption of semiconducting nanomaterials and further improve the light-to-heat conversion efficiency.<sup>32-34</sup> Carbonand polymer-based nanomaterials are two other competitive photothermal material candidates with strong light-to-heat

conversion abilities through thermal vibrations within the atomic lattices.<sup>20,35–38</sup> The conjugation and hyperconjugation effects can easily facilitate the excitation of less tightly held electrons from the  $\pi$  orbitals to the  $\pi^*$  orbitals, enabling broad light absorption over the solar spectrum. Apart from these widely used material options, more newly emerging classes of photothermal materials are continuously being developed, such as MXenes,<sup>39–41</sup> metal–organic frameworks (MOFs),<sup>42–46</sup> and covalent organic frameworks (COFs).47-50 Nevertheless, the mechanisms of the photothermal conversion processes can be typically attributed to the three categories mentioned above, namely, plasmonic localized heating, nonradiative relaxation of electron-hole pairs, and thermal vibrations of molecules. For enhancing the photothermal performance, photothermal nanomaterials can be designed to consist of a single component or multiple components and can involve more than one mechanism of photothermal conversion. The proper selection of materials and the ingenious design of nanostructures are consequently the most deterministic criteria for photothermal technologies.

The extensive search for new types of photothermal nanomaterials has emerged as a frontier research area for a wide range of high-potential applications in physics, chemistry, and life sciences.<sup>20,45,51</sup> One important implementation of photothermal nanomaterials is the solar evaporation technology that allows steam and clean water to be produced from either seawater or wastewater, while the sustainable solar energy is collected and stored in the form of thermal, electrical, or mechanical energy. To meet the pressing demands of energy and potable water, more and more photothermal nanomaterials with diverse structural designs have been employed for seawater desalination, wastewater purification, and electricity generation.<sup>6,7,52-54</sup> Heat-mediated optical manipulation is another emerging technique based on photothermal materials, where the generated optical heating reversely exerts an optothermal force on the heated nanostructures, which are thus endowed with versatile control of movements, including rotating, pulling, oscillating, walking, and swimming.<sup>55,56</sup> Based on various optothermo-matter interactions, light-driven photothermal nanomaterials have been demonstrated as optothermal motors, probes, assemblers, and robots for performing complicated motions and realizing functional tasks.<sup>57-60°</sup> Besides mechanical movements, shape morphing expectedly occurs under excess thermal energy and thus brings new functions of photothermal materials. Localized heating at plasmonic/photonic nanostructures can easily modify their structural morphologies and thereby their LSPRs and dielectric electromagnetic (EM) resonances, leading to promising applications in color printing and display.<sup>61-65</sup> The combination of photothermal nanostructures and phase-changing materials has been further developed into soft photothermal actuators with reversible and controllable deformation.<sup>66-70</sup> Moreover, the photothermal effect has also been widely used to drive catalytic reactions because of a synergy of thermochemical and photochemical pathways.<sup>8,9,45</sup> Thermal energy localized at active sites can effectively reduce the activation energy of photothermal catalysis and promote the transfer of charge carriers, thus greatly enhancing the catalytic process. On the other hand, photothermal nanomaterials have exhibited vast perspectives in biomedical areas because of the remote control of heating with high selectivity and spatial accuracy. Numerous applications and techniques based on the photothermal effect have been developed into photothermal

therapy (PTT),<sup>20,24,71</sup> drug delivery,<sup>13,72,73</sup> the polymerase chain reaction (PCR),<sup>74–77</sup> and even the fight against coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).<sup>78–82</sup>

Several comprehensive reviews of photothermal materials have been published in recent years.<sup>7,11,12,22</sup> However, most of these only review selected categories of photothermal materials or focus on one or two representatives of their promising technologies. In this review, we endeavor to provide a comprehensive overview of why photothermal nanomaterials can convert light into heat, what the material choices of photothermal converters are, and how the photothermal effect is applied (Figure 1). We will start with the fundamental



**Figure 1.** Overview of the mechanisms, categories, and applications of photothermal nanomaterials.

principles underlying the light-to-heat conversion processes, including the LSPR effect, electron-hole generation and nonradiative relaxation, and molecular vibrations (Section 2). We will summarize the major categories of nanostructured photothermal materials and evaluate their light-to-heat conversion capabilities based on the distinct mechanisms. From this starting point, the proper material choice and rational structural design of photothermal nanomaterials for specified utilizations will become clearer and more achievable (Section 3). We will further review the latest techniques for probing photothermal heat generation at the nanoscale and categorize nanothermometers according to the physical mechanism that is employed to measure the temperature (Section 4). We will also expatiate on the recent significant developments toward the applications of photothermal nanomaterials in solar water evaporation, photothermal manipulation, photothermal catalysis, and PTT (Section 5). In the concluding section, we will provide our perspectives on the current challenges and future directions in the field of photothermal nanomaterials.

## 2. PHOTOTHERMAL CONVERSION MECHANISMS

As a representative phenomenon of light-matter interaction, the photothermal effect is generally characterized with the temperature increase in a material through the absorption of light. Various materials possess different light-to-heat conversion abilities that rely on the responses of their electronic or bandgap structures to EM radiation. In this section, we will briefly introduce three major fundamental mechanisms involved in light-to-heat conversion processes.

#### 2.1. Plasmonic Localized Heating

The LSPR effect is the most intriguing phenomenon appearing in metallic structures down to the subwavelength-sized dimensions. Plasmonic nanostructures can break the diffraction limit of conventional optics and further confine incident light into the nanoscale, leading to the enhancement of light-matter interaction.<sup>83,84</sup> The unexpected behavior of metallic nanostructures irradiated by an external EM field is associated with their unusual electronic configurations, where electrons are coherently oscillated and redistributed at the surface. LSPRs refer to the collective oscillations of conduction-band electrons restricted inside highly conductive nanostructures. Plasmons are thus termed from the quanta of collective electron oscillations, which is the analogy to photons defined from the quanta of light waves as well as phonons treated from the quanta of sound waves. The excitation of plasmons can not only induce strong electric field enhancement near the surface of the structure but also bring about extremely large absorption and scattering cross-sections at the resonance frequency. These two important effects make metallic nanostructures perfect candidates for harvesting light and concentrating energy, endowing them with an excellent light-to-heat conversion ability.13

The photothermal conversion process in a metallic nanostructure can be understood from the excitation and damping of the surface plasmons (Figure 2a). Metallic nanostructures as conductive materials are generally featured by a considerable number of free and polarizable electrons. Upon light illumination, a plasmonic nanostructure can absorb energy from incident photons through electron transitions.



**Figure 2.** Three mechanisms of the photothermal effect with the corresponding light absorption range. (a) Plasmonic localized heating. (b) Nonradiative relaxation in semiconductors. (c) Thermal vibrations of molecules. Reprinted with permission from ref 7. Copyright 2019 Royal Society of Chemistry. (d) Physical processes of plasmon excitation and damping at different time scales.  $T_C$ ,  $T_L$ , and  $T_E$  represent the temperatures of free charge carriers, the lattice, and the surrounding environment, respectively. Reprinted with permission from ref 28. Copyright 2022 Wiley-VCH.

When the photon energy matches the LSPR band, a strong resonant interaction takes place, giving rise to enhanced light absorption and local field. The free conductive electrons of the metallic nanostructure are displaced from their intrinsic equilibrium state and relocated at the structure surface, together with an in-phase oscillation with the external EM wave. The resultant photoexcitation of the LSPR is a global nonequilibrium, where the dephasing and decay of the plasmons occur at an ultrafast speed (Figure 2d).<sup>86</sup> To restore a thermally equilibrated state, the absorbed energy of electrons can therefore be relaxed through either the radiative reemissions of photons or the nonradiative generation of electron-hole pairs through Landau damping.87,88 During such a pure quantum mechanical process of Landau damping, the energy transfer process from a plasmon quantum to a single electron-hole pair happens in a time interval from 1 to 100 fs.<sup>86,89</sup> This process occurs through electron-electron collisions without loss of the absorbed photon energy. The produced energetic electrons from the nonradiative plasmon decay are termed as hot charge carriers, whose distribution is highly nonthermal within the first 100 fs.<sup>90</sup> The hot electrons further quickly interact with low-energy electrons on the time scale ranging from 100 fs to 1 ps. This electron-electron collision is an inelastic Coulombic process that converts electron energy into heat. At the same time, low-energy electrons couple with the metallic lattice through electronphonon scattering processes with a period of several to hundreds of picoseconds. This relaxation step leads to the lattice thermalization of the nanostructure as well as a Fermi-Dirac-like distribution of electrons.<sup>91</sup> In the final step, the thermal energy inside the metallic structure is released to the surrounding environment through phonon-phonon collisions in the time scale of 100 ps to 10 ns. With thermal dissipation and lattice cooling, the electrons of the metallic nanostructure in the conduction band eventually return to their ground states before the photoexcitation.

In summary, the plasmonic effect for localized heating in metallic nanostructures involves the excitation of LSPRs with enhanced absorption, generation, and relaxation of hot electrons, and heat transfer to the surrounding medium. The energy transfer from the absorbed photons to the conductionband electrons of metallic nanostructures goes through: (1) a resonant excitation of surface plasmons; (2) an athermal process of electron–electron collisions; (3) a fast lattice thermalization through electron–phonon scattering; and (4) a slow thermal dissipation through phonon–phonon collisions.

#### 2.2. Nonradiative Relaxation in Semiconductors

Besides the excitation of the LSPRs in metallic nanostructures, the direct interband/intraband electron transitions of nonplasmonic semiconductors can also display the photothermal effect. When a semiconducting material is excited by photons with sufficient energies, electron-hole pairs are generated with their energies comparable to the bandgap. The energy of the excited electrons can be either released by emitting photons or transferred to the material lattice through nonradiative relaxation.<sup>7,92</sup> The release of phonons instead of photons in a semiconductor through the recombination of charge carriers can increase heat loss and therefore lead to a local temperature increase of the lattice. The established thermal distribution is strongly dependent on the characteristics of the light absorption and surface/bulk recombination of the semiconductor. Two types of the nonradiative relaxation processes,

including Shockley–Read–Hall and Auger recombination,<sup>93,94</sup> are ultimately responsible for heat generation in semiconductors (Figure 2b). Auger recombination, which occurs with three carriers, is an intrinsic process relying on the properties of the involved material. The effect of Auger recombination becomes ascendant with decreasing bandgaps. When an electron-hole pair recombines without the emission of photons, their energy can be transferred to either another electron higher in the conduction band or another hole deeper in the valence band. The third energetic carrier normally thermalizes back to the band edge through lattice vibrations. Shockley-Read-Hall recombination is an alternative nonradiative relaxation that depends on the quality of the material. In the presence of defects/impurities in a semiconductor, midgap energy states are usually created within the bandgap due to the defect modification of the electronic structure. These defect states are also known as trap levels that capture charge carriers. The Shockley-Read-Hall recombination process is thus called trap-assisted recombination. It involves a two-step process. Conduction-band electrons first relax to the trap level and then move to the valence band, where a hole is annihilated. These relaxation processes are accompanied with the exchange of thermal energy with the material. For the case of the defect traps located at or near the surface of the semiconductor, the trap-assisted recombination process is termed as surface recombination, which is dependent on the density of surface defects.

# 2.3. Thermal Vibrations of Molecules

Carbon-based materials and some organic polymers also demonstrate excellent light absorption characteristics and are very competent in the heat generation through lattice vibrations. Although the usual carbon bonds like C-C, C-O, and C-H possess large energy differences between the  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^*$ orbitals that can be hardly excited, loosely held electrons in these materials can be easily excited from the  $\pi$  orbitals to the  $\pi^*$  orbitals under low-energy irradiation.<sup>23,96,97</sup> When the energy of incident photons satisfies an electronic transition within the material, the  $\pi$  electrons are excited from the ground state (highest-occupied molecular orbital, HOMO) to a higher energy state (lowest-unoccupied molecular orbital, LUMO) (Figure 2c). After the relaxation of the excited electrons to the ground state through vibration-electron coupling, the excess energy is released in the form of heat. Moreover, the conjugation or hyperconjugation of the  $\pi$  orbitals can deeply modify the electron transitions between HOMO and LUMO, whose gap energy decreases with the increase in the number of  $\pi$  honds  $^{98,99}$  $\pi$  bonds.<sup>9</sup>

# 2.4. Basic Mathematical Descriptions for Photothermal Conversion

To elucidate the light-to-heat conversion process, it is essential to consider the light-harvesting ability and heat generation of a material as well as heat transfer and loss. Owing to the fundamental difference in the physical mechanisms, diversely categorized photothermal materials have various mathematical descriptions for their optical and thermal properties. In this section, basic universal equations are presented for understanding photothermal conversion in terms of three aspects including light harvesting, light-to-heat conversion, and heat transfer.

**2.4.1. Light Harvesting.** One of the critical factors to evaluate the photothermal performance is the light-harvesting ability that reveals how well a photothermal material absorbs

the energy of incident photons. The light absorption is an important process of light-to-heat conversion. Absorptance is defined as the fraction of the energy of incident photons that is absorbed by a material. The absorbed energy for a certain material depends on the range of absorption over the spectrum of the incident light and the intensity of absorbance for each wavelength. By integrating the absorption intensity of the photothermal material over the spectral range, the absorptance can be calculated by the energy ratio of the total absorbed light to the incident radiation. At an incidence angle of  $\theta$ , the overall absorptance  $A(\theta)$  of a light absorber can be expressed as<sup>51,100</sup>

$$A(\theta) = \frac{\int_{\lambda_{\min}}^{\lambda_{\max}} [1 - R(\theta, \lambda) - T(\theta, \lambda)] P(\theta, \lambda) d\lambda}{\int_{\lambda_{\min}}^{\lambda_{\max}} P(\lambda) d\lambda}$$
(2.1)

where  $P(\lambda)$ ,  $\lambda_{max}$  and  $\lambda_{min}$  represent the wavelength-dependent radiation power and the maximum and minimum wavelengths of the incident light and  $R(\theta, \lambda)$  and  $T(\theta, \lambda)$  stand for the total reflectance and transmittance of the absorber at the wavelength  $\lambda$ , respectively. According to this equation, the absorptance can be enhanced by reducing the transmittance and reflectance of the photothermal material. Moreover, broadband light absorption is crucial for light absorbers to harvest enough light for obtaining high light-to-heat conversion efficiencies.

For the case of photothermal materials dispersed in homogeneous semitransparent media, light absorption is a cumulative process with an exponential decay that can be described by Beer–Lambert's law as  $I = I_0 e^{-\kappa cl}$ , where I and  $I_0$ represent the light radiation intensity after and before the absorption,  $\kappa$  stands for the extinction coefficient, c is the particle concentration, and l is the length of the optical path. To further determine how much of the light is absorbed by the material, absorbance a is defined as the attenuation of the incident radiation power. It can be calculated from the transmittance T as

$$a = -\ln T = \ln \frac{I_0}{I} = \kappa cl \tag{2.2}$$

The absorbance is therefore proportional to the extinction coefficient of the absorber and the amount of the absorber per unit area. The extinction coefficient is the intrinsic property of the absorber. It depends on the material, size, and shape.

**2.4.2. Light-to-Heat Conversion.** Besides the light absorption of a photothermal material, the light-to-heat conversion efficiency is another essential factor that directly quantifies the absorbed energy transferred to thermal energy, instead of radiative re-emission of photons. One straightforward method for determining the conversion efficiency is to measure the increase in temperature and calculate the heat generation induced by an incident light. The photothermal conversion efficiency  $\eta$  can be written as<sup>101,102</sup>

$$\eta = \frac{Q}{E} = \frac{cm\Delta T}{pst}$$
(2.3)

where Q is the generated thermal energy by the absorber, E represents the total energy of the incoming light, c and m denote the specific heat and mass of the photothermal material,  $\Delta T$  is the temperature increase of the material under the light irradiation, p is the power density of the light source, and s and t represent the radiation area and time. By use of this method, all of the incident light including the reflected, scattered, absorbed, and transmitted photons

originating from the incident light is taken into account as the input energy. The advantage of this strategy is that only the absorbed photons contribute to the generation of thermal energy in the photothermal material. As the heat generation is dependent on the amount of the used photothermal material, it is difficult for this method to directly compare the efficiency values among different materials. Moreover, the heat transfer from the photothermal material to the surrounding medium is not considered in the calculation.

The heat loss to the environment can be estimated by recording the temperature decay process after the incident light is removed. The equation of the photothermal conversion efficiency  $\eta$  can then be expressed as<sup>103–105</sup>

$$\eta = \frac{hs(T_{\max} - T_{sur}) - Q_{dis}}{I(1 - 10^{-a_{\lambda}})}$$
(2.4)

where h is the heat transfer coefficient, s represents the surface area of heat transfer,  $T_{\text{max}}$  is the equilibrium temperature,  $T_{\text{sur}}$ represents the temperature of the surrounding environment,  $Q_{\rm dis}$  stands for the heat dissipated by the surrounding environment, I is the radiation intensity of the incident light, and  $a_i$  represents the absorbance of the photothermal material at the wavelength  $\lambda$ . Although only the absorbed photons are treated as the input energy, this equation quantitatively eliminates the impact of the heat transfer and the concentration of the photothermal material on the light-toheat conversion efficiency. The photothermal conversion abilities of various materials can therefore be readily compared by this method. But there are a number of parameters that need to be experimentally measured. Some of them are not trivial and can significantly affect the ultimate value of the photothermal conversion efficiency. Some recent works have modified eq 2.4 and provided a more straightforward and reproducible approach for the evaluation of the photothermal conversion efficiency.<sup>106,107</sup>

**2.4.3. Heat Transfer.** After the incident light is absorbed by a photothermal material, the photon energy is converted into thermal energy through a light-to-heat conversion process. The generated heat will be further transferred to other lower-temperature materials or released to the surrounding environment. Therefore, heat transfer is the third important process in a photothermal conversion system. The transfer of thermal energy from one material to another is driven by the thermal gradients between the materials, which can be realized in three main means, which are conduction, convection, and radiation.  $^{51,104}$ 

Thermal conduction usually occurs within a material or contiguous objects, where heat spontaneously flows from the higher-temperature part (the light absorber) to the lowertemperature one (heat transfer object). The conduction energy can be expressed as

$$Q_{\rm cond} = \frac{ks}{L}(T - T_{\rm obj}) \tag{2.5}$$

where k represents the thermal conductivity of the photothermal material, s represents the surface area of heat transfer, L is the conduction length of the light absorber, and  $T_{obj}$  and Tare the steady temperatures of the heat transfer object and the light absorber.

Thermal convection refers to the heat energy transfer induced by the movement of fluid. The convection energy from the heating source to the fluid can be written as

| references | photothermal materials                         | working mechanisms   | advantages for photothermal applications   |
|------------|--|--|--|
| 13, 85     | plasmonic metals                               | LSPR effect  | facile synthesis, tunable plasmon resonance, and large absorption cross-sections               |
| 32, 33     | slightly doped and intrinsic<br>semiconductors | nonradiative recombination of electron—hole pairs                    | facile synthesis, low toxicity, and strong extinction coefficients in the NIR region           |
| 34         | heavily doped semiconductors                   | LSPR effect  |  |
| 326        | carbon-based nanomaterials                     | nonradiative relaxation of delocalized $\pi$ electrons               | high chemical stability, broadband light absorption, and lightweight                           |
| 98         | organic polymers                               | nonradiative relaxation of delocalized $\pi$ electrons               | versatile molecular designs, strong absorption of NIR light, and good biocompatibility         |
| 22, 364    | 2D nanomaterials                               | nonradiative recombination of electron-hole<br>pairs and LSPR effect | layered structures, broad light absorption band, and high photothermal conversion efficiencies |

# Table 1. Proposed Photothermal Conversion Mechanisms and Advantages of Different Types of Nanomaterials for Photothermal Applications

$$Q_{\rm conv} = hs(T - T_{\rm sur}) \tag{2.6}$$

where h is the heat transfer coefficient. As the reciprocal of thermal insulance, the heat transfer coefficient depends on the physical properties of the fluid and the thermohydraulic conditions.

Thermal radiation takes place in all objects through EM waves without the requirement of any medium. According to the Stefan-Boltzmann law, the emission energy is proportional to the fourth power of the temperature. When an object emits thermal radiation based on its temperature, it also absorbs radiation from the surrounding objects. The thermal radiation energy is the net energy exchange between the hot object and the cold environment, which can be expressed as

$$Q_{\rm rad} = \varepsilon \sigma s (T^4 - T_{\rm env}^4) \tag{2.7}$$

where  $\varepsilon$  is the emissivity,  $\sigma$  represents the Stefan–Boltzmann constant, and  $T_{\rm env}$  stands for the temperature of the environment.

Consequently, the heat transfer not only is dependent on the physical properties of the photothermal material but also is affected by the circumstance of its surrounding environment. The three mathematical expressions provided above offer efficient ways to regulate the heat transfer process. For interfacial solar water evaporation, thermal conduction is the dominant process that requires the minimization of heat loss to the surrounding environment. The generated heat can thus be localized on the surface of the photothermal material for efficient vapor generation. For volumetric water heating, the convection process needs to be first considered, where a promoted heat transfer is demanded for a fast increase in the temperature of the surrounding environment. In short, the proper choice of both photothermal materials and their surrounding media is essential for photothermal applications with desired purposes.

# 3. RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF PHOTOTHERMAL NANOMATERIALS

With the development of advanced nanofabrication methods in the last few decades, nanomaterials, for example, metallic/ semiconductor nanostructures, carbon-based nanomaterials, organic polymer nanomaterials, and 2D nanomaterials, have been thoroughly investigated with various beneficial and functional qualities. The light-to-heat conversion mechanisms and intriguing properties of differently categorized nanomaterials are summarized in Table 1. Photothermal conversion as an ancient technology has recently received extensive attention and regained a breakthrough. The capability of photothermal nanomaterials to enhance light absorption, convert heat, and conduct thermal energy is highly dependent on the material choice and structural design. In this section, we will summarize the recent progresses in the development of both new photothermal materials and advanced methods for structural engineering with excellent light-to-heat conversion performances.

# 3.1. Metallic Nanostructures

Noble metal nanostructures show attractive photothermal conversion properties because of the excitation of their strongly confined LSPRs. According to the Drude–Lorentz model, the high density of free electrons and their collective oscillations can give rise to the LSPR effect at the metal–dielectric interface.<sup>108,109</sup> Plasmon resonances are excited when the incident photon energy matches the LSPR band of metallic structures. The redistribution of the excited electrons contributes to the generation of plasmonic heating, which can be finely controlled by external irradiation. The LSPR frequency can be further tailored by changing the materials, sizes, and shapes of metallic nanoparticles, as well as their surrounding environments and assembly configurations.<sup>110,111</sup>

3.1.1. Effect of the Material and Geometry. Because of the LSPR effect, numerous types of metallic nanostructures for light-to-heat conversion have been explored, such as Au,  $^{112-119}$  Ag,  $^{120-124}$  Pd,  $^{125-130}$  Al,  $^{131-135}$  Cu,  $^{136,137}$  Ge,  $^{138,139}$  and other metals. Au and Ag are two of the most commonly employed metals in photothermal conversion because of their high free charge carrier concentrations and relatively low Ohmic losses.<sup>140,141</sup> Their plasmon resonances can be finely tuned from the visible to near-infrared (NIR) region through control of the size and morphology (Figure 3, left panel). However, another loss mechanism originating from interband transitions plays an important role for Au and Ag at optical frequencies. For Au structures, the interband losses are dominant at the short wavelengths of the visible region, while the intraband losses are high in the NIR range and limited in the shorterwavelength region.<sup>142</sup> In addition, the plasmonic properties of Ag structures are easily degraded due to rapid oxidation and sulfuration under ambient conditions. The earth-abundant metals such as Al and Cu are newly emerging as intriguing alternatives to Au and Ag in plasmonics. Cu and Al are more cost-effective and possess similar LSPR performances to those of Au and Ag.<sup>131,143</sup> Moreover, Al nanostructures can support strong plasmon resonances in the UV range with extremely high photothermal conversion efficiencies.144 Although Al suffers from chemical instability, the formation of a passivation layer of aluminum oxide can effectively protect the structure without degrading its LSPR response. The limitation for Al





**Figure 3.** Typical plasmonic spectral bands of material- and shapedependent metallic nanostructures. Left: homogeneous metals  $(Au,^{101,164-182} Ag,^{183-192} Al,^{131,145,193-195} Pd,^{196-199} Pt,^{186,200}$  and  $Cu.^{136,201-204}$  Right: metal hybrids (Au hybrids: Au-Ag,^{156,201-218} Au-Pd,^{219-224} Au-Pt,^{225-234} Au-Cu,^{235-238} and Au-Ni;<sup>239,240</sup> Ag hybrids: Ag-Pd,<sup>241-248</sup> Ag-Pt,<sup>249-251</sup> Ag-Ni,<sup>252,253</sup> and Ag-Co<sup>254,255</sup>) according to their different geometries.

structures is the broad line widths of their plasmon resonances in the visible range because of interband transitions.<sup>145</sup> In addition, a wide variety of metal materials including Ni, Co, Cr, Pt, and Pd have been demonstrated to exhibit LSPRs in the UV region.<sup>144</sup> Among them, Pt and Pd are of practical interest in photothermal catalysis owing to their outstanding catalytic properties and high thermal stability.<sup>146,147</sup> In general, plasmonic nanoparticles made of these metals can be synthesized by bottom-up methods, where crystal structures are grown by stacking metal atoms. The bottom-up methods are usually based on the chemical reduction of metal salts and the nucleation of tiny particles. One of the famous synthetic approaches is seed-mediated growth with a two-step process.<sup>148</sup> The first step is the preparation of small seeds through homogeneous nucleation. The second step is overgrowth on the seeds using shape-directing agents, where nanoparticles are overgrown into the desired geometry and size. A large number of asymmetric metal nanostructures can be facilely synthesized by changing the seeds, metal salt, reductant, and capping agent, as well as the shape-directing agent.<sup>149</sup> Asymmetric structures usually have more sharp tips, corners, and edges where plasmonic heating is generated and concentrated because of largely enhanced EM fields. The geometry-dependent photothermal conversion efficiency has been well demonstrated in both numerical simulations and experiments. The effect of the morphology on the heat generation in plasmonic nanoparticles has been numerically investigated using Green's dyadic method.<sup>150</sup> The heat generation can be well quantified by mapping the heating power density within the studied Au nanostructures. This geometry effect has also been experimentally shown in various differently shaped structures, including nanocubes, nanorods, nanoplates, nanocages, and branched nanostructures (Figure 3, left panel).<sup>151,152</sup> Nanospheres and nanocubes with high symmetry usually exhibit strong absorption resonance.<sup>153,15</sup> On the contrary, low-symmetry polyhedron nanoparticles show broader but weaker absorption resonances with multiple plasmon peaks. The most straightforward way to broaden the absorption spectrum is to mix plasmonic nanoparticles with different sizes and shapes.<sup>85</sup> But this method is practically unattractive, as it requires the parallel synthesis of various types of nanoparticles and the careful control of the amount ratio of these different nanoparticles. An alternative strategy is to grow new particles on pre-existing structures to broaden the

plasmon resonances. A nearly ideal type of blackbody nanostructure composed of a Au nanorod with an attached Au nanosphere has been reported.<sup>155</sup> This material has a nearly perfect absorption of 98–99% over a broad spectral range from 400 to 1400 nm.

As the LSPR bands of homogeneous metallic structures are intrinsically limited by the materials, metal hybrids, including alloys, can be obtained by reacting two or more metal elements (Figure 3, right panel). Metal alloys containing less conductive metals can effectively lower the free charge concentration and thus reduce the optical losses.<sup>108</sup> Their LSPR properties can also be tailored by adjusting the proportion of each plasmonic or functional reactant. For instance, Au-Ag alloyed nanostructures can support plasmon resonances over a much broad range of the UV-visible spectrum and exhibit distinct blueshifts by decreasing the atomic ratio of Au to Ag.<sup>156</sup> Because the change in the proportion of an alloy alters the effective dielectric constant of the alloy, the photothermal conversion efficiency can therefore be greatly improved with enhanced light absorption for Au-Ag alloy nanostructures.<sup>157-160</sup> Apart from the tunable LSPR frequencies, the formation of alloys offers a new route for improving the sensitivity of plasmonic structures through dispersion engineering.<sup>161</sup> The real permittivities of alloyed structures such as Au-Pd<sup>162,163</sup> and Ag-Ti<sup>161</sup> can be reduced compared to the pure metals, leading to the increase in sensitivity.

3.1.2. Effect of Plasmon Coupling. The key challenge for improving the photothermal conversion efficiencies of plasmonic nanomaterials is to realize broadband absorption over the solar spectrum. But metal nanostructures often absorb photons at one or a few certain bands, limiting their photothermal performances.<sup>144</sup> The most widely used strategy is to assemble two or more metallic nanoparticles into plasmon-coupled structures where the interparticle nanogaps are formed and known as "hotspots".<sup>256</sup> The generation of hotspots can not only achieve strong EM field enhancement but also produce multiple plasmon modes through plasmon coupling. The enhanced local field can give rise to pronounced photothermal conversion in the interparticle nanogaps. The overall photothermal performance of the assembled nanoparticles is based on their collective heating ability and plasmon coupling effect.<sup>257</sup> The plasmonic properties of the coupled nanostructures are sensitively dependent on the particle number, gap distance, structural configuration, and polarization state of the incident light.<sup>258</sup> When two metallic nanoparticles are placed close to each other, a plasmonic dimer as the simplest coupled structure is formed. According to plasmon hybridization, the interaction between the two nanoparticles produces a lower-energy symmetric (bonding) plasmon resonance mode and a higher-energy antisymmetric (antibonding) resonance mode.<sup>259</sup> The total heat generation and temperature distribution in a plasmonic dimer have been numerically calculated.<sup>260</sup> The calculated temperature is distributed nonuniformly around the nanoparticles even at the nanoscale. The plasmonic heating has been found to be dependent on the polarization state of the incident light. When the external electric field is polarized along the dimer axis, the heat generation increases as well as the electric field enhancement. Interestingly, an extraordinary photothermal isosbesticity has been discovered in plasmonic nanostructures, where the temperature is invariant with the change of the illumination polarization state at specific wavelengths (Figure 4a).<sup>261</sup> The isosbestic wavelength of a given plasmonic



Figure 4. Plasmon-coupling-induced absorption broadening and related heat effects. (a) Temperature distributions (left column) of a Au dimer under the longitudinal (top) and transverse (bottom) polarization excitation and corresponding electric near-field enhancements (right column). Reprinted with permission from ref 261. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society. (b) Dependence of the calculated normalized extinction spectra of one-dimensional (1D) Al nanoparticle chains on the particle number N. Reprinted with permission from ref 133. Copyright 2016 Springer Nature. (c) Calculated temperature maps of a single array and five arrays of nine Ag nanoparticles in a square lattice with lateral periods from 12.5 to 200 nm. Reprinted with permission from ref 266. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (d) Measured absorption spectra of selfassembled Au colloidosomes (red) and the Au nanoparticles (black) suspended in 1-butanol. The inset shows the corresponding scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of the Au colloidosomes. Reprinted with permission from ref 271. Copyright 2015 Wiley-VCH.

nanostructure can be found at the intercrossing of the absorption spectra under two different polarization directions. Since the ability of a single dimer to broaden the LSPR band is limited, more nanoparticles need to be assembled and interact together to increase the light absorption bandwidth.<sup>52,262-264</sup> The linear assembly of Al nanoparticles has been shown to broaden the extinction peaks with distinct redshifts toward the visible and NIR regions as the particle number is increased (Figure 4b).<sup>133</sup> Randomly distributed Au nanoparticles have been employed as a perfect absorber to fully absorb light. The average absorbance can reach up to 99% in the spectral range from 400 nm to 10  $\mu$ m because of the suppression of back reflection.<sup>265</sup> Analogous to the distance-dependent electric field from a charged particle, the temperature of a heated structure drops slowly as  $\sim 1/d$  from the particle surface.<sup>260</sup> Figure 4c shows the simulated temperature profiles for the arrays of nine Ag nanoparticles with varied periodic spacings.<sup>266</sup> When a large number of nanoparticles are irradiated at the same time, the overall temperature of the entire particle system can reach large but homogeneous values by adding together all the temperature contributions.<sup>267</sup> Threedimensional (3D) or more disordered nanostructures, such as plasmonic colloidosomes that are generally prepared by assembly approaches, have also been used to produce strong plasmon coupling.<sup>123,268–270</sup> For example, Au nanospheres layer shells and exhibit intense broadband light absorption. The assembly process is universal, and this method is suitable for nanoparticles with different sizes and shapes. In general, photothermal heat generation is highly sensitive to the assembly state of metal nanoparticles (particle number, spacing, and configuration) and the polarization state of the incident light. To take advantage of the plasmon coupling effect, the particle arrangement and structural design need to be carefully considered. **3.2. Semiconductors** Semiconductor materials, such as metal oxides and chalcoge-

have been assembled into 3D black plasmonic colloidosomes

by use of an emulsion-templating method (Figure 4d).<sup>271</sup> The

fabricated colloidosomes have hexagonal close-packed multi-

nides, are another type of extraordinary candidate for photothermal conversion because of their low cost, facile synthesis, and low toxicity. Semiconductors are not easily vulnerable to photodegradation or photobleaching compared to organic photothermal materials.<sup>14</sup> They also possess tunable absorption wavelengths and exhibit strong extinction coefficients in the NIR region. The bandgaps of semiconductors govern the light absorption based on the free charge carrier generation inside the material. Figure 5 summarizes the bandgaps and band edge positions of some commonly studied semiconductors, including oxides, chalcogenides, nitrides, and silicon.<sup>272–274</sup> When the photon energy of incident light matches the bandgap energy, the incoming photons absorbed



**Figure 5.** Band edge positions and bandgaps with respect to the vacuum level and the normal hydrogen electrode (NHE) for selected semiconductors including oxides, chalcogenides, nitrides, and silicon. The top squares indicate the conduction band edges. The bottom squares indicate the valence band edges. The top numbers represent the exact conduction band levels, and the numbers between the squares show the bandgaps. The data are taken from ref 272 with permission from the Royal Society of Chemistry and modified according to the new works.<sup>273,274</sup>

pubs.acs.org/CR



**Figure 6.** Schematics for engineering the band structures of semiconductors. (a) An intrinsic semiconductor. (b) Doping-induced formation of shallow-level energy states in the bandgap. (c) Doping-induced formation of deep-level energy states in the bandgap. (d) Degenerate-doping-induced LSPR. The electronic band structures are shown on the top, and the corresponding optical absorption curves are displayed on the bottom. Reprinted with permission from ref 7. Copyright 2019 Royal Society of Chemistry.

by a semiconductor can cause the generation of electron-hole pairs (Figure 6a). The heat generation relies on the nonradiative recombination of the electron-hole pairs. Semiconductors usually possess much lower free charge carrier concentrations than metal materials. Semiconductor materials are therefore generally translucent in the IR region but opaque in the visible region.<sup>51</sup> To extend the absorption range, doping is one of the classical means to increase the free charge carrier concentrations of semiconductors. While the light absorption of a semiconductor is enhanced by doping, the photothermal conversion efficiency can also be improved owing to the increased probability of nonradiative recombination.

Through the stratagem of defect or impurity introduction, not only can the band energy be shifted, but also new energy states can be created within the bandgap. There are several doping-induced changes during the bandgap engineering of semiconductors, including (1) the emergence of intraband energy states; (2) the narrowing of the bandgap; and (3) the formation of impurity bands in degenerately doped semiconductors.' In the first case, doping introduces defect and trap-level states without changing the bandgap (Figure 6b). The defect-level states can work as charge recombination centers for the relaxation of conduction-band electrons, resulting in the extension of the absorption spectrum to longer wavelengths. An add-on shoulder can often be observed in the absorption curve of a defect-level-doped semiconductor. N-doped TiO<sub>2</sub> was first prepared in 2001. It possesses a visiblelight absorption capability.<sup>275</sup> From then on, doping has been extensively employed for TiO2 with either non-metal anions of C, N, S, and P at the O sites or transition metal cations of Fe, Co, Cu, Cr, and Ni at the Ti sites.<sup>272,276–279</sup>

In the second case of doping, the position of the valence or conduction band is shifted instead of the introduction of any new energy levels (Figure 6c). The bandgap thus becomes narrower compared to that of the pristine semiconductor, resulting in both the broadening and redshift of the absorption edge. Upon light illumination, photons that possess higher energies than the band energy of the narrow bandgap semiconductor can generate above-bandgap electron-hole pairs.<sup>33</sup> The subsequent relaxation of the electron-hole pairs to the band edges can effectively convert the extra energy into heat through a thermalization process. On the contrary, most photons absorbed by the broad bandgap semiconductor are radiatively released through light emissions, leading to a lower

photothermal conversion efficiency. Various narrow bandgap semiconductors, including black  $TiO_2$ ,  $^{32,280,281}$ ,  $Ti_2O_3$ ,  $^{33}$  MoO<sub>3</sub>,  $^{282}$  and Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>,  $^{283,284}$  have been developed as light-toheat converters. Black TiO<sub>2</sub> with broadband light absorption has recently received intensive attention as a perfect light absorber.<sup>285–288</sup> It can reduce the recombination of electron– hole pairs and further enhance visible light absorption. Since the first discovery in 2011,<sup>32</sup> various fabrication strategies have been proposed for the development of black TiO<sub>2</sub> with superior photothermal properties. The introduction of surface disorder and the creation of oxygen vacancies are the two main approaches for bandgap engineering. The introduction of surface disorder can destroy the lattice periodicity and modify the edges of the conduction and valence bands, resulting in the narrowing of the bandgap. The created oxygen vacancies can serve as traps for reducing the recombination of photogenerated charge carriers and thus improve the photothermal performance. Remarkably, the bandgap of black TiO2 was reported in 2017 to be further narrowed by adding Ti<sup>3+</sup> ions.<sup>33</sup> Ti<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles were synthesized with an excellent absorption capability and a high photothermal conversion efficiency of 92%. Because of the localized hybridization between titanium and oxygen, Ti<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> tends to generate oxygen vacancies instead of titanium vacancies.<sup>289</sup> The presence of vacancies can promote the band overlap near the Fermi level and therefore improve the electronic transport of Ti<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>.<sup>290</sup>

Degenerately doped semiconductors have recently been discovered with strong LSPRs in the NIR region (Figure 6d). Both n-type and p-type semiconductors can be heavily doped to generate high-enough free charge carrier concentrations, which is necessary for achieving similar absorption characteristics to those of noble metals. The phenomena of free-carrierinduced LSPRs have been widely observed in many metal chalcogenides and oxides, including Cu<sub>2-x</sub>S, Cu<sub>2-x</sub>Se, Cu<sub>2-x</sub>Te, Fe<sub>1-x</sub>S<sub>2</sub>, MoO<sub>3-x</sub>, WO<sub>3-x</sub>, ZnO, and CdO.<sup>34,291–295</sup> In addition to the structural parameters (material, size, shape) that can affect the plasmonic responses, the plasmon resonances of heavily doped semiconductors can also be tuned by controlling their free charge carrier concentrations. The LSPR frequency can be largely spanned from the visible to far-infrared (FIR) region. Increases in the free charge carrier concentration can cause blueshifts of the LSPR peak and increases in the resonance amplitude. The free charge carrier concentrations of the doped semiconductors can be controlled from  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> to

 $10^{21}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, which are still smaller than those of the conventional plasmonic metals<sup>34</sup> on the order of  $10^{22}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. However, the doping level for many semiconductors is limited owing to the perturbation of high-concentration doping on the band structure. Many factors, including the fraction of the active dopant, the solid solubility limit, and doping compensation effects, need to be considered.<sup>296–298</sup>

# 3.3. Carbon-Based Nanomaterials

Carbon is one of the most abundant elements in the universe and can be found in all life forms. The atoms of carbon can bond with each other in diverse hybridization states (sp, sp<sup>2</sup>, sp<sup>3</sup>), resulting in a variety of carbon allotropes (Figure 7).<sup>35</sup>



Figure 7. Carbon-based nanomaterials with different dimensionalities. Reprinted with permission from ref 35. Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society.

Well-known carbon materials include carbon dots,  $^{299-303}$  nanodiamond,  $^{304,305}$  fullerene,  $^{306,307}$  graphite,  $^{308-312}$  carbon nanotubes (CNTs),  $^{313-318}$  graphene and its derivatives.  $^{36,319-325}$  All these carbon allotropes are excellent candidates as photothermal materials due to their high

chemical stability, broadband light absorption, lightweight and low cost.<sup>326</sup> Their light-to-heat conversion relies on the excitation of loosely held  $\pi$  electrons and relaxation to their ground states. The light absorption of carbon-based nanomaterials can be extended to a wide range of the solar spectrum. Many efforts have therefore been made to increase the absorption intensity and reduce the surface light reflection rather than broadening the absorption range. The optical properties of carbon-based nanomaterials vary with specific structural parameters, including the size, shape, doping, and number of layers.<sup>327</sup> These physicochemical factors are also related to the fabrication methods. The fabrication methods include both top-down and bottom-up approaches. In the topdown approaches, bulk materials are reduced in size, such as mechanical exfoliation. In the bottom-up approaches, the carbon-based nanomaterials are constructed from the atomic level, such as chemical vapor deposition and epitaxial growth.<sup>328,329</sup> When carbon-based materials are fabricated into porous nanostructures, the light reflection is significantly reduced through the minimization of the influence of the incidence angle and the reduction of the effective refractive index of the materials.<sup>7</sup> For instance, the synthesis of a doublelayer structure consisting of an exfoliated graphite layer and a carbon foam layer has been demonstrated.<sup>312</sup> The reflectivity of this porous nanostructure reaches down to 3% within the solar spectrum ranging from 250 to 2250 nm. Porous graphene sheets<sup>330,331</sup> and CNTs<sup>313,314</sup> have also been fabricated to improve light absorption. Optical microcavities can be formed between two sides of a spacer layer. These porous structures can therefore effectively confine light within the structures and significantly enhance the interaction between the materials and light.<sup>332</sup> A porous network comprising graphene sheets has been reported to achieve 97% absorption across 200-2500 nm because of the multiscattering effect.<sup>331</sup> 98% absorption of visible irradiation and almost 100% absorption of NIR light have been realized with vertically aligned graphene sheets.<sup>3</sup> In addition, hollow CNTs can be fabricated into a hierarchically nanoporous network structure,<sup>314</sup> which exhibits broad absorption of 99% and high photothermal conversion of 86.8%.



Figure 8. Summary of polymer-based photothermal materials. (a) Basic conjugated polymers as photothermal materials. Their monomers can be treated as the basic components of the conjugated polymers with D-A structures. (b) Conjugated polymers with donor-acceptor structures as photothermal materials. Reprinted with permission from ref 102. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.



Figure 9. Supramolecular assembly of polymer-based photothermal materials. (a) Schematic illustrating the multicomponent coordination assembly of metallo-nanodrugs. Reprinted with permission from ref 349. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society. (b) Design and synthesis of a dual-NIR-window absorbing photothermal nanoagent. Reprinted with permission from ref 353. Copyright 2018 Wiley-VCH.

### 3.4. Organic Polymer Nanomaterials

Organic polymers with conjugated structures have emerged as a new category of photothermal nanomaterials because of their versatile molecular designs, strong absorption of NIR light, high light-to-heat conversion efficiencies, and good biocompatibility.<sup>98</sup> Similar to the case of carbon-based nanomaterials, the absorption capabilities of conjugated polymers in the visible and NIR regions stem from the nonradiative relaxation of their rich delocalized  $\pi$  electrons. Various polymer photothermal nanomaterials have been strategically designed on the basis of most basic conjugated structures, such as polythiophene (PT), polypyrrole (PPy), polyaniline (PAn), and polydopamine (PDA) (Figure 8a).<sup>20,102,333</sup> Through the close stacking of their monomeric units, the intermolecular collisions are strengthened in the formed polymers. The construction of conjugated polymers can partly quench molecular fluorescence and enhance nonradiative relaxation, resulting in efficient photothermal conversion.<sup>98</sup> Moreover, donor-acceptor (D-A) strategies have been proposed to develop a new series of conjugated polymers for further extending light absorption and improving light-to-heat conversion efficiencies.<sup>334–338</sup> Figure 8b presents a typical class of polymer-based photothermal materials with D-A structures consisting of diketopyrrolopyrrole (DPP) as an acceptor and a series of electron-donating polymers as donors.<sup>102</sup> While a conjugated polymer serves as a donor for absorbing light, another polymer accepts the excited electrons from the conjugated polymer and further releases them through nonradiative decay. The polymer as an acceptor needs to have a Fermi level that is lower than the excited state of the donor. The bandgap of these D-A structures can be facilely modulated by tuning the ratio and strengths of the donor and acceptor units.<sup>339</sup> When the D-A structures are activated under external light irradiation, intramolecular charge transfer is induced along the backbone. The radiative recombination of electrons and holes can be consequently

suppressed, which enhances heat generation. This D-A strategy has been employed to prepare conjugated polymer nanoparticles for the harvesting of NIR light.<sup>334</sup> The photothermal conversion efficiency as high as 62.3% has been achieved by introducing a porphyrin-pyrene pendant as an extra lightharvesting unit. The same research group has further demonstrated a new type of biodegradable conjugated polymer made of two acceptors and one donor.<sup>340</sup> This A-D-A structure not only contributes to nearly complete fluorescence quenching but also brings about a narrow energy gap. The photothermal conversion efficiency has therefore been improved to 82%.

To further improve the photothermal conversion efficiency and enhance the stability of conjugated polymers, supramolecular assemblies have been extensively developed to fabricate new polymer-based photothermal materials.<sup>341-346</sup> The assembly is distinguished from traditional molecular structural design and based on flexible noncovalent intermolecular interactions, such as van der Waals interaction, hydrogen bonding, and electrostatic interaction.<sup>37</sup> Similar to the aggregation-caused quenching effect, the intrinsic fluorescent emissions of molecules can be largely quenched in the supramolecular system, which results in the enhancement of heat generation.<sup>347</sup> In addition, the material stability can be significantly improved through the formation of supramolecular structures. The monomeric molecules are trapped into supramolecular assemblies where only a few peripheral molecules can be affected by the outer environment.<sup>21</sup> The isolation of the photothermal molecules can effectively avoid decomposition or oxidation, thereby maintaining their photophysicochemical properties. The photothermal conversion of unstable molecules can be greatly improved. Due to these unique advantages of supramolecular assembly, much effort has been dedicated to the exploration of new assembly methods and the promotion of the light-to-heat conversion performance.<sup>348–352</sup> A multicomponent coordination self-assembly approach has recently been developed to synthesize supramolecular nanodrugs (Figure 9a).<sup>349</sup> The assembled multicomponent nanoparticles exhibit well-defined spherical structures, uniform sizes, and robust colloidal stability. Moreover, the development of dual-peak absorbing photothermal nanoagents through the supramolecular assembly strategy has been demonstrated (Figure 9b).<sup>353</sup> Two types of conjugated polymers with D-A structures are used for light absorption in both NIR-I and NIR-II windows. The photothermal conversion efficiencies of this dual-peak absorbing polymer are 44.9% and 43.4% at 808 and 1064 nm, respectively.

# 3.5. Two-Dimensional Nanomaterials

Since the discovery of single-layer graphene in 2004, there has been tremendous growth in the development of 2D nanomaterials with extraordinary physical and chemical properties.<sup>354</sup> Various new types of 2D nanomaterials, including MXenes, MOFs, transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDCs), black phosphorus (BP), tellurene, and layered double hydroxides, have been delicately fabricated with appealing photothermal conversion properties.<sup>22–24,355–358</sup> Unlike graphene or BP made of a single element, TMDCs and MXenes, as two big fast-growing families of 2D nanomaterials, have been rapidly expanded with a large variety of compositions (Figure 10).<sup>359,360</sup> The versatile designability of 2D nanomaterials



Figure 10. Periodic table showing the compositions of TMDCs and MXenes.

allows their photothermal performances to be facilely tailored and become competitive with other photothermal materials.

2D nanomaterials possess a typical layered structure. Their bandgaps can be simply tuned by adjusting the number of layers. The thickness-dependent bandgaps endow them with a wide absorption band. For instance, the bandgap of BP can be changed from 0.3 to 2 eV across a broad range from the visible to FIR region by controlling the layer number.<sup>361,362</sup> As the thinnest materials ever known, 2D nanomaterials have the highest specific surface areas compared to zero-dimensional (0D), 1D, and bulk materials.<sup>363</sup> The ultrathin structure can not only bring rapid response to light but also provide excellent in-plane electron mobilities to achieve high photothermal conversion efficiencies. MXenes, specifically Ti<sub>3</sub>C<sub>2</sub>, have been reported to possess a perfect light-to-heat conversion efficiency of 100%, showing the promising future of MXenes for photothermal applications.<sup>364</sup>

MXenes have become a rapidly rising star among 2D nanomaterials since the first reported synthesis of Ti<sub>3</sub>C<sub>2</sub> in 2011.<sup>360,365,366</sup> As carbides and nitrides of transition metals, MXenes have a general chemical formula of  $M_{n+1}X_nT_{x}$ , where M represents an early transition metal (Sc, Ti, V, Cr, Y, Zr, Nb, Mo, Hf, Ta, W), X represents carbon or nitrogen, and T denotes the surface termination (OH, O, F, Cl).<sup>367</sup> They can be synthesized by selective etching of their precursor ternary MAX phases, where A represents a group IIIA or IVA element.<sup>368</sup> While numerous MXene compositions have already been prepared, many more have been predicted by computational methods. Because of the presence of transition metals, the free charge carrier densities of MXenes are on the order of  $10^{22}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> and the reported highest metallic conductivity<sup>369,370</sup> reaches up to 20000 S cm<sup>-1</sup>. Based on their excellent metallic conductivity and layered structure, MXenes exhibit a strong electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding effect (Figure 11a).<sup>371</sup> Except for the immediately reflected waves from the surface, the remaining EM waves suffer from multiple internal reflections within the MXene flakes, leading to more absorption and an overall attenuation of EM waves. In addition to the EMI shielding effect, the abundant free charge carriers of MXenes also bring about LSPRs (Figure 11b).<sup>372</sup> The plasmonic properties can be chemically tuned by altering the structure and type of the X and M sites, as well as the stoichiometry of the surface terminations.<sup>39</sup> MXenes with various compositions support tunable plasmon resonances in the entire visible and NIR regions.<sup>373</sup> The interband transitions of MXenes can also induce strong absorption in the UV region. These unique



Figure 11. EMI shielding and LSPR effects in MXenes. (a) Proposed EMI shielding mechanism. Reprinted with permission from ref 371. Copyright 2016 American Association for the Advancement of Science. (b) Schematic illustration of the LSPR-induced photothermal and hotelectron effects. Reprinted with permission from ref 372. Copyright 2021 Wiley-VCH.



**Figure 12.** Macroscopic and microscopic temperature measurements. (a) Schematic diagram of typical photothermal characterization with traditional thermometric techniques. The heating and cooling processes are controlled by switching on and off the laser and monitored with mercury thermometers or thermocouples. The macroscopic temperature distribution can be imaged with an IR camera. (b) Simulation of the photothermal effect of a Au nanosphere (radius, 50 nm) placed in water under an incident light at 530 nm, tuned to the dipole plasmon resonance wavelength. Left: electric field intensity profile normalized to the incident field. Right: equilibrium distribution of the temperature increase. Reprinted with permission from ref 260. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society. (c) Simulated transient temperature increase of a Au nanosphere (radius, 50 nm) in water excited by on–off modulated light.  $T_h$  and  $T_1$  represent 90% and 10% of the temperature step, respectively, which define the rise and fall time of 110 ns. Reprinted with permission from ref 382. Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society.

merits of MX enes are beneficial for efficient light harvesting and thermal energy generation.  $^{\rm 23}$ 

#### 3.6. Hybrid Photothermal Nanomaterials

Hybridization is a simple strategy to obtain complementary and synergistic properties from each component. The formation of hybrid nanostructures composed of different photothermal materials has been widely employed to achieve enhanced light absorption and better photothermal capabil-ities.<sup>49,374–380</sup> Metal nanostructures incorporated with plasmonic semiconductors or other metals can create a dualplasmonic system with multiple plasmon resonance modes for broadening the NIR absorption band.<sup>34</sup> The decoration of semiconductors with Pd nanoparticles as metallic active sites is usually used for improving the photothermal catalytic activities.<sup>146</sup> The introduction of Ag nanoparticles to other photothermal materials can give rise to a greatly synergistic antibacterial and photothermal performance.381 To overcome the disadvantages of poor photostability and high photoluminescence emission, conjugated polymers are integrated with carbon-based materials or plasmonic metals.<sup>99</sup> On the other hand, the modification of these inorganic materials with polymers can also minimize their long-term toxicity. Consequently, the hybrid design provides a promising way to engineer photothermal materials with synergistic optical properties for targeted applications.

# 4. PROBING OF PHOTOTHERMAL HEAT GENERATION

Traditional thermometric techniques, such as mercury thermometers, thermocouples, and IR cameras, can only give macroscopic temperatures as a collective effect of photothermal nanomaterials and are usually limited to the measurements of bulk or surface temperatures with low spatial and temporal resolution (Figure 12a). These conventional thermometers are commonly used for monitoring the heating and cooling processes of photothermal nanomaterials irradiated by a continuous laser on the time scale of a few hundreds of seconds, from which the photothermal conversion efficiency can thereby be derived.<sup>12,21,85,363</sup> However, photothermal conversion and the associated effects actually occur on much shorter time scales and in nanoscale dimensions that are beyond the reach of traditional thermometry.

Take plasmonic nanoparticles as an example. LSPR and plasmonic heating are intrinsically localized and involve ultrafast excitation. Electromagnetic and thermodynamic simulations show that the photothermal-induced heat is highly concentrated at the surface (<20 nm) of irradiated plasmonic nanoparticles (Figure 12b) and strongly depends on the size and shape of the nanoparticles.<sup>260</sup> In addition, the local temperature increase can be extremely rapid (Figure 12c), reaching the nanosecond and even picosecond levels, as revealed in the pioneering works<sup>383,384</sup> and a more recent work.<sup>382</sup> This recent work shows the reshaping of individual Au nanoparticles triggered by transient photothermal heating with femtosecond and nanosecond laser pulses.

Accurate temperature measurement of nanomaterials is critical for understanding their photothermal properties, heat generation mechanisms, and roles in physical, chemical, and biological applications. Controlled local heating is essential in biomedical diagnosis and therapeutics, especially for killing cancer cells in tumors with temperature elevation above the physiological level (41-42 °C) and simultaneously preventing excessive injury to the surrounding healthy tissues or posttreatment inflammatory responses.<sup>385,386</sup> In photothermal catalysis, the temporal scales of the plasmon-induced hot carrier generation, hot electron transfer, and thermalization processes are on the time scales of fs to sub-ns.<sup>9,387</sup> Excessive local heating also poses problems for the stability of the nanomaterials themselves and for the proper functioning of the associated optoelectronic devices. Therefore, monitoring the local temperature distributions and transient temperatures of photothermal nanomaterials, with sufficient sensitivity and accuracy, is of general interest to a wide range of scientific communities, from fundamental materials science to chemical and medical applications. Consequently, nanothermometers and spectroscopic methods have emerged as alternative tools



Figure 13. Nanothermometers for local temperature measurements. (a) Schematics (upper row) illustrating three different configurations for combining nanoheaters and nanothermometers and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images (lower row) of representative hybrid nanostructures: (1)  $(NaYF_4:Yb,Er up-conversion nanoparticle (UCNP))@(mesoporous silica (mSiO_2))-(Au nanoparticle) core–satellite nanoassemblies. Reprinted with permission from ref 394. Copyright 2019 Royal Society of Chemistry. (2) (Au nanorod)-(NaGdF_4:Yb,Er UCNP) core–satellite nanoassemblies. Reprinted with permission from ref 397. Copyright 2016 Wiley-VCH. (3) Polystyrene beads attached with Au nanostars and CaF<sub>2</sub>:Nd<sup>3+</sup>,Y<sup>3+</sup> UCNPs. Reprinted from ref 400. Copyright 2019 Ivyspring International Publisher under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (b) Illustrations showing temperature-sensing strategies relying on (1) emission intensity, (2) peak position, (3) emission intensity ratio, (4) emission lifetime, (5) fluorescence polarization anisotropy, (6) electron spin resonance or ODMR. (c) Thermal sensitivities of different luminescent nanothermometers and their spectral operation ranges. Reprinted with permission from ref 391. Copyright 2017 Wiley-VCH.$ 

for temperature measurements with improved spatial, temporal and temperature resolutions.<sup>388–391</sup>

## 4.1. Heater-Thermometer Nanoplatforms

Heater-thermometer nanoplatforms refer to hybrid nanostructures consisting of photothermal nanomaterials (nanoheaters) and nanothermometers. Such hybrid nanostructures enable simultaneous heating and nanothermometry. A straightforward approach is to simply mix nanoheaters and nanothermometers in a matrix, which has been employed to compare the heating and absorbing efficiency of Au nanoparticles with different geometries,<sup>392</sup> as well as to monitor plasmonic heating in a subtissue.<sup>393</sup> Nevertheless, direct decoration of nanothermometers on the surface of nanoheaters, or *vice versa*, is highly desired for local temperature measurements with higher accuracy. Figure 13a illustrates three configurations that have been experimentally proven to work: (1) thermometer–heater core–satellite nanostructures,<sup>394–396</sup> (2) heater–thermometer core–satellite nanostructures,<sup>397–399</sup> and (3) codeposition of heaters and thermometers on a sub-microscale substrate.<sup>400</sup> These heater-thermometer nanoplatforms can be constructed using different photothermal nanomaterials and nanothermometers as building blocks.

The selection of nanothermometers can cover a series of luminescent temperature-responsive probes, including fluorescent small molecules,<sup>401</sup> fluorescent proteins,<sup>402</sup> quantum dots (QDs),<sup>403</sup> lanthanide-ion-doped UCNPs,<sup>404</sup> vacancy-containing nanodiamonds,<sup>405–407</sup> carbon dots,<sup>408,409</sup> and polymeric nanoparticles.<sup>409</sup> The operation of these nanothermometers mostly relies on the temperature-dependent fluorescence properties (Figure 13b), for example, the emission intensity, emission peak shifting, spectral ratio between the different fluorescence bands, lifetime, polarization anisotropy, and electron spin resonance or optically detected magnetic resonance (ODMR). All of these signals allow for the realtime and noninvasive monitoring of local temperatures. Briefly, the fluorescence intensity of small organic molecules generally decreases as the temperature is increased because of the



**Figure 14.** Heater—thermometer nanoplatforms. (a) Schematic (left) showing the temperature-dependent orientation change of phenyl isocyanide molecules on the surface of Au nanoparticles, and resultant temperature- (middle) and laser power-dependent (right) surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS) spectra of the N $\equiv$ C stretching vibrations. Reprinted with permission from ref 411. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society. (b) Dye-loaded ZIF-8 for temperature sensing based on the luminescent intensity ratio and emission peak shift. Reprinted with permission from ref 414. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (c) Core@shell NaLuF<sub>4</sub>:Yb,Er@NaLuF<sub>4</sub> UCNPs coated by carbon for photothermal heating and temperature sensing. Upper left: schematic of the UCNP@C nanoparticles. Lower left: energy diagram of the thermally sensitive UCL process. Upper right: emission spectra of the UCNP@C nanoparticles at different temperatures by external heating. Lower right: temperature evolution of the UCNP@C nanoparticles at different temperatures by external heating. Lower  $^{-2}$ . A.T.: apparent temperature recorded by a thermal camera. E.T.: eigen temperature calculated by the UCL spectra. Reprinted from ref 396. Copyright 2015 Springer Nature under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (d) Multilayer NaYbF<sub>4</sub>:2%Er@NaYF<sub>4</sub>@mSiO<sub>2</sub>@Au@SiO<sub>2</sub>@Ag<sub>2</sub>S nanoparticles, and temperature evolution ( $T_1$ : apparent temperature of the solution measured by a thermocouple;  $T_2$ : core temperature measured by the UCNPs;  $T_3$ : outmost layer temperature measured by the Ag<sub>2</sub>S QDs). Reprinted with permission from ref 415. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

thermal quenching effect.<sup>401</sup> Some specific molecules, such as green fluorescent proteins and organic dyes, possess temperature-dependent fluorescence polarization anisotropy; that is, the ratio of the emission intensities collected under different polarization states can vary with the environmental temperature.<sup>402</sup> Aggregation-induced emission (AIE) molecules have also been demonstrated to display temperature-responsive properties in terms of spectral position, fluorescence intensity, and fluorescence lifetime.<sup>410</sup> Most semiconductor QDs exhibit temperature-dependent spectral shifts and lifetime variations because of their bandgap changes with temperature.<sup>403</sup> UCNPs with specific thermally coupled energy-level pairs, such as  $Er^{3+}$  (<sup>2</sup>H<sub>11/2</sub> and <sup>4</sup>S<sub>3/2</sub>), Nd<sup>3+</sup> (<sup>4</sup>F<sub>5/2</sub> and <sup>4</sup>F<sub>3/2</sub>), and Eu<sup>3+</sup> (<sup>5</sup>D<sub>1</sub> and <sup>5</sup>D<sub>0</sub>), are commonly used for temperature sensing by monitoring the intensity ratio between the two related fluorescence bands, also known as ratiometric optical nano-thermometry.<sup>389,404</sup> Fluorescent nanodiamonds for temperature sensing rely on the spin resonances of the nitrogenvacancy center and their temperature-dependent shifts in the ODMR spectrum at microwave frequencies.<sup>405–407</sup> An important figure of merit for the comparison of nano-thermometers is the relative thermal sensitivity, which is

pubs.acs.org/CR



**Figure 15.** Non-nanoprobe thermometry. (a) Local temperature measurement of Au nanorods with X-rays. (1) Schematic illustrating the photothermal excitation of Au nanorods with visible-NIR light and the local temperature detection with X-rays. (2) Fourier transforms of the X-ray absorption fine structure spectra of Au nanorods under an NIR laser at different powers. (3) Debye–Waller factor parameters ( $\sigma^2$ ) of the Au nanorods as a function of temperature. The calibration curve was first obtained for a set of temperatures (open circles) and then used for the temperature determination under different laser excitation conditions (solid circles). Reprinted with permission from ref 417. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (b) Local temperature measurement of individual Si nanoparticles by Raman spectroscopy. (1) Experimental Raman spectra for a spherical Si nanoparticle with a diameter of 350 nm on a glass substrate. (2) Schematic illustration, SEM image, and reconstructed 2D temperature map of a single Si nanoparticle under laser irradiation at an intensity of 2 mW  $\mu m^{-2}$ . Reprinted with permission from ref 420. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society. (c) Local temperature measurement of Au nanorods by anti-Stokes Raman spectroscopy. (1) Luminescence emission spectra of a single Au nanorod under 532 nm excitation (green) and 633 nm excitation at three different powers (purple, orange, and blue). The red curve is the surface plasmon profile extracted from the green curve using the Lorentz function. The inset shows the anti-Stokes ratio as a function of the excitation power, overlapped with a linear fit in red. (2) Anti-Stokes Raman intensity of a single Au nanorod at different irradiation powers. The inset shows the extracted temperature at each power. Reprinted with permission from ref 427. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society under the CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

defined as the rate of change in the temperature-sensitive parameter with temperature,  $S_r = \left| \frac{1}{Q} \frac{\partial Q}{\partial T} \right|$ , where Q denotes the temperature-sensitive parameter (intensity, lifetime, ratio) and T denotes temperature.  $S_r$  is comparable between different systems with the consistent unit of K<sup>-1</sup> or % K<sup>-1</sup>. Figure 13c provides a brief summary of the thermal sensitivities and spectral operation ranges of different luminescent nanothermometers, together with the first and second biological windows (BW-I and BW-II) where the absorption and scattering of biological tissues is minimal.<sup>391</sup> Comparison of other factors, such as the thermal accuracy, sensor size, and thermal and special resolution, and more detailed discussion about different nanothermometers have been summarized in a few recent review articles.<sup>386,388–391</sup>

With advances in surface functionalization and assembly techniques, heater-thermometer nanoplatforms with different compositions and various configurations have been experimentally achieved. Plasmonic nanoparticles are the most commonly used nanoheaters because of their high photothermal conversion efficiencies and ease of surface functionalization. For example, local temperature measurements of Au nanoparticles have been demonstrated by monitoring the Raman spectra of phenyl isocyanide molecules functionalized on the top surface of the Au nanoparticles (Figure 14a).<sup>411</sup> Since the molecules take a more tilted angle to the Au surface as the temperature is increased, the Raman peak associated with the N=C stretching vibrations exhibits sensitive shifts with temperature. This phenomenon has further been used to determine CO photothermal desorption from the Au surface at  $\sim$ 62 °C and to track the local temperature variations of a single living cell. Similarly, Au nanoparticles have been combined with molecular beacons,<sup>412</sup> nanodiamonds,<sup>413</sup> and UCNPs,<sup>400</sup> respectively, for extracellular or intracellular local heating and temperature monitoring. Multimode temperature readout has been realized by encapsulating two types of luminescent dyes (4-Mu and Flu) into the pores of a nanoscale MOF zeolitic imidazolate framework-8 (ZIF-8) and measuring the emission intensity ratio and maximum emission wavelength (Figure 14b).<sup>414</sup> The thermal sensitivity can reach  $S_r = 0.62\%$  K<sup>-1</sup> at 240 °C; albeit, the photothermal conversion effect is not significant in this system. UCNP@C core@shell nanoparticles have been successfully prepared for simultaneous photothermal heating and nanothermometry (Figure 14c).<sup>396</sup> Accurate PTT has been demonstrated by use of the photothermally active carbon nanoshells as heaters and the UCNPs for the real-time monitoring of microscopic temperatures, so as to reduce injury on the normal tissues during photothermal treatment. The local temperature calculated from the up-conversion luminescence (UCL) spectra is 10–15 °C higher than the macroscopic temperature recorded by a thermal camera, indicating the important role of accurate nanothermometry in biomedical diagnosis and therapeutics. The same group has further developed a complex multilayer structure in the form of  $NaYbF_4:2\%Er@NaYF_4@mSiO_2@Au@SiO_2@Ag_2S$  (Figure 14d), where the Au nanoparticles play the role of nanoheaters, whereas both the NaYbF4:2%Er@NaYF4 UCNPs and the Ag2S QDs function as nanothermometers.<sup>415</sup> In the photothermal measurements, the Ag<sub>2</sub>S nanothermometers, which are designed to be closest to the nanoheaters, experience rapid heating and reach an equilibrium temperature rapidly. More interestingly, the measured temperatures follow the order Ag<sub>2</sub>S > UCNP > thermocouple, which matches well with the order of the distance between the Au nanoparticles (nanoheaters) and the different thermometers. Although there are not many hybrid systems that can perform effective local heating and local temperature detection at the same time, such efforts are beneficial for the development of heater-thermometer nanoplatforms with accuracy, sensitivity, and resolution, as well as for understanding the heating mechanisms of different photothermal nanomaterials. However, it is worth noting that the introduction of a nanothermometer near a nanoheater might affect the optical properties of both sides, including the heating efficiency of the nanoheater and the temperature calibration curve of the nanothermometer. Careful calibration is therefore especially crucial for these new systems.<sup>416</sup>

# 4.2. Non-nanoprobe Thermometry

Non-nanoprobe thermometry refers to the direct measurement of the local temperatures or steady-state spatial temperature gradients of photothermal nanomaterials without introducing any nanothermometers. It mainly relies on various spectroscopies. The simplicity of local temperature control allows for an in-depth study of the dissipation and heat transfer mechanisms at the nanoscale.

X-ray can be used as the probe for local temperature measurements. *In situ* local temperature measurements of the

photoinduced heating in single and hybrid Au nanoparticles have been demonstrated using extended X-ray absorption fine structure spectroscopy (EXAFS).<sup>417</sup> The temperature dependence of the structural and vibrational local parameters of Au nanoparticles can be quantified through the Fourier analysis of the EXAFS spectra, which contain information about photoexcited electrons that interact with the atomic local environment of the scattered atoms (Figure 15a). Although the measurements are time-consuming ( $\sim 2$  h per sample per experimental condition),<sup>417</sup> the work reveals significant nanoscale thermal gradients, i.e., large variations of temperature within a small volume. In principle, this method allows for the measurements of the heating at the nanoscale for other types of nanoparticles under hyperthermia exposure. In addition, a scheme based on an optical pump and an X-ray diffraction probe has been developed to directly measure the photothermal effects on the lattice of TiN nanoparticles dispersed in water.<sup>418</sup> The lattice temperature of the TiN nanoparticles, from room temperature up to as hot as 175 °C, can be measured by calibrating transient X-ray diffraction data against static powder diffraction measurements at elevated temperatures. The heat capacity of the TiN nanoparticles has further been studied. The temporal dynamics of heat transfer from the TiN nanoparticles to the solvent is found to be on a time scale of 0.4-1 ns. This technique has also been employed for the internal temperature measurements of magnetic nanoparticles heated by a high-frequency magnetic field.419 However, these X-ray-based thermometry techniques typically require powdered samples under inert gas atmosphere, which therefore limits their applications in complicated systems.

Raman spectroscopies, both of the Stokes and anti-Stokes components, can be utilized for measuring the local temperatures of nanomaterials. In a work reported in 2017, a single Si nanoparticle simultaneously acts as a heater and a thermometer and integrates effective photoinduced heat generation and broad-range temperature sensing.<sup>420</sup> A photoinduced temperature up to 900 K is observed from the Si nanoparticle deposited on a glass substrate under the radiation of a typical 633 nm laser at moderate intensities (<2 mW  $\mu$ m<sup>-2</sup>). The temperature sensing is accomplished simply by monitoring the intensity variation of the characteristic 520  $\text{cm}^{-1}$  (Stokes) Raman mode in silicon (Figure 15b), which is associated with the anharmonic effect in the lattice vibrations and inherently thermally sensitive. However, this method of Raman nanothermometry has very limited applicability to other materials. For most materials, anti-Stokes Raman emission signals are more sensitive to temperature variations than Stokes components.<sup>421</sup> The intensity ratio between the anti-Stokes and Stokes Raman peaks has a temperature-dependent term  $\left[\exp\left(-\frac{2\pi\hbar v_{\rm m}}{k_{\rm n}T}\right)\right]$ , where  $\nu_{\rm m}$  is the vibrational frequency of the

excited state. The anti-Stokes to Stokes intensity ratio is therefore commonly used as a more general approach for direct local temperature measurements.<sup>422–426</sup> However, since the anti-Stokes signals are usually very weak, a careful calibration is crucial for accurate intensity measurements. An alternative method has therefore been developed to overcome this problem. In the method, the anti-Stokes luminescence emissions rather than the anti-Stokes to Stokes intensity ratio are used to obtain the absolute temperature of individual Au nanorods (Figure 15c).<sup>427</sup> Without the need for precalibration, the temperatures of the Au nanorods can be determined *in situ* with an accuracy of 6% (4 K) by recording the anti-Stokes spectra of the individual nanorods with an acquisition time of 3 min (Figure 15c (1)). Furthermore, the accuracy can be improved to better than 2% by performing this single-particle Anti-Stokes emission measurement at different irradiation powers (Figure 15c (2)).<sup>427</sup> Taken together, all the works discussed above about the thermometry for photothermal conversion suggest that fast and accurate transient local temperature probing techniques have remained a challenge.

# 5. APPLICATIONS

Together with the investigation on photothermal conversion mechanisms and the advancement of nanofabrication techniques, immense effort has been made to extend the applications of photothermal nanomaterials. Nanomaterials with efficient solar-to-heat conversion provide a promising solution to satisfy the ever-increasing water and energy demand. Pure water can be produced from seawater and wastewater through solar water heating and evaporation, which can be accelerated by suitable photothermal nanomaterials. The generated hot vapor during solar evaporation can be used for sterilizing, driving mechanical work, and even producing electricity. Photothermal conversion by nanomaterials has also been employed in other physical (laser printing, photothermal manipulation), chemical (photothermal catalysis), and biological (PTT, drug delivery, bacterial inhibition) applications. In this section, we will provide an overview on the recent developments in the applications of photothermal nanomaterials. Some of the most representative examples are highlighted to show the advantages of nanomaterials in these photothermal applications.

# 5.1. Solar Thermal Water Heating

Owing to the development of various photothermal materials, new solar thermal systems have emerged for efficient water heating and vapor generation. Because of the vast number of works in this area, representative works on solar thermal water heating and evaporation are summarized in Table 2. They serve as references for researchers who are interested in this area. Photothermal water heating systems can be categorized into different types according to the relative position of the solar-absorbing material and the water medium (Figure 16a).<sup>7,51</sup> (1) When the solar absorbers are dispersed in water, the photothermal energy collected by the absorbers will transfer to water through classical (global heating) and nonclassical (nanobubble generation) mechanisms. Such volumetric systems, also known as nanofluids, usually employ well-dispersed plasmonic nanoparticles or carbon-based nano-materials as the solar absorbers.<sup>428-435</sup> Nanomaterials possess high surface-to-volume ratios and provide large surface areas for heat transfer to the surrounding medium. For classical heating, the solar absorbers act as the heat sources and transfer thermal energy to increase the temperature of the bulk fluid. For nonclassical heating, nanoparticles under concentrated sunlight absorb solar energy efficiently and raise their surface temperature above the boiling point of the fluid.<sup>428,429</sup> A thin shell of water in direct contact with the nanoparticles transforms into vapor, forming nanobubbles. The complex made of the nanoparticle and the surrounding vapor moves to the liquid-air interface and releases the vapor. In this way, solar energy is primarily directed to the vaporization of water, with a much smaller fraction used for the heating of the bulk fluid. (2) When the solar absorbers are placed on the surface of the bulk water, the photothermal system is called the interfacial solar evaporation system.<sup>436</sup> In contrast to the volumetric

photothermal system, the interfacial system confines the solar heat and vapor generation at the water-air interface. The temperature of the underneath bulk water remains low during the evaporation process, minimizing the heat loss through the surrounding environment. The light-absorbing materials either directly float on water or are placed onto a porous layer with interconnected water-supplying channels. (3) Isolation systems with the solar absorbers separating from the bulk water have also been proposed to further suppress the conduction heat losses. To achieve a small contact area between the absorbers and the bulk water, confined 1D/2D water paths with a sufficient water-supply capability have been designed and fabricated.<sup>437-439</sup> For example, monolithic carbon sponges with self-contained water have been demonstrated for vapor generation,440 where the photothermal system is completely isolated from the bulk water. In another example, a contactless vapor generation system has been proposed, with the absorber and the bulk water separated by a gas gap (Figure 16b).<sup>441</sup> The absorber converts solar light to heat and consequently re-emits thermal IR radiation toward the bulk water. Vapor with temperatures as high as 133 °C is produced under one sun illumination in a nonpressurized system.

The water evaporation rate and efficiency are key parameters for evaluating the capability of a photothermal system to generate water vapor. The water evaporation rate is defined as the amount of generated vapor by a light absorber directly exposed to solar light of unit area within unit time. The evaporation efficiency  $\eta_{\text{eva}}$  is defined as the ratio of the energy consumed for evaporation ( $P_{\text{eva}}$ ) to the energy of light incident on the photothermal system ( $P_{\text{solar}}$ ).<sup>507</sup>

$$\eta_{\rm eva} = \frac{P_{\rm eva}}{P_{\rm solar}} \tag{5.1}$$

 $P_{\rm eva}$  can be calculated by the product between the vaporization enthalpy of water and the weight of the evaporated water. The values of the water evaporation rates and efficiencies of various photothermal systems are also listed in Table 1. In addition to increasing the light-absorbing capability of the solar absorber, the water evaporation rate and efficiency can also be improved by optimizing the heat management and water supply, harvesting the environmental energy, as well as reducing and reusing the vaporization enthalpy. Groove structures on the hydrogel surface can introduce temperature gradients and tension gradients, activating the Marangoni convection effect to accelerate water flow (Figure 16c).<sup>465</sup> The accelerated water flow can reduce the viscosity of the internal water and activate the free water around the surface, increasing the evaporation rate. In contrast to traditional interfacial solar vapor generators with heat loss into the environment, most 3D absorbers can be kept cooler than their surrounding environment, which allows energy to be conveyed from the environment and thus to efficiently diminish the energy loss.448,467,497 With the environmental energy used as an additional input, the calculated evaporation efficiencies of those systems can be close to or even beyond 100%.448,467,497 A carbon foam with interconnected porous structures has been reported to harvest wind energy as additional energy.<sup>445</sup> An impressive evaporation rate of 10.9 kg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> under one sun illumination has been achieved with a convective flow of 6 m  $s^{-1}$ . Porous networks of polymer films have been reported to confine water into clusters and lead to the reduction of the evaporation enthalpy.<sup>483,504,505</sup>

| category                  | reference | photothermal material and device  | water evaporation rate  | evaporation<br>efficiency | note   |
|---------------------------|-----------|---|---|---------------------------|--|
| nanofluids                | 428       | nanofluid of Au nanoshells  |   | 0.24                      | used for ethanol distillation  |
|                           | 42.9      | nanofluid of Au nanoshells  |   |                           | used for sterilization   |
|                           | 010       |   |   | 2010                      |  |
|                           | 017       | nanonuu or Au-Ag nanopiates   |   | 0./0                      |  |
|                           | 430       | Au, Ag, and Au-Ag blended nanofluids  |   | 0.3097                    |  |
|                           | 431       | plasmonic nanofluid containing Au nanoparticles   | $6.27 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 10 sun irradiation                          | 0.65                      |  |
|                           | 432       | CuO and antimony-doped tin oxide composite nanofluid  |   | 0.925                     |  |
|                           | 433       | reduced graphene oxide nanofluid  |   | 0.9693                    | exhibit better photothermal conversion efficiencies than the             |
|                           |           |   |   |                           | graphene and graphene oxide ones   |
|                           | 434       | carbon black, graphene, and graphitized carbon black nanofluids                                       | 10.9 kg $m^{-2}$ h <sup>-1</sup> under 10 sun illumination                                | 0.69                      |  |
|                           | 435       | nanofluid of Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> @CNTs   |   | 0.603                     | magnetic separation for recycling nanoparticles                          |
| carbon-based<br>materials | 442       | carbon fibers   | 1.3 kg $m^{-2}$ $h^{-1}$ under 1 sun irradiation  | 0.8                       | salt-resistant ability based on the Donnan effect                        |
|                           | 443       | hierarchical Cu structures with Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> coating and carbon black nanoparticles | 1.31 kg m <sup><math>-2</math></sup> h <sup><math>-1</math></sup> under 1 sun irradiation | 0.8                       | bioinspired structure  |
|                           | 444       | carbon nanosheets   | $1.4 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination                           | 0.92                      |  |
|                           | 445       | 3D porous carbon foam   | 10.9 kg m <sup><math>-2</math></sup> h <sup><math>-1</math></sup> under 1 sun irradiation |                           | wind used as an additional energy source                                 |
|                           | 312       | carbon foam/exfoliated graphite layers  | 11 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 10 kW m <sup>-2</sup> solar<br>irradiance        | 0.85                      | i  |
|                           | 441       | contactless solar evaporator with porous reticulated vitreous<br>carbon foam                          | $2.5~{\rm L~day^{-1}}$ with daily insolation of 6 kW ${\rm h~m^{-2}}$                     | 0.25                      | antifouling and salt-rejecting structure                                 |
|                           | 446       | CNT membrane  | 1.32 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                       | 0.82                      | seawater desalination and wastewater purification                        |
|                           | 447       | CNTs/filter paper/cotton thread/polystyrene foam  | 1.42 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                       | 0.812                     | isolated salt crystallization  |
|                           | 448       | composite of cotton, cellulose, carbon black nanoparticles, and polystyrene foam                      | 1.77 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 120 mW cm <sup>-2</sup> solar<br>irradiance    | ~1                        | energy gained from the environment                                       |
|                           | 314       | hollow carbon-nanotube aerogel  | 3.9186 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 3 sun<br>illumination                     | 0.868                     |  |
|                           | 449       | ultrablack carbon aerogel   | 1.37 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                       | 0.8751                    | implement $\mathrm{CO}_2$ activation to increase the hot-electron effect |
|                           | 450       | SiC/CNT coating   |   | 0.5094                    | used for anti-icing  |
|                           | 451       | carbon foam deposited with layered BiInSe <sub>3</sub>  | 1.1 kg $m^{-2}$ $h^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination   |                           | seawater desalination  |
|                           | 452       | polyvinyl alcohol embedded with carbon black nanoparticles on a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane      | 0.5 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 700 W m <sup>-2</sup> solar irradiance          | 0.538                     | saline water desalination  |
|                           | 453       | poly methylmethacrylate coated with carbon black nanoparticles<br>on polyacrylonitrile layer          | 1.3 kg m <sup><math>^2</math></sup> h <sup><math>^1</math></sup> under 1 sun illumination | 0.72                      | seawater desalination with salt-resistant properties                     |
|                           | 454       | carbon-black-coated polyvinyl alcohol cloth   | 1.35 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                       | 0.8475                    | continuous desalination with salt excretion                              |
|                           | 455       | umbrella architecture of carbon-coated fabric   | 9.05 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination with natural wind     |                           | self-salt-cleaning   |
|                           | 456       | 3D-printed hydrogel decorated with carbon nanoparticles   | $4.12 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination                          | 0.921                     | inspired by the transpiration in trees                                   |
|                           | 457       | aerogel of CNTs and hydroxyapatite nanowires  | 1.34 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                       | 0.894                     | wastewater purification  |
|                           | 458       | composite paper of CNTs and hydroxyapatite nanowires  | 14.31 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 10 sun<br>illumination                     | 0.928                     | seawater desalination and wastewater purification                        |

| Table 2. conti                | inued      |   |   |                           |   |
|-------------------------------|------------|---|---|---------------------------|---|
| category                      | reference  | photothermal material and device  | water evaporation rate  | evaporation<br>efficiency | note  |
|                               | 459        | sponge with polydimethylsiloxane, CNTs, and cellulose nanocrystals                                  | $1.35 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1} \text{ under } 1 \text{ sun}$ illumination   | 0.874                     | waste energy-to-electricity conversion by thermoelectric modules                                      |
|                               | 437        | 3D-printed structure with CNTs, graphene oxide, and nanofibrillated cellulose                       | 1.25 kg $m^{-2}$ h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun illumination                           | 0.856                     |   |
|                               | 440        | monolithic carbon sponge  | 1.39 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 | 0.9                       | electricity generation by water evaporation-induced piezo-<br>pyroelectric response                   |
|                               | 460        | hydrogel-coated graphite film   | 1.01 kg $m^{-2}$ h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun illumination                           | 0.627                     | anticlogging coating prevents salt accumulation   |
|                               | 461        | graphite/nonwoven film on nonwoven-wrapped polystyrene foam   | 34.8 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 30 kW m <sup>-2</sup> solar irradiance   | 0.817                     | simultaneous generation of clean water and electricity  |
|                               | 439        | carbonized mushrooms  | $1.475 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun irradiation                    | 0.78                      | efficiency of 62% achieved for natural mushrooms  |
| graphene-related<br>materials | 462        | graphene oxide film   | 1.45 kg $m^{-2}$ $h^{-1}$ under 1 sun irradiation                                   | 0.94                      | solar desalination with four orders of salinity decrement   |
|                               | 438        | graphene oxide  | 16.1 kg m <sup>-2</sup> under 8 h outdoor solar<br>irradiation                      | 0.85                      | inspired by the natural transpiration process in plants   |
|                               | 330        | graphene sheets   | 6.25 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 4 sun<br>illumination                 | 0.942                     |   |
|                               | 463        | porous graphene   | $1.5 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination                     | 0.8                       |   |
|                               | 464        | hierarchical graphene   | 1.4 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 5 kW m <sup>-2</sup> solar irradiance     | 6.0                       |   |
|                               | 320        | hydrophilically functionalized graphene   | 0.47 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 | 0.48                      | improved efficiency compared to chemically reduced graphene oxide                                     |
|                               | 465        | hydrogel embedded with $\mathrm{Ti}_3\mathrm{C}_2\mathrm{T}_x$ MX<br>ene and reduced graphene oxide | 3.62 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 | 0.91                      | enthalpy of vaporization lowered and Marangoni effect induced   |
|                               | 466        | aerogel made of PPy-coated MnO <sub>2</sub> nanowires and reduced graphene oxide                    | 1.587 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                | 0.938                     | seawater desalination and wastewater purification   |
|                               | 467        | reduced graphene oxide and silk fabric  | 1.48 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 | 1.02                      | energy gained from the environment  |
|                               | 468        | conic arrays consisting of graphene-wrapped Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> nanopartides             | $5.88 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination                    |                           | reconfigurable and magnetically responsive evaporator   |
| wood materials                | 469        | graphene-oxide-coated wood  | 14.02 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 12 sun<br>illumination               | 0.83                      |   |
|                               | 470        | flame-treated wood  | 1.05 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 | 0.72                      | water evaporation rate of 3.46 kg m $^{-2}$ h $^{-1}$ and efficiency of 0.81 under 3 sun illumination |
|                               | 471        | PPy-decorated wood  | $1.014 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination                   | 0.725                     |   |
|                               | 472        | CuFeSe2-nanoparticle-decorated wood   | $6.6 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 5 sun illumination                     | 0.862                     |   |
| modified papers               | 473        | CNT-modified filter paper   | 1.15 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 | 0.75                      | electricity extracted from the evaporation-induced salinity gradient                                  |
|                               | 474        | PPy-modified paper  | 2.99 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 |                           |   |
|                               | 262<br>475 | air-laid paper and Au-nanoparticle-based film<br>Au nanonarticles sunborted on air-laid paper       | $1.71 \text{ mg s}^{-1}$ under 4.5 sun irradiation                                  | 0.778                     |   |
|                               | 476        | Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> nanoparticles on air-laid paper                                      | 1.70 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination                 | 0.797                     | adjustable device by magnetic field   |
|                               | 477        | Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> nanoparticles on air-laid paper                                      | 1.3 kg $m^{-2}$ $h^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination                                   | 0.8                       | wastewater purification   |
| cellulose-based<br>materials  | 33         | cellulose membrane deposited with Ti <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> nanoparticles                      | 5.03 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 5 kW m <sup>-2</sup> solar<br>irradiance | 0.92                      | nearly 100% internal solar-thermal conversion efficiency  |

|                  |           |  |  | evaporation |  |
|------------------|-----------|--|--|-------------|--|
| category         | reterence | photothermal material and device   | water evaporation rate   | efficiency  | note   |
|                  | 478       | membrane of mixed cellulose ester, ZnO nanorods, and Au<br>nanoparticles                             | 8.7 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 10 sun<br>illumination  |             |  |
|                  | 479       | cellulose-based fabric/polystyrene   | 2.5 L m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  | 0.22        | salt rejection   |
| gels             | 480       | bilayered hydrogel   | 11.33 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination   |             |  |
|                  | 481       | 3D-printed hydrogel decorated with $\mathrm{Fe}_3\mathrm{O}_4$ nanoparticles                         | 5.12 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  |             | superior light absorption properties and rapid capillary-driven<br>water transport                 |
|                  | 482       | hydrogel made of reduced graphene oxide and $\mathrm{Ti}_3\mathrm{C}_2\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{x}}$ MXene | 2.09 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  | 0.935       | reduced vaporization enthalpy  |
|                  | 483       | hierarchically nanostructured gel made of polyvinyl alcohol and PPy                                  | $3.2 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination  | 0.94        | reduced vaporization enthalpy  |
|                  | 484       | plasmonic aerogel based on biofoam and Au nanorods   | 0.32 mg cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> s <sup><math>-1</math></sup> at a power density of 5.1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> | 0.763       |  |
|                  | 485       | bilayer aerogel of MoS <sub>2</sub> nanosheets and bacterial nanocellulose                           | 6.15 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 5.35 kW m <sup>-2</sup> solar irradiance  | 0.81        |  |
| membranes        | 486       | microporous membrane deposited with Au nanoparticles   | $11.8 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 10 sun irradiation   | 0.85        |  |
|                  | 295       | $W_{18} O_{49}$ mesocrystals on polytetrafluoroethylene membrane                                     | 1.13 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  | 0.82        |  |
|                  | 263       | black Au membrane  | 18.5 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 20 sun<br>illumination   | 0.57        |  |
|                  | 487       | PDA/polyethylenimine/PPy@polyamide nanofibrous membrane  | 1.43 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  | 0.869       | seawater desalination and wastewater purification  |
|                  | 488       | $\mathrm{WO}_{2,72}/\mathrm{polylactic}$ acid fiber membrane   | 3.81 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 0.294 W m <sup>-2</sup> solar irradiance  | 0.8139      |  |
|                  | 489       | PDA-coated polyvinylidene fluoride membrane  | 0.49 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 0.75 kW m <sup>-2</sup> solar irradiance  | 0.45        |  |
|                  | 490       | hybrid membrane of MoS <sub>2</sub> nanosheets and single-walled nanotubes                           | 6.6 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> at 4 kW m <sup>-2</sup> solar<br>irradiance   | 0.915       | seawater desalination  |
|                  | 491       | membrane of PPy-coated stainless steel mesh  | 0.92 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  | 0.58        | self-healing hydrophobicity  |
|                  | 133       | self-assembly of Al nanoparticles in anodic Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> membrane                  | $5.7 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 4 sun illumination  | 0.9         | seawater desalination  |
|                  | 492       | polyvinylidene fluoride membrane with Al-Ti-O nanostructures   | 0.50 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  | 0.7752      | seawater desalination  |
|                  | 493       | Ag-nanoparticle-loaded polyvinylidene fluoride membrane  |  |             | temperature polarization   |
|                  | 494       | Au $@$ TiO $_2$ nanoparticles on microporous membrane  | $3.7 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 5 sun illumination  | 0.4634      | seawater desalination and wastewater purification  |
| other composites | 495       | composite of polyethylene glycol and poly(acrylamide-co-acrylic<br>acid) copolymer                   |  | 0.933       | higher thermal conductivity than pure polyethylene glycol  |
|                  | 496       | composite sheet of HCuPO and polydimethylsiloxane  | $1.85 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination   | 0.636       | saline water desalination  |
|                  | 124       | nanocomposite of $\mathrm{SiO_2/Ag}(\mathbb{P}TiO_2)$  | 5.86 L m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 7 kW m <sup>-2</sup> Xe<br>lamp irradiance                                      | N/A         | seawater catalysis and desalination  |
|                  | 497       | 3D-cup-shaped composite of CuFeMnO4 and silica   | 2.04 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination  | ~1          | diffuse reflectance reabsorbed and excess energy gained from<br>the surrounding                    |
|                  | 498       | cermet-coated copper substrate   |  | 0.71        | thermal concentration and heat localization  |
|                  | 499       | Janus interface based on copper foil and foam  | $2.21 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination   | 0.88        | water evaporation and solar-thermal conversion separated on<br>the two sides of the film generator |

Table 2. continued

category

| note                             | minimized optical loss, enhanced heat transfer and condensation   |  | wastewater purification  | wastewater purification                            | parallel production of fresh water and triboelectricity           |   |   | strong light absorption through heavy V-doping                                 | seawater desalination   | vaporization enthalpy recycled                                      |
|----------------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|---|---|
| evaporation<br>efficiency        | 0.7   | 0.0  | 0.427  | 0.8  | 0.85  | 0.92  | 0.62  | 0.9344   | 0.891   | 3.85  |
| water evaporation rate           | $1.063 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination | 5.5 kg m <sup><math>-2</math></sup> h <sup><math>-1</math></sup> under 4 sun illumination  | $1.26 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination | S kg $m^{-2}$ $h^{-1}$ under 4 sun illumination    | $1.356 \text{ kg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ under 1 sun illumination | 1.38 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination | 4.95 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 5 sun<br>illumination | 2.01 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under simulated solar<br>light         | 1.49 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination | 5.78 kg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> under 1 sun<br>illumination |
| photothermal material and device | Al-absorber-based solar water purifier                            | assembly of Au nanoparticles in disordered nanoporous $\mathrm{Al}_2\mathrm{O}_3$ template | femtosecond-laser-treated Al foil                                | assembly of Ag nanoparticles in porous Al template | Au-nanoflower-dispersed in nanoporous silica matrix               | multilayer PPy nanosheets   | MoO <sub>3.*</sub> QDs  | poly(vinyl alcohol) network embedded with V-doped MoO <sub>3</sub> nanospheres | polymer film embedded with titanium oxynitride spheres              | multistage solar still  |
| reference                        | 500   | 265  | 501  | 502  | 503   | 333   | 282   | 504  | 505   | 506   |

Reduced vaporization enthalpies have also been observed in hybrid hydrogel and explained by the abundant hydrophilic groups for weakening the interaction of the hydrogen bonds between the water molecules.<sup>465,482</sup> A thermally localized multistage solar still has been demonstrated to recycle the vaporization enthalpy, where the latent heat released from a stage is recycled at the next stage to produce vapor.<sup>506</sup> An evaporation rate of 5.78 kg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> and a remarkable evaporation efficiency of 385% under one sun illumination have been experimentally demonstrated.

5.1.1. Seawater Desalination. Although water covers 71% of the surface of the Earth, most of the water resources are stored in the oceans and are too salty to be directly utilized. Desalination, a process that removes salts from saline water, is regarded as one of the most effective solutions to overcome water scarcity. A few developed countries, such as Saudi Arabia, Singapore, and Israel, have been investing in seawater desalination to address their water scarcity issues. Most current techniques of seawater desalination remain expensive since they require enormous amounts of energy. Solar seawater desalination, taking "free energy" from the Sun and producing negligible hazards to the environment, is a green technology to generate freshwater. The integration of a water condensation system with the solar evaporation system can be directly used for seawater desalination. The vapor generated from seawater under solar illumination by a photothermal system is condensed and collected to produce water with low salinity. In a pioneering work, the nanopores of anodic aluminum oxide membranes act as the paths for efficient water supply and continuous vapor flow (Figure 17a).<sup>133</sup> Plasmon-enhanced solar desalination has been successfully demonstrated with the broadband absorption of the assembled Al nanoparticles. The salinities of four representative seawater samples after desalination are all remarkably decreased below the salinity levels of drinkable water defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Solar absorber films have recently been prepared from V-doped MoO<sub>3</sub> nanospheres. They give a fast seawater evaporation rate of 2.01 kg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> and a high evaporation efficiency of 93.44% (Figure 17b).504 The light absorption of the MoO<sub>3</sub> nanospheres is significantly enhanced by V-doping, giving rise to over 90% absorption in the wavelength range from 250 to 2000 nm. IR imaging of the solar evaporation system shows that the surface temperature of the solar-absorbing film reaches up to 48.7 °C, while the temperature of the bulk water is barely changed. The synergistic effect between the thermal management and the great light-absorbing capability of the V-doped MoO<sub>3</sub> nanospheres results in a superior photothermal conversion performance. The interband-transition-induced resonance and plasmon resonance endow nitridized titania nanospheres with a strong light absorption capability (Figure 17c).<sup>505</sup> The light absorption of the assembly of differently sized titanium oxynitride spheres is significantly enhanced across the solar spectrum. Hollow titanium oxynitride spheres are further incorporated into polyacrylamide-based films and integrated with a 2D water-wicking material for solar seawater desalination. A water evaporation rate of 1.49 kg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> and an evaporation efficiency of 89.1% have been demonstrated under simulated sunlight. The freshwater generated from the solar seawater desalination system possesses a significantly reduced salinity, satisfying the WHO standards for drinkable water. Moreover, the salts produced during solar

Chemical Reviews



**Figure 16.** Solar thermal water heating and evaporation. (a) Schematics of the different types of photothermal systems for water heating and evaporation. Reprinted with permission from ref 51. Copyright 2018 Royal Society of Chemistry. (b) Noncontact radiative transfer from the solar absorber to the water. Reprinted with permission from ref 441. Copyright 2018 Cooper et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (c) Marangoni-effect-accelerated water flow and -enhanced solar evaporation. Reprinted with permission from ref 465. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (d) Environmental-energy-enhanced solar evaporation. Reprinted with permission from ref 448. Copyright 2018 under Elsevier user license.



**Figure 17.** Solar heating for seawater desalination. (a) Setup and solar desalination performance of 3D assembled Al nanoparticles. The measured salinities represent the weight percentages of Na<sup>+</sup> of the four simulated seawater samples before and after desalination. The dashed colored lines refer to the WHO and the US EPA standards for drinkable water. Reprinted with permission from ref 133. Copyright 2016 Springer Nature. (b) Schematic and IR image of a porous interlaced poly(vinyl alcohol) network embedded with V-doped MoO<sub>3</sub> nanospheres during solar seawater desalination. Reprinted with permission from ref 504. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society. (c) Schematic and seawater desalination performance of hollow titanium oxynitride spheres as the photothermal transducers. Reprinted with permission from ref 505. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society. (d) Illustrations and photographs of salt accumulation/excretion in conventional/salt-excreting evaporators. Reprinted with permission from ref 454. Copyright 2021 Wiley-VCH under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

pubs.acs.org/CR



**Figure 18.** Solar water heating for wastewater purification. (a) Self-floating aerogel composed of CNTs and hydroxyapatite nanowires for highly efficient solar-energy-assisted water purification. The middle panel shows the concentrations of three types of heavy metal ions in the simulated wastewater before and after photothermal wastewater purification. The right panel shows the UV–visible absorption spectra and photographs of a rhodamine B aqueous solution before and after photothermal purification. Reprinted with permission from ref 457. Copyright 2019 Elsevier. (b) A superwicking and super-light-absorbing aluminum surface for efficient solar-based water sanitation. The schematics show the black aluminum sheet with a rotatable platform to maximize the incident solar flux, and an open capillary architecture for easy cleaning. The histogram demonstrates the water sanitation of four types of heavy metals. The right panel shows the photographs of a  $Cr^{2+}$  (top) and a rhodamine 6G dye (bottom) aqueous solution before (left) and after (right) photothermal purification. Reprinted with permission from ref 501. Copyright 2020 Singh et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

evaporation can be automatically cleaned for continuous desalination. Salt management in solar seawater desalination is vital for maintaining the desalination performance with longterm stability (Figure 17d).454 During seawater desalination, the leaving of vapor from the bulk water produces concentrated salts, including NaCl and CaCO<sub>3</sub>. The fouling of the slats on an evaporation system can deteriorate the lightabsorbing performance and clog the water-supply path. Various designs have been proposed to address the fouling issue. In one design, the source water is taken up from the edge of the evaporator and the concentrated brine is excreted out before saturation through a directional flow.<sup>454</sup> White fabric wicks in a floating multilayer solar evaporation structure have been used for delivering water and rejecting excess salts at the same time.<sup>479</sup> A 3D umbrella architecture has been developed to guide the accumulated salts through the predesigned pathways without blocking the evaporative surface.455 A stable evaporation rate from a hypersaline brine with a salinity of 20 wt % is achieved over 4 day operation with minimal salt accumulation. In a proposed contactless configuration (Figure 16b), the solar absorber does not touch the water surface and transfers energy to the seawater through thermal radiation, effectively circumventing the fouling problem.441

**5.1.2. Wastewater Purification.** Solar thermal water evaporation can also be employed for wastewater purification. A bilayer aerogel composed of hydrophobic CNTs and hydrophilic hydroxyapatite nanowires has been reported for photothermal water purification (Figure 18a).<sup>457</sup> The CNT layer exhibits a high solar light absorptivity. The hydroxyapatite nanowires function as a thermal insulator for inhibiting the heat loss to the bulk water and confining the thermal energy at the evaporative surface.<sup>457,458</sup> The cross-linked pores and channels in the bilayer aerogel promote water transportation and vapor escape. Clean water can be produced from simulated wastewater containing heavy metal ions or

organic dyes after vapor generation and condensation. The concentrations of Pb<sup>2+</sup>, Cr<sup>3+</sup>, and Cu<sup>2+</sup> ions in the purified water are measured to be below the WHO drinking water standards. A superwicking black Al surface has been designed for efficient wastewater purification (Figure 18b).<sup>501</sup> Femtosecond laser has been used to produce Al sheets with open capillary channels, which can be easily cleaned and reused. The light-absorbing Al sheet is mounted onto polystyrene foam and floated on the water surface to construct a solar evaporation system. The system has been proven to be effective for purifying wastewater with 14 common types of contaminants, including various heavy metals, light metals, as well as industrial, domestic, and agricultural pollutants. After purification, the concentrations of all the tested contaminants are reduced by 4-5 orders of magnitude and meet the WHO standards for drinkable water. Moreover, the device can be mounted onto a rotatable platform to track sunlight for optimizing incident solar irradiance. The versatility of plasmonic structures has been demonstrated in the application of water purification. The pronounced local field enhancement of plasmonic structures in the solar evaporation system enables on-site pollution detection by Raman scattering.<sup>502</sup> Bifunctional Au@TiO2 nanoparticles have been reported for simultaneous vapor generation and photocatalytic degradation of pollutants.<sup>494</sup> Photothermal-evaporation-induced seawater desalination and wastewater purification are believed to play vital roles in addressing the issues of water scarcity.

**5.1.3. Electricity Generation.** Solar energy is converted into thermal energy and stored in the vapor and heated water after the solar evaporation process. A substantial amount of energy from the input sunlight is wasted if fresh water is the only target of the solar evaporation system.<sup>53</sup> Making the most use of solar energy along the photothermal evaporation process can contribute in addressing the energy and water scarcities. Researchers have developed strategies to further harvest the

pubs.acs.org/CR



**Figure 19.** Solar water heating for electricity generation. (a) Schematic of the interfacial photothermal water evaporation and electricity generation processes based on polydimethylsiloxane/carbon nanotubes/cellulose nanocrystals (PCC) sponge and thermoelectric modules (left panel). The middle panel shows the maximum output power of the thermoelectric modules under different solar irradiation powers with a digital calculator powered by the PCC sponge under 5 sun illumination shown in the inset. The right panel displays the water evaporation rates and open circuit voltages of the hybrid photothermal device at different flowing water temperatures under an optical density of 1 kW m<sup>-2</sup>. Reprinted with permission from ref 459. Copyright 2019 Wiley-VCH. (b) Schematic illustrating the condensation process during solar steam generation for the simultaneous generation of clean water and electricity (left panel). The middle panel shows the maximum output power of the thermoelectric device under different solar irradiation powers, and the right panel displays the optical image of an operating electric fan and light-emitting diodes powered by the solar steam system. Reprinted with permission from ref 461. Copyright 2018 under Elsevier user license.

input solar energy by generating electricity during the processes of solar absorption, vapor generation, and water condensation. The generation of thermoelectric power at the interface of the photothermal absorbers and the bulk water has been reported (Figure 19a).<sup>459</sup> A shape-conforming 3D organic sponge is fabricated for solar evaporation and integrated with thermoelectric modules for electricity generation. The sponge absorbs solar light and transfers energy to the upper side of the thermoelectric modules through heat diffusion. With the lower side of the thermoelectric modules cooled by the underneath bulk water, the temperature difference between the two sides of the thermoelectric modules produces electricity by the Seebeck effect. The generated electricity is proportionally boosted with solar irradiation. It can power a digital calculator under 5 sun illumination. On the other hand, the thermoelectric modules also serve as thermal insulators to isolate the sponge from the bulk water, resulting in an improved water evaporation rate. The water evaporation is also improved by the increased temperature of the flowing bulk water. In addition, lowering the temperature of the bulk water also increases the temperature difference between the two sides of the thermoelectric modules, which gives rise to a higher thermoelectric potential. Electricity can also be extracted from the evaporation-induced salinity gradient in a solar desalination system equipped with a piece of ion-selective membrane.<sup>473</sup> For instance, the storage and recycling of the enthalpy of the solar steam have been demonstrated for the simultaneous generation of electricity and fresh water (Figure 19b).<sup>461</sup> Heat is transferred from the high-temperature steam to a polyurethane-foam-wrapped Al chamber. Electricity is then generated by Bi<sub>2</sub>Te<sub>3</sub>-based thermoelectric modules due to

the temperature difference between the heated chamber and the room-temperature environment. The output electric power reaches 574 mW under 30 kW m<sup>-2</sup> solar irradiation, enabling continuous operation of an electric fan and 28 light-emitting diodes. Moreover, the chamber with thermal capacity can maintain electricity generation after the light source is turned off. It is beneficial for reducing the influence of intermittent illumination during practical applications. The waste energy from solar vapor can also be harvested by a polyvinylidene fluoride film for electricity generation based on the coupled pyroelectric and piezoelectric effects.<sup>440</sup> Electricity can also be generated during the condensation and collection of fresh water. For example, the flow of condensed water droplets on a polytetrafluoroethylene surface produces electricity by triboelectric nanogenerators in a condensate collection device.<sup>503</sup> With further improvement in the energy conversion efficiency and reduction in the device cost, these multifunctional and sustainable systems will move toward commercial applications in the foreseeable future.

# 5.2. Structural Color Printing

Structural colors arise from the interaction of light with photonic structures at the wavelength or subwavelength scale.<sup>61,508,509</sup> Fade-resistant and environmentally friendly structural colors with unprecedented printing resolution have gained much attention in numerous applications, including anticounterfeiting labels, optical encryption, high-density optical storage and display. With the development of laser and lithography techniques, direct laser printing becomes a powerful and convenient way for generating structural colors based on the localized photothermal heating of metal and



Figure 20. Photothermal color printing. (a) Schematic illustrating laser printing governed by the photothermal reshaping of plasmonic nanostructures (left). A laser-printed plasmonic color image is given on the right as an example. Reprinted with permission from ref 64. Copyright 2016 Springer Nature. (b) Schematic illustrating focused femtosecond-laser-printed nanovolcanoes and scattered colors under oblique illumination (left). The image encryption and decryption under dark-field objective lenses with different incidence angles are shown on the right. Reprinted with permission from ref 515. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society. (c) Schematics of a Au nanodisk-embedded poly(dimethylsiloxane) (PDMS) matrix before and after laser printing. The Au nanodisks are thermally reshaped into nanospheres under single-pulse laser exposure with a sufficient energy. Reprinted with permission from ref 528. Copyright 2020 Wiley-VCH. (d) Schematics of laser-printing Ge nanostructures for generating structural colors (left). The SEM images of the structures printed by different laser power dosages and the corresponding optical images of the color palettes are shown on the right. Reprinted with permission from ref 65. Copyright 2017 Zhu et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (e) Schematic of a rewritable device consisting of a Sb<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> phase-change material switched between its crystalline and amorphous states (upper panel). The crystalline sample (purple) is amorphized using femtosecond laser pulses, while the amorphous sample (yellow) is crystallized using a thermal annealing process. The optical micrograph of Vincent van Gogh's self-portrait can be written on the device by varying the exposure power of the femtosecond laser pulses. On the bottom panel are the optical micrographs of the device with  $\text{Sb}_2\text{S}_3$  in the amorphous (1) and crystalline (2) states. The crystalline sample can be reamorphized to varying degrees by femtosecond laser pulses with different excitation powers (3) and can be switched back to the crystalline state after a thermal annealing process (4). Reprinted with permission from ref 532. Copyright 2020 Liu et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

dielectric materials.<sup>85</sup> The interference between the incident laser and surface EM waves has been used to produce periodic surface structures.<sup>510–514</sup> Laser illumination can also change the morphology or phase of prefabricated micro-/nanostructures, giving rise to target colors. Laser pulses have been used to generate transient local heat for the melting and reshaping of nanoimprinted Al nanodisks (Figure 20a).<sup>64</sup> Laser pulses with different energy densities produce Al nanostructures with various morphologies, which support different plasmonic resonances to create colorful appearances. Color images are printed with a speed of one nanosecond per pixel and a resolution of up to 127,000 dots per inch, exceeding the diffraction limit. In another work, plasmonic nanovolcanoes at different splashing stages are produced on a Ti thin film by laser pulses with varied energy fluences (Figure 20b).<sup>515</sup> The scattering colors of the nanovolcanoes are found to be dependent not only on the morphologies but also on the incidence angle of the illumination light. The angularly anisotropic color appearances of the plasmonic nanovolcanoes are therefore utilized to encrypt hidden color images for information security and anticounterfeiting. Interestingly, the photothermal reshaping of plasmonic nanostructures by laser

pulses can also be realized below the melting point of a bulk metal, as explained by a surface-diffusion model.<sup>382,516,517</sup> Besides the laser power, adjusting the laser wavelength and polarization also provides degrees of freedom to control the structural morphologies and resultant color pixels.<sup>518-520</sup> Two orthogonal arms of anisotropic plasmonic nanostructures can be separately reshaped by lasers with their polarization along different directions, achieving multiplexed pixels.<sup>519</sup> Instead of writing on the 2D surfaces of different materials,<sup>521–525</sup> the structural color prints can alternatively be prepared inside 3D matrices.<sup>526-528</sup> The laser printing of plasmonic colors inside transparent Au-nanodisk-embedded polymeric matrices has been demonstrated (Figure 20c).<sup>528</sup> The position of the focused laser spot can access a 3D space in different depths inside the polymer with uniformly distributed circular Au nanodisks, creating multiple layers of color patterns inside a single piece of matrix. The employment of more degrees of freedom endows structural color prints with high security levels and large storage densities.

Dielectric materials, as an alternative to metals for certain optical applications, can also be photothermally modified by direct laser writing.<sup>65,529–532</sup> For example, Ge nanostructures

pubs.acs.org/CR

![](_page_26_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 21.** Opto-thermophoresis of nanomotors. (a) Schematic (upper) of a NIR-light-powered Janus  $mSiO_2$  nanomotor and calculated steadystate temperature distribution (lower) of a representative nanomotor under 3 W cm<sup>-2</sup> irradiation. Reprinted with permission from ref 539. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society. (b) Snapshots (left) and schematics (right) showing the mechanism of the motion of a PbSnanoparticle-filled vial propelled by a NIR laser (indicated by a red arrow). The proposed mechanism of the photomechanical effect contains four steps: (1) thermophoretic motion of the PbS nanoparticles toward the laser source; (2) brutal force release induced by Jeans' instability; (3) explosive growth of a bubble, which disperses the accumulated PbS nanoparticles; and (4) collapse of the bubble and return to the initial state. The temperature gradient is represented by the red color. Reprinted with permission from ref 561. Copyright 2020 Kavokine et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (c) Schematic showing the trapping of a single polystyrene nanosphere in an open gold structure on a glass substrate. The inset shows the trajectory points of a 200 nm polystyrene sphere trapped within a hexagonal lattice of triangular Au pads by a moving laser with a rotation frequency of 18.9 Hz. Reprinted with permission from ref 573. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society. (d) Schematic and two representative examples of the opto-thermophoretic assembly of colloidal matter of diverse sizes (from the subwavelength to micrometer scale) and materials (polymeric, dielectric, metal) with versatile configurations. A bright-field optical image of a 2D hybrid superlattice of 2 mm polystyrene spheres, 0.96 mm polystyrene spheres, 2 mm silica beads, and 1 mm silica beads and a dark-field optical image of a heterogeneous dimer of a 500 nm polystyrene sphere bead and a 200 nm Au nanosphere are shown on the right panel. Reprinted with permission from ref 575. Copyright 2017 Lin e

can harvest energy from pulsed laser irradiation through abovebandgap absorption and undergo morphology changes (Figure 20d).<sup>65</sup> In contrast to plasmonic heating with a rapid thermal change at the metal surface, the evenly distributed electric field inside the dielectric resonators potentially heats the resonators more homogeneously, making the associated photothermally driven morphology changes more controllable. With the increase of the laser power, Ge nanorods are gradually changed to shortened rods, spheres, and finally holes, causing the evident color variations. Furthermore, using phase-change materials, one can realize rewritable structural color prints, as have been reported in Sb<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> films (Figure 20e).<sup>532</sup> Sb<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> is a phase-change material that possesses a refractive index difference as large as  $\sim$ 1 between its crystalline and amorphous states.<sup>532,533</sup> The crystallization of Sb<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> films is achieved by thermal annealing, while the crystalline-to-amorphous transition is realized by employing high-intensity laser pulses with short duration to randomize the atomic arrangement. Partial reamorphization states with intermediate colors have also been demonstrated by changing the excitation power of the laser pulses. With further improvement in the write-erase cyclability of the color changes, such phase-change materials can become promising for optical encryption and nextgeneration high-resolution color display devices.

#### 5.3. Photothermal Manipulation

5.3.1. Opto-thermophoresis of Nanomotors. Motors, which can convert other forms of energy into mechanical work to produce motion, play a crucial role in the development of human society.<sup>57,534</sup> The miniaturization of motors toward the nanoscale has attracted intensive research interests.<sup>58</sup> The opto-thermophoretic effect provides a low-power solution for manipulating nanomotors by creating a temperature gradient field through optical heating.535,536 The hydrostatic pressure induced by a temperature gradient field occurs in the vicinity of the nanomotor surface. It moves the nanomotor to decrease the interfacial free energy.<sup>55</sup> In general, nanomotors with positive (negative) Soret coefficients are thermophobic (thermophilic) and move from the hot (cold) region to the cold (hot) region. The magnitude and sign of the Soret coefficient are affected by many parameters, including the shape and size of the nanomotor, the nanomotor-solvent interfacial properties, the surrounding temperature, and the hydrodynamic boundary effects.<sup>55,536–538</sup> In a work with Janus mSiO<sub>2</sub> nanomotors fabricated by sputtering a 10 nm Au layer on one side of mSiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles (Figure 21a),<sup>539</sup> a NIR laser is employed to locally heat the Au half-shell, resulting in the formation of a thermal gradient across the nanomotor. The opto-thermophoretic effect actively drives the nanomotor to move opposite to the direction of the Au half-shell side at a

![](_page_27_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 22.** Photothermal actuators and robots. (a) Sequential actuation of shape-memory polymer films through the wavelength-selective photothermal heating of Au nanospheres and nanorods. The TEM images and extinction spectra of the Au nanospheres and nanorods are shown on the left panel. A wavelength-controlled stage is demonstrated on the right panel with optically controlled heights and tilt angles using two legs made of folded shape-memory polymer films embedded with the Au nanospheres and nanorods, respectively. Two light-emitting diodes are used to selectively drive the shape recovery of the two legs. Reprinted with permission from ref 578. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society. (b) Schematics and photographs of PDA-coated LCN actuators, which can advance two steps through arching up/flattening down in a single on and off irradiation cycle. Reprinted with permission from ref 585. Copyright 2021 Xiao et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (c) Earthworm-like directed peristaltic crawling enabled by an anisotropic hydrogel actuator. The upper and middle panels show the schematics and photographs of the light-responsive actuation of a hydrogel consisting of titanate nanosheets aligned orthogonally to the cylindrical gel axis and light-absorbing Au nanoparticles. The hydrogel undergoes peristaltic crawling and moves oppositely toward the laser scanning direction when the irradiation spot is moved along the cylindrical gel axis, as shown in the photographs (bottom panel). Reprinted with permission from ref 598. Copyright 2018 Wiley-VCH.

speed up to 950 body lengths per second under a laser power of 703 kW m<sup>-2</sup>. Different types of opto-thermophoretic nanomotors have been reported, including plasmonic nanostructures,<sup>540–543</sup> carbonaceous nanoparticles,<sup>544–546</sup> biomolecules, <sup>547,548</sup> and hybrid nanoparticles. <sup>549–560</sup> Opto-thermophoretic manipulation can be achieved at not only the nanoscale but also the macroscopic scale. The displacement of a vial of nanofluids over centimeter-scale distances has been realized by a laser beam irradiation (Figure 21b).<sup>561</sup> The laser-irradiated PbS nanoparticles in the vial absorb the incident light and serve as local heating sources to trap other nanoparticles in the heated region through negative thermophoresis. Once the particle density in the illuminated region increases up to a point beyond the Jeans' instability, the collective motion of the PbS nanoparticles occurs and pushes the entire vial away from the laser. Remarkably, a 1.5 W laser illumination is sufficient to propel a vial weighing 3.5 g at an average speed of 1 mm  $s^{-1}$ . The opto-thermophoretic effect has also been used for trapping<sup>562-570</sup> and assembling<sup>571,572</sup> nanoparticles. An optothermophoretic trapping platform has been built for thermophobic nanoparticles (Figure 21c).<sup>573,574</sup> Since polystyrene nanospheres are repelled away from the laser-heated Au pads, the thermophobic nanoparticles can be confined inside a hexagonal lattice of the Au pads by rotating the laser at suitable speeds. A strategy of opto-thermophoretic assembly

has been developed to manipulate and construct colloidal matter based on ionic depletants under a light-controlled temperature field (Figure 21d).<sup>575</sup> Diverse colloidal particles, as the building blocks, can be trapped and moved one by one to assemble into various superstructures of arbitrary 1D, 2D, and 3D configurations. Moreover, the superstructures can be disassembled and then reassembled into different configurations.<sup>576,577</sup>

**5.3.2.** Photothermal Actuators and Robots. Plasmonic nanoparticles, carbon nanomaterials, and organic photothermal agents have been incorporated into the matrices of shapememory polymers, <sup>578–584</sup> liquid crystals, <sup>585–597</sup> hydrogels, <sup>136,598–604</sup> elastomers, <sup>605,606</sup> and biopolymers <sup>607,608</sup> to form photothermal actuators and robots. The photothermal conversion by light-absorbing materials leads to basic mechanical deformations, such as bending, twisting, rotating, and jumping, of thermally responsive components to function as grippers, mills, swimmers, and syringes. <sup>66,68,609–612</sup> Light-absorbing materials also serve as thermally responsive components in some actuators. <sup>613–615</sup> Several metrics, including the generated stress and strain, Young's modulus, durability, response time, and energy consumption, have been taken into account during the design of photothermal actuators and robots. <sup>616–618</sup> Two types of Au nanocrystals, nanospheres and nanorods have been selectively dispersed into thermopubs.acs.org/CR

![](_page_28_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 23.** Three categories of photothermal catalysis. (a) Thermally assisted photocatalysis. Schematic illustrating the photothermal effect and oxygen diffusion in a diphase (left) and a triphase (right) system. PC represents photocatalysis and PT represents the photothermal effect. Reprinted with permission from ref 276. Copyright 2021 Wiley-VCH. (b,c) Photoassisted thermocatalysis. The CH<sub>4</sub> conversion with PdO/ $Mn_3O_4/CeO_2$  nanocomposite supported on 1D halloysite nanotubes with and without light irradiation (on and off) is shown in (b). Reprinted with permission from ref 635. Copyright 2021 Wiley-VCH. The CO conversion with a Co-based catalyst with and without UV–visible irradiation (photothermal heating/direct thermal heating) is shown in (c). Reprinted with permission from ref 636. Copyright 2018 Wiley-VCH. (d,e) Photothermal cocatalysis. The schematic (left) illustrating the effect of light-induced thermal gradients on ammonia production and the NH<sub>3</sub> production rates (right) under dark and different illumination conditions are shown in (d). Reprinted with permission from ref 637. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. The schematic (left) showing the modified reaction chamber for the temperature measurements of thermal and nonthermal reactions and the total, thermal, and nonthermal reaction rates (right) as functions of the light intensity are shown in (e). Reprinted with permission from ref 639. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

plastic polyurethane shape-memory polymer films with a transition temperature of 55 °C (Figure 22a).<sup>578</sup> The sizes of the Au nanospheres and nanorods are carefully adjusted so that their LSPR wavelengths are matched with those of two lightemitting diodes at 530 and 860 nm, respectively. When the Au nanocrystal-embedded polyurethane films are exposed to the 530 (860) nm light, only the polyurethane film embedded with the wavelength-matched Au nanocrystals (nanospheres or nanorods) undergoes a shape deformation. The wavelengthselective photothermal heating therefore enables the sequential actuation of a stage with the folded shape-memory polymer films. Desynchronized liquid crystalline network (LCN) actuators have been designed with a deformation reversal capability (Figure 22b).<sup>585</sup> The two sides of the LCN actuators are made to start deforming at different temperatures and exerting different reversible strains by asymmetrical crosslinking and/or asymmetrical stretching. PDA layers are coated on the cross-linked LCNs to serve as the photothermal agent. After being exposed to a light source with a power density of  $30.5 \text{ mW mm}^{-2}$ , the PDA-coated LCN film arches up and then flattens down, taking a step forward. After the light is switched off, the film bends again and then flattens down to the initial state as it further cools, moving another step forward. The LCN film therefore implements two steps forward in a single light-on/off cycle. In another example, an anisotropic hydrogel has been created. It exhibits the capability of an earthworm-like directed peristaltic crawling inside a glass capillary (Figure 22c).<sup>598</sup> The hydrogel contains Au nanoparticles for photothermal conversion, a thermoresponsive polymer network for switching the electrical permittivity of the hydrogel interior, and magnetically oriented titanate nanosheets to synchronously change their anisotropic electrostatic repulsion. The employed poly(N-isopropyl acrylamide) hydrogel can reversibly dehydrate and rehydrate upon heating and cooling, causing reversible expansion and contraction of the hydrogel

along the direction orthogonal to the plane of titanate nanosheets. Once the hydrogel is illuminated with a visible laser, the irradiated region becomes thinner and longer, resulting in the reduction of friction with the capillary glass. When the irradiation spot is scanned along the cylindrical axis, the hydrogel undergoes peristaltic crawling and moves oppositely toward the laser scanning direction owing to quick and sequential elongation/contraction events. Besides the wavelength and intensity of the incident light, <sup>578,619–622</sup> the photothermal actuators and robots can be further controlled by the polarization of the light sources. <sup>623,624</sup> Noncontact manipulation of photothermal actuators and robots with improved response speeds, energy conversion efficiencies, and mechanical robustness will pave a promising way toward smart autonomous systems.

#### 5.4. Photothermal Catalysis

Heat and light are two crucial physical quantities that drive chemical reactions. With the rapid development of photothermal nanomaterials, photothermal catalysis has been widely explored to enhance the catalytic activity and achieve high selectivity for specific products, even under moderate reaction conditions.<sup>9,45,625</sup> As light and thermal energy can collectively or separately participate in the catalytic process, photothermal catalysis can be divided into three major categories.<sup>8,626</sup> The first category is thermally assisted photocatalysis, where photons mainly drive the catalytic reaction with thermal energy acting as an assisting role. Thermal energy alone can hardly drive this type of catalytic reactions. The photothermal effect is mainly reflected in the rising temperature that accelerates the migration of photogenerated charge carriers and the diffusion of reactant molecules.<sup>627-629</sup> The assisting thermal energy can apparently reduce the activation energy and thus facilitate the catalytic process. To better utilize the photothermal effect in photocatalytic reactions, the gasliquid-solid triphase system has been proposed in several recent works for improving the catalytic performance.<sup>630-633</sup> In conventional liquid-solid diphase systems, the thermal energy is rapidly dissipated to the surrounding medium and less can contribute to the interfacial reaction (Figure 23a).<sup>276</sup> On the contrary, the generated thermal energy that concentrates at the local sites of a carbon layer can be readily transferred to the adjacent catalysts in the triphase system. With the efficient heat supply, the triphase photocatalytic reaction rate can therefore be improved by 13 times in comparison to that in the diphase system. However, it is worth mentioning that more thermal energy does not always bring better catalytic performances. The balance between thermodynamics and kinetics is normally manipulated to achieve the best catalytic performance.<sup>626</sup> Moreover, high temperatures also challenge the stability of catalysts, which significantly affects the catalytic performance.

The second type of photothermal catalysis is photoassisted thermal catalytic activity, where the thermochemical reaction is dominant while photogenerated charge carriers serve as promoters. The introduction of light can lead to the increase in the local temperature because of the direct vibration absorption and indirect nonradiative relaxation.<sup>94,634</sup> These two impacts are thus beneficial for promoting the photo-assisted thermal catalytic process. For example, the activity of a catalytic reaction can be boosted by the enhanced capability of activating and adsorbing oxygen with the help of photogenerated electrons (Figure 23b).<sup>635</sup> In the extreme case, light can only be used to generate heat. The catalytic performance under light irradiation shows a very similar tendency to the case of traditional thermal catalysis (Figure 23c).<sup>636</sup> This type of photocatalysts is desired to have narrow bandgaps and high photothermal conversion efficiencies.

The third category is photothermal cocatalysis, where the thermochemical and photochemical processes make a synergistic contribution to the catalytic reaction. The cocatalytic performance is better than the overall contribution of individual photo- and thermocatalytic reactions. The thermal gradients modulated by photothermal heating have been demonstrated to efficiently produce ammonia with high conversion yields and reaction rates (Figure 23d).<sup>637</sup> The utilization of plasmonic Ru nanoparticles can facilitate the photothermal effect, but its limit hot carrier generation owing to the broad and weak plasmon resonance.<sup>638</sup> As shown in Figure 23d, simultaneously introducing light and external heating into the catalytic system can largely enhance the production of NH<sub>3</sub>. The NH<sub>3</sub> production rate is even larger than the total rate of those under sole light illumination and sole external heating, indicating a synergistic contribution of the thermochemical and photochemical processes in the reaction. The nonthermal plasmonic effect such as hot charge carrier transfer is ruled out from the contribution to the enhancement of the NH<sub>3</sub> production rate by comparing the catalytic performance under direct and indirect illumination. To further distinguish and quantify the thermal and nonthermal contributions in such a photothermal cocatalytic system, the research group has developed a methodology to in situ measure the temperatures in the thermal and nonthermal reactions (Figure 23e).<sup>639</sup> The effective thermal and nonthermal reaction rates can be correctly extracted by a thermal gradient model based on the measured temperatures.

In the catalytic systems involving plasmonic nanomaterials, photothermal heating and nonthermalized (hot) charge

carriers can be effectively generated due to the well-known LSPR effect.<sup>266</sup> Both of them can contribute to the enhancement of the catalytic activities, even though these two phenomena happen at different time scales and stem from different physical processes.<sup>86</sup> Therefore, much effort has been made to distinguish the photothermal effect from the hot charge carrier effect in photothermal catalysis.<sup>640–644</sup> But it has still remained challenging to unambiguously identify the contributions of these two factors due to the involved wide time scales and diverse mechanisms.

# 5.5. Selected Applications in Life Sciences

5.5.1. Photothermal Therapy (PTT). With the fascinating development of photothermal materials, PTT has emerged as a powerful potential therapeutic technology because of its minimal invasiveness, low toxicity, and spatiotemporal selectivity.<sup>645,646</sup> PTT makes use of photothermal nanomaterials to produce topical hyperthermia to trigger the death of abnormal cells.<sup>10</sup> When a photothermal agent is activated by external laser irradiation at a specific wavelength, the generated heat can accumulate in lesions and precisely target at tumors. Relatively low input power is required for tumor ablation because of the efficient light absorption of photothermal nanomaterials. Such selective and effective thermal ablation can minimize the damage to the surrounding healthy tissues. To achieve complete eradication of tumors, NIR light with long wavelengths, especially in the NIR-II window, is preferable for the deep tissue penetration during PTT.<sup>11,647,648</sup> Moreover, photothermal nanomaterials with desired absorption wavelengths can be readily designed to avoid the intrinsic light absorption of biological chromophores, leading to the reduction of phototoxicity in normal tissues. The modulation of the size, shape, and surface functionalization of photothermal nanomaterials, as well as the biological microenvironment, can be performed to improve the delivery efficiency and therapeutic efficacy of photothermal agents.<sup>71,649-652</sup> Robust photothermal nanomaterials have been extensively developed to possess specific physicochemical and pharmaceutical properties for the reduction of adverse effects and the enhancement of therapeutic efficacy.<sup>20,24,46,653,654</sup> In addition, PTT has also been carried out in clinical pilot trials as a safe and effective therapeutic modality. The clinical progresses of PTT with various photothermal nanomaterials have been widely made for the treatment of head and neck cancer, coronary atherosclerosis, diabetic macular abnormalities, age-related macular degeneration, prostate cancer, and genitourinary syndrome of menopause (national clinical trials: NCT 00848042, NCT 01270139, NCT 01975103, NCT 02569892, NCT 02680535, NCT 03288883).<sup>10,11</sup> A single-treatment clinical device study of AuroLase Therapy for the direct focal ablation of prostate tissue was demonstrated by the company of Nanospectra Biosciences.<sup>655</sup> Since silica-cored Au nanoshells served as the first photothermal nanomaterials for clinical use, more and more inorganic agents with strong absorption in the NIR region, high chemical stability, adjustable water solubility, and minimal cytotoxicity have entered clinical trials.<sup>648,653</sup> Clinical trials have also been underway for small organic molecules due to their good biodegradability, good repeatability, and simple preparation.<sup>690,713</sup> Nevertheless, the major challenges for the clinical implementation of photothermal nanomaterials are the complex metabolism and excretion behaviors.<sup>719</sup> The repre-

1

# Table 3. Representative Works on PTT in Recent Years

| category         | reference | photothermal materials and devices  | illumination conditions  | conversion<br>efficiency |
|------------------|-----------|---|--|--------------------------|
| metals           | 656       | Au nanostars  | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.5 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 5 min)   | 85.5%                    |
| inclus           | 657       | Au nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 5 min)  | 53.6%                    |
|                  | 658       | Au-Pd papoparticles   | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.5 W cm $^{-2}$ 5 min)  | 41.9%                    |
|                  | 659       | (Ag nanocube core)@(Au nanorod shell)<br>nanostructures                   | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 10 min)   | 87.28%                   |
|                  | 660       | Au nanostars  | 785 nm laser irradiation (0.02 W $\text{cm}^{-2}$ , 20 min)  | 63.6%                    |
|                  | 661       | Au nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)  | 48.4%                    |
|                  | 662       | Pd nanosheets   | 808 nm laser irradiation (1.5 W $\text{cm}^{-2}$ , 2 min)  | 39.2%                    |
|                  | 663       | Cu nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.3 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)  | 26.5%                    |
|                  | 664       | Au nanostars  | 1064 nm laser irradiation (0.5 W $\text{cm}^{-2}$ , 5 min)   | 67.1%                    |
|                  | 665       | Mn nanoparticles  | 1064 nm laser irradiation (1.2 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)   | 22.1%                    |
|                  | 666       | Fe nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.95 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 20 min)   | 67%                      |
|                  | 667       | Ag nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.25 W $\text{cm}^{-2}$ , 5 min)   | 71.68%                   |
|                  | 668       | Mn nanoparticles  | 940 nm laser irradiation (1 W $cm^{-2}$ , 7 min)   | 70%                      |
|                  | 669       | Cu single atoms   | 1064 nm laser irradiation (0.39 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 5 min)   | 41.6%                    |
|                  | 670       | Au nanorods   | 980 nm laser irradiation (0.1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 5 min)   | 40.62%                   |
| semiconductors   | 671       | MnO <sub>x</sub> /PDA nanobombs   | 808 nm laser irradiation (2 W $cm^{-2}$ , 5 min)   | 34.8%                    |
|                  | 672       | flower-like MnO <sub>2</sub> nanoparticles                                | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 15 min)  | 21.3%                    |
|                  | 673       | $\gamma$ -Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> nanoparticles                    | 1064 nm laser irradiation $(1.1 \text{ W cm}^{-2}, 10 \text{ min})$  | 59.85%                   |
|                  | 674       | $Fe_3O_4@Cu_{1.77}Se$ nanoparticles                                       | 1064 nm laser irradiation (0.75 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)  | 67.6%                    |
|                  | 675       | Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> nanoparticles                              | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 10 min) or 650 nm laser irradiation (0.5 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 10 min) | 34.6%/17.9%              |
|                  | 676       | Sb <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> nanoparticles                              | 1210 nm laser irradiation $(1 \text{ W cm}^{-2}, 8 \text{ min})$   | 44%                      |
|                  | 677       | FeS nanoparticles   | 1064 nm laser irradiation $(1 \text{ W cm}^{-2}, 6 \text{ min})$   | 56.51%                   |
|                  | 678       | Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> nanoparticles on graphene oxide nanosheets | 808 nm laser irradiation (1.5 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)  | 55.89%                   |
|                  | 679       | CuS nanoparticles   | 1060 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)   | 57.9%                    |
|                  | 680       | CuS nanoparticles   | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.5 W cm $^{-2}$ , 5 min)  | 45.6%                    |
|                  | 681       | IrWO <sub>x</sub> nanoparticles   | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 5 min)   | 27%                      |
|                  | 682       | CuSe nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (3 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)  | 31.9%                    |
| organic polymers | 683       | spirolactone nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (1.5 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)  | 36.9%                    |
|                  | 684       | two isoindigo-based semiconducting conjugated polymers                    | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.8 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 6 min)  | 70.6%                    |
|                  | 685       | PTT'e nanoparticles   | 1064 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup>2</sup> , 10 min)   | 47.5%                    |
|                  | 686       | zwitterion–liposome hybrid nanoparticles                                  | 1064 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup>2</sup> , 6 min)  | 30.8%                    |
|                  | 687       | O-T molecular oligomerization nanostructures                              | 1064 nm laser irradiation (1.0 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 5 min)  | 73%                      |
|                  | 688       | D'I'TVBI nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.8 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 6 min)  | 45.8%                    |
|                  | 689       | N'IT-mCB nanoparticles  | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.45 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 5 min)   | /8%                      |
|                  | 690       | BNDI-Me $\pi$ -conjugated molecules                                       | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.3 W cm <sup><math>2</math></sup> , 10 min)   | 50%                      |
|                  | 691       | nanoparticles of A-D-A type planar<br>phototheranostic agent              | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.3 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 10 min)   | 80%                      |
|                  | 693       | cyanines  | 1064 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> 8 min)  | 35.8%                    |
|                  | 694       | molecules<br>D-A conjugated Ru(II)-arene complex                          | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.5 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min)  | 24.2%                    |
|                  |           | nanoparticles   |  |                          |
|                  | 695       | V-shaped DUT850 molecules   | 808 nm laser irradiation (0.33 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 5 min)   | 60%                      |
|                  | 696       | nanoparticles derived from borane-modified<br>dianthracenylpyrazines      | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 5 min)  | 41.8%                    |
|                  | 697       | nanoparticles of organic metal adjuvants                                  | 1004 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm $\overline{-}$ , 5 min)  | 47.0%                    |
|                  | 698       | supramolecular photothermal nanodrugs                                     | $radiation (0.5 \text{ W cm}^2, 10 \text{ min})$   | 48.0%                    |
|                  | 699       | giucose oxidase engineered PAn nanoplatforms                              | sus nm laser irradiation (1 W cm $$ , 10 min)  | 55%<br>(0.02%)           |
|                  | 700       | nanoparticulate heavy-atom-free boron<br>dipyrromethene dye derivative    | 808 nm laser irradiation (2 W cm <sup>-2</sup> , 5 min)  | 60.02%<br>30.5%          |
|                  | 702       | agents coated with DC membranes   | 915 nm laser irradiation ( $1 \text{ w cm}$ , $5 \text{ min}$ )  | 50.5%<br>60.3%           |
|                  | 702       | nolymer multicellular nanoengagers  | 1064 nm laser irradiation $(1.W \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{ 6 min})$  | 88.8%                    |
| 2D               | 703       | sheet-like 2D manganese(IV) complex                                       | 730 nm laser irradiation (1.75 W cm <sup>-2</sup> 5 min)   | 71%                      |
| nanomaterials    | 705       | Sn nanosheets   | 808 nm laser irradiation ( $1 \text{ W cm}^{-2}$ , 10 min)   | 37.9%                    |
|                  | -         |   |  |                          |

T cell priming TCR

Dendritic

photothermal conversion efficiency

59.3%/57.8%

43.3%

# Table 3. continued

| category                  | reference | photothermal materials and devices | illumination conditions  |
|---------------------------|-----------|------------------------------------|--|
|                           | 706       | Fe-based 2D nanosheets             | 1064 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm <sup><math>-2</math></sup> , 10 min) |
| carbon-based<br>materials | 313       | SWCNTs and MWCNTs                  | 808 nm laser irradiation (1 W cm $^{-2}$ , 5 min)                      |

sentative works on PTT with diverse photothermal nanomaterials in recent years  $^{656-706}$  are summarized in Table 3.

Apart from the thermal ablation with PTT, an appropriate temperature increase can be beneficial for promoting tissue regeneration, stimulating drug release, improving the drug delivery efficiency, alleviating hypoxia, and other therapeutic activities.<sup>71,707-709</sup> These advantages further promote PTT to combine with other therapeutic modalities to achieve improved treatment outcomes by an additive or synergistic effect. The combination partners can mutually not only improve the penetration depth of PTT but also augment the antitumor efficacy at lower doses of photothermal agents or lower irradiation laser powers. A number of therapies, such as photodynamic therapy, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy, sonodynamic therapy, chemodynamic therapy, and gene therapy (GT), have been widely incorporated with PTT.<sup>11,710-714</sup> For example, as the essential therapeutic approach for malignant tumors, conventional chemotherapy often suffers from low drug release, limited dosage, and heavy systemic toxicity.<sup>715</sup> The combination of photothermal nanomaterials and chemotherapeutic drugs has been utilized to address the mentioned limitations.<sup>716,717</sup> Uniform Au@poly-(acrylic acid) (PAA) nanostructures have been facilely synthesized for actively targeted chemo-PTT (Figure 24a).<sup>7</sup> Through the significant accumulation of these Janus nanoparticles at the tumor site, the tumor temperature can exceed 60 °C, producing a high tumor suppression of 98%. Apart from active targeting, the release of doxorubicin hydrochloride (DOX) can be greatly enhanced up to 90% due to the remote heat generation. Moreover, the thermal energy can make the chemotherapeutic agents distribute more evenly, leading to better or even complete tumor elimination. Gene-PTT is another important combinational therapeutic modality, where the photothermal heating controls the intracellular gene expression.<sup>668,719</sup> The photothermal activation of gene delivery can be realized by heating the cell membrane for enhanced endocytosis or cell fusion. CNT-based systems with excellent photothermal and temperature-sensitive properties have been demonstrated for synergistic antitumor activities (Figure 24b).<sup>313</sup> The temperature-sensitive molecules of peptide lipid and sucrose laurate have been used to functionalize singlewalled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) and multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) into photoswitchable gene carriers for loading anti-survivin small-interfering ribonucleic acid (siRNA). The increase in temperature can induce the disassembly of these gene carriers and thus facilitate the trapped siRNA to escape from the endosomes. The siRNA release can effectively suppress the tumor growth by the expression of surviving silencing. More than 76% tumor cells are killed during the gene-PTT, while PTT or GT alone only achieves half of the effect as the combinational therapy. In addition to chemo- and gene-PTTs, immuno-PTT is an emerging therapeutic strategy that introduces a systemic anticancer immune response by the photothermal ablation of a targeted tumor.<sup>720–723</sup> The immunogenetic cell death (ICD)

![](_page_31_Figure_7.jpeg)

Figure 24. Synergistic cancer treatment based on PTT. (a) Chemo-PTT. Au@PAA Janus nanoparticles are used as the templates to grow a mSiO<sub>2</sub> shell and Au branches, which are separately modified with methoxy-poly(ethylene glycol)-thiol (mPEG-SH) and lactobionic acid (LA). Left: schematic illustrating the octopus-type PEG-Au-PAA/mSiO<sub>2</sub>-LA Janus nanoparticle. Right: release profiles of the DOX-loaded Janus nanoparticles under different treatments. Reprinted with permission from ref 718. Copyright 2016 Wiley-VCH. (b) Gene-PTT. Peptide lipid and sucrose laurate are used to coat CNTs to form bifunctional delivery systems (denoted as CNT-PS). Left: schematic showing the temperature-sensitive CNT-PS/siRNA nanoparticle for synergistic PTT and GT. Right: qualitative analysis by fluorescence microscopy of apoptotic cells under the combined treatment. Reprinted with permission from ref 313. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (c) Immuno-PTT. Left: schematic illustrating SPNE-mediated multicellular engagement, immune activation, and NIR-II photothermal effects. Middle and right: confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) images of 4T1 cells, T cells, and DCs cocultured with uncoated semiconducting polymer nanoparticles SPNU (middle) or SPNE (right). 4T1 cells and DCs are labeled with DiI (red) and DiO (green) molecular probes, respectively. DCs are stained with phycoerythrin anti-CD80 antibody and fluorescein isothiocyanate anti-CD86 antibody (yellow). Reprinted with permission from ref 703. Copyright 2021 Wiley-VCH.

caused by PTT can be beneficial to the eradication of the disseminated disease.<sup>724,725</sup> A semiconducting polymer nanoengager (SPNE) has been employed for NIR-II immuno-PTT (Figure 24c).<sup>703</sup> As the coating of the fused membranes of 4T1 tumor cells, the design of SPNE enables multicellular engagements among different cells. Due to the vaccination effects of the cell membranes, SPNE can exert an intrinsic immune response and thus facilitate the activation of T cells and dendritic cells (DCs). Upon NIR-II irradiation, SPNE is driven to directly destroy tumors and induce the ICD of the

![](_page_32_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 25.** Drug delivery. (a) Schematic showing the release of the encapsulated chemotherapeutic drug caused by NIR light irradiation on BP@ hydrogel, resulting in the breaking of the DNA chains and the apoptosis induction. Reprinted with permission from ref 740. Copyright 2018 National Academy of Sciences. (b) Schematic illustrating the intracellular delivery of miRNA by the photothermal heat generated on plasmonic pyramid arrays. Reprinted with permission from ref 756. Copyright 2022 Wiley-VCH. (c) Schematic showing intracellular delivery through membrane permeabilization with photothermal nanofibers. Reprinted with permission from ref 757. Copyright 2021 Springer Nature. (d) Schematic illustrating large-cargo delivery driven by photothermal-heat-triggered cavitation bubbles. Reprinted with permission from ref 758. Copyright 2015 Springer Nature.

cancer cells, which can facilitate T cell priming and DC maturation. The populations of the primed T cells and mature DCs are increased by 1.45- and 1.21-fold in primary tumors. The tumor growth is efficiently curbed with the inhibition rate of 97% and eliminated with no recurrence for 30 days. As a result, PTT and its combinational therapies with demonstrated efficacy have been well developed as promising treatment options for various life-threatening diseases.<sup>667,679,726–728</sup>

5.5.2. Drug Delivery. Drug delivery is an essential biological process in living tissues because the delivery efficiency and accumulation of therapeutic medicines directly determine the success and failure of a treatment.<sup>729</sup> Chemotherapy, suffering from insufficient delivery and poor pharmacokinetics of drugs, is one typical representative that often fails in tumor treatments.<sup>730</sup> The remote heat generation provided by photothermal nanostructures can be utilized to trigger drug release, promote the cellular uptake of drugs, and overcome drug resistance.<sup>731-734</sup> A variety of photothermal nanomaterials, especially hollow nanostructures and 2D nanosheets with high drug loading efficacy, have been designed as nanocarriers for controllable drug release.735-739 A BPbased hydrogel drug delivery system with high therapeutic efficacy has been reported (Figure 25a).<sup>740</sup> The phase transition from the solid to gel state of BP@hydrogel can be triggered to control the drug release under NIR light irradiation. Owing to the good biocompatibility and biodegradability of BP, the BP@hydrogel nanocarriers are completely degradable and nontoxic. Inorganic nanocarriers generally possess high photothermal conversion efficiencies and high photothermal stability, which are beneficial for drug delivery.<sup>741</sup> However, many biological barriers are required to be overcome before the nanocarriers enter targeted cells.<sup>742</sup> The existence of biofilms, which hinder the penetration of nanocarriers and reduce drug susceptibility, is one of the significant barriers for clinical trials.<sup>667</sup> Various strategies have been explored to enhance the penetration of drug carriers by introducing targeting membranes, changing the protecting ligands/coatings, and optimizing the size and shape of the carriers.<sup>743-747</sup> Both biodegradability and biocompatibility can be achieved through integration with organic polymers.<sup>748</sup> For monomeric photothermal molecules, supramolecular design offers an excellent opportunity for efficient drug delivery by overcoming their disadvantages of limited accumulation, poor aqueous solubility, and low photothermal conversion efficiencies.<sup>751,752</sup> Moreover, the strategy for triggering drug release is also an essential part for the design of drug carriers. For the use of photothermal heat as an external stimulus, the drug release can be achieved through the deformation of thermosensitive materials or destabilization of the interaction between carriers and drugs.<sup>753–755</sup> Apart from the construction of drug carriers, drug delivery can also be realized by a temporal cell-membrane-disruption method (Figure 25b).<sup>756</sup> The instantaneous high temperature generated by plasmonic pyramid arrays is used to disrupt the cell membranes to promote the intracellular delivery. The membrane permeation is thus increased with the production of transient pores on the cell membranes, which permits the direct diffusion of miRNA molecules. To minimize toxicity to healthy cells, intercellular delivery without direct cellular contact with photothermal nanoparticles has also been demonstrated (Figure 25c).<sup>757</sup> Although embedded in biocompatible electrospun nanofibers, iron oxide nanoparticles can effectively absorb visible light and transfer efficiently generated heat to distinct places of the cell membrane with improved membrane permeability. When the temperature rapidly increases at the interface between the photothermal

nanostructure and the cell membrane due to the photothermal effect, nanobubbles can be formed through the vaporization of the liquid environment (Figure 25d).<sup>758</sup> The expansion and collapse of the vapor nanobubbles can create high pressure and strong fluid flows, thereby disrupting the nearby membrane and driving the intercellular delivery. The generated vapor nanobubbles can also prevent thermal energy from transferring to the surrounding environment, which is beneficial for better cell viability. This membrane-disruption strategy offers a low-cytotoxicity and high-throughput way to deliver diverse biomolecules and nanoparticles into cells.

5.5.3. Bacterial Inhibition. The wide antibiotic abuse to combat bacterial infections has brought about a series of severe healthcare problems in our daily life. The bacterial resistance caused by antibiotics and the formation of self-protected biofilms make bacterial inhibition a global health task.759,760 The development of photothermal materials offers a promising way for addressing antibacterial challenges.<sup>327,761,762</sup> Owing to the photothermal effect, the generated hyperthermia can destroy the integrity of pathogenic bacteria. Unlike the response to antibiotics, bacteria under photothermal treatment have difficulty producing drug resistance and adverse effects.<sup>381</sup> The protective matrix of bacterial cells, including proteins and nucleic acids, can be inactivated or damaged by localized heating,<sup>763,764</sup> and thus antibacterial drugs find it much easier to penetrate the biofilm and kill the targeted bacteria. This bactericidal treatment with hyperthermia generally requires high power of light irradiation and high dosage of photothermal agents. Other bactericidal strategies have also been investigated to incorporate with the photothermal effect to achieve better curative efficacy.<sup>765</sup> The introduction of toxic metal ions such as  $Ag^+$ ,  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $As^{3+}$ , and  $Hg^{2+}$  can facilitate the bactericidal activities by coordinating with the biological ligands of bacteria.<sup>766,767</sup> The formation of metal–biomolecule complexes can thus destroy the structures of DNAs, membranes, and enzymes, resulting in the death of bacterial cells.<sup>768,769</sup> Hollow AuAgCu<sub>2</sub>O-bromfenac sodium nanostructures have been designed as bifunctional carriers for both antibacterial and anti-inflammatory treatments (Figure 26a).<sup>770</sup> When the release of  $Ag^+$  and  $Cu^{2+}$  is mediated by a mild photothermal effect for bacterial elimination, the antiinflammatory drug can also be released to facilitate tissue rehabilitation. The participating Cu2+ not only acts as a bactericidal agent but also promotes the healing of the infected wounds. Another important strategy for the bactericidal activity is to generate reactive oxygen species (ROSs) through a photodynamic or photocatalytic process.<sup>771-773</sup> ROSs, including singlet molecular oxygen, hydroxyl radicals, and superoxide anions, can cause autophagy, apoptosis, and necrosis of bacterial cells.<sup>774</sup> The synergistic combination of photothermal and photodynamic effects has been demonstrated to enhance bacterial membrane permeation (Figure 26b).<sup>774</sup> The outer and inner bacterial membranes are disrupted by heat and ROSs, respectively. The entry of ROSs in bacteria can further induce the outbreak of oxidative stress and the protein leakage, leading to a fast and effective bactericidal activity. A plasmonic hybrid system made of MoO<sub>3-x</sub> and Ag has been reported for enhanced bacterial killing with synergistic photothermal and photocatalytic effects (Figure 26c).<sup>775</sup>  $MoO_{3-x}$  can efficiently convert the absorbed NIR light into heat, and further transfer the thermal energy to the Ag nanocubes to drive the release of Ag<sup>+</sup>. The hot electrons and holes can be produced and separated at the interface

![](_page_33_Figure_5.jpeg)

**Figure 26.** Antibacterial therapy. (a) Schematic illustrating the antibacterial treatment through the release of metal ions (Ag<sup>+</sup> and Cu<sup>+</sup>) from AuAgCu<sub>2</sub>O-bromfenac sodium nanoparticles. Reprinted with permission from ref 770. Copyright 2020 Ye et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/ by/4.0/. (b) Illustration showing the antibacterial mechanism of bacterial membrane disruption with ROSs. Reprinted with permission from ref 774. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (c) Schematic illustrating the photothermal and photocatalytic antibacterial mechanisms of hybrid nanostructures made of  $MoO_{3-x}$  and Ag. Reprinted with permission from ref 775. Copyright 2018 Elsevier.

between  $MoO_{3-x}$  and Ag, promoting the generation of ROSs. The bactericidal activity is greatly enhanced in the cooperation of thermal energy, Ag<sup>+</sup>, and ROSs.

5.5.4. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR). PCR has been the standard molecular diagnostic routine for amplifying and detecting nucleic acids because of its high sensitivity and specificity. PCR mainly relies on a three-step thermal cycling, including (1) denaturation—separation of two strands of DNAs at a high temperature; (2) annealing—hybridization of the complementary and short single-stranded DNA fragments at a low temperature; and (3) extension—generation of a new DNA strand from the annealed DNA template by polymerase.<sup>776</sup> Such a chain reaction process allows researchers to replicate billions of specific nucleic acid segments exponentially. The initial nucleic acid concentration can also be estimated according to the cycle threshold value. PCR has therefore been regarded as the gold standard for quantitative diagnosis. However, many conventional PCR-based bioassays are limited by time-consuming procedures and expensive Peltier-based heating blocks.<sup>74</sup> Since multiple cycles and two or three discrete temperatures are required for the amplification of nucleic acids, to reduce the thermocycling rate has become the key to achieving fast/ultrafast PCR. Nanomaterials with

excellent photothermal capabilities have been explored to accelerate heating and cooling processes through volumetric heating and efficient heat transfer.<sup>76,777–779</sup> A Au-nanorod-based PCR system has been reported for the rapid detection of bacterial cells (Figure 27a).<sup>780</sup> The procedures of the bacteria

![](_page_34_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 27. Polymerase chain reaction. (a) Schematic showing DNA extraction and the photo-PCR of bacterial cells. Reprinted with permission from ref 780. Copyright 2017 Ivyspring International Publisher under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (b) Schematic depicting the real-time PCR using dual-modal magnetic  $Fe_3O_4$  nanoparticles for DNA isolation and amplification. Reprinted with permission from ref 782. Copyright 2016 Springer Nature under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. (c) Photograph of the plasmofluidic-PCR chip. Reprinted with permission from ref 75. Copyright 2021 Kang et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

lysis and DNA amplification are integrated into one step to reduce the cycling time. The total time for the complete identification of the bacterial DNAs is shortened to less than 20 min. By optimizing the structural design of nanomaterials for higher photothermal conversion efficiencies, the thermocycling time can be further reduced to achieve the desirable ultrafast PCR.<sup>77,781</sup> Dual-modal Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanoparticles with both photothermal and magnetic properties have been used to develop a portable real-time PCR device (Figure 27b).<sup>782</sup> The magnetic Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanoparticles are employed to promote the movements of the primers and DNA templates and thus accelerate the DNA amplification. Compared to plasmonic metals, Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> possesses better thermal stability. It can resist high temperatures. Furthermore, an ultrafast vacuum-packaged plasmofluidic PCR chip has been developed for highly efficient and small-volume bioassay (Figure 27c).75 The amplification process with 40 cycles can be completed in 306 s for SARS-CoV-2 and in 264 s for  $\lambda$ -DNA, together with an amplification efficiency of 91%. In a recent PCR example, the nucleic acid amplification can be reduced to 4 cycles with a runtime of 7.5 min for the detection of SARS-CoV-2.788 PCR-based tests have been the gold standard with a high analytical accuracy of 99% for COVID-19 confirmation.783,787 Although the PCR technology has been already commercialized for rapid diagnosis, particularly for COVID-19, the investigation of nanomaterials with better photothermal performances is still an essential pathway for the development of ultrafast, robust, and portable PCR at the point-of-care level.<sup>783,784</sup>

5.5.5. Fight against COVID-19. The outbreak of COVID-19, resulting from the infection of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), has brought about a global pandemic to threaten public health. Scientists around the world have made great progresses in personal protective equipment, effective vaccines, reliable diagnostic tools, and therapeutic approaches.<sup>78,785,786</sup> Photothermal nanomaterials can also pose a significant impact on the processes of diagnosis, prevention, and treatment to fight against COVID-19. Apart from the PCR-based test, a dual-functional plasmonic biosensor based on the photothermal effect and LSPR sensing has been developed with a highly sensitive and reliable detection capability for COVID-19 diagnosis (Figure 28a).<sup>80</sup> The localized photothermal heat is employed to elevate the hybridization temperature of the nucleic acids and improve the separation accuracy of two similar gene segments. The detection limit for the selected SARS-CoV-2 sequences can be lowered to a concentration of 0.22 pM. Respiratory face masks can also be integrated with photothermal nanomaterials for antimicrobial action (Figure 28b).<sup>789</sup> The synergistic combination of photothermal and photocatalytic effects can endow the masks with reusability and a self-sterilizing ability. More types of reusable and antimicrobial face masks have also been demonstrated in cooperation with different photothermal nanomaterials.<sup>82,790</sup> Furthermore, the decoration of photothermal nanoparticles with high-affinity neutralizing antibodies, which are specific to the spike proteins of SARS-CoV-2, has been designed to effectively capture the virus (Figure 28c).<sup>791</sup> SARS-CoV-2 is forbidden to enter host cells due to the antibody treatment and subsequently inactivated owing to the photothermal effect. This strategy of functionalizing photothermal nanoparticles with antiviral agents offers tremendous potential for blocking SARS-CoV-2 and reducing the infection.<sup>78,106</sup>

# 5.6. Other Applications

Besides the above-discussed applications, photothermal nanomaterials can also be potentially applied in sensing, wearable devices, energy storage and conversion, as well as photothermal electrodes. In this section, several representative examples of these applications will be presented.

Photothermal nanomaterials are normally hybridized with some other temperature-sensitive components to achieve sensing functionality. In the hybrid system, photothermal nanomaterials function as light-to-heat converters that will transfer the converted thermal energy to the temperaturesensitive components. The temperature-sensitive components further transform heat into other types of signals, for instance, electrical changes, which are easily detected and thus realize the sensing function. For example, Au nanorods have been used as antennae for IR light, transforming light into heat in photoreceptors that are the light-sensing cells in the eye (Figure 29a).<sup>792,793</sup> Au nanorods can capture NIR light at their resonance wavelengths to generate heat, which is harnessed to open temperature-sensitive transient receptor potential (TRP) channels. Antibodies are used to bind Au nanorods to the heatsensitive TRP channels. Combined with GT, such a dual system can enable the activation of photoreceptors by IR light and thus be potentially used to restore light sensitivity in a blind human retina.

pubs.acs.org/CR

![](_page_35_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 28.** Applications of photothermal nanomaterials in COVID-19 diagnosis, prevention, and treatment. (a) Left: schematic showing photothermally enhanced LSPR sensing. Right: temperature distribution map around the heat source on a Au nanoisland (top) and concentrations of various viral oligos measured with the dual-functional LSPR biosensor (bottom). Reprinted with permission from ref 80. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (b) Schematic illustrating the inactivation of the virus in a nonwoven surgical mask through photothermal, photocatalytic, and hydrophobic self-cleaning processes. Reprinted with permission from ref 789. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (c) Schematic illustrating a multifunctional photothermal nanoparticle for the capture (by antibody) and inactivation (by photothermal conversion) of SARS-CoV-2. Reprinted with permission from ref 791. Copyright 2022 Cai et al., published under the CC BY 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

![](_page_35_Figure_5.jpeg)

**Figure 29.** Representative potential applications of photothermal nanomaterials in sensing, photothermal electrodes, and wearable devices. (a) Sensing. The schematic illustrates the restoration of the light sensitivity of an eye using Au nanorods bound to temperature-sensitive engineered TRP channels. Reprinted with permission from ref 792. Copyright 2020 American Association for the Advancement of Science. (b) Photothermal electrodes. Left: schematic illustrating a TiN-based supercapacitor under solar illumination at an open environment and -40 °C. Right: cyclic voltammetry curves of the photothermally assisted supercapacitor at -40 °C with and without solar illumination. Reprinted with permission from ref 797. Copyright 2021 Elsevier. (c) Wearable devices. Top: schematic illustrating the photothermal effect produced from (Ag nanoparticle)@ MXene hybrid structures when irradiated with light. Bottom: photograph (left) of a composite film made of (Ag nanoparticle)@MXene and polyurethane and attached on one human hand, and IR thermal images of the human hand with the attached film before (middle) and after (right) solar irradiation for 1 min. Reprinted with permission from ref 801. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

The heat generated by photothermal nanomaterials under light irradiation has been widely used to accelerate chemical reactions and enable reactions that require harsh conditions to proceed under mild conditions. Photothermal nanomaterials can consequently be employed as electrode materials for electrochemical reactions, which will enhance electrocatalytic reactions<sup>794–796</sup> or allow reactions to proceed in cold atmosphere.<sup>797</sup> Take photothermal supercapacitors as an

example (Figure 29b, left panel).<sup>797</sup> A photothermal supercapacitor has been designed using an electrochemically active and photothermal electrode material. It shows the capability of operation even under -40 °C. The used commercially available TiN nanocrystals exhibit broad light absorption (>98%) in the entire solar spectrum and a photothermal conversion efficiency of 62.5%, endowing the as-fabricated device with a rising temperature of 25.8 °C under solar light illumination. Such a photothermal effect further contributes to the restored capacitance of the device from a declined one at -40 °C (Figure 29b, right panel). The capacitance and energy density of the device at -40 °C are restored to be 70.9% and 59.3%, respectively, of those at 25 °C when under solar light illumination.

Wearable devices have emerged as a hot research topic in recent years due to their great potential in human healthcare and health monitoring.<sup>798-800</sup> Specifically, photothermal nanomaterials provide wearable devices with multiple functions including PTT, self-healing, EMI shielding, human physiological signal monitoring, and energy harvesting.<sup>801-807</sup> We focus here on the discussion of the functions of nanomaterials introduced by the photothermal effect, among which PTT has been described in detail in Section 5.5.1. We therefore discuss here the representative examples of how photothermal nanomaterials work in the self-healing of wearable devices, as shown in Figure 29c and in energy harvesting.

Wearable devices can suffer from unexpected mechanical damages during practical applications because the real world is dynamic rather than static. Silver-nanoparticle-anchored MXene nanohybrids have been designed to achieve a rapid and *in situ* repair of the damaged elastic polyurethane. The nanohybrids have been incorporated into a polyurethane elastomer through solution-based blending and coating processes. The synergistic effects from the photothermal conversion of the MXene nanosheets and the plasmonic effect of the Ag nanoparticles lead to a temperature increase of approximately 111 °C under light irradiation for 5 min (Figure 29c, top panel). Such an increased temperature results in the fusion of the elastic polyurethane and consequently the repair of the damaged composite. A healing efficiency of 97% has been achieved.

It is also worth mentioning that when integrated with thermoelectric materials, photothermal nanomaterials can potentially harvest solar energy and transfer it to thermal energy, which is further harnessed to generate electricity to power wearable devices.<sup>806,807</sup> For instance, PPy, a photothermal layer, has been deposited on a thermoelectric layer (poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene):tosylate (PEDOT:Tos)) to achieve photothermoelectric generation for wearable devices.<sup>803</sup> Taking advantage of the efficient photothermal conversion of PPy, the as-fabricated photothermoelectric fabric can generate a higher voltage of 536.47  $\mu$ V than that without the PPy coating (294.13  $\mu$ V) under IR light irradiation, giving a power density up to 13.76 nW m<sup>-2</sup>.

Phase-change materials provide one promising way to store solar thermal energy because of their high phase-change latent heat.<sup>808</sup> The key factors in determining the photothermal energy conversion efficiency include the capability of solar-thermal conversion, thermal stability, shape stability, thermal conductivity, and thermal energy storage density.<sup>809–813</sup> Even though conventional phase-change materials, such as paraffin waxes and fatty acids, exhibit high energy-storage capacities,

they generally own limitations in photothermal energy conversion, thermal conductivity and stability. They therefore exhibit low photothermal energy conversion efficiencies, which limits their applications in solar energy conversion. Photothermal nanomaterials have become promising for effectively addressing the above-mentioned challenges through incorporation with phase-change materials. Different types of photothermal nanomaterials, including carbon-based nanomaterials (graphene oxide, CNTs),<sup>811,814,815</sup> MXene nanosheets,<sup>813,816–818</sup> metal nanoparticles,<sup>810,819</sup> and organic polymers,<sup>820–822</sup> have been successfully combined with phase-change materials to achieve high photothermal energy conversion efficiencies. For example, a layered phase-change composite made of polyethylene glycol and  $Ti_3C_2T_x$  has been demonstrated to show an improved photo-to-thermal storage efficiency of 94.5% under natural solar light irradiation, which is higher than that of pure polyethylene glycol.<sup>813</sup> Besides the photothermal storage efficiency, the as-fabricated composite also presents a high energy density and stable property before and after the phase change.

# 6. CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

The recent advances on photothermal nanomaterials have been comprehensively summarized in this review article, including their photothermal conversion mechanisms, material choices, temperature measurements, and diverse applications. One major advantage of photothermal nanomaterials is their broad light absorption range and excellent photothermal conversion ability, thus allowing for the efficient utilization of solar energy as a sustainable solution for energy scarcity. In addition to acting as an energy source, light can also serve as an external control to remotely alter thermal gradients, as well as the position and morphology of photothermal nanoparticles. Through further integration with other molecules or particles, the functionalized photothermal nanomaterials with synergistic properties can perform multiple tasks for targeted applications, including light manipulation, catalysis, and therapy, with the assistance of thermal energy.

Although the generation of photothermal heat can be divided into the three different mechanisms, which are plasmonic localized heating, nonradiative relaxation, and thermal vibrations, it has still been difficult to unambiguously identify the photothermal conversion mechanism of a given type of nanostructure among various newly emerging materials and to choose proper nanomaterials for specific applications. To further improve the performance of photothermal materials and extend their applications to more scenarios, many challenges will need to be overcome in the near future. The synthesis of nanomaterials with extremely high absorption over a broad wavelength range has always become a very active field, attracting more and more research interests toward perfect light absorbers.<sup>15,18</sup> Further development of economical approaches for the mass production of photothermal materials is essential for realizing their ultimate usage in daily life and industrial applications. Moreover, how to maintain the stability and photothermal conversion efficiencies of nanomaterials during long-term operation has still remained a challenge for practical applications and requires further exploration.<sup>22</sup>

The implementation of many photothermal applications requires the accurate monitoring of local temperatures, such as PTT, <sup>20,24,71</sup> biomedical diagnostics, <sup>385,386</sup> photochemistry, <sup>9,387</sup> nanofabrication, <sup>64,85,519</sup> and realistic microelectronic devi-

ces.<sup>798,800</sup> Regardless of the ultimate application, there is still much room for the development of new nanothermometry with high sensitivity, accuracy, spectral/temporal resolution, reproducibility, stability, biocompatibility, cost effectiveness, and ease of operation. The heater-thermometer nanoplatforms reported so far have shown the possibility of simultaneous photothermal heating and real-time temperature feedback, which is particularly attractive for controllable biomedical therapy and photothermal catalysis. On the one hand, biological applications of heater-thermometer nanoplatforms not only require biocompatibility but also place additional demands on the optical properties that allow the heating beam, the fluorescence excitation beam, and the emission beam to pass through the involved tissues.<sup>385</sup> On the other hand, an ideal tool is also highly demanded for monitoring photocatalytic processes. Even though thermal energy has been utilized in many works to drive or assist in catalytic chemical reactions, it has remained challenging to clearly distinguish the contributions of photothermal heating and nonthermalized hot charge carriers. Debates have lasted for many years on the dominant effect in plasmon-enhanced catalysis, where both hot charge carriers and thermal energy can be produced through the excitation of LSPRs.<sup>653–657</sup> As these two effects occur at different time scales and are originated from different physical processes, advanced technologies and ingeniously designed experiments are required to uncouple the underlying mechanisms of plasmon-enhanced catalysis and thus realize the use of plasmons to better control chemical reactions in terms of the reaction pathway, activity, and selectivity.

For solar thermal water heating and evaporation, a standardized process for evaluating the performance of different photothermal nanomaterials is still lacking.53,507 Researchers are suggested to list the detailed measurement conditions and calculation methods for the evaluation of the evaporation efficiency of the studied photothermal system. A widely discussed guideline by researchers in this field to fairly compare different photothermal nanomaterials will be highly desired. Further studies on water desalination and purification should also consider volatile organic compounds, some of which can be vaporized and collected with desalinated water.<sup>53</sup> The development of multifunctional nanomaterials with the capabilities of photothermal conversion and the removal of volatile organic compounds can be a solution. For structural color printing, we envision that further research should be devoted to the development of efficient techniques for tuning the colors of individual high-resolution pixels toward dynamic color display.<sup>62,508</sup> Beyond the control of the reflection, transmission, and scattering spectra of light in structural color prints, localized laser heating can also be used to fabricate metasurfaces and metamaterials for the adjustment of the phase, polarization, and angular momentum of light.<sup>525,590</sup> The merits of light-driving nanomotors, actuators, and robots include the remote energy supply and multiple tuning parameters of light for photothermal manipulation. However, most research works on photothermal manipulation have only demonstrated simple motions of micro-/nano-objects. More efforts are needed toward the design and construction of mature systems that can accomplish complicated tasks. The biomedical applications of photothermal manipulation for inbody treatment and surgery as well as precise manipulation of biological components are still challenging.<sup>616</sup> Biocompatible and biodegradable nanoscale motors, actuators, and robots,

which can be operated under safe stimulating conditions, are required. Additional efforts are also desired for reducing the response time during in-body operation. We are confident that the more elegant integration of photothermal nanomaterials with thermal responsive components will produce smarter nanomotors, actuators, and robots for wider applications in engineering and medicine.

Photothermal nanomaterials have been widely studied in the field of life sciences and especially show great potential for PTT. There are still many problems to be addressed. High water solubility, good biocompatibility and biodegradability are desired for inorganic photothermal nanomaterials to provide low toxicity.  $^{98,64\tilde{5}}$  Organic nanomaterials are expected to have high thermal stability and high photothermal conversion efficiencies. The development of nanomaterials with strong light absorption in the biological NIR-II window is required to achieve deeper tissue penetration for enhanced photothermal therapeutic efficacy. It is also necessary to quantify the damage caused by the hyperthermia on the surrounding tissues and minimize the injury of normal cells.<sup>381</sup> Moreover, much effort should be made to integrate photothermal nanomaterials with biologically mimic coatings to overcome different biological barriers and thus facilitate drug delivery, bacteria inhibition, and other biological activities.74

Nowadays, most of the aforementioned photothermal nanomaterials and nanothermometers are commercially available as raw materials for researchers and start-up companies. While most applications have only been demonstrated in research laboratories, a few examples have shown promise for real-life applications, such as the PCR test, AuroLase Therapy, and wearable devices. Furthermore, there is great potential of photothermal nanomaterials in energy science in terms of solar cells, photothermal catalysis, and energy storage. In general, there exist several critical factors for successful commercialization. First, the ability to scale up the production of diverse photothermal nanomaterials with optimized cost efficiencies is essential for most industrial applications. Second, the biosecurity and environmental safety of these materials have not been fully assessed, which is a critical consideration for commercialization.

We believe that there will be ceaselessly enthusiastic research effort to continuously broaden the family of photothermal nanomaterials and explore new directions for real-life practical applications. The ongoing progresses will undoubtedly address most unresolved challenges and bring about new scientific inquiries. All of the effort will make photothermal nanomaterials an even more powerful light-to-heat converter.

# **AUTHOR INFORMATION**

#### **Corresponding Authors**

- Jianfang Wang Department of Physics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR 999077, China; orcid.org/0000-0002-2467-8751; Email: jfwang@ phy.cuhk.edu.hk
- Hongxing Xu School of Physics and Technology and School of Microelectronics, Wuhan University, Wuhan 430072
  Hubei, China; Henan Academy of Sciences, Zhengzhou 450046 Henan, China; Wuhan Institute of Quantum Technology, Wuhan 430205 Hubei, China; orcid.org/0000-0002-1718-8834; Email: hxxu@whu.edu.cn

## Authors

- Ximin Cui State Key Laboratory of Radio Frequency Heterogeneous Integration, College of Electronics and Information Engineering, Shenzhen University, Shenzhen 518060, China; orcid.org/0000-0001-7115-5032
- Qifeng Ruan Ministry of Industry and Information Technology Key Lab of Micro-Nano Optoelectronic Information System & Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Semiconductor Optoelectronic Materials and Intelligent Photonic Systems, Harbin Institute of Technology, Shenzhen 518055, China; orcid.org/0000-0002-1592-9010
- Xiaolu Zhuo Guangdong Provincial Key Lab of Optoelectronic Materials and Chips, School of Science and Engineering, The Chinese University of Hong Kong (Shenzhen), Shenzhen 518172, China; orcid.org/0000-0002-5895-3336
- Xinyue Xia Department of Physics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR 999077, China
- Jingtian Hu Department of Physics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR 999077, China
- Runfang Fu Department of Physics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR 999077, China; orcid.org/0000-0003-1203-9458
- Yang Li Štate Key Laboratory of Radio Frequency Heterogeneous Integration, College of Electronics and Information Engineering, Shenzhen University, Shenzhen 518060, China

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.3c00159

#### **Author Contributions**

<sup>T</sup>X.M.C., Q.F.R., and X.L.Z. contributed equally to this work. CRediT: Ximin Cui conceptualization, funding acquisition, investigation, project administration, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; Qifeng Ruan conceptualization, funding acquisition, investigation, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; Xiaolu Zhuo conceptualization, funding acquisition, investigation, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; Xinyue Xia investigation, writingoriginal draft; Jingtian Hu investigation, writing-original draft; Runfang Fu investigation, writing-original draft; Yang Li investigation, writing-original draft; Jianfang Wang conceptualization, funding acquisition, investigation, project administration, supervision, writing-review & editing; Hongxing Xu conceptualization, project administration, writing-review & editing.

#### Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

#### **Biographies**

Ximin Cui received his B.S. degree in physics from Nanjing University in 2014. He obtained his Ph.D. degree in physics from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2018, working under the supervision of Prof. Jianfang Wang. He joined the group of Prof. Mikael Käll at Chalmers University of Technology as a postdoctoral fellow from 2019 to 2021. He is currently an assistant professor at the College of Electronics and Information Engineering, Shenzhen University. His research interests include the synthesis, assembly, and optical manipulation of metallic nanostructures. Qifeng Ruan received his B.S. degree from University of Science and Technology of China in 2011. After obtaining his Ph.D. degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2015 under the supervision of Prof. Jianfang Wang, he carried out research on resonance coupling in the same group. In 2017, he moved to Shenzhen and Singapore to conduct research on nanofabrication and structural colors. He joined School of Science, Harbin Institute of Technology (Shenzhen), as an associate professor in 2022. His research interests mainly focus on the optical properties and applications of wet-chemistry synthesized metal/semiconductor nanocrystals and 3D-printed micro-/nanostructures.

Xiaolu Zhuo received her B.S. degree in physics from Sun Yat-sen University in 2010 and her Ph.D. degree in physics from the Department of Physics at The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2017 under the supervision of Prof. Jianfang Wang. During 2019– 2022, she conducted her postdoctoral research at CIC biomaGUNE (Spain) as a Juan de la Cierva fellow under the supervision of Prof. Luis M. Liz-Marzán. She joined the School of Science and Engineering, The Chinese University of Hong Kong (Shenzhen), as an assistant professor in 2022. Her research interests include the synthesis of metallic/dielectric nanoparticles and their optical properties and applications.

Xinyue Xia received her B.S. degree in materials science in 2016 from Soochow University. She is currently a Ph.D. student at The Chinese University of Hong Kong in Prof. Jianfang Wang's group. Her current research interests focus on the synthesis of plasmonic nanoparticles, their optical properties and modulation of two-dimensional excitons in plasmonic nanocavities.

Jingtian Hu obtained his B.E. degree in composite materials and engineering in 2017 and his M.E. degree in materials science in 2020, both from Northwestern Polytechnical University. He is currently a Ph.D. candidate in the Department of Physics of The Chinese University of Hong Kong under the supervision of Prof. Jianfang Wang. His current research focuses on the preparation of plasmonic nanomaterials, and their photocatalytic as well as photothermal applications.

Runfang Fu received her B.E. degree and M.E. degree in textile engineering from Sichuan University in 2014 and 2017 and her Ph.D. degree in chemical engineering from Monash University in 2021. She is currently a postdoctoral researcher in Prof. Jianfang Wang's group. Her research interests include self-assembly of plasmonic nanostructures and their applications.

Yang Li received his Ph.D. degree in materials physics and chemistry from Wuhan University in 2018. After that, he continued to work at Wuhan University as a research assistant during 2018–2020. He is currently an assistant professor in nanophotonics in the College of Electronics and Information Engineering, Shenzhen University. His research interests include light–matter interaction in plasmonic nanocavities, waveguiding optics, and surface-enhanced spectroscopy.

Jianfang Wang obtained his B.S. degree in chemistry and software design in 1993 from University of Science and Technology of China, his M.S. degree in chemistry in 1996 from Peking University, and his Ph.D. degree in physical chemistry in 2002 from Harvard University. He then conducted his postdoctoral research at University of California, Santa Barbara from 2002 to 2005. After that, he joined the Department of Physics of The Chinese University of Hong Kong as an assistant professor. He was promoted to associate professor in 2011 and professor in 2015. His current research interests include colloidal metal nanocrystals, nanoplasmonics, dielectric nanomaterials for nanophotonics, and photocatalysis. Hongxing Xu is a professor of physics in the School of Physics and Technology at Wuhan University. He is a member of the Chinese Academy of Sciences. He received his B.S. from Peking University in 1992 and his Ph.D. from Chalmers University of Technology in 2002, both in physics. He then joined the Division of Solid State Physics at Lund University, as an assistant professor until December 2004. From 2005 to 2014, he was a professor at the Institute of Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences. He is known for the discovery of the nanogap effect for huge electromagnetic enhancement, the invention of plasmonic logic gates, and the development of plasmonic nanowire waveguides and circuits. His research interests include plasmonics, nanophotonics, surface-/tip-enhanced spectroscopy, and singlemolecule spectroscopy.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

J.F.W. acknowledges support from the Research Grants Council of Hong Kong (General Research Fund, ref. No. 14302322) and Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (General Research Fund, ref. No. 2022A1515010247). X.M.C. acknowledges support from National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 62205223) and the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (No. 2023A1515011455). Q.F.R acknowledges the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (No. 2023A1515012912). X.L.Z acknowledges financial support from CUHK-Shenzhen (UDF 01002665).

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

| 0D       | zero-dimensional  |
|----------|---|
| 1D       | one-dimensional   |
| 2D       | two-dimensional   |
| 3D       | three-dimensional   |
| AIE      | aggregation-induced emission                                  |
| BP       | black phosphorus  |
| CLSM     | confocal laser scanning microscopy                            |
| CNTs     | carbon nanotubes  |
| CNT-PS   | carbon nanotube coated with peptide lipid and sucrose laurate |
| COFs     | covalent organic frameworks                                   |
| COVID-19 | coronavirus disease 2019                                      |
| D-A      | donor-acceptor  |
| DC       | dendritic cell  |
| DOX      | doxorubicin hydrochloride                                     |
| DPP      | diketopyrrolopyrrole  |
| EM       | electromagnetic   |
| EMI      | electromagnetic interference                                  |
| EPA      | Environmental Protection Agency                               |
| EXAFS    | extended X-ray absorption fine structure spec-                |
|          | troscopy  |
| FIR      | far-infrared  |
| GT       | gene therapy  |
| НОМО     | highest-occupied molecular orbital                            |
| ICD      | immunogenetic cell death                                      |
| IR       | infrared  |
| LA       | lactobionic acid  |
| LCN      | liquid crystalline network                                    |
| LSPR     | localized surface plasmon resonance                           |
| LUMO     | lowest-unoccupied molecular orbital                           |
| MWCNTs   | multiwalled carbon nanotubes                                  |
| MOFs     | metal-organic frameworks                                      |
| mPEG-SH  | methoxy-poly(ethylene glycol)-thiol                           |
| mSiO2    | mesoporous silica   |

| MXene      | two-dimensional transition metal carbide/ni-    |
|------------|---|
| Wintene    | tride   |
| NHE        | normal hydrogen electrode                       |
| NIR        | near-infrared                                   |
| ODMR       | optically detected magnetic resonance           |
| PAA        | poly(acrylic acid)                              |
| PAn        | polyaniline                                     |
| PCC        | polydimethylsiloxane/carbon nanotubes/cellu-    |
|            | lose nanocrystals                               |
| PCR        | polymerase chain reaction                       |
| PDA        | polydopamine                                    |
| PDMS       | poly(dimethylsiloxane)                          |
| PPy        | polypyrrole                                     |
| PT         | polythiophene                                   |
| PTT        | photothermal therapy                            |
| РТТе       | poly[2,2"-((E)-4,4"-bis(2-octyldodecyl)-[6,6"-  |
|            | bithieno[3,2-b]pyrrolylidene]-5,5"-(4H,4'H)-    |
|            | dione)-alt-2,5-(tellurophene)]                  |
| QDs        | quantum dots                                    |
| ROSs       | reactive oxygen species                         |
| SARS-CoV-2 | severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 |
| SWCNTs     | single-walled carbon nanotubes                  |
| SEM        | scanning electron microscopy                    |
| siRNAs     | small-interfering ribonucleic acids             |
| SPNE       | semiconducting polymer nanoengager              |
| SPNU       | uncoated semiconducting polymer nanopar-        |
|            | ticles  |
| TEM        | transmission electron microscopy                |
| TMDCs      | transition metal dichalcogenides                |
| TRP        | transient receptor potential                    |
| UCL        | up-conversion luminescence                      |
| UCNPs      | up-conversion nanoparticles                     |
| WHO        | World Health Organization                       |
| ZIE-8      | zeolitic imidazolate framework-8                |

#### REFERENCES

(1) Chu, S.; Majumdar, A. Opportunities and Challenges for a Sustainable Energy Future. *Nature* **2012**, *488*, 294–303.

(2) Shih, C. F.; Zhang, T.; Li, J.; Bai, C. Powering the Future with Liquid Sunshine. *Joule* **2018**, *2*, 1925–1949.

(3) Gong, J.; Li, C.; Wasielewski, M. R. Advances in Solar Energy Conversion. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2019, 48, 1862–1864.

(4) Smil, V. *The Earth's Biosphere: Evolution, Dynamics, and Change;* MIT Press: Cambridge, 2003; p 346.

(5) Almond, D. P.; Patel, P.; Patel, P. Photothermal Science and Techniques; Springer Science & Business Media: Stanmore, 1996; Chapter 1, p 9.

(6) Zhao, F.; Guo, Y.; Zhou, X.; Shi, W.; Yu, G. Materials for Solar-Powered Water Evaporation. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2020**, *5*, 388–401.

(7) Gao, M.; Zhu, L.; Peh, C. K.; Ho, G. W. Solar Absorber Material and System Designs for Photothermal Water Vaporization towards Clean Water and Energy Production. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2019**, *12*, 841–864.

(8) Song, C.; Wang, Z.; Yin, Z.; Xiao, D.; Ma, D. Principles and Applications of Photothermal Catalysis. *Chem Catal.* **2022**, *2*, 52–83. (9) Mateo, D.; Cerrillo, J. L.; Durini, S.; Gascon, J. Fundamentals and Applications of Photo-Thermal Catalysis. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2021**, *50*, 2173–2210.

(10) Li, X.; Lovell, J. F.; Yoon, J.; Chen, X. Clinical Development and Potential of Photothermal and Photodynamic Therapies for Cancer. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* **2020**, *17*, 657–674.

(11) Xu, C.; Pu, K. Second Near-Infrared Photothermal Materials for Combinational Nanotheranostics. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2021, 50, 1111–1137. (12) Jauffred, L.; Samadi, A.; Klingberg, H.; Bendix, P. M.; Oddershede, L. B. Plasmonic Heating of Nanostructures. *Chem. Rev.* 2019, *119*, 8087–8130.

(13) Kim, M.; Lee, J. H.; Nam, J. M. Plasmonic Photothermal Nanoparticles for Biomedical Applications. *Adv. Sci.* 2019, *6*, 1900471.

(14) Huang, X.; Zhang, W.; Guan, G.; Song, G.; Zou, R.; Hu, J. Design and Functionalization of the NIR-Responsive Photothermal Semiconductor Nanomaterials for Cancer Theranostics. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2017**, *50*, 2529–2538.

(15) Kriegel, I.; Scotognella, F.; Manna, L. Plasmonic Doped Semiconductor Nanocrystals: Properties, Fabrication, Applications and Perspectives. *Phys. Rep.* **2017**, *674*, 1–52.

(16) Panwar, N.; Soehartono, A. M.; Chan, K. K.; Zeng, S.; Xu, G.; Qu, J.; Coquet, P.; Yong, K. T.; Chen, X. Nanocarbons for Biology and Medicine: Sensing, Imaging, and Drug Delivery. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119*, 9559–9656.

(17) Hong, G.; Diao, S.; Antaris, A. L.; Dai, H. Carbon Nanomaterials for Biological Imaging and Nanomedicinal Therapy. *Chem. Rev.* 2015, *115*, 10816–10906.

(18) Wang, B.; Song, H.; Qu, X.; Chang, J.; Yang, B.; Lu, S. Carbon Dots as a New Class of Nanomedicines: Opportunities and Challenges. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2021**, *442*, 214010.

(19) Du, J.; Xu, N.; Fan, J.; Sun, W.; Peng, X. Carbon Dots for *In Vivo* Bioimaging and Theranostics. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1805087.

(20) Jung, H. S.; Verwilst, P.; Sharma, A.; Shin, J.; Sessler, J. L.; Kim, J. S. Organic Molecule-Based Photothermal Agents: an Expanding Photothermal Therapy Universe. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, *47*, 2280–2297.

(21) Zhao, L.; Liu, Y. M.; Xing, R. R.; Yan, X. H. Supramolecular Photothermal Effects: A Promising Mechanism for Efficient Thermal Conversion. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 3793–3801.

(22) Xie, Z.; Duo, Y.; Lin, Z.; Fan, T.; Xing, C.; Yu, L.; Wang, R.; Qiu, M.; Zhang, Y.; Zhao, Y.; et al. The Rise of 2D Photothermal Materials beyond Graphene for Clean Water Production. *Adv. Sci.* **2020**, *7*, 1902236.

(23) Xu, D. X.; Li, Z.; Li, L.; Wang, J. Insights into the Photothermal Conversion of 2D MXene Nanomaterials: Synthesis, Mechanism, and Applications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2020**, *30*, 2000712.

(24) Liu, S.; Pan, X.; Liu, H. Two-Dimensional Nanomaterials for Photothermal Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 5890–5900.

(25) Zheng, J. P.; Cheng, X. Z.; Zhang, H.; Bai, X. P.; Ai, R. Q.; Shao, L.; Wang, J. F. Gold Nanorods: The Most Versatile Plasmonic Nanoparticles. *Chem. Rev.* **2021**, *121*, 13342–13453.

(26) Ha, M.; Kim, J. H.; You, M.; Li, Q.; Fan, C.; Nam, J. M. Multicomponent Plasmonic Nanoparticles: From Heterostructured Nanoparticles to Colloidal Composite Nanostructures. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119*, 12208–12278.

(27) Baffou, G.; Cichos, F.; Quidant, R. Applications and Challenges of Thermoplasmonics. *Nat. Mater.* **2020**, *19*, 946–958.

(28) Yang, B.; Li, C.; Wang, Z.; Dai, Q. Thermoplasmonics in Solar Energy Conversion: Materials, Nanostructured Designs, and Applications. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2107351.

(29) Liu, X.; Iocozzia, J.; Wang, Y.; Cui, X.; Chen, Y.; Zhao, S.; Li, Z.; Lin, Z. Noble Metal–Metal Oxide Nanohybrids with Tailored Nanostructures for Efficient Solar Energy Conversion, Photocatalysis and Environmental Remediation. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2017**, *10*, 402–434.

(30) Coughlan, C.; Ibanez, M.; Dobrozhan, O.; Singh, A.; Cabot, A.; Ryan, K. M. Compound Copper Chalcogenide Nanocrystals. *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, *117*, 5865–6109.

(31) Woods-Robinson, R.; Han, Y.; Zhang, H.; Ablekim, T.; Khan, I.; Persson, K. A.; Zakutayev, A. Wide Band Gap Chalcogenide Semiconductors. *Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *120*, 4007–4055.

(32) Chen, X.; Liu, L.; Yu, P. Y.; Mao, S. S. Increasing Solar Absorption for Photocatalysis with Black Hydrogenated Titanium Dioxide Nanocrystals. *Science* **2011**, *331*, 746–750.

(33) Wang, J.; Li, Y. Y.; Deng, L.; Wei, N. N.; Weng, Y. K.; Dong, S.; Qi, D. P.; Qiu, J.; Chen, X. D.; Wu, T. High-Performance Photothermal Conversion of Narrow-Bandgap  $Ti_2O_3$  Nanoparticles. Adv. Mater. 2017, 29, 1603730.

(34) Agrawal, A.; Cho, S. H.; Zandi, O.; Ghosh, S.; Johns, R. W.; Milliron, D. J. Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance in Semiconductor Nanocrystals. *Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *118*, 3121–3207.

(35) Georgakilas, V.; Perman, J. A.; Tucek, J.; Zboril, R. Broad Family of Carbon Nanoallotropes: Classification, Chemistry, and Applications of Fullerenes, Carbon Dots, Nanotubes, Graphene, Nanodiamonds, and Combined Superstructures. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 4744–4822.

(36) Li, Z.; Lei, H.; Kan, A.; Xie, H.; Yu, W. Photothermal Applications Based on Graphene and Its Derivatives: A State-of-the-Art Review. *Energy* **2021**, *216*, 119262.

(37) Zhao, L.; Liu, Y.; Chang, R.; Xing, R.; Yan, X. Supramolecular Photothermal Nanomaterials as an Emerging Paradigm toward Precision Cancer Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1806877.

(38) Kim, H. J.; Kim, B.; Auh, Y.; Kim, E. Conjugated Organic Photothermal Films for Spatiotemporal Thermal Engineering. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2005940.

(39) VahidMohammadi, A.; Rosen, J.; Gogotsi, Y. The World of Two-Dimensional Carbides and Nitrides (MXenes). *Science* **2021**, 372, eabf1581.

(40) Hantanasirisakul, K.; Gogotsi, Y. Electronic and Optical Properties of 2D Transition Metal Carbides and Nitrides (MXenes). *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1804779.

(41) Szuplewska, A.; Kulpinska, D.; Dybko, A.; Chudy, M.; Jastrzebska, A. M.; Olszyna, A.; Brzozka, Z. Future Applications of MXenes in Biotechnology, Nanomedicine, and Sensors. *Trends Biotechnol.* **2020**, *38*, 264–279.

(42) Cai, G.; Yan, P.; Zhang, L.; Zhou, H. C.; Jiang, H. L. Metal-Organic Framework-Based Hierarchically Porous Materials: Synthesis and Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2021**, *121*, 12278–12326.

(43) Chakraborty, G.; Park, I. H.; Medishetty, R.; Vittal, J. J. Two-Dimensional Metal-Organic Framework Materials: Synthesis, Structures, Properties and Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2021**, *121*, 3751–3891.

(44) Wang, Q.; Astruc, D. State of the Art and Prospects in Metal-Organic Framework (MOF)-Based and MOF-Derived Nanocatalysis. *Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *120*, 1438–1511.

(45) Xiao, J. D.; Jiang, H. L. Metal-Organic Frameworks for Photocatalysis and Photothermal Catalysis. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2019, *52*, 356–366.

(46) Lan, G.; Ni, K.; Lin, W. Nanoscale Metal-Organic Frameworks for Phototherapy of Cancer. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *379*, 65–81.

(47) Mi, Z.; Yang, P.; Wang, R.; Unruangsri, J.; Yang, W.; Wang, C.; Guo, J. Stable Radical Cation-Containing Covalent Organic Frameworks Exhibiting Remarkable Structure-Enhanced Photothermal Conversion. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2019**, *141*, 14433–14442.

(48) Ma, H. C.; Zhao, C. C.; Chen, G. J.; Dong, Y. B. Photothermal Conversion Triggered Thermal Asymmetric Catalysis within Metal Nanoparticles Loaded Homochiral Covalent Organic Framework. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 3368.

(49) Xia, R.; Zheng, X.; Li, C.; Yuan, X.; Wang, J.; Xie, Z.; Jing, X. Nanoscale Covalent Organic Frameworks with Donor–Acceptor Structure for Enhanced Photothermal Ablation of Tumors. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 7638–7648.

(50) Tan, J.; Namuangruk, S.; Kong, W.; Kungwan, N.; Guo, J.; Wang, C. Manipulation of Amorphous-to-Crystalline Transformation: Towards the Construction of Covalent Organic Framework Hybrid Microspheres with NIR Photothermal Conversion Ability. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 13979–13984.

(51) Zhu, L. L.; Gao, M. M.; Peh, C. K. N.; Ho, G. W. Solar-Driven Photothermal Nanostructured Materials Designs and Prerequisites for Evaporation and Catalysis Applications. *Mater. Horiz.* **2018**, *5*, 323– 343.

(52) Tao, P.; Ni, G.; Song, C.; Shang, W.; Wu, J.; Zhu, J.; Chen, G.; Deng, T. Solar-Driven Interfacial Evaporation. *Nat. Energy* **2018**, *3*, 1031–1041.

(53) Chen, C. J.; Kuang, Y. D.; Hu, L. B. Challenges and Opportunities for Solar Evaporation. *Joule* **2019**, *3*, 683–718.

(54) Zhu, L.; Gao, M.; Peh, C. K. N.; Ho, G. W. Recent Progress in Solar-Driven Interfacial Water Evaporation: Advanced Designs and Applications. *Nano Energy* **2019**, *57*, 507–518.

(55) Chen, Z. H.; Li, J. G.; Zheng, Y. B. Heat-Mediated Optical Manipulation. *Chem. Rev.* 2022, 122, 3122–3179.

(56) Lin, L.; Hill, E. H.; Peng, X.; Zheng, Y. Optothermal Manipulations of Colloidal Particles and Living Cells. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2018**, *51*, 1465–1474.

(57) Xu, L. L.; Mou, F. Z.; Gong, H. T.; Luo, M.; Guan, J. G. Light-Driven Micro/Nanomotors: From Fundamentals to Applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2017, *46*, 6905–6926.

(58) Šípová-Jungová, H.; Andrén, D.; Jones, S.; Käll, M. Nanoscale Inorganic Motors Driven by Light: Principles, Realizations, and Opportunities. *Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *120*, 269–287.

(59) Xu, T.; Gao, W.; Xu, L. P.; Zhang, X.; Wang, S. Fuel-Free Synthetic Micro-/Nanomachines. *Adv. Mater.* **201**7, *29*, 1603250.

(60) Villa, K.; Pumera, M. Fuel-Free Light-Driven Micro/Nanomachines: Artificial Active Matter Mimicking Nature. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2019**, *48*, 4966–4978.

(61) Kristensen, A.; Yang, J. K. W.; Bozhevolnyi, S. I.; Link, S.; Nordlander, P.; Halas, N. J.; Mortensen, N. A. Plasmonic Colour Generation. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2017**, *2*, 16088.

(62) Shao, L.; Zhuo, X. L.; Wang, J. F. Advanced Plasmonic Materials for Dynamic Color Display. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1704338.

(63) Li, J.; Hill, E. H.; Lin, L.; Zheng, Y. Optical Nanoprinting of Colloidal Particles and Functional Structures. ACS Nano 2019, 13, 3783–3795.

(64) Zhu, X. L.; Vannahme, C.; Højlund-Nielsen, E.; Mortensen, N. A.; Kristensen, A. Plasmonic Colour Laser Printing. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2016**, *11*, 325–329.

(65) Zhu, X. L.; Yan, W.; Levy, U.; Mortensen, N. A.; Kristensen, A. Resonant Laser Printing of Structural Colors on High-Index Dielectric Metasurfaces. *Sci. Adv.* **2017**, *3*, e1602487.

(66) Han, B.; Zhang, Y. L.; Chen, Q. D.; Sun, H. B. Carbon-Based Photothermal Actuators. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2018**, *28*, 1802235.

(67) Ko, H.; Javey, A. Smart Actuators and Adhesives for Reconfigurable Matter. Acc. Chem. Res. 2017, 50, 691–702.

(68) Bisoyi, H. K.; Urbas, A.; Li, Q. Soft Materials Driven by Photothermal Effect and Their Applications. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2018**, *6*, 1800458.

(69) Nguyen, V. H.; Tabassian, R.; Oh, S.; Nam, S.; Mahato, M.; Thangasamy, P.; Rajabi-Abhari, A.; Hwang, W. J.; Taseer, A. K.; Oh, I. K. Stimuli-Responsive MXene-Based Actuators. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2020**, *30*, 1909504.

(70) Han, D. D.; Zhang, Y. L.; Ma, J. N.; Liu, Y. Q.; Han, B.; Sun, H. B. Light-Mediated Manufacture and Manipulation of Actuators. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 8328–8343.

(71) Liu, Y.; Bhattarai, P.; Dai, Z.; Chen, X. Photothermal Therapy and Photoacoustic Imaging *via* Nanotheranostics in Fighting Cancer. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2019**, *48*, 2053–2108.

(72) Wu, M. X.; Yang, Y. W. Metal-Organic Framework (MOF)-Based Drug/Cargo Delivery and Cancer Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* 2017, 29, 1606134.

(73) Tao, Y.; Chan, H. F.; Shi, B.; Li, M.; Leong, K. W. Light: A Magical Tool for Controlled Drug Delivery. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2020**, 30, 2005029.

(74) You, M.; Li, Z.; Feng, S.; Gao, B.; Yao, C.; Hu, J.; Xu, F. Ultrafast Photonic PCR Based on Photothermal Nanomaterials. *Trends Biotechnol.* **2020**, *38*, 637–649.

(75) Kang, B. H.; Lee, Y.; Yu, E. S.; Na, H.; Kang, M.; Huh, H. J.; Jeong, K. H. Ultrafast and Real-Time Nanoplasmonic On-Chip Polymerase Chain Reaction for Rapid and Quantitative Molecular Diagnostics. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 10194–10202.

(76) Kim, B. K.; Lee, S. A.; Park, M.; Jeon, E. J.; Kim, M. J.; Kim, J. M.; Kim, H.; Jung, S.; Kim, S. K. Ultrafast Real-Time PCR in Photothermal Microparticles. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 20533–20544.

(77) Lee, J. H.; Cheglakov, Z.; Yi, J.; Cronin, T. M.; Gibson, K. J.; Tian, B.; Weizmann, Y. Plasmonic Photothermal Gold Bipyramid Nanoreactors for Ultrafast Real-Time Bioassays. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 8054-8057.

(78) Weiss, C.; Carriere, M.; Fusco, L.; Capua, I.; Regla-Nava, J. A.; Pasquali, M.; Scott, J. A.; Vitale, F.; Unal, M. A.; Mattevi, C.; et al. Toward Nanotechnology-Enabled Approaches against the COVID-19 Pandemic. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 6383–6406.

(79) Blumenfeld, N. R.; Bolene, M. A. E.; Jaspan, M.; Ayers, A. G.; Zarrandikoetxea, S.; Freudman, J.; Shah, N.; Tolwani, A. M.; Hu, Y.; Chern, T. L.; et al. Multiplexed Reverse-Transcriptase Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction Using Plasmonic Nanoparticles for Pointof-Care COVID-19 Diagnosis. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2022**, *17*, 984–992.

(80) Qiu, G.; Gai, Z.; Tao, Y.; Schmitt, J.; Kullak-Ublick, G. A.; Wang, J. Dual-Functional Plasmonic Photothermal Biosensors for Highly Accurate Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Detection. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 5268–5277.

(81) Deng, W.; Sun, Y.; Yao, X.; Subramanian, K.; Ling, C.; Wang, H.; Chopra, S. S.; Xu, B. B.; Wang, J. X.; Chen, J. F.; et al. Masks for COVID-19. *Adv. Sci.* **2022**, *9*, 2102189.

(82) Zhong, H.; Zhu, Z.; Lin, J.; Cheung, C. F.; Lu, V. L.; Yan, F.; Chan, C. Y.; Li, G. Reusable and Recyclable Graphene Masks with Outstanding Superhydrophobic and Photothermal Performances. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 6213–6221.

(83) Schuller, J. A.; Barnard, E. S.; Cai, W.; Jun, Y. C.; White, J. S.; Brongersma, M. L. Plasmonics for Extreme Light Concentration and Manipulation. *Nat. Mater.* **2010**, *9*, 193–204.

(84) Yu, H.; Peng, Y.; Yang, Y.; Li, Z. Y. Plasmon-Enhanced Light– Matter Interactions and Applications. *NPJ Comput. Mater.* **2019**, *5*, 45.

(85) Chen, J. X.; Ye, Z. Y.; Yang, F.; Yin, Y. D. Plasmonic Nanostructures for Photothermal Conversion. *Small Sci.* 2021, *1*, 2000055.

(86) Brongersma, M. L.; Halas, N. J.; Nordlander, P. Plasmon-Induced Hot Carrier Science and Technology. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2015**, *10*, 25–34.

(87) Liu, J. G.; Zhang, H.; Link, S.; Nordlander, P. Relaxation of Plasmon-Induced Hot Carriers. ACS Photonics 2018, 5, 2584-2595.

(88) Bernardi, M.; Mustafa, J.; Neaton, J. B.; Louie, S. G. Theory and Computation of Hot Carriers Generated by Surface Plasmon Polaritons in Noble Metals. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 7044.

(89) Manjavacas, A.; Liu, J. G.; Kulkarni, V.; Nordlander, P. Plasmon-Induced Hot Carriers in Metallic Nanoparticles. *ACS Nano* **2014**, *8*, 7630–7638.

(90) Linic, S.; Aslam, U.; Boerigter, C.; Morabito, M. Photochemical Transformations on Plasmonic Metal Nanoparticles. *Nat. Mater.* **2015**, *14*, 567–576.

(91) Baffou, G.; Quidant, R. Thermo-Plasmonics: Using Metallic Nanostructures as Nano-Sources of Heat. *Laser Photonics Rev.* 2013, 7, 171–187.

(92) Gärtner, W. W. Photothermal Effect in Semiconductors. *Phys. Rev.* **1961**, *122*, 419–424.

(93) Shockley, W.; Read, W. T. Statistics of the Recombinations of Holes and Electrons. *Phys. Rev.* **1952**, *87*, 835–842.

(94) Ghoussoub, M.; Xia, M.; Duchesne, P. N.; Segal, D.; Ozin, G. Principles of Photothermal Gas-Phase Heterogeneous CO<sub>2</sub> Catalysis. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2019**, *12*, 1122–1142.

(95) Hoch, L. B.; Szymanski, P.; Ghuman, K. K.; He, L.; Liao, K.; Qiao, Q.; Reyes, L. M.; Zhu, Y.; El-Sayed, M. A.; Singh, C. V.; et al. Carrier Dynamics and the Role of Surface Defects: Designing a Photocatalyst for Gas-Phase  $CO_2$  Reduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.* S. A. **2016**, 113, E8011–E8020.

(96) He, W.; Zhou, L.; Wang, M.; Cao, Y.; Chen, X.; Hou, X. Structure Development of Carbon-Based Solar-Driven Water Evaporation Systems. *Sci. Bull.* **2021**, *66*, 1472–1483.

(97) Ye, E.; Li, Z. *Photothermal Nanomaterials*; Royal Society of Chemistry: Cambridge, 2022; Chapter 1; p 2.

(98) Wang, Y.; Meng, H. M.; Song, G.; Li, Z.; Zhang, X. B. Conjugated-Polymer-Based Nanomaterials for Photothermal Therapy. ACS Appl. Polym. Mater. 2020, 2, 4258-4272.

(99) Yu, C.; Xu, L.; Zhang, Y.; Timashev, P. S.; Huang, Y.; Liang, X. J. Polymer-Based Nanomaterials for Noninvasive Cancer Photo-thermal Therapy. *ACS Appl. Polym. Mater.* **2020**, *2*, 4289–4305.

(100) Cheng, P.; Wang, D.; Schaaf, P. A Review on Photothermal Conversion of Solar Energy with Nanomaterials and Nanostructures: From Fundamentals to Applications. *Adv. Sustainable Syst.* **2022**, *6*, 2200115.

(101) Zeng, J.; Goldfeld, D.; Xia, Y. N. A Plasmon-Assisted Optofluidic (PAOF) System for Measuring the Photothermal Conversion Efficiencies of Gold Nanostructures and Controlling an Electrical Switch. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 4169–4173.

(102) Xiao, L.; Chen, X.; Yang, X.; Sun, J.; Geng, J. Recent Advances in Polymer-Based Photothermal Materials for Biological Applications. *ACS Appl. Polym. Mater.* **2020**, *2*, 4273–4288.

(103) Chen, H. J.; Shao, L.; Ming, T.; Sun, Z. H.; Zhao, C. M.; Yang, B. C.; Wang, J. F. Understanding the Photothermal Conversion Efficiency of Gold Nanocrystals. *Small* **2010**, *6*, 2272–2280.

(104) Roper, D. K.; Ahn, W.; Hoepfner, M. Microscale Heat Transfer Transduced by Surface Plasmon Resonant Gold Nanoparticles. J. Phys. Chem. C 2007, 111, 3636–3641.

(105) Marin, R.; Skripka, A.; Besteiro, L. V.; Benayas, A.; Wang, Z.; Govorov, A. O.; Canton, P.; Vetrone, F. Highly Efficient Copper Sulfide-Based Near-Infrared Photothermal Agents: Exploring the Limits of Macroscopic Heat Conversion. *Small* **2018**, *14*, 1803282.

(106) Pasciak, A.; Pilch-Wrobel, A.; Marciniak, L.; Schuck, P. J.; Bednarkiewicz, A. Standardization of Methodology of Light-to-Heat Conversion Efficiency Determination for Colloidal Nanoheaters. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13*, 44556–44567.

(107) Pasciak, A.; Marin, R.; Abiven, L.; Pilch-Wrobel, A.; Misiak, M.; Xu, W.; Prorok, K.; Bezkrovnyi, O.; Marciniak, L.; Chaneac, C.; et al. Quantitative Comparison of the Light-to-Heat Conversion Efficiency in Nanomaterials Suitable for Photothermal Therapy. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2022**, *14*, 33555–33566.

(108) Boltasseva, A.; Atwater, H. A. Low-Loss Plasmonic Metamaterials. *Science* **2011**, 331, 290–291.

(109) Jain, P. K.; Huang, X.; El-Sayed, I. H.; El-Sayed, M. A. Noble Metals on the Nanoscale: Optical and Photothermal Properties and Some Applications in Imaging, Sensing, Biology, and Medicine. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2008**, *41*, 1578–1586.

(110) Garcia de Abajo, F. J. Nonlocal Effects in the Plasmons of Strongly Interacting Nanoparticles, Dimers, and Waveguides. J. Phys. Chem. C 2008, 112, 17983–117987.

(111) McMahon, J. M.; Gray, S. K.; Schatz, G. C. Nonlocal Optical Response of Metal Nanostructures with Arbitrary Shape. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2009**, *103*, No. 097403.

(112) Jia, J.; Liu, G.; Xu, W.; Tian, X.; Li, S.; Han, F.; Feng, Y.; Dong, X.; Chen, H. Fine-Tuning the Homometallic Interface of Auon-Au Nanorods and Their Photothermal Therapy in the NIR-II Window. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 14443–14448.

(113) Zhong, Q.; Feng, J.; Jiang, B.; Fan, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Chen, J.; Yin, Y. Strain-Modulated Seeded Growth of Highly Branched Black Au Superparticles for Efficient Photothermal Conversion. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2021**, *143*, 20513–20523.

(114) Zielinski, M. S.; Choi, J. W.; La Grange, T.; Modestino, M.; Hashemi, S. M. H; Pu, Y.; Birkhold, S.; Hubbell, J. A.; Psaltis, D. Hollow Mesoporous Plasmonic Nanoshells for Enhanced Solar Vapor Generation. *Nano Lett.* **2016**, *16*, 2159–2167.

(115) Ding, S.; Ma, L.; Feng, J.; Chen, Y.; Yang, D.; Wang, Q. Surface-Roughness-Adjustable Au Nanorods with Strong Plasmon Absorption and Abundant Hotspots for Improved SERS and Photothermal Performances. *Nano Res.* **2022**, *15*, 2715–2721.

(116) Xu, W.; Qian, J.; Hou, G.; Suo, A.; Wang, Y.; Wang, J.; Sun, T.; Yang, M.; Wan, X.; Yao, Y. Hyaluronic Acid-Functionalized Gold Nanorods with pH/NIR Dual-Responsive Drug Release for Synergetic Targeted Photothermal Chemotherapy of Breast Cancer. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2017**, *9*, 36533–36547.

(117) Morales-Dalmau, J.; Vilches, C.; de Miguel, I.; Sanz, V.; Quidant, R. Optimum Morphology of Gold Nanorods for Light-Induced Hyperthermia. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 2632–2638. (118) Ha, M.; Nam, S. H.; Sim, K.; Chong, S. E.; Kim, J.; Kim, Y.; Lee, Y.; Nam, J. M. Highly Efficient Photothermal Therapy with Cell-Penetrating Peptide-Modified Bumpy Au Triangular Nanoprisms using Low Laser Power and Low Probe Dose. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 731–739.

(119) He, X.; Sathishkumar, G.; Gopinath, K.; Zhang, K.; Lu, Z.; Li, C.; Kang, E. T.; Xu, L. One-Step Self-Assembly of Biogenic Au NPs/ PEG-Based Universal Coatings for Antifouling and Photothermal Killing of Bacterial Pathogens. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2021**, *421*, 130005.

(120) Qi, X.; Huang, Y.; You, S.; Xiang, Y.; Cai, E.; Mao, R.; Pan, W.; Tong, X.; Dong, W.; Ye, F.; et al. Engineering Robust Ag-Decorated Polydopamine Nano-Photothermal Platforms to Combat Bacterial Infection and Prompt Wound Healing. *Adv. Sci.* **2022**, *9*, 2106015.

(121) Sun, Z.; Wang, J.; Wu, Q.; Wang, Z.; Wang, Z.; Sun, J.; Liu, C. J. Plasmon Based Double-Layer Hydrogel Device for a Highly Efficient Solar Vapor Generation. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1901312.

(122) Fang, J.; Liu, Q.; Zhang, W.; Gu, J.; Su, Y.; Su, H.; Guo, C.; Zhang, D. Ag/Diatomite for Highly Efficient Solar Vapor Generation under One-Sun Irradiation. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2017**, *5*, 17817–17821.

(123) Chen, J.; Feng, J.; Li, Z.; Xu, P.; Wang, X.; Yin, W.; Wang, M.; Ge, X.; Yin, Y. Space-Confined Seeded Growth of Black Silver Nanostructures for Solar Steam Generation. *Nano Lett.* **2019**, *19*, 400–407.

(124) Gao, M. M.; Connor, P. K. N.; Ho, G. W. Plasmonic Photothermic Directed Broadband Sunlight Harnessing for Seawater Catalysis and Desalination. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2016**, *9*, 3151–3160.

(125) Chang, M.; Hou, Z.; Wang, M.; Yang, C.; Wang, R.; Li, F.; Liu, D.; Peng, T.; Li, C.; Lin, J. Single-Atom Pd Nanozyme for Ferroptosis-Boosted Mild-Temperature Photothermal Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 12971–12979.

(126) Tang, S.; Chen, M.; Zheng, N. F. Sub-10-nm Pd Nanosheets with Renal Clearance for Efficient Near-Infrared Photothermal Cancer Therapy. *Small* **2014**, *10*, 3139–3144.

(127) Xiao, J. W.; Fan, S. X.; Wang, F.; Sun, L. D.; Zheng, X. Y.; Yan, C. H. Porous Pd Nanoparticles with High Photothermal Conversion Efficiency for Efficient Ablation of Cancer Cells. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 4345–4351.

(128) Song, M.; Liu, N.; He, L.; Liu, G.; Ling, D.; Su, X.; Sun, X. Porous Hollow Palladium Nanoplatform for Imaging-Guided Trimodal Chemo-, Photothermal-, and Radiotherapy. *Nano Res.* **2018**, *11*, 2796–2808.

(129) Ghafurian, M. M.; Niazmand, H.; Goharshadi, E. K.; Zahmatkesh, B. B.; Moallemi, A. E.; Mehrkhah, R.; Mahian, O. Enhanced Solar Desalination by Delignified Wood Coated with Bimetallic Fe/Pd Nanoparticles. *Desalination* **2020**, *493*, 114657.

(130) Fan, Y.; Wang, S.; Wang, F.; He, J.; Tian, Z.; Zhao, H.; Zhu, Z.; Sun, H.; Liang, W.; Li, A. The Assembly of a Polymer and Metal Nanoparticle Coated Glass Capillary Array for Efficient Solar Desalination. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2020**, *8*, 25904–25912.

(131) McClain, M. J.; Schlather, A. E.; Ringe, E.; King, N. S.; Liu, L.; Manjavacas, A.; Knight, M. W.; Kumar, I.; Whitmire, K. H.; Everitt, H. O.; et al. Aluminum Nanocrystals. *Nano Lett.* **2015**, *15*, 2751– 2755.

(132) Li, N.; Yang, D. J.; Shao, Y.; Liu, Y.; Tang, J.; Yang, L.; Sun, T.; Zhou, W.; Liu, H.; Xue, G. Nanostructured Black Aluminum Prepared by Laser Direct Writing as a High-Performance Plasmonic Absorber for Photothermal/Electric Conversion. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13*, 4305–4315.

(133) Zhou, L.; Tan, Y. L.; Wang, J. Y.; Xu, W. C.; Yuan, Y.; Cai, W. S.; Zhu, S. N.; Zhu, J. 3D Self-Assembly of Aluminium Nanoparticles for Plasmon-Enhanced Solar Desalination. *Nat. Photonics* **2016**, *10*, 393–398.

(134) Behera, S.; Kim, C.; Kim, K. Solar Steam Generation and Desalination Using Ultra-Broadband Absorption in Plasmonic Alumina Nanowire Haze Structure–Graphene Oxide–Gold Nano-particle Composite. *Langmuir* **2020**, *36*, 12494–12503.

(135) Clark, B. D.; DeSantis, C. J.; Wu, G.; Renard, D.; McClain, M. J.; Bursi, L.; Tsai, A. L.; Nordlander, P.; Halas, N. J. Ligand-Dependent Colloidal Stability Controls the Growth of Aluminum Nanocrystals. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141*, 1716–1724.

(136) Chen, J. X.; Feng, J.; Yang, F.; Aleisa, R.; Zhang, Q.; Yin, Y. D. Space-Confined Seeded Growth of Cu Nanorods with Strong Surface Plasmon Resonance for Photothermal Actuation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 9275–9281.

(137) Gawande, M. B.; Goswami, A.; Felpin, F. X.; Asefa, T.; Huang, X.; Silva, R.; Zou, X.; Zboril, R.; Varma, R. S. Cu and Cu-Based Nanoparticles: Synthesis and Applications in Catalysis. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 3722–3811.

(138) Sun, W.; Zhong, G.; Kubel, C.; Jelle, A. A.; Qian, C.; Wang, L.; Ebrahimi, M.; Reyes, L. M.; Helmy, A. S.; Ozin, G. A. Size-Tunable Photothermal Germanium Nanocrystals. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 6329–6334.

(139) Li, Q.; Fan, H.; Xu, Y.; Liu, M.; Liu, J.; Xu, L.; Zou, M.; Cheng, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Liang, T.; et al. NIR-Responsive Hollow Germanium Nanospheres Mediate Photothermal/Photodynamic Therapy and Restrain Immunosuppression to Cooperatively Eradicate Primary and Metastatic Tumors. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2023**, 458, 141314.

(140) Chen, H. J.; Shao, L.; Li, Q.; Wang, J. F. Gold Nanorods and Their Plasmonic Properties. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 2679–2724.

(141) Kang, H.; Buchman, J. T.; Rodriguez, R. S.; Ring, H. L.; He, J.; Bantz, K. C.; Haynes, C. L. Stabilization of Silver and Gold Nanoparticles: Preservation and Improvement of Plasmonic Functionalities. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119*, 664–699.

(142) Naik, G. V.; Shalaev, V. M.; Boltasseva, A. Alternative Plasmonic Materials: Beyond Gold and Silver. *Adv. Mater.* **2013**, *25*, 3264–3294.

(143) Marimuthu, A.; Zhang, J.; Linic, S. Tuning Selectivity in Propylene Epoxidation by Plasmon Mediated Photo-Switching of Cu Oxidation State. *Science* **2013**, *339*, 1590–1593.

(144) Lalisse, A.; Tessier, G.; Plain, J.; Baffou, G. Quantifying the Efficiency of Plasmonic Materials for Near-Field Enhancement and Photothermal Conversion. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2015**, *119*, 25518–25528.

(145) Ross, M. B.; Schatz, G. C. Radiative Effects in Plasmonic Aluminum and Silver Nanospheres and Nanorods. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 2015, 48, 184004.

(146) De Marchi, S.; Nunez-Sanchez, S.; Bodelon, G.; Perez-Juste, J.; Pastoriza-Santos, I. Pd Nanoparticles as a Plasmonic Material: Synthesis, Optical Properties and Applications. *Nanoscale* **2020**, *12*, 23424–23443.

(147) de Almeida, L. D.; Wang, H.; Junge, K.; Cui, X.; Beller, M. Recent Advances in Catalytic Hydrosilylations: Developments beyond Traditional Platinum Catalysts. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 550–565.

(148) Nikoobakht, B.; El-Sayed, M. A. Preparation and Growth Mechanism of Gold Nanorods (NRs) Using Seed-Mediated Growth Method. *Chem. Mater.* **2003**, *15*, 1957–1962.

(149) Xia, Y. N.; Xiong, Y. J.; Lim, B.; Skrabalak, S. E. Shape-Controlled Synthesis of Metal Nanocrystals: Simple Chemistry Meets Complex Physics? *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 60–103.

(150) Baffou, G.; Quidant, R.; Girard, C. Heat Generation in Plasmonic Nanostructures: Influence of Morphology. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2009**, *94*, 153109.

(151) Linic, S.; Christopher, P.; Ingram, D. B. Plasmonic-Metal Nanostructures for Efficient Conversion of Solar to Chemical Energy. *Nat. Mater.* **2011**, *10*, 911–921.

(152) Pelton, M.; Aizpurua, J.; Bryant, G. Metal-Nanoparticle Plasmonics. *Laser Photonics Rev.* **2008**, *2*, 136–159.

(153) Wiley, B. J.; Im, S. H.; Li, Z. Y.; McLellan, J.; Siekkinen, A.; Xia, Y. N. Maneuvering the Surface Plasmon Resonance of Silver Nanostructures through Shape-Controlled Synthesis. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2006**, *110*, 15666–15675.

(154) Wiley, B. J.; Chen, Y.; McLellan, J. M.; Xiong, Y. J.; Li, Z. Y.; Ginger, D.; Xia, Y. N. Synthesis and Optical Properties of Silver Nanobars and Nanorice. *Nano Lett.* **2007**, *7*, 1032–1036.

(155) Huang, J.; Liu, C.; Zhu, Y.; Masala, S.; Alarousu, E.; Han, Y.; Fratalocchi, A. Harnessing Structural Darkness in the Visible and Infrared Wavelengths for a New Source of Light. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2016**, *11*, 60–66.

(156) Verbruggen, S. W.; Keulemans, M.; Martens, J. A.; Lenaerts, S. Predicting the Surface Plasmon Resonance Wavelength of Gold–Silver Alloy Nanoparticles. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2013, *117*, 19142–19145.

(157) Zhao, Y. H.; Sarhan, R. M.; Eljarrat, A.; Kochovski, Z.; Koch, C.; Schmidt, B.; Koopman, W.; Lu, Y. Surface-Functionalized Au–Pd Nanorods with Enhanced Photothermal Conversion and Catalytic Performance. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2022**, *14*, 17259–17272.

(158) Jin, L. J.; Shen, S.; Huang, Y. J.; Li, D. D.; Yang, X. Z. Cornlike Au/Ag Nanorod-Mediated NIR-II Photothermal/Photodynamic Therapy Potentiates Immune Checkpoint Antibody Efficacy by Reprogramming the Cold Tumor Microenvironment. *Biomaterials* **2021**, *268*, 120582.

(159) Zhu, G. H.; Wang, L. L.; Bing, N. C.; Xie, H. Q.; Yu, W. Enhancement of Photothermal Conversion Performance Using Nanofluids Based on Bimetallic Ag-Au Alloys in Nitrogen-Doped Graphitic Polyhedrons. *Energy* **2019**, *183*, 747–755.

(160) Cao, C. Y.; Ge, W.; Yin, J. J.; Yang, D. L.; Wang, W. J.; Song, X. J.; Hu, Y. L.; Yin, J.; Dong, X. C. Mesoporous Silica Supported Silver–Bismuth Nanoparticles as Photothermal Agents for Skin Infection Synergistic Antibacterial Therapy. *Small* **2020**, *16*, 2000436. (161) Jeong, H. H.; Mark, A. G.; Alarcon-Correa, M.; Kim, I.; Oswald, P.; Lee, T. C.; Fischer, P. Dispersion and Shape Engineered Plasmonic Nanosensors. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 11331.

(162) Matuschek, M.; Singh, D. P.; Jeong, H. H.; Nesterov, M.; Weiss, T.; Fischer, P.; Neubrech, F.; Liu, N. Chiral Plasmonic Hydrogen Sensors. *Small* **2018**, *14*, 1702990.

(163) Yip, H. K.; Zhu, X. Z.; Zhuo, X. L.; Jiang, R. B.; Yang, Z.; Wang, J. F. Gold Nanobipyramid-Enhanced Hydrogen Sensing with Plasmon Red Shifts Reaching  $\approx$ 140 nm at 2 vol% Hydrogen Concentration. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **201**7, *5*, 1700740.

(164) Ojea-Jiménez, I.; Bastús, N. G.; Puntes, V. Influence of the Sequence of the Reagents Addition in the Citrate-Mediated Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2011, *115*, 15752–15757.

(165) Bastus, N. G.; Comenge, J.; Puntes, V. Kinetically Controlled Seeded Growth Synthesis of Citrate-Stabilized Gold Nanoparticles of up to 200 nm: Size Focusing *versus* Ostwald Ripening. *Langmuir* **2011**, 27, 11098–11105.

(166) Ruan, Q. F.; Shao, L.; Shu, Y. W.; Wang, J. F.; Wu, H. K. Growth of Monodisperse Gold Nanospheres with Diameters from 20 nm to 220 nm and Their Core/Satellite Nanostructures. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2014**, *2*, 65–73.

(167) Seo, D.; Yoo, C. I.; Park, J. C.; Park, S. M.; Ryu, S.; Song, H. Directed Surface Overgrowth and Morphology Control of Polyhedral Gold Nanocrystals. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 763–767.

(168) Wu, H. L.; Kuo, C. H.; Huang, M. H. Seed-Mediated Synthesis of Gold Nanocrystals with Systematic Shape Evolution from Cubic to Trisoctahedral and Rhombic Dodecahedral Structures. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, 12307–12313.

(169) Zhang, G. G.; Ma, Y. Y.; Liu, Z.; Fu, X. W.; Niu, X. K.; Qu, F. L; Si, C. D.; Zheng, Y. Q. Seed-Morphology-Directed Synthesis of Concave Gold Nanocrystals with Tunable Sizes. *Langmuir* **2020**, *36*, 15610–15617.

(170) Nehl, C. L.; Liao, H. W.; Hafner, J. H. Optical Properties of Star-Shaped Gold Nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2006**, *6*, 683–688.

(171) Yuan, H.; Khoury, C. G.; Hwang, H.; Wilson, C. M.; Grant, G. A.; Vo-Dinh, T. Gold Nanostars: Surfactant-Free Synthesis, 3D Modelling, and Two-Photon Photoluminescence Imaging. *Nanotechnology* **2012**, *23*, No. 075102.

(172) Qin, F.; Zhao, T.; Jiang, R. B.; Jiang, N. N.; Ruan, Q. F.; Wang, J. F.; Sun, L. D.; Yan, C. H.; Lin, H. Q. Thickness Control Produces Gold Nanoplates with Their Plasmon in the Visible and Near-Infrared Regions. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2016**, *4*, 76–85.

(173) Ye, S. J.; Connell, S. D.; McLaughlan, J. R.; Roach, L.; Aslam, Z.; Chankhunthod, N.; Brown, A. P.; Brydson, R.; Bushby, R. J.; Critchley, K.; et al. One-Step Preparation of Biocompatible Gold Nanoplates with Controlled Thickness and Adjustable Optical Properties for Plasmon-Based Applications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2020**, *30*, 2003512.

(174) Sun, J. H.; Guan, M. Y.; Shang, T. M.; Gao, C. L.; Xu, Z. Synthesis and Optical Properties of Triangular Gold Nanoplates with Controllable Edge Length. *Sci. China Chem.* **2010**, *53*, 2033–2038.

(175) Cui, X. M; Qin, F.; Ruan, Q. F.; Zhuo, X. L.; Wang, J. F. Circular Gold Nanodisks with Synthetically Tunable Diameters and Thicknesses. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2018**, *28*, 1705516.

(176) Chen, L.; Ji, F.; Xu, Y.; He, L.; Mi, Y. F.; Bao, F.; Sun, B. Q.; Zhang, X. H.; Zhang, Q. High-Yield Seedless Synthesis of Triangular Gold Nanoplates through Oxidative Etching. *Nano Lett.* **2014**, *14*, 7201–7206.

(177) Li, Q.; Zhuo, X. L.; Li, S.; Ruan, Q. F.; Xu, Q. H.; Wang, J. F. Production of Monodisperse Gold Nanobipyramids with Number Percentages Approaching 100% and Evaluation of Their Plasmonic Properties. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2015**, *3*, 801–812.

(178) Liu, Y. L.; Yang, M.; Zhang, J. P.; Zhi, X.; Li, C.; Zhang, C. L.; Pan, F.; Wang, K.; Yang, Y. M.; Martinez de la Fuentea, J.; et al. Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells for Tumor Targeted Delivery of Gold Nanorods and Enhanced Photothermal Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2016**, *10*, 2375–2385.

(179) Wang, Q.; Wang, Z. P.; Li, Z.; Xiao, J. Y.; Shan, H. Y.; Fang, Z. Y.; Qi, L. M. Controlled Growth and Shape-Directed Self-Assembly of Gold Nanoarrows. *Sci. Adv.* **2017**, *3*, e1701183.

(180) Ye, S. J.; Marston, G.; McLaughlan, J. R.; Sigle, D. O.; Ingram, N.; Freear, S.; Baumberg, J. J.; Bushby, R. J.; Markham, A. F.; Critchley, K.; et al. Engineering Gold Nanotubes with Controlled Length and Near-Infrared Absorption for Theranostic Applications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2015**, *25*, 2117–2127.

(181) Xuan, M. J.; Shao, J. X.; Dai, L. R.; Li, J. B.; He, Q. Macrophage Cell Membrane Camouflaged Au Nanoshells for *In Vivo* Prolonged Circulation Life and Enhanced Cancer Photothermal Therapy. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 9610–9618.

(182) Hu, Y.; Chou, T.; Wang, H. J.; Du, H. Monodisperse Colloidal Gold Nanorings: Synthesis and Utility for Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering. J. Phys. Chem. C 2014, 118, 16011–16018.

(183) Wang, Y.; Zheng, Y. Q.; Huang, C. Z.; Xia, Y. N. Synthesis of Ag Nanocubes 18–32 nm in Edge Length: The Effects of Polyol on Reduction Kinetics, Size Control, and Reproducibility. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 1941–1951.

(184) Zhang, Q.; Li, W. Y.; Moran, C.; Zeng, J.; Chen, J. Y.; Wen, L.-P.; Xia, Y. N. Seed-Mediated Synthesis of Ag Nanocubes with Controllable Edge Lengths in the Range of 30–200 nm and Comparison of their Optical Properties. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, 132, 11372–11378.

(185) Wang, Y.; Wan, D. H.; Xie, S. F.; Xia, X. H.; Huang, C. Z.; Xia, Y. N. Synthesis of Silver Octahedra with Controlled Sizes and Optical Properties *via* Seed-Mediated Growth. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 4586–4594.

(186) Langhammer, C.; Kasemo, B.; Zorić, I. Absorption and Scattering of Light by Pt, Pd, Ag, and Au Nanodisks: Absolute Cross Sections and Branching Ratios. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2007**, *126*, 194702.

(187) Bhanushali, S.; Mahasivam, S.; Ramanathan, R.; Singh, M.; Harrop Mayes, E. L.; Murdoch, B. J.; Bansal, V.; Sastry, M. Photomodulated Spatially Confined Chemical Reactivity in a Single Silver Nanoprism. ACS Nano 2020, 14, 11100–11109.

(188) Sun, Y. G.; Mayers, B.; Xia, Y. N. Transformation of Silver Nanospheres into Nanobelts and Triangular Nanoplates through a Thermal Process. *Nano Lett.* **2003**, *3*, 675–679.

(189) Wiley, B.; Sun, Y. G.; Mayers, B.; Xia, Y. N. Shape-Controlled Synthesis of Metal Nanostructures: The Case of Silver. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2005**, *11*, 454–463.

(190) Mulvihill, M. J.; Ling, X. Y.; Henzie, J.; Yang, P. D. Anisotropic Etching of Silver Nanoparticles for Plasmonic Structures Capable of Single-Particle SERS. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, *132*, 268–274.

(191) D'Agostino, A.; Taglietti, A.; Desando, R.; Bini, M.; Patrini, M.; Dacarro, G.; Cucca, L.; Pallavicini, P.; Grisoli, P. Bulk Surfaces

Coated with Triangular Silver Nanoplates: Antibacterial Action Based on Silver Release and Photo-Thermal Effect. *Nanomaterials* **2017**, *7*, 7. (192) Chen, J. X.; Bai, Y. C.; Feng, J.; Yang, F.; Xu, P. P.; Wang, Z. C.; Zhang, Q.; Yin, Y. D. Anisotropic Seeded Growth of Ag Nanoplates Confined in Shape-Deformable Spaces. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 4117–4124.

(193) Clark, B. D.; Jacobson, C. R.; Lou, M. H.; Yang, J.; Zhou, L. N.; Gottheim, S.; DeSantis, C. J.; Nordlander, P.; Halas, N. J. Aluminum Nanorods. *Nano Lett.* **2018**, *18*, 1234–1240.

(194) Clark, B. D.; Jacobson, C. R.; Lou, M. H.; Renard, D.; Wu, G.; Bursi, L.; Ali, A. S.; Swearer, D. F.; Tsai, A.-L.; Nordlander, P.; et al. Aluminum Nanocubes Have Sharp Corners. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 9682–9691.

(195) Chan, G. H.; Zhao, J.; Schatz, G. C.; Van Duyne, R. P. Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance Spectroscopy of Triangular Aluminum Nanoparticles. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2008, *112*, 13958–13963. (196) Niu, W. X.; Zhang, W. Q.; Firdoz, S.; Lu, X. M. Controlled Synthesis of Palladium Concave Nanocubes with Sub-10-Nanometer

Edges and Corners for Tunable Plasmonic Property. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 2180–2186.

(197) Chen, Y.-H.; Hung, H.-H.; Huang, M. H. Seed-Mediated Synthesis of Palladium Nanorods and Branched Nanocrystals and their Use as Recyclable Suzuki Coupling Reaction Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 9114–9121.

(198) Huang, X. Q.; Tang, S. H.; Yang, J.; Tan, Y.; Zheng, N. F. Etching Growth under Surface Confinement: An Effective Strategy to Prepare Mesocrystalline Pd Nanocorolla. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 15946–15949.

(199) Chen, M.; Chen, S. Z.; He, C. Y.; Mo, S. G.; Wang, X. Y.; Liu, G.; Zheng, N. F. Safety Profile of Two-Dimensional Pd Nanosheets for Photothermal Therapy and Photoacoustic Imaging. *Nano Res.* **2017**, *10*, 1234–1248.

(200) Xiong, Y. J.; Wiley, B.; Chen, J. Y.; Li, Z.-Y.; Yin, Y. D.; Xia, Y. N. Corrosion-Based Synthesis of Single-Crystal Pd Nanoboxes and Nanocages and Their Surface Plasmon Properties. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 7913–7917.

(201) Xu, S. L.; Sun, X.; Ye, H.; You, T.; Song, X. Y.; Sun, S. X. Selective Synthesis of Copper Nanoplates and Nanowires *via* a Surfactant-Assisted Hydrothermal Process. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *120*, 1–5.

(202) Guo, H. Z.; Chen, Y. Z.; Cortie, M. B.; Liu, X.; Xie, Q. S.; Wang, X.; Peng, D.-L. Shape-Selective Formation of Monodisperse Copper Nanospheres and Nanocubes *via* Disproportionation Reaction Route and Their Optical Properties. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2014**, *118*, 9801–9808.

(203) Pastoriza-Santos, I.; Sánchez-Iglesias, A.; Rodríguez-González, B.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Aerobic Synthesis of Cu Nanoplates with Intense Plasmon Resonances. *Small* **2009**, *5*, 440–443.

(204) Park, Y. S.; Chae, H. K. Geometric Control and Intense Plasmon Resonances of Colloidal Truncated Triangular Copper Nanoplates in Nonionic Microemulsions Containing Tetrabutylammonium Hydroxide. *Chem. Mater.* **2010**, *22*, 6280–6290.

(205) Link, S.; Wang, Z. L.; El-Sayed, M. Alloy Formation of Gold– Silver Nanoparticles and the Dependence of the Plasmon Absorption on Their Composition. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **1999**, *103*, 3529–3533.

(206) Zhu, X. Z.; Zhuo, X. L.; Li, Q.; Yang, Z.; Wang, J. F. Gold Nanobipyramid-Supported Silver Nanostructures with Narrow Plasmon Linewidths and Improved Chemical Stability. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 2016, 26, 341–352.

(207) Mayer, M.; Scarabelli, L.; March, K.; Altantzis, T.; Tebbe, M.; Kociak, M.; Bals, S.; García de Abajo, F. J.; Fery, A.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Controlled Living Nanowire Growth: Precise Control over the Morphology and Optical Properties of AgAuAg Bimetallic Nanowires. *Nano Lett.* **2015**, *15*, 5427–5437.

(208) Jiang, R. B.; Chen, H. J.; Shao, L.; Li, Q.; Wang, J. F. Unraveling the Evolution and Nature of the Plasmons in (Au Core)– (Ag Shell) Nanorods. *Adv. Mater.* **2012**, *24*, OP200–OP207.

(209) Kadkhodazadeh, S.; Nugroho, F. A. A.; Langhammer, C.; Beleggia, M.; Wagner, J. B. Optical Property-Composition Correlation in Noble Metal Alloy Nanoparticles Studied with EELS. *ACS Photonics* **2019**, *6*, 779–786.

(210) Shi, Q. Q.; Fu, R. F.; Sikdar, D.; Perera, T.; Chesman, A. S. R.; Yong, Z. J.; Lu, Y.; Liu, Y. Y.; Guo, Z. R.; Gong, S.; et al. Two-Dimensional Nanoassemblies from Plasmonic Matryoshka Nanoframes. J. Phys. Chem. C 2021, 125, 27753–27762.

(211) Dong, D. S.; Shi, Q. Q.; Sikdar, D.; Zhao, Y. M.; Liu, Y. Y.; Fu, R. F.; Premaratne, M.; Cheng, W. L. Site-Specific Ag Coating on Concave Au Nanoarrows by Controlling the Surfactant Concentration. *Nanoscale Horiz.* **2019**, *4*, 940–946.

(212) Liu, Z.; Cheng, L.; Zhang, L.; Yang, Z. B.; Liu, Z.; Fang, J. X. Sub-100 nm Hollow Au–Ag Alloy Urchin-Shaped Nanostructure with Ultrahigh Density of Nanotips for Photothermal Cancer Therapy. *Biomaterials* **2014**, *35*, 4099–4107.

(213) Skrabalak, S. E.; Au, L.; Li, X. D.; Xia, Y. N. Facile Synthesis of Ag Nanocubes and Au Nanocages. *Nat. Protoc.* **200**7, *2*, 2182–2190.

(214) Hu, K.-W.; Liu, T.-M.; Chung, K.-Y.; Huang, K.-S.; Hsieh, C.-T.; Sun, C.-K.; Yeh, C.-S. Efficient Near-IR Hyperthermia and Intense Nonlinear Optical Imaging Contrast on the Gold Nanorod-in-Shell Nanostructures. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2009**, 131, 14186–14187.

(215) Vankayala, R.; Lin, C.-C.; Kalluru, P.; Chiang, C.-S.; Hwang, K. C. Gold Nanoshells-Mediated Bimodal Photodynamic and Photothermal Cancer Treatment Using Ultra-Low Doses of Near Infra-Red Light. *Biomaterials* **2014**, *35*, 5527–5538.

(216) Som, T.; Karmakar, B. Core-shell Au-Ag Nanoparticles in Dielectric Nanocomposites with Plasmon-Enhanced Fluorescence: A New Paradigm in Antimony Glasses. *Nano Res.* **2009**, *2*, 607–616.

(217) Mostafa, A. M.; Mwafy, E. A.; Awwad, N. S.; Ibrahium, H. A. Catalytic Activity of Ag Nanoparticles and Au/Ag Nanocomposite Prepared by Pulsed Laser Ablation Technique against 4-Nitrophenol for Environmental Applications. *J. Mater. Sci: Mater. Electron.* **2021**, 32, 11978–11988.

(218) Qian, H. M.; Xu, M.; Li, X. W.; Ji, M. W.; Cheng, L.; Shoaib, A.; Liu, J. J.; Jiang, L.; Zhu, H. S.; Zhang, J. T. Surface Micro/ Nanostructure Evolution of Au–Ag Alloy Nanoplates: Synthesis, Simulation, Plasmonic Photothermal and Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering Applications. *Nano Res.* **2016**, *9*, 876–885.

(219) Wei, Y.; Zhao, Z. L.; Yang, P. Pd-Tipped Au Nanorods for Plasmon-Enhanced Electrocatalytic Hydrogen Evolution with Photoelectric and Photothermal Effects. *ChemElectroChem* **2018**, *5*, 778– 784.

(220) Chen, H. J.; Wang, F.; Li, K.; Woo, K. C.; Wang, J. F.; Li, Q.; Sun, L.-D.; Zhang, X. X.; Lin, H.-Q.; Yan, C.-H. Plasmonic Percolation: Plasmon-Manifested Dielectric-to-Metal Transition. *ACS Nano* **2012**, *6*, 7162–7171.

(221) Ringe, E.; DeSantis, C. J.; Collins, S. M.; Duchamp, M.; Dunin-Borkowski, R. E.; Skrabalak, S. E.; Midgley, P. A. Resonances of Nanoparticles with Poor Plasmonic Metal tips. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 17431.

(222) Quintanilla, M.; Kuttner, C.; Smith, J. D.; Seifert, A.; Skrabalak, S. E.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Heat Generation by Branched Au/ Pd Nanocrystals: Influence of Morphology and Composition. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 19561–19570.

(223) McGrath, A. J.; Chien, Y.-H.; Cheong, S.; Herman, D. A. J.; Watt, J.; Henning, A. M.; Gloag, L.; Yeh, C.-S.; Tilley, R. D. Gold over Branched Palladium Nanostructures for Photothermal Cancer Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 12283–12291.

(224) Shi, S. G.; Chen, X. L.; Wei, J. P.; Huang, Y. Z.; Weng, J.; Zheng, N. F. Platinum(IV) Prodrug Conjugated Pd@Au Nanoplates for Chemotherapy and Photothermal Therapy. *Nanoscale* **2016**, *8*, 5706–5713.

(225) Yang, Q.; Peng, J. R.; Xiao, Y.; Li, W. T.; Tan, L. W.; Xu, X. H.; Qian, Z. Y. Porous Au@Pt Nanoparticles: Therapeutic Platform for Tumor Chemo-Photothermal Co-Therapy and Alleviating Doxorubicin-Induced Oxidative Damage. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 150–164.

(226) Guo, S. J.; Wang, L.; Dong, S. J.; Wang, E. K. A Novel Urchinlike Gold/Platinum Hybrid Nanocatalyst with Controlled Size. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2008, *112*, 13510–13515.

(227) Zan, X. L.; Fang, Z.; Wu, J.; Xiao, F.; Huo, F. W.; Duan, H. W. Freestanding Graphene Paper Decorated with 2D-Assembly of Au@ Pt Nanoparticles as Flexible Biosensors to Monitor Live Cell Secretion of Nitric Oxide. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2013**, *49*, 71–78.

(228) Liu, P.; Ding, J. D. Fabrication of Micro-Nano Hybrid Patterns on a Solid Surface. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, 492–497.

(229) Yoo, S.; Go, S.; Son, J.; Kim, J.; Lee, S.; Haddadnezhad, M.; Hilal, H.; Kim, J.-M.; Nam, J.-M.; Park, S. Au Nanorings with Intertwined Triple Rings. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2021**, *143*, 15113–15119. (230) Ham, S.; Jang, H.-J.; Song, Y.; Shuford, K. L.; Park, S. Octahedral and Cubic Gold Nanoframes with Platinum Framework. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 9025–9028.

(231) Zhao, Q.; Hilal, H.; Kim, J.; Park, W.; Haddadnezhad, M.; Lee, J.; Park, W.; Lee, J.-W.; Lee, S.; Jung, I.; et al. All-Hot-Spot Bulk Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering (SERS) Substrates: Attomolar Detection of Adsorbates with Designer Plasmonic Nanoparticles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2022**, *144*, 13285–13293.

(232) Fagan, A. M.; Jeffries, W. R.; Knappenberger, K. L., Jr.; Schaak, R. E. Synthetic Control of Hot-Electron Thermalization Efficiency in Size-Tunable Au–Pt Hybrid Nanoparticles. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 1378–1387.

(233) Zhang, H.; Wang, Y. M.; Zhong, H.; Li, J.; Ding, C. F. Near-Infrared Light-Activated Pt@Au Nanorings-Based Probe for Fluorescence Imaging and Targeted Photothermal Therapy of Cancer Cells. ACS Appl. Bio Mater. 2019, 2, 5012–5020.

(234) Ma, H.; Liu, X.; Gao, C.; Yin, Y. The Calculated Dielectric Function and Optical Properties of Bimetallic Alloy Nanoparticles. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2020, *124*, 2721–2727.

(235) Tsuji, M.; Yamaguchi, D.; Matsunaga, M.; Alam, M. J. Epitaxial Growth of Au@Cu Core-Shell Nanocrystals Prepared Using the PVP-Assisted Polyol Reduction Method. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2010**, *10*, 5129–5135.

(236) Chen, S. T.; Jenkins, S. V.; Tao, J.; Zhu, Y. M.; Chen, J. Y. Anisotropic Seeded Growth of Cu–M (M = Au, Pt, or Pd) Bimetallic Nanorods with Tunable Optical and Catalytic Properties. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2013, *117*, 8924–8932.

(237) Liu, S. J.; Sun, Z. H.; Liu, Q. H.; Wu, L. H.; Huang, Y. Y.; Yao, T.; Zhang, J.; Hu, T. D.; Ge, M. R.; Hu, F. C.; et al. Unidirectional Thermal Diffusion in Bimetallic Cu@Au Nanoparticles. *ACS Nano* 2014, *8*, 1886–1892.

(238) Nanda, S. S.; Hembram, K. P. S. S.; Lee, J.-K.; Kim, K.; Selvan, S. T.; Yi, D. K. Experimental and Theoretical Structural Characterization of Cu–Au Tripods for Photothermal Anticancer Therapy. *ACS Appl. Nano Mater.* **2019**, *2*, 3735–3742.

(239) She, H. D.; Chen, Y. Z.; Chen, X. Z.; Zhang, K.; Wang, Z. Y.; Peng, D.-L. Structure, Optical and Magnetic Properties of Ni@Au and Au@Ni Nanoparticles Synthesized *via* Non-Aqueous Approaches. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2012**, *22*, 2757–2765.

(240) Vysakh, A. B.; Babu, C. L.; Vinod, C. P. Demonstration of Synergistic Catalysis in Au@Ni Bimetallic Core–Shell Nanostructures. J. Phys. Chem. C 2015, 119, 8138–8146.

(241) Chen, J. Y.; Wiley, B.; McLellan, J.; Xiong, Y. J.; Li, Z.-Y.; Xia, Y. N. Optical Properties of Pd–Ag and Pt–Ag Nanoboxes Synthesized *via* Galvanic Replacement Reactions. *Nano Lett.* **2005**, *5*, 2058–2062.

(242) Li, L.; Liu, H.; Bian, J. X.; Zhang, X. Y.; Fu, Y. H.; Li, Z.; Wei, S. P.; Xu, Z. C.; Liu, X. K.; Liu, Z. W.; et al. Ag/Pd Bimetal Nanozyme with Enhanced Catalytic and Photothermal Effects for ROS/ Hyperthermia/Chemotherapy Triple-Modality Antitumor Therapy. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2020**, *397*, 125438.

(243) Xu, P.; Lu, W. W.; Zhang, J. J.; Zhang, L. Efficient Hydrolysis of Ammonia Borane for Hydrogen Evolution Catalyzed by Plasmonic Ag@Pd Core–Shell Nanocubes. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 12366–12377.

(244) Liu, M. C.; Yang, Y.; Li, N. X.; Du, Y. C.; Song, D. X.; Ma, L. J; Wang, Y.; Zheng, Y.; Jing, D. W. Controlled Formation of Intense Hot Spots in Pd@Ag Core-Shell Nanooctapods for Efficient Photothermal Conversion. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2017**, *111*, No. 073903.

(245) Fang, W. J.; Yang, J.; Gong, J. W.; Zheng, N. F. Photo- and pH-Triggered Release of Anticancer Drugs from Mesoporous Silica-Coated Pd@Ag Nanoparticles. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2012**, *22*, 842–848. (246) Mo, S. G.; Chen, X. L.; Chen, M.; He, C. Y.; Lu, Y. H.; Zheng, N. F. Two-Dimensional Antibacterial Pd@Ag Nanosheets with a Synergetic Effect of Plasmonic Heating and Ag<sup>+</sup> Release. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2015**, *3*, 6255–6260.

(247) Huang, X. Q.; Tang, S. H.; Liu, B. J.; Ren, B.; Zheng, N. F. Enhancing the Photothermal Stability of Plasmonic Metal Nanoplates by a Core-Shell Architecture. *Adv. Mater.* **2011**, *23*, 3420–3425.

(248) Zhu, C.; Zeng, J.; Tao, J.; Johnson, M. C.; Schmidt-Krey, I.; Blubaugh, L.; Zhu, Y. M.; Gu, Z. Z.; Xia, Y. N. Kinetically Controlled Overgrowth of Ag or Au on Pd Nanocrystal Seeds: From Hybrid Dimers to Nonconcentric and Concentric Bimetallic Nanocrystals. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134*, 15822–15831.

(249) Yoo, S.; Lee, J.; Kim, J.; Kim, J.-M.; Haddadnezhad, M.; Lee, S.; Choi, S.; Park, D.; Nam, J.-M.; Park, S. Silver Double Nanorings with Circular Hot Zone. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2020**, *142*, 12341–12348. (250) Torigoe, K.; Nakajima, Y.; Esumi, K. Preparation and

Characterization of Colloidal Silver-Platinum Alloys. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 8304–8309.

(251) Chen, Y.; Zhai, Y.; Deng, L.; Wang, N.; Mao, Y.; Yang, J.; Huang, Y. Optimizing Ag-Pt Core-Shell Nanostructures for Solar Energy Conversion, Plasmonic Photocatalysis, and Photothermal Catalysis. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2019**, *114*, 183902.

(252) Wu, W. T.; Shen, J.; Gai, Z.; Hong, K. L.; Banerjee, P.; Zhou, S. Q. Multi-Functional Core-Shell Hybrid Nanogels for pH-Dependent Magnetic Manipulation, Fluorescent pH-Sensing, and Drug Delivery. *Biomaterials* 2011, *32*, 9876–9887.

(253) Garfinkel, D. A.; Pakeltis, G.; Tang, N.; Ivanov, I. N.; Fowlkes, J. D.; Gilbert, D. A.; Rack, P. D. Optical and Magnetic Properties of Ag-Ni Bimetallic Nanoparticles Assembled *via* Pulsed Laser-Induced Dewetting. *ACS Omega* **2020**, *5*, 19285–19292.

(254) Ali, I.; Pan, Y. X.; Lin, Y. W.; Jamil, Y.; Hu, J. N.; Gan, Z. X.; Chen, J.; Shen, Z. H. Synthesis of Ag/Co Nanoparticles by Dual Pulsed Laser Ablation for Synergistic Photothermal Study. *Appl. Phys. A: Mater. Sci. Process.* **2021**, *127*, 632.

(255) Bala, T.; Arumugam, S. K.; Pasricha, R.; Prasad, B. L. V.; Sastry, M. Foam-Based Synthesis of Cobalt Nanoparticles and Their Subsequent Conversion to Co<sub>core</sub>Ag<sub>shell</sub> Nanoparticles by a Simple Transmetallation Reaction. J. Mater. Chem. **2004**, *14*, 1057–1061.

(256) Ghosh, S. K.; Pal, T. Interparticle Coupling Effect on the Surface Plasmon Resonance of Gold Nanoparticles: From Theory to Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2007**, *107*, 4797–4862.

(257) Baffou, G.; Quidant, R.; Girard, C. Thermoplasmonics Modeling: A Green's Function Approach. *Phys. Rev. B* 2010, *82*, 165424.

(258) Halas, N. J.; Lal, S.; Chang, W.-S.; Link, S.; Nordlander, P. Plasmons in Strongly Coupled Metallic Nanostructures. *Chem. Rev.* **2011**, *111*, 3913–3961.

(259) Prodan, E.; Radloff, C.; Halas, N. J.; Nordlander, P. A Hybridization Model for the Plasmon Response of Complex Nanostructures. *Science* **2003**, *302*, 419–422.

(260) Baffou, G.; Quidant, R.; García de Abajo, F. J. Nanoscale Control of Optical Heating in Complex Plasmonic Systems. *ACS Nano* **2010**, *4*, 709–716.

(261) Metwally, K.; Mensah, S.; Baffou, G. Isosbestic Thermoplasmonic Nanostructures. *ACS Photonics* **201**7, *4*, 1544–1551.

(262) Liu, Y. M.; Yu, S. T.; Feng, R.; Bernard, A.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Duan, H. Z.; Shang, W.; Tao, P.; Song, C. Y.; et al. A Bioinspired, Reusable, Paper-Based System for High-Performance Large-Scale Evaporation. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 2768–2774.

(263) Bae, K.; Kang, G.; Cho, S. K.; Park, W.; Kim, K.; Padilla, W. J. Flexible Thin-Film Black Gold Membranes with Ultrabroadband Plasmonic Nanofocusing for Efficient Solar Vapour Generation. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 10103.

(264) Liu, L.; Aleisa, R.; Zhang, Y.; Feng, J.; Zheng, Y.; Yin, Y.; Wang, W. Dynamic Color-Switching of Plasmonic Nanoparticle Films. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 16307–16313.

(265) Zhou, L.; Tan, Y. L.; Ji, D. X.; Zhu, B.; Zhang, P.; Xu, J.; Gan, Q. Q.; Yu, Z. F.; Zhu, J. Self-Assembly of Highly Efficient, Broadband Plasmonic Absorbers for Solar Steam Generation. *Sci. Adv.* **2016**, *2*, e1501227.

(266) Cortes, E.; Besteiro, L. V.; Alabastri, A.; Baldi, A.; Tagliabue, G.; Demetriadou, A.; Narang, P. Challenges in Plasmonic Catalysis. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 16202–16219.

(267) Baffou, G.; Berto, P.; Bermúdez Ureña, E.; Quidant, R.; Monneret, S.; Polleux, J.; Rigneault, H. Photoinduced Heating of Nanoparticle Arrays. ACS Nano 2013, 7, 6478-6488.

(268) Zhang, L.; Fan, Q.; Sha, X.; Zhong, P.; Zhang, J.; Yin, Y.; Gao, C. Self-Assembly of Noble Metal Nanoparticles into Sub-100 nm Colloidosomes with Collective Optical and Catalytic Properties. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 6103–6110.

(269) Phan-Quang, G. C.; Lee, H. K.; Phang, I. Y.; Ling, X. Y. Plasmonic Colloidosomes as Three-Dimensional SERS Platforms with Enhanced Surface Area for Multiphase Sub-Microliter Toxin Sensing. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 9691–9695.

(270) Dhiman, M.; Maity, A.; Das, A.; Belgamwar, R.; Chalke, B.; Lee, Y.; Sim, K.; Nam, J. M.; Polshettiwar, V. Plasmonic Colloidosomes of Black Gold for Solar Energy Harvesting and Hotspots Directed Catalysis for  $CO_2$  to Fuel Conversion. *Chem. Sci.* **2019**, *10*, 6594–6603.

(271) Liu, D.; Zhou, F.; Li, C.; Zhang, T.; Zhang, H.; Cai, W.; Li, Y. Black Gold: Plasmonic Colloidosomes with Broadband Absorption Self-Assembled from Monodispersed Gold Nanospheres by Using a Reverse Emulsion System. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 9596– 9600.

(272) Li, J.; Wu, N. Semiconductor-Based Photocatalysts and Photoelectrochemical Cells for Solar Fuel Generation: A Review. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *5*, 1360–1384.

(273) Lu, Q.; Yu, Y.; Ma, Q.; Chen, B.; Zhang, H. 2D Transition-Metal-Dichalcogenide-Nanosheet-Based Composites for Photocatalytic and Electrocatalytic Hydrogen Evolution Reactions. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 1917–1933.

(274) Chen, X.; Li, C.; Gratzel, M.; Kostecki, R.; Mao, S. S. Nanomaterials for Renewable Energy Production and Storage. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2012**, *41*, 7909–7937.

(275) Asahi, R.; Morikawa, T.; Ohwaki, T.; Aoki, K.; Taga, Y. Visible-Light Photocatalysis in Nitrogen-Doped Titanium Oxides. *Science* **2001**, *293*, 269–271.

(276) Huang, H.; Shi, R.; Zhang, X.; Zhao, J.; Su, C.; Zhang, T. Photothermal-Assisted Triphase Photocatalysis over a Multifunctional Bilayer Paper. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 22963–22969.

(277) Zhang, X.; Xu, C.; Zhang, L.; Li, Z.; Hong, J.; Zhang, Y. Photothermal Catalytic Water Splitting at Diverse Two-Phase Interfaces Based on Cu–TiO<sub>2</sub>. ACS Appl. Energy Mater. **2022**, *5*, 4564–4576.

(278) Ying, P.; Li, M.; Yu, F.; Geng, Y.; Zhang, L.; He, J.; Zheng, Y.; Chen, R. Band Gap Engineering in an Efficient Solar-Driven Interfacial Evaporation System. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2020, 12, 32880–32887.

(279) Xue, Y.; Zhang, L.; Liu, F. W.; Zhao, Y. W.; Zhou, J. H.; Hou, Y.; Bao, H.; Kong, L.; Ma, F.; Han, Y. Surface Bandgap Engineering of Nanostructured Implants for Rapid Photothermal Ion Therapy of Bone Defects. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **2022**, *11*, 2200998.

(280) Zhu, G.; Xu, J.; Zhao, W.; Huang, F. Constructing Black Titania with Unique Nanocage Structure for Solar Desalination. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 31716–31721.

(281) Zada, I.; Zhang, W.; Sun, P.; Imtiaz, M.; Iqbal, N.; Ghani, U.; Naz, R.; Zhang, Y.; Li, Y.; Gu, J.; et al. Superior Photothermal Black TiO<sub>2</sub> with Random Size Distribution as Flexible Film for Efficient Solar Steam Generation. *Appl. Mater. Today* **2020**, *20*, 100669.

(282) Ding, D. D.; Huang, W. C.; Song, C. Q.; Yan, M.; Guo, C. S.; Liu, S. Q. Non-Stoichiometric  $MoO_{3-x}$  Quantum Dots as a Light-Harvesting Material for Interfacial Water Evaporation. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53*, 6744–6747.

(283) Nicolas-Boluda, A.; Yang, Z.; Guilbert, T.; Fouassier, L.; Carn, F.; Gazeau, F.; Pileni, M. P. Self-Assemblies of Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> Nanocrystals:

Toward Nanoscale Precision of Photothermal Effects in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2006824.

(284) Shen, S.; Wang, S.; Zheng, R.; Zhu, X.; Jiang, X.; Fu, D.; Yang, W. Magnetic Nanoparticle Clusters for Photothermal Therapy with Near-Infrared Irradiation. *Biomaterials* **2015**, *39*, 67–74.

(285) Chen, X.; Liu, L.; Huang, F. Black Titanium Dioxide  $(TiO_2)$  Nanomaterials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, 44, 1861–1885.

(286) Sun, Z.; Li, W.; Song, W.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z. A High-Efficiency Solar Desalination Evaporator Composite of Corn Stalk, MCNTs and TiO<sub>2</sub>: Ultra-Fast Capillary Water Moisture Transportation and Porous Bio-Tissue Multi-Layer Filtration. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2020**, *8*, 349–357.

(287) Deng, J.; Xiao, S.; Wang, B.; Li, Q.; Li, G.; Zhang, D.; Li, H. Self-Suspended Photothermal Microreactor for Water Desalination and Integrated Volatile Organic Compound Removal. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 51537–51545.

(288) Liu, X.; Cheng, H.; Guo, Z.; Zhan, Q.; Qian, J.; Wang, X. Bifunctional, Moth-Eye-Like Nanostructured Black Titania Nanocomposites for Solar-Driven Clean Water Generation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 39661–39669.

(289) Tee, S. Y.; Ye, E.; Teng, C. P.; Tanaka, Y.; Tang, K. Y.; Win, K. Y.; Han, M. Y. Advances in Photothermal Nanomaterials for Biomedical, Environmental and Energy Applications. *Nanoscale* **2021**, *13*, 14268–14286.

(290) Pan, Y.; Li, Y. Q.; Zheng, Q. H.; Xu, Y. Point Defect of Titanium Sesquioxide  $Ti_2O_3$  as the Application of Next Generation Li-Ion Batteries. J. Alloys Compd. **2019**, 786, 621–626.

(291) Li, J.; Lou, Z.; Li, B. Engineering Plasmonic Semiconductors for Enhanced Photocatalysis. J. Mater. Chem. A 2021, 9, 18818–18835.

(292) Zhou, Z.; Li, X.; Hu, T.; Xue, B.; Chen, H.; Ma, L.; Liang, R.; Tan, C. Molybdenum-Based Nanomaterials for Photothermal Cancer Therapy. *Adv. NanoBiomed Res.* **2022**, *2*, 2200065.

(293) Bai, H. Y.; Lam, S. H.; Yang, J. H.; Cheng, X. Z.; Li, S. S.; Jiang, R. B.; Shao, L.; Wang, J. F. A Schottky-Barrier-Free Plasmonic Semiconductor Photocatalyst for Nitrogen Fixation in a "One-Stone-Two-Birds" Manner. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2104226.

(294) Gong, M.; Ewing, D.; Casper, M.; Stramel, A.; Elliot, A.; Wu, J. Z. Controllable Synthesis of Monodispersed  $Fe_{1-x}S_2$  Nanocrystals for High-Performance Optoelectronic Devices. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 19286–19293.

(295) Chang, Y. H.; Wang, Z. G.; Shi, Y.-E.; Ma, X. C.; Ma, L.; Zhang, Y. Q.; Zhan, J. H. Hydrophobic  $W_{18}O_{49}$  Mesocrystal on Hydrophilic PTFE Membrane as an Efficient Solar Steam Generation Device under One Sun. J. Mater. Chem. A **2018**, 6, 10939–10946.

(296) West, P. R.; Ishii, S.; Naik, G. V.; Emani, N. K.; Shalaev, V. M.; Boltasseva, A. Searching for Better Plasmonic Materials. *Laser Photonics Rev.* **2010**, *4*, 795–808.

(297) Xu, W.; Liu, H.; Zhou, D.; Chen, X.; Ding, N.; Song, H.; Ågren, H. Localized Surface Plasmon Resonances in Self-Doped Copper Chalcogenide Binary Nanocrystals and their Emerging Applications. *Nano Today* **2020**, *33*, 100892.

(298) Agrawal, A.; Johns, R. W.; Milliron, D. J. Control of Localized Surface Plasmon Resonances in Metal Oxide Nanocrystals. *Annu. Rev. Mater. Res.* **2017**, *47*, 1–31.

(299) Bai, Y.; Zhao, J.; Zhang, L.; Wang, S.; Hua, J.; Zhao, S.; Liang, H. A Smart Near-Infrared Carbon Dot-Metal Organic Framework Assemblies for Tumor Microenvironment-Activated Cancer Imaging and Chemodynamic-Photothermal Combined Therapy. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **2022**, *11*, 2102759.

(300) Tian, B.; Liu, S.; Feng, L.; Liu, S.; Gai, S.; Dai, Y.; Xie, L.; Liu, B.; Yang, P.; Zhao, Y. Renal-Clearable Nickel-Doped Carbon Dots with Boosted Photothermal Conversion Efficiency for Multimodal Imaging-Guided Cancer Therapy in the Second Near-Infrared Biowindow. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2100549.

(301) Li, Y.; Bai, G.; Zeng, S.; Hao, J. Theranostic Carbon Dots with Innovative NIR-II Emission for *In Vivo* Renal-Excreted Optical Imaging and Photothermal Therapy. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 4737–4744. (302) Chen, T.; Yao, T.; Peng, H.; Whittaker, A. K.; Li, Y.; Zhu, S.; Wang, Z. An Injectable Hydrogel for Simultaneous Photothermal Therapy and Photodynamic Therapy with Ultrahigh Efficiency Based on Carbon Dots and Modified Cellulose Nanocrystals. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2106079.

(303) Sun, S.; Chen, J.; Jiang, K.; Tang, Z.; Wang, Y.; Li, Z.; Liu, C.; Wu, A.; Lin, H. Ce6-Modified Carbon Dots for Multimodal-Imaging-Guided and Single-NIR-Laser-Triggered Photothermal/Photodynamic Synergistic Cancer Therapy by Reduced Irradiation Power. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 5791–5803.

(304) Cui, X.; Liang, Z.; Lu, J.; Wang, X.; Jia, F.; Hu, Q.; Xiao, X.; Deng, X.; Wu, Y.; Sheng, W. A Multifunctional Nanodiamond-Based Nanoplatform for the Enhanced Mild-Temperature Photothermal/ Chemo Combination Therapy of Triple Negative Breast Cancer *via* an Autophagy Regulation Strategy. *Nanoscale* **2021**, *13*, 13375–13389.

(305) Gao, G.; Guo, Q.; Zhi, J. Nanodiamond-Based Theranostic Platform for Drug Delivery and Bioimaging. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1902238.

(306) Wei, Y.; Liang, N.; Jiang, W.; Zhai, T.; Wang, Z. Rylene-Fullerene Hybrid an Emerging Electron Acceptor for High-Performing and Photothermal-Stable Ternary Solar Cells. *Small* **2022**, *18*, 2104060.

(307) Shi, H.; Gu, R.; Xu, W.; Huang, H.; Xue, L.; Wang, W.; Zhang, Y.; Si, W.; Dong, X. Near-Infrared Light-Harvesting Fullerene-Based Nanoparticles for Promoted Synergetic Tumor Phototheranostics. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 44970–44977.

(308) Gong, F.; Wang, W.; Li, H.; Xia, D.; Dai, Q.; Wu, X.; Wang, M.; Li, J.; Papavassiliou, D. V.; Xiao, R. Solid Waste and Graphite Derived Solar Steam Generator for Highly-Efficient and Cost-Effective Water Purification. *Appl. Energy* **2020**, *261*, 114410.

(309) Zhang, Z.; Mu, P.; He, J.; Zhu, Z.; Sun, H.; Wei, H.; Liang, W.; Li, A. Facile and Scalable Fabrication of Surface-Modified Sponge for Efficient Solar Steam Generation. *ChemSusChem* **2019**, *12*, 426–433.

(310) Li, T.; Liu, H.; Zhao, X.; Chen, G.; Dai, J.; Pastel, G.; Jia, C.; Chen, C.; Hitz, E.; Siddhartha, D.; et al. Scalable and Highly Efficient Mesoporous Wood-Based Solar Steam Generation Device: Localized Heat, Rapid Water Transport. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2018**, *28*, 1707134. (311) Sajadi, S. M.; Farokhnia, N.; Irajizad, P.; Hasnain, M.; Ghasemi, H. Flexible Artificially-Networked Structure for Ambient/ High Pressure Solar Steam Generation. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2016**, *4*, 4700–4705.

(312) Ghasemi, H.; Ni, G.; Marconnet, A. M.; Loomis, J.; Yerci, S.; Miljkovic, N.; Chen, G. Solar Steam Generation by Heat Localization. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 4449.

(313) Zhao, Y.; Zhao, T.; Cao, Y.; Sun, J.; Zhou, Q.; Chen, H.; Guo, S.; Wang, Y.; Zhen, Y.; Liang, X. J.; et al. Temperature-Sensitive Lipid-Coated Carbon Nanotubes for Synergistic Photothermal Therapy and Gene Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 6517–6529.

(314) Mu, P.; Zhang, Z.; Bai, W.; He, J. X.; Sun, H. X.; Zhu, Z. Q.; Liang, W. D.; Li, A. Superwetting Monolithic Hollow-Carbon-Nanotubes Aerogels with Hierarchically Nanoporous Structure for Efficient Solar Steam Generation. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2019**, *9*, 1802158.

(315) Ma, X.; Fang, W.; Guo, Y.; Li, Z.; Chen, D.; Ying, W.; Xu, Z.; Gao, C.; Peng, X. Hierarchical Porous SWCNT Stringed Carbon Polyhedrons and PSS Threaded MOF Bilayer Membrane for Efficient Solar Vapor Generation. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1900354.

(316) Yu, Y.; Chen, S.; Jia, Y.; Qi, T.; Xiao, L.; Cui, X.; Zhuang, D.; Wei, J. Ultra-Black and Self-Cleaning All Carbon Nanotube Hybrid Films for Efficient Water Desalination and Purification. *Carbon* **2020**, *169*, 134–141.

(317) Xiao, P.; He, J.; Ni, F.; Zhang, C.; Liang, Y.; Zhou, W.; Gu, J.; Xia, J.; Kuo, S. W.; Chen, T. Exploring Interface Confined Water Flow and Evaporation Enables Solar-Thermal-Electro Integration towards Clean Water and Electricity Harvest *via* Asymmetric Functionalization Strategy. *Nano Energy* **2020**, *68*, 104385. (318) Chen, C.; Li, Y.; Song, J.; Yang, Z.; Kuang, Y.; Hitz, E.; Jia, C.; Gong, A.; Jiang, F.; Zhu, J. Y.; et al. Highly Flexible and Efficient Solar Steam Generation Device. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1701756.

(319) Wang, W.; Han, B.; Zhang, Y.; Li, Q.; Zhang, Y. L.; Han, D. D.; Sun, H. B. Laser-Induced Graphene Tapes as Origami and Stick-On Labels for Photothermal Manipulation *via* Marangoni Effect. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2006179.

(320) Yang, J. L.; Pang, Y. S.; Huang, W. X.; Shaw, S. K.; Schiffbauer, J.; Pillers, M. A.; Mu, X.; Luo, S. R.; Zhang, T.; Huang, Y. J.; et al. Functionalized Graphene Enables Highly Efficient Solar Thermal Steam Generation. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 5510–5518.

(321) Cui, L.; Zhang, P.; Xiao, Y.; Liang, Y.; Liang, H.; Cheng, Z.; Qu, L. High Rate Production of Clean Water Based on the Combined Photo-Electro-Thermal Effect of Graphene Architecture. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1706805.

(322) Hao, W.; Chiou, K.; Qiao, Y.; Liu, Y.; Song, C.; Deng, T.; Huang, J. Crumpled Graphene Ball-Based Broadband Solar Absorbers. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 6306–6312.

(323) Hu, X.; Zhu, J. Tailoring Aerogels and Related 3D Macroporous Monoliths for Interfacial Solar Vapor Generation. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2020**, *30*, 1907234.

(324) Wei, W.; Guan, Q.; You, C.; Yu, J.; Yuan, Z.; Qiang, P.; Zhou, C.; Ren, Y.; You, Z.; Zhang, F. Highly Compact Nanochannel Thin Films with Exceptional Thermal Conductivity and Water Pumping for Efficient Solar Steam Generation. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2020**, *8*, 13927–13934.

(325) Zhuang, P.; Fu, H.; Xu, N.; Li, B.; Xu, J.; Zhou, L. Free-Standing Reduced Graphene Oxide (rGO) Membrane for Salt-Rejecting Solar Desalination *via* Size Effect. *Nanophotonics* **2020**, *9*, 4601–4608.

(326) Gusain, R.; Kumar, N.; Ray, S. S. Recent Advances in Carbon Nanomaterial-Based Adsorbents for Water Purification. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *405*, 213111.

(327) Xin, Q.; Shah, H.; Nawaz, A.; Xie, W.; Akram, M. Z.; Batool, A.; Tian, L.; Jan, S. U.; Boddula, R.; Guo, B.; et al. Antibacterial Carbon-Based Nanomaterials. *Adv. Mater.* **2019**, *31*, 1804838.

(328) Lin, L.; Peng, H.; Liu, Z. Synthesis Challenges for Graphene Industry. *Nat. Mater.* **2019**, *18*, 520–529.

(329) Kim, J.; Choi, M. S.; Shin, K. H.; Kota, M.; Kang, Y.; Lee, S.; Lee, J. Y.; Park, H. S. Rational Design of Carbon Nanomaterials for Electrochemical Sodium Storage and Capture. *Adv. Mater.* **2019**, *31*, 1803444.

(330) Zhang, P. P.; Li, J.; Lv, L. X.; Zhao, Y.; Qu, L. T. Vertically Aligned Graphene Sheets Membrane for Highly Efficient Solar Thermal Generation of Clean Water. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 5087– 5093.

(331) Yang, Y.; Zhao, R.; Zhang, T.; Zhao, K.; Xiao, P.; Ma, Y.; Ajayan, P. M.; Shi, G.; Chen, Y. Graphene-Based Standalone Solar Energy Converter for Water Desalination and Purification. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 829–835.

(332) Liu, G.; Xu, J.; Wang, K. Solar Water Evaporation by Black Photothermal Sheets. *Nano Energy* **2017**, *41*, 269–284.

(333) Wang, X.; Liu, Q. C.; Wu, S. Y.; Xu, B. X.; Xu, H. X. Multilayer Polypyrrole Nanosheets with Self-Organized Surface Structures for Flexible and Efficient Solar-Thermal Energy Conversion. *Adv. Mater.* **2019**, *31*, 1807716.

(334) Zhang, J.; Yang, C.; Zhang, R.; Chen, R.; Zhang, Z.; Zhang, W.; Peng, S. H.; Chen, X.; Liu, G.; Hsu, C. S.; et al. Biocompatible D-A Semiconducting Polymer Nanoparticle with Light-Harvesting Unit for Highly Effective Photoacoustic Imaging Guided Photothermal Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2017**, *27*, 1605094.

(335) Zhang, H.; Tian, S.; Li, M.; Xie, J.; Dai, H.; Hu, L.; Yan, L. Novel Donor–Acceptor Conjugated Polymer-Based Nanomicelles for Photothermal Therapy in the NIR Window. *Biomacromolecules* **2022**, 23, 3243–3256.

(336) Zhang, W.; Lin, W.; Li, C.; Liu, S.; Hu, X.; Xie, Z. Rational Design of BODIPY-Diketopyrrolopyrrole Conjugated Polymers for Photothermal Tumor Ablation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 32720–32728.

(337) Zou, Q.; Abbas, M.; Zhao, L.; Li, S.; Shen, G.; Yan, X. Biological Photothermal Nanodots Based on Self-Assembly of Peptide–Porphyrin Conjugates for Antitumor Therapy. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 1921–1927.

(338) Chen, J.; Wen, K.; Chen, H.; Jiang, S.; Wu, X.; Lv, L.; Peng, A.; Zhang, S.; Huang, H. Achieving High-Performance Photothermal and Photodynamic Effects upon Combining D-A Structure and Nonplanar Conformation. *Small* **2020**, *16*, 2000909.

(339) Guo, B.; Sheng, Z.; Hu, D.; Li, A.; Xu, S.; Manghnani, P. N.; Liu, C.; Guo, L.; Zheng, H.; Liu, B. Molecular Engineering of Conjugated Polymers for Biocompatible Organic Nanoparticles with Highly Efficient Photoacoustic and Photothermal Performance in Cancer Theranostics. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 10124–10134.

(340) Li, X.; Liu, L.; Li, S.; Wan, Y.; Chen, J. X.; Tian, S.; Huang, Z.; Xiao, Y. F.; Cui, X.; Xiang, C.; et al. Biodegradable  $\pi$ -Conjugated Oligomer Nanoparticles with High Photothermal Conversion Efficiency for Cancer Theranostics. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 12901–12911.

(341) Yang, Z.; Chen, X. Semiconducting Perylene Diimide Nanostructure: Multifunctional Phototheranostic Nanoplatform. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2019**, *52*, 1245–1254.

(342) Rajora, M. A.; Lou, J. W. H.; Zheng, G. Advancing Porphyrin's Biomedical Utility *via* Supramolecular Chemistry. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2017**, *46*, 6433–6469.

(343) Lyu, Y.; Zeng, J.; Jiang, Y.; Zhen, X.; Wang, T.; Qiu, S.; Lou, X.; Gao, M.; Pu, K. Enhancing both Biodegradability and Efficacy of Semiconducting Polymer Nanoparticles for Photoacoustic Imaging and Photothermal Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 1801–1810.

(344) Wang, Y.; Li, S.; Zhang, P.; Bai, H.; Feng, L.; Lv, F.; Liu, L.; Wang, S. Photothermal-Responsive Conjugated Polymer Nanoparticles for Remote Control of Gene Expression in Living Cells. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1705418.

(345) Liu, C.; Zhang, S.; Li, J.; Wei, J.; Mullen, K.; Yin, M. A Water-Soluble, NIR-Absorbing Quaterrylenediimide Chromophore for Photoacoustic Imaging and Efficient Photothermal Cancer Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 1638–1642.

(346) Yang, P. P.; Luo, Q.; Qi, G. B.; Gao, Y. J.; Li, B. N.; Zhang, J. P.; Wang, L.; Wang, H. Host Materials Transformable in Tumor Microenvironment for Homing Theranostics. *Adv. Mater.* **201**7, *29*, 1605869.

(347) Li, X.; Lee, S.; Yoon, J. Supramolecular Photosensitizers Rejuvenate Photodynamic Therapy. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, *47*, 1174–1188.

(348) Goor, O. J. G. M.; Hendrikse, S. I. S.; Dankers, P. Y. W.; Meijer, E. W. From Supramolecular Polymers to Multi-Component Biomaterials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2017**, *46*, 6621–6637.

(349) Li, S.; Zou, Q.; Li, Y.; Yuan, C.; Xing, R.; Yan, X. Smart Peptide-Based Supramolecular Photodynamic Metallo-Nanodrugs Designed by Multicomponent Coordination Self-Assembly. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140*, 10794–10802.

(350) Chen, P.; Ma, Y.; Zheng, Z.; Wu, C.; Wang, Y.; Liang, G. Facile Syntheses of Conjugated Polymers for Photothermal Tumour Therapy. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 1192.

(351) Wang, H.; Chang, J.; Shi, M.; Pan, W.; Li, N.; Tang, B. A Dual-Targeted Organic Photothermal Agent for Enhanced Photo-thermal Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 1057–1061.

(352) Li, X.; Kim, C. Y.; Lee, S.; Lee, D.; Chung, H. M.; Kim, G.; Heo, S. H.; Kim, C.; Hong, K. S.; Yoon, J. Nanostructured Phthalocyanine Assemblies with Protein-Driven Switchable Photoactivities for Biophotonic Imaging and Therapy. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 10880–10886.

(353) Jiang, Y.; Li, J.; Zhen, X.; Xie, C.; Pu, K. Dual-Peak Absorbing Semiconducting Copolymer Nanoparticles for First and Second Near-Infrared Window Photothermal Therapy: A Comparative Study. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1705980.

(354) Tan, C.; Cao, X.; Wu, X. J.; He, Q.; Yang, J.; Zhang, X.; Chen, J.; Zhao, W.; Han, S.; Nam, G. H.; et al. Recent Advances in Ultrathin Two-Dimensional Nanomaterials. *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, *117*, 6225–6331.

(355) Chen, Y.; Wang, L.; Shi, J. Two-Dimensional Non-Carbonaceous Materials-Enabled Efficient Photothermal Cancer Therapy. *Nano Today* **2016**, *11*, 292–308.

(356) Luo, M.; Fan, T.; Zhou, Y.; Zhang, H.; Mei, L. 2D Black Phosphorus-Based Biomedical Applications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, 29, 1808306.

(357) Kurapati, R.; Kostarelos, K.; Prato, M.; Bianco, A. Biomedical Uses for 2D Materials beyond Graphene: Current Advances and Challenges Ahead. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 6052–6074.

(358) Tan, C.; Lai, Z.; Zhang, H. Ultrathin Two-Dimensional Multinary Layered Metal Chalcogenide Nanomaterials. *Adv. Mater.* 2017, *29*, 1701392.

(359) Chhowalla, M.; Shin, H. S.; Eda, G.; Li, L. J.; Loh, K. P.; Zhang, H. The Chemistry of Two-Dimensional Layered Transition Metal Dichalcogenide Nanosheets. *Nat. Chem.* **2013**, *5*, 263–275.

(360) Gogotsi, Y.; Huang, Q. MXenes: Two-Dimensional Building Blocks for Future Materials and Devices. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 5775–5780.

(361) Castellanos-Gomez, A. Black Phosphorus: Narrow Gap, Wide Applications. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 2015, 6, 4280–4291.

(362) Kim, J.; Baik, S. S.; Ryu, S. H.; Sohn, Y.; Park, S.; Park, B. G.; Denlinger, J.; Yi, Y.; Choi, H. J.; Kim, K. S. Observation of Tunable Band Gap and Anisotropic Dirac Semimetal State in Black Phosphorus. *Science* **2015**, *349*, 723–726.

(363) Ma, H.; Xue, M. Recent Advances in the Photothermal Applications of Two-Dimensional Nanomaterials: Photothermal Therapy and Beyond. J. Mater. Chem. A **2021**, *9*, 17569–17591.

(364) Li, R. Y.; Zhang, L. B.; Shi, L.; Wang, P. MXene  $Ti_3C_2$ : An Effective 2D Light-to-Heat Conversion Material. ACS Nano **2017**, 11, 3752–3759.

(365) Naguib, M.; Kurtoglu, M.; Presser, V.; Lu, J.; Niu, J.; Heon, M.; Hultman, L.; Gogotsi, Y.; Barsoum, M. W. Two-Dimensional Nanocrystals Produced by Exfoliation of  $Ti_3AlC_2$ . *Adv. Mater.* **2011**, 23, 4248–4253.

(366) Gogotsi, Y.; Anasori, B. The Rise of MXenes. ACS Nano 2019, 13, 8491–8494.

(367) Anasori, B.; Lukatskaya, M. R.; Gogotsi, Y. 2D Metal Carbides and Nitrides (MXenes) for Energy Storage. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2017**, *2*, 16098.

(368) Fu, B.; Sun, J.; Wang, C.; Shang, C.; Xu, L.; Li, J.; Zhang, H. MXenes: Synthesis, Optical Properties, and Applications in Ultrafast Photonics. *Small* **2021**, *17*, 2006054.

(369) Dillon, A. D.; Ghidiu, M. J.; Krick, A. L.; Griggs, J.; May, S. J.; Gogotsi, Y.; Barsoum, M. W.; Fafarman, A. T. Highly Conductive Optical Quality Solution-Processed Films of 2D Titanium Carbide. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2016**, *26*, 4162–4168.

(370) Mathis, T. S.; Maleski, K.; Goad, A.; Sarycheva, A.; Anayee, M.; Foucher, A. C.; Hantanasirisakul, K.; Shuck, C. E.; Stach, E. A.; Gogotsi, Y. Modified MAX Phase Synthesis for Environmentally Stable and Highly Conductive  $Ti_3C_2$  MXene. ACS Nano 2021, 15, 6420–6429.

(371) Shahzad, F.; Alhabeb, M.; Hatter, C. B.; Anasori, B.; Man Hong, S.; Koo, C. M.; Gogotsi, Y. Electromagnetic Interference Shielding with 2D Transition Metal Carbides (MXenes). *Science* **2016**, 353, 1137–1140.

(372) Wu, X.; Wang, J.; Wang, Z.; Sun, F.; Liu, Y.; Wu, K.; Meng, X.; Qiu, J. Boosting the Electrocatalysis of MXenes by Plasmon-Induced Thermalization and Hot-Electron Injection. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 9416–9420.

(373) Pang, J.; Mendes, R. G.; Bachmatiuk, A.; Zhao, L.; Ta, H. Q.; Gemming, T.; Liu, H.; Liu, Z.; Rummeli, M. H. Applications of 2D MXenes in Energy Conversion and Storage Systems. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2019**, *48*, 72–133.

(374) Cao, M.; Chang, Z.; Tan, J.; Wang, X.; Zhang, P.; Lin, S.; Liu, J.; Li, A. Superoxide Radical-Mediated Self-Synthesized Au/MoO<sub>3-x</sub> Hybrids with Enhanced Peroxidase-like Activity and Photothermal Effect for Anti-MRSA Therapy. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2022**, *14*, 13025–13037.

(375) Qu, K.; Xu, J.; Xue, Y.; Guo, J.; Gao, Z.; Song, Y. Y.; Mei, Y. Near Infrared Light-Driven Photothermal Effect on Homochiral Au/ $TiO_2$  Nanotube Arrays for Enantioselective Desorption. *Anal. Chem.* **2022**, *94*, 588–592.

(376) Liu, X. D.; Chen, B.; Wang, G. G.; Ma, S.; Cheng, L.; Liu, W.; Zhou, L.; Wang, Q. Q. Controlled Growth of Hierarchical Bi<sub>2</sub>Se<sub>3</sub>/ CdSe-Au Nanorods with Optimized Photothermal Conversion and Demonstrations in Photothermal Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2104424.

(377) Yu, Z.; Jiang, L.; Liu, R.; Zhao, W.; Yang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Jin, S. Versatile Self-Assembled MXene-Au Nanocomposites for SERS Detection of Bacteria, Antibacterial and Photothermal Sterilization. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2021**, *426*, 131914.

(378) Wang, Y.; Li, Z.; Hu, Y.; Liu, J.; Guo, M.; Wei, H.; Zheng, S.; Jiang, T.; Sun, X.; Ma, Z.; et al. Photothermal Conversion-Coordinated Fenton-like and Photocatalytic Reactions of  $Cu_{2-x}$ Se-Au Janus Nanoparticles for Tri-combination Antitumor Therapy. *Biomaterials* **2020**, 255, 120167.

(379) Tao, C.; An, L.; Lin, J.; Tian, Q.; Yang, S. Surface Plasmon Resonance-Enhanced Photoacoustic Imaging and Photothermal Therapy of Endogenous H<sub>2</sub>S-Triggered Au@Cu<sub>2</sub>O. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1903473.

(380) Deng, X.; Liang, S.; Cai, X.; Huang, S.; Cheng, Z.; Shi, Y.; Pang, M.; Ma, P.; Lin, J. Yolk-Shell Structured Au Nanostar@Metal— Organic Framework for Synergistic Chemo-Photothermal Therapy in the Second Near-Infrared Window. *Nano Lett.* **2019**, *19*, 6772–6780. (381) Xu, J. W.; Yao, K.; Xu, Z. K. Nanomaterials with a Photothermal Effect for Antibacterial Activities: An overview. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 8680–8691.

(382) Chen, X.; Chen, Y. T.; Yan, M.; Qiu, M. Nanosecond Photothermal Effects in Plasmonic Nanostructures. *ACS Nano* **2012**, *6*, 2550–2557.

(383) Link, S.; Burda, C.; Nikoobakht, B.; El-Sayed, M. A. How Long Does it Take to Melt a Gold Nanorod? A Femtosecond Pump– Probe Absorption Spectroscopic Study. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1999**, *315*, 12–18.

(384) Link, S.; Burda, C.; Nikoobakht, B.; El-Sayed, M. A. Laser-Induced Shape Changes of Colloidal Gold Nanorods Using Femtosecond and Nanosecond Laser Pulses. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2000, *104*, 6152–6163.

(385) Quintanilla, M.; Henriksen-Lacey, M.; Renero-Lecuna, C.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Challenges for Optical Nanothermometry in Biological Environments. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2022**, *51*, 4223–4242.

(386) Suo, H.; Zhao, X. Q.; Zhang, Z. Y.; Wang, Y.; Sun, J. S.; Jin, M. K.; Guo, C. F. Rational Design of Ratiometric Luminescence Thermometry Based on Thermally Coupled Levels for Bioapplications. *Laser Photonics Rev.* **2021**, *15*, 2000319.

(387) Zhang, Y. C.; He, S.; Guo, W. X.; Hu, Y.; Huang, J. W.; Mulcahy, J. R.; Wei, W. D. Surface-Plasmon-Driven Hot Electron Photochemistry. *Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *118*, 2927–2954.

(388) Quintanilla, M.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Guiding Rules for Selecting a Nanothermometer. *Nano Today* **2018**, *19*, 126–145.

(389) Zhou, J. J.; del Rosal, B.; Jaque, D.; Uchiyama, S.; Jin, D. Y. Advances and Challenges for Fluorescence Nanothermometry. *Nat. Methods* **2020**, *17*, 967–980.

(390) Bradac, C.; Lim, S. F.; Chang, H.-C.; Aharonovich, I. Optical Nanoscale Thermometry: From Fundamental Mechanisms to Emerging Practical Applications. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2020**, *8*, 2000183.

(391) del Rosal, B.; Ximendes, E.; Rocha, U.; Jaque, D. In Vivo Luminescence Nanothermometry: From Materials to Applications. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **201**7, *5*, 1600508.

(392) Maestro, L. M.; Haro-González, P.; Sánchez-Iglesias, A.; Liz-Marzán, L. M.; García Solé, J.; Jaque, D. Quantum Dot Thermometry Evaluation of Geometry Dependent Heating Efficiency in Gold Nanoparticles. *Langmuir* **2014**, *30*, 1650–1658.

(393) Quintanilla, M.; Zhang, Y.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Subtissue Plasmonic Heating Monitored with  $CaF_2:Nd^{3+},Y^{3+}$  Nanothermometers in the Second Biological Window. *Chem. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 2819–2828.

(394) Mendez-Gonzalez, D.; Melle, S.; Calderón, O. G.; Laurenti, M.; Cabrera-Granado, E.; Egatz-Gómez, A.; López-Cabarcos, E.; Rubio-Retama, J.; Díaz, E. Control of Upconversion Luminescence by Gold Nanoparticle Size: From Quenching to Enhancement. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 13832–13844.

(395) Rijckaert, H.; Premcheska, S.; Mohanty, S.; Verduijn, J.; Skirtach, A.; Kaczmarek, A. M. Hybrid NaYF<sub>4</sub>:Er,Yb@NaYF<sub>4</sub>@nano-MOF@AuNPs@LB Composites for Yb<sup>3+</sup>-Er<sup>3+</sup> Physiological Thermometry. *Physica B* **2022**, *626*, 413453.

(396) Zhu, X. J.; Feng, W.; Chang, J.; Tan, Y.-W.; Li, J. C.; Chen, M.; Sun, Y.; Li, F. Y. Temperature-Feedback Upconversion Nanocomposite for Accurate Photothermal Therapy at Facile Temperature. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 10437.

(397) Sun, M. Z.; Xu, L. G.; Ma, W.; Wu, X. L.; Kuang, H.; Wang, L. B.; Xu, C. L. Hierarchical Plasmonic Nanorods and Upconversion Core–Satellite Nanoassemblies for Multimodal Imaging-Guided Combination Phototherapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 898–904.

(398) He, J. J.; Zheng, W.; Ligmajer, F.; Chan, C. F.; Bao, Z. Y.; Wong, K.-L.; Chen, X. Y.; Hao, J.; Dai, J. Y.; Yu, S.-F.; et al. Plasmonic Enhancement and Polarization Dependence of Nonlinear Upconversion Emissions from Single Gold Nanorod@SiO<sub>2</sub>@CaF<sub>2</sub>:Yb<sup>3+</sup>,Er<sup>3+</sup> Hybrid Core–Shell–Satellite Nanostructures. *Light Sci. Appl.* **2017**, *6*, e16217.

(399) Nigoghossian, K.; Ouellet, S.; Plain, J.; Messaddeq, Y.; Boudreau, D.; Ribeiro, S. J. L. Upconversion Nanoparticle-Decorated Gold Nanoshells for Near-Infrared Induced Heating and Thermometry. J. Mater. Chem. B 2017, 5, 7109.

(400) Quintanilla, M.; García, I.; de Lázaro, I.; García-Alvarez, R.; Henriksen-Lacey, M.; Vranic, S.; Kostarelos, K.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Thermal Monitoring during Photothermia: Hybrid Probes for Simultaneous Plasmonic Heating and Near-Infrared Optical Nanothermometry. *Theranostics* **2019**, *9*, 7298–7312.

(401) Sun, Y.; Fu, M. L.; Bian, M. L; Zhu, Q. Recent Progress on Small Molecular Temperature-Sensitive Fluorescent Probes. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **2023**, *120*, 7–21.

(402) Donner, J. S.; Thompson, S. A.; Alonso-Ortega, C.; Morales, J.; Rico, L. G.; Santos, S. I. C. O; Quidant, R. Imaging of Plasmonic Heating in a Living Organism. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 8666–8672.

(403) Zhao, H. G.; Vomiero, A.; Rosei, F. Tailoring the Heterostructure of Colloidal Quantum Dots for Ratiometric Optical Nanothermometry. *Small* **2020**, *16*, 2000804.

(404) Premcheska, S.; Lederer, M.; Kaczmarek, A. M. The Importance, Status, and Perspectives of Hybrid Lanthanide-Doped Upconversion Nanothermometers for Theranostics. *Chem. Commun.* **2022**, *58*, 4288–4307.

(405) Sotoma, S.; Epperla, C. P.; Chang, H. C. Diamond Nanothermometry. *ChemNanoMat* **2018**, *4*, 15–27.

(406) Liu, C.-F.; Leong, W.-H.; Xia, K. W.; Feng, X.; Finkler, A.; Denisenko, A.; Wrachtrup, J.; Li, Q.; Liu, R.-B. Ultra-Sensitive Hybrid Diamond Nanothermometer. *Natl. Sci. Rev.* **2021**, *8*, nwaa194.

(407) Wang, N.; Liu, G.-Q.; Leong, W.-H.; Zeng, H. L.; Feng, X.; Li, S.-H.; Dolde, F.; Fedder, H.; Wrachtrup, J.; Cui, X.-D.; et al. Magnetic Criticality Enhanced Hybrid Nanodiamond Thermometer under Ambient Conditions. *Phys. Rev. X* 2018, *8*, No. 011042.

(408) Han, Y.; Liu, Y. R.; Zhao, H. G.; Vomiero, A.; Li, R. G. Highly Efficient Ratiometric Nanothermometers Based on Colloidal Carbon Quantum Dots. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2021**, *9*, 4111–4119.

(409) Sun, T. X.; Zhang, Y.; Yan, R. Y.; Jiang, Y. N.; Zhao, Y. Preparation and Applications of Carbon-Based Fluorescent Nano-thermometers. *Part. Part. Syst. Charact.* **2021**, *38*, 2000261.

(410) Xue, K.; Wang, C.; Wang, J. X.; Lv, S. Y.; Hao, B. Y.; Zhu, C. L.; Tang, B. Z. A Sensitive and Reliable Organic Fluorescent Nanothermometer for Noninvasive Temperature Sensing. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2021**, *143*, 14147–14157.

(411) Hu, S.; Liu, B.-J.; Feng, J.-M.; Zong, C.; Lin, K.-Q.; Wang, X.; Wu, D.-Y.; Ren, B. Quantifying Surface Temperature of Thermoplasmonic Nanostructures. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2018**, *140*, 13680–13686. (412) Ebrahimi, S.; Akhlaghi, Y.; Kompany-Zareh, M.; Rinnan, Å. Nucleic Acid Based Fluorescent Nanothermometers. *ACS Nano* **2014**, *8*, 10372–10382.

(413) Kucsko, G.; Maurer, P. C.; Yao, N. Y.; Kubo, M.; Noh, H. J.; Lo, P. K.; Park, H.; Lukin, M. D. Nanometre-Scale Thermometry in a Living Cell. *Nature* **2013**, *500*, 54–58.

(414) Cao, W. Q.; Cui, Y. J.; Yang, Y.; Qian, G. D. Dyes Encapsulated Nanoscale Metal–Organic Frameworks for Multimode Temperature Sensing with High Spatial Resolution. *ACS Mater. Lett.* **2021**, *3*, 1426–1432.

(415) Lin, X.; Kong, M. Y.; Wu, N.; Gu, Y. Y.; Qiu, X. C.; Chen, X. Y.; Li, Z. X.; Feng, W.; Li, F. Y. Measurement of Temperature Distribution at the Nanoscale with Luminescent Probes Based on Lanthanide Nanoparticles and Quantum Dots. *ACS Appl. Mater. Inter.* **2020**, *12*, 52393–52401.

(416) Bendel, B.; Suta, M. How to Calibrate Luminescent Crossover Thermometers: A Note on "Quasi"-Boltzmann Systems. J. Mater. Chem. C 2022, 10, 13805–13814.

(417) Espinosa, A.; Castro, G. R; Reguera, J.; Castellano, C.; Castillo, J.; Camarero, J.; Wilhelm, C.; García, M. A.; Muñoz-Noval, Á. Photoactivated Nanoscale Temperature Gradient Detection Using X-ray Absorption Spectroscopy as a Direct Nanothermometry Method. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 769–777.

(418) Diroll, B. T.; Brumberg, A.; Leonard, A. A.; Panuganti, S.; Watkins, N. E.; Cuthriell, S. E.; Harvey, S. M.; Kinigstein, E. D.; Yu, J.; Zhang, X. Y.; et al. Photothermal Behaviour of Titanium Nitride Nanoparticles Evaluated by Transient X-ray Diffraction. *Nanoscale* **2021**, *13*, 2658–2664.

(419) Faure, S.; Mille, N.; Kale, S. S.; Asensio, J. M.; Marbaix, J.; Farger, P.; Stoian, D.; van Beek, W.; Fazzini, P.-F.; Soulantica, K.; et al. Internal Temperature Measurements by X-Ray Diffraction on Magnetic Nanoparticles Heated by a High-Frequency Magnetic Field. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2020, 124, 22259–22265.

(420) Zograf, G. P.; Petrov, M. I.; Zuev, D. A.; Dmitriev, P. A.; Milichko, V. A.; Makarov, S. V.; Belov, P. A. Resonant Nonplasmonic Nanoparticles for Efficient Temperature-Feedback Optical Heating. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 2945–2952.

(421) Roy, S.; Gord, J. R.; Patnaik, A. K. Recent Advances in Coherent Anti-Stokes Raman Scattering Spectroscopy: Fundamental Developments and Applications in Reacting Flows. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.* 2010, 36, 280–306.

(422) Huang, J.; Wang, W.; Murphy, C. J.; Cahill, D. G. Resonant Secondary Light Emission from Plasmonic Au Nanostructures at High Electron Temperatures Created by Pulsed Laser Excitation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2014**, *111*, 906–911.

(423) Yashchenok, A.; Masic, A.; Gorin, D.; Inozemtseva, O.; Shim, B. S.; Kotov, N.; Skirtach, A.; Möhwald, H. Optical Heating and Temperature Determination of Core-Shell Gold Nanoparticles and Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube Microparticles. *Small* **2015**, *11*, 1320–1327.

(424) Xie, X.; Cahill, D. G. Thermometry of Plasmonic Nanostructures by Anti-Stokes Electronic Raman Scattering. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2016**, *109*, 183104.

(425) Ioffe, Z.; Shamai, T.; Ophir, A.; Noy, G.; Yutsis, I.; Kfir, K.; Cheshnovsky, O.; Selzer, Y. Detection of Heating in Current-Carrying Molecular Junctions by Raman Scattering. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2008**, *3*, 727–732.

(426) Oron-Carl, M.; Krupke, R. Raman Spectroscopic Evidence for Hot-Phonon Generation in Electrically Biased Carbon Nanotubes. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *100*, 127401.

(427) Carattino, A.; Caldarola, M.; Orrit, M. Gold Nanoparticles as Absolute Nanothermometers. *Nano Lett.* **2018**, *18*, 874–880.

(428) Neumann, O.; Urban, A. S.; Day, J.; Lal, S.; Nordlander, P.; Halas, N. J. Solar Vapor Generation Enabled by Nanoparticles. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 42–49.

(429) Neumann, O.; Feronti, C.; Neumann, A. D.; Dong, A. J.; Schell, K.; Lu, B.; Kim, E.; Quinn, M.; Thompson, S.; Grady, N.; et al. Compact Solar Autoclave Based on Steam Generation Using Broadband Light-Harvesting Nanoparticles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2013, 110, 11677–11681.

(430) Chen, M. J.; He, Y. R.; Huang, J.; Zhu, J. Q. Synthesis and Solar Photo-Thermal Conversion of Au, Ag, and Au-Ag Blended Plasmonic Nanoparticles. *Energy Convers. Manage.* 2016, 127, 293–300.

(431) Wang, X. Z.; He, Y. R.; Liu, X.; Shi, L.; Zhu, J. Q. Investigation of Photothermal Heating Enabled by Plasmonic Nanofluids for Direct Solar Steam Generation. *Sol. Energy* **2017**, *157*, 35–46.

(432) Chen, N.; Ma, H. Y.; Li, Y.; Cheng, J. H.; Zhang, C. Y.; Wu, D. X.; Zhu, H. T. Complementary Optical Absorption and Enhanced Solar Thermal Conversion of CuO-ATO Nanofluids. *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells* **2017**, *162*, 83–92.

(433) Chen, L. L.; Liu, J.; Fang, X. M.; Zhang, Z. G. Reduced Graphene Oxide Dispersed Nanofluids with Improved Photothermal Conversion Performance for Direct Absorption Solar Collectors. *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells* **2017**, *163*, 125–133.

(434) Ni, G.; Miljkovic, N.; Ghasemi, H.; Huang, X. P.; Boriskina, S. V.; Lin, C.-T.; Wang, J. J.; Xu, Y. F.; Rahman, M. M.; Zhang, T. J.; et al. Volumetric Solar Heating of Nanofluids for Direct Vapor Generation. *Nano Energy* **2015**, *17*, 290–301.

(435) Shi, L.; He, Y. R.; Huang, Y. M.; Jiang, B. C. Recyclable  $Fe_3O_4$ @CNT Nanoparticles for High-Efficiency Solar Vapor Generation. *Energy Convers. Manage.* **2017**, *149*, 401–408.

(436) Min, X. Z.; Zhu, B.; Li, B.; Li, J. L.; Zhu, J. Interfacial Solar Vapor Generation: Materials and Structural Design. *Acc. Mater. Res.* **2021**, *2*, 198–209.

(437) Li, Y. J.; Gao, T. T.; Yang, Z.; Chen, C. J.; Luo, W.; Song, J. W.; Hitz, E.; Jia, C.; Zhou, Y. B.; Liu, B. Y.; et al. 3D-Printed, All-in-One Evaporator for High-Efficiency Solar Steam Generation under 1 Sun Illumination. *Adv. Mater.* **201**7, *29*, 1700981.

(438) Li, X. Q.; Lin, R. X.; Ni, G.; Xu, N.; Hu, X. Z.; Zhu, B.; Lv, G. X.; Li, J. L.; Zhu, S. N.; Zhu, J. Three-Dimensional Artificial Transpiration for Efficient Solar Waste-Water Treatment. *Natl. Sci. Rev.* 2018, *5*, 70–77.

(439) Xu, N.; Hu, X. Z.; Xu, W. C.; Li, X. Q.; Zhou, L.; Zhu, S. N.; Zhu, J. Mushrooms as Efficient Solar Steam-Generation Devices. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1606762.

(440) Zhu, L. L.; Gao, M. M.; Peh, C. K. N.; Wang, X. Q.; Ho, G. W. Self-Contained Monolithic Carbon Sponges for Solar-Driven Interfacial Water Evaporation Distillation and Electricity Generation. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2018**, *8*, 1702149.

(441) Cooper, T. A.; Zandavi, S. H.; Ni, G. W.; Tsurimaki, Y.; Huang, Y.; Boriskina, S. T.; Chen, G. Contactless Steam Generation and Superheating under One Sun Illumination. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 5086.

(442) Zhao, W.; Gong, H.; Song, Y.; Li, B.; Xu, N.; Min, X. Z.; Liu, G. L.; Zhu, B.; Zhou, L.; Zhang, X.-X.; et al. Hierarchically Designed Salt-Resistant Solar Evaporator Based on Donnan Effect for Stable and High-Performance Brine Treatment. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2100025.

(443) Xu, N.; Li, J. L.; Wang, Y.; Fang, C.; Li, X. Q.; Wang, Y. X.; Zhou, L.; Zhu, B.; Wu, Z.; Zhu, S. N.; et al. A Water Lily–Inspired Hierarchical Design for Stable and Efficient Solar Evaporation of High-Salinity Brine. *Sci. Adv.* **2019**, *5*, eaaw7013.

(444) Sun, L.; Liu, J. Z.; Zhao, Y. J.; Xu, J.; Li, Y. Highly Efficient Solar Steam Generation *via* Mass-Produced Carbon Nanosheet Frameworks. *Carbon* **2019**, *145*, 352–358.

(445) Li, J. L.; Wang, X. Y.; Lin, Z. H.; Xu, N.; Li, X. Q.; Liang, J.; Zhao, W.; Lin, R. X.; Zhu, B.; Liu, G. L.; et al. Over 10 kg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> Evaporation Rate Enabled by a 3D Interconnected Porous Carbon Foam. *Joule* **2020**, *4*, 928–937.

(446) Wang, Y. C.; Zhang, L. B.; Wang, P. Self-Floating Carbon Nanotube Membrane on Macroporous Silica Substrate for Highly Efficient Solar-Driven Interfacial Water Evaporation. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *4*, 1223–1230.

(447) Xia, Y.; Hou, Q. F.; Jubaer, H.; Li, Y.; Kang, Y.; Yuan, S.; Liu, H. Y.; Woo, M. W.; Zhang, L.; Gao, L.; et al. Spatially Isolating Salt Crystallisation from Water Evaporation for Continuous Solar Steam Generation and Salt Harvesting. *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2019, *12*, 1840–1847.

(448) Li, X. Q.; Li, J. L.; Lu, J. Y.; Xu, N.; Chen, C. L.; Min, X. Z.; Zhu, B.; Li, H. X.; Zhou, L.; Zhu, S. N.; et al. Enhancement of Interfacial Solar Vapor Generation by Environmental Energy. *Joule* **2018**, *2*, 1331–1338.

(449) Wang, H. Q.; Du, A.; Ji, X. J.; Zhang, C.; Zhou, B.; Zhang, Z. H.; Shen, J. Enhanced Photothermal Conversion by Hot-Electron Effect in Ultrablack Carbon Aerogel for Solar Steam Generation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 42057–42065.

(450) Jiang, G.; Chen, L.; Zhang, S. D.; Huang, H. X. Superhydrophobic SiC/CNTs Coatings with Photothermal Deicing and Passive Anti-Icing Properties. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2018, 10, 36505–36511.

(451) Yao, J. D.; Yang, G. W. An Efficient Solar-Enabled 2D Layered Alloy Material Evaporator for Seawater Desalination. *J. Mater. Chem.* A **2018**, *6*, 3869–3876.

(452) Dongare, P. D.; Alabastri, A.; Pedersen, S.; Zodrow, K. R.; Hogan, N. J.; Neumann, O.; Wu, J. J.; Wang, T. X.; Deshmukh, A.; Elimelech, M.; et al. Nanophotonics-Enabled Solar Membrane Distillation for Off-Grid Water Purification. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2017**, *114*, 6936–6941.

(453) Xu, W. C.; Hu, X. Z.; Zhuang, S. D.; Wang, Y. X.; Li, X. Q.; Zhou, L.; Zhu, S. N.; Zhu, J. Flexible and Salt Resistant Janus Absorbers by Electrospinning for Stable and Efficient Solar Desalination. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2018**, *8*, 1702884.

(454) Xia, Y.; Yuan, S.; Li, Y.; Gao, L.; Zhang, X. W. Solar-Driven Brine Desalination and Concentration by Controlled Salt Excretion. *EcoMat.* **2021**, *3*, e12143.

(455) Kunjaram, U. P. U.; Song, H. M.; Liu, Y. H.; Booker, B. K.; Cooke, T. J.; Gan, Q. Q. A Self-Salt-Cleaning Architecture in Cold Vapor Generation System for Hypersaline Brines. *EcoMat.* **2022**, *4*, e12168.

(456) Wang, Z. L.; Zhan, Z. H.; Chen, L.; Duan, G. H.; Cheng, P.; Kong, H.; Chen, Y. P.; Duan, H. G. 3D-Printed Bionic Solar Evaporator. *Sol. RRL* **2022**, *6*, 2101063.

(457) Qin, D.-D.; Zhu, Y.-J.; Chen, F.-F.; Yang, R.-L.; Xiong, Z.-C. Self-Floating Aerogel Composed of Carbon Nanotubes and Ultralong Hydroxyapatite Nanowires for Highly Efficient Solar Energy-Assisted Water Purification. *Carbon* **2019**, *150*, 233–243.

(458) Xiong, Z.-C.; Zhu, Y.-J.; Qin, D.-D.; Chen, F.-F.; Yang, R.-L. Flexible Fire-Resistant Photothermal Paper Comprising Ultralong Hydroxyapatite Nanowires and Carbon Nanotubes for Solar Energy-Driven Water Purification. *Small* **2018**, *14*, 1803387.

(459) Zhu, L. L.; Ding, T. P.; Gao, M. M.; Peh, C. K. N.; Ho, G. W. Shape Conformal and Thermal Insulative Organic Solar Absorber Sponge for Photothermal Water Evaporation and Thermoelectric Power Generation. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2019**, *9*, 1900250.

(460) Kashyap, V.; Al-Bayati, A.; Sajadi, S. M.; Irajizad, P.; Wang, S. H.; Ghasemi, H. A Flexible Anti-Clogging Graphite Film for Scalable Solar Desalination by Heat Localization. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2017**, *5*, 15227–15234.

(461) Li, X. Q.; Min, X. Z.; Li, J. L.; Xu, N.; Zhu, P. C.; Zhu, B.; Zhu, S. N.; Zhu, J. Storage and Recycling of Interfacial Solar Steam Enthalpy. *Joule* **2018**, *2*, 2477–2484.

(462) Li, X. Q.; Xu, W. C.; Tang, M. Y.; Zhou, L.; Zhu, B.; Zhu, S. N.; Zhu, J. Graphene Oxide-Based Efficient and Scalable Solar Desalination under One Sun with a Confined 2D Water Path. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2016**, *113*, 13953–13958.

(463) Ito, Y.; Tanabe, Y.; Han, J. H.; Fujita, T.; Tanigaki, K.; Chen, M. W. Multifunctional Porous Graphene for High-Efficiency Steam Generation by Heat Localization. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 4302–4307.

(464) Ren, H. Y.; Tang, M.; Guan, B. L.; Wang, K. X.; Yang, J. W.; Wang, F. F.; Wang, M. Z.; Shan, J. Y.; Chen, Z. L.; Wei, D.; et al. Hierarchical Graphene Foam for Efficient Omnidirectional Solar– Thermal Energy Conversion. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1702590.

(465) Lu, Y.; Fan, D. Q.; Wang, Y. D.; Xu, H. L.; Lu, C. H.; Yang, X. F. Surface Patterning of Two-Dimensional Nanostructure-Embedded

Review

Photothermal Hydrogels for High-Yield Solar Steam Generation. ACS Nano 2021, 15, 10366–10376.

(466) Zhang, Z.; Mu, P.; Han, J. X.; He, J. X.; Zhu, Z. Q.; Sun, H. X.; Liang, W. D.; Li, A. Superwetting and Mechanically Robust  $MnO_2$ Nanowire–Reduced Graphene Oxide Monolithic Aerogels for Efficient Solar Vapor Generation. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2019**, *7*, 18092–18099.

(467) Zhang, Q.; Xiao, X. F.; Wang, G.; Ming, X.; Liu, X. H.; Wang, H.; Yang, H. J.; Xu, W. L.; Wang, X. B. Silk-Based Systems for Highly Efficient Photothermal Conversion under One Sun: Portability, Flexibility, and Durability. J. Mater. Chem. A **2018**, 6, 17212–17219.

(468) Hu, Y. J.; Ma, H. Y.; Wu, M. M.; Lin, T. Y.; Yao, H. Z.; Liu, F.; Cheng, H. H.; Qu, L. T. A Reconfigurable and Magnetically Responsive Assembly for Dynamic Solar Steam Generation. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 4335.

(469) Liu, K.-K.; Jiang, Q. S.; Tadepalli, S.; Raliya, R.; Biswas, P.; Naik, R. R.; Singamaneni, S. Wood–Graphene Oxide Composite for Highly Efficient Solar Steam Generation and Desalination. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2017**, *9*, 7675–7681.

(470) Xue, G. B.; Liu, K.; Chen, Q.; Yang, P. H.; Li, J.; Ding, T. P.; Duan, J. J.; Qi, B.; Zhou, J. Robust and Low-Cost Flame-Treated Wood for High-Performance Solar Steam Generation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2017**, *9*, 15052–15057.

(471) Wang, Z.; Yan, Y. T.; Shen, X. P.; Jin, C. D.; Sun, Q. F.; Li, H. Q. A Wood–Polypyrrole Composite as a Photothermal Conversion Device for Solar Evaporation Enhancement. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2019**, *7*, 20706–20712.

(472) Liu, H. W.; Chen, C. J.; Wen, H.; Guo, R. X.; Williams, N. A.; Wang, B. D.; Chen, F. J.; Hu, L. B. Narrow Bandgap Semiconductor Decorated Wood Membrane for High-Efficiency Solar-Assisted Water Purification. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2018**, *6*, 18839–18846.

(473) Yang, P. H.; Liu, K.; Chen, Q.; Li, J.; Duan, J. J.; Xue, G. B.; Xu, Z. S.; Xie, W. K.; Zhou, J. Solar-Driven Simultaneous Steam Production and Electricity Generation from Salinity. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2017**, *10*, 1923–1927.

(474) Ni, F.; Xiao, P.; Zhang, C.; Liang, Y.; Gu, J. C.; Zhang, L.; Chen, T. Micro-/Macroscopically Synergetic Control of Switchable 2D/3D Photothermal Water Purification Enabled by Robust, Portable, and Cost-Effective Cellulose Papers. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2019**, *11*, 15498–15506.

(475) Chang, C.; Yang, C.; Liu, Y. M.; Tao, P.; Song, C. Y.; Shang, W.; Wu, J. B.; Deng, T. Efficient Solar-Thermal Energy Harvest Driven by Interfacial Plasmonic Heating-Assisted Evaporation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 23412–23418.

(476) Wang, Y. C.; Tang, B.; Han, P.; Qi, G. C.; Gao, D. L.; Pu, S. Y.; Tao, S. Y. Adjustable Photothermal Device Induced by Magnetic Field for Efficient Solar-Driven Desalination. *EcoMat.* **2021**, *3*, e12139.

(477) Liu, Y. C.; Wang, X. Q.; Wu, H. High-Performance Wastewater Treatment Based on Reusable Functional Photo-Absorbers. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2017**, *309*, 787–794.

(478) Wang, X. Z.; He, Y. R.; Liu, X. Synchronous Steam Generation and Photodegradation for Clean Water Generation Based on Localized Solar Energy Harvesting. *Energy Convers. Manage.* **2018**, *173*, 158–166.

(479) Ni, G.; Zandavi, S. H.; Javid, S. M.; Boriskina, S. V.; Cooper, T. A.; Chen, G. A Salt-Rejecting Floating Solar Still for Low-Cost Desalination. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2018**, *11*, 1510–1519.

(480) Zhang, M. M.; Wang, H. Y.; Hou, Z. Y.; Chen, Q.; Xie, Z. J.; Zhu, J. T.; Xu, J. P.; Zhang, L. B. Light-Responsive Bilayered Hydrogel for Freshwater Production from Surface Soil Moisture. *EcoMat* **2021**, 3, e12144.

(481) Alketbi, A. S.; Raza, A.; Sajjad, M.; Li, H. X.; AlMarzooqi, F.; Zhang, T. J. Direct Solar Vapor Generation with Micro-3D Printed Hydrogel Device. *EcoMat* **2022**, *4*, e12157.

(482) Li, W.; Li, X. F.; Chang, W.; Wu, J.; Liu, P. F.; Wang, J. J.; Yao, X.; Yu, Z. Z. Vertically Aligned Reduced Graphene Oxide/ $Ti_3C_2T_x$  MXene Hybrid Hydrogel for Highly Efficient Solar Steam Generation. *Nano Res.* **2020**, *13*, 3048–3056.

(483) Zhao, F.; Zhou, X. Y.; Shi, Y.; Qian, X.; Alexander, M.; Zhao, X. P.; Mendez, S.; Yang, R. G.; Qu, L. T.; Yu, G. H. Highly Efficient Solar Vapour Generation *via* Hierarchically Nanostructured Gels. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2018**, *13*, 489–495.

(484) Tian, L. M.; Luan, J. Y.; Liu, K.-K.; Jiang, Q. S.; Tadepalli, S.; Gupta, M. K.; Naik, R. R.; Singamaneni, S. Plasmonic Biofoam: A Versatile Optically Active Material. *Nano Lett.* **2016**, *16*, 609–616.

(485) Ghim, D.; Jiang, Q. S.; Cao, S. S.; Singamaneni, S.; Jun, Y.-S. Mechanically Interlocked 1T/2H Phases of MoS<sub>2</sub> Nanosheets for Solar Thermal Water Purification. *Nano Energy* **2018**, *53*, 949–957. (486) Wang, X. Z.; He, Y. R.; Liu, X.; Cheng, G.; Zhu, J. Q. Solar Steam Generation through Bio-Inspired Interface Heating of Broadband-Absorbing Plasmonic Membranes. *Appl. Energy* **2017**, *195*, 414–425.

(487) Xu, Y.; Xu, H. B.; Zhu, Z. G.; Hou, H. Q.; Zuo, J. L.; Cui, F. Y.; Liu, D. M.; Wang, W. A Mechanically Durable, Sustained Corrosion-Resistant Photothermal Nanofiber Membrane for Highly Efficient Solar Distillation. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2019**, *7*, 22296–22306.

(488) Chala, T. F.; Wu, C.-M.; Chou, M.-H.; Guo, Z.-L. Melt Electrospun Reduced Tungsten Oxide/Polylactic Acid Fiber Membranes as a Photothermal Material for Light-Driven Interfacial Water Evaporation. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2018**, 10, 28955–28962.

(489) Wu, X. H.; Jiang, Q. S.; Ghim, D.; Singamaneni, S.; Jun, Y.-S. Localized Heating with a Photothermal Polydopamine Coating Facilitates a Novel Membrane Distillation Process. *J. Mater. Chem.* A **2018**, *6*, 18799–18807.

(490) Yang, X. D.; Yang, Y. B.; Fu, L. N.; Zou, M. C.; Li, Z. H.; Cao, A. Y.; Yuan, Q. An Ultrathin Flexible 2D Membrane Based on Single-Walled Nanotube–MoS<sub>2</sub> Hybrid Film for High-Performance Solar Steam Generation. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2018**, *28*, 1704505.

(491) Zhang, L. B.; Tang, B.; Wu, J. B.; Li, R. Y.; Wang, P. Hydrophobic Light-to-Heat Conversion Membranes with Self-Healing Ability for Interfacial Solar Heating. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 4889–4894.

(492) Yi, L. C.; Ci, S. Q.; Luo, S. L.; Shao, P.; Hou, Y.; Wen, Z. H. Scalable and Low-Cost Synthesis of Black Amorphous Al-Ti-O Nanostructure for High-Efficient Photothermal Desalination. *Nano Energy* **2017**, *41*, 600–608.

(493) Politano, A.; Argurio, P.; Di Profio, G.; Sanna, V.; Cupolillo, A.; Chakraborty, S.; Arafat, H. A.; Curcio, E. Photothermal Membrane Distillation for Seawater Desalination. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1603504.

(494) Huang, J.; He, Y. R.; Wang, L.; Huang, Y. M.; Jiang, B. C. Bifunctional Au@TiO<sub>2</sub> Core-Shell Nanoparticle Films for Clean Water Generation by Photocatalysis and Solar Evaporation. *Energy Convers. Manage.* **2017**, *132*, 452–459.

(495) Yang, H. Z.; Bai, Y. F.; Ge, C. H.; He, L. L.; Liang, W. Y.; Zhang, X. D. Polyethylene Glycol-Based Phase Change Materials with High Photothermal Conversion Efficiency and Shape Stability in an Aqueous Environment for Solar Water Heater. *Compos. Part A* 2022, 154, 106778.

(496) Hua, Z. T.; Li, B.; Li, L. L.; Yin, X. Y.; Chen, K. Z.; Wang, W. Designing a Novel Photothermal Material of Hierarchical Microstructured Copper Phosphate for Solar Evaporation Enhancement. *J. Phys. Chem.* C **2017**, *121*, 60–69.

(497) Shi, Y.; Li, R. Y.; Jin, Y.; Zhuo, S. F.; Shi, L.; Chang, J.; Hong, S.; Ng, K.-C.; Wang, P. A 3D Photothermal Structure toward Improved Energy Efficiency in Solar Steam Generation. *Joule* **2018**, *2*, 1171–1186.

(498) Ni, G.; Li, G.; Boriskina, S. V.; Li, H. X.; Yang, W. L.; Zhang, T. J.; Chen, G. Steam Generation under One Sun Enabled by a Floating Structure with Thermal Concentration. *Nat. Energy* **2016**, *1*, 16126.

(499) Yao, H. Z.; Zhang, P. P.; Yang, C.; Liao, Q. H.; Hao, X. Z.; Huang, Y. X.; Zhang, M.; Wang, X. B.; Lin, T. Y.; Cheng, H. H.; et al. Janus-Interface Engineering Boosting Solar Steam towards High-Efficiency Water Collection. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2021**, *14*, 5330– 5338. (500) Wang, F. Y.; Xu, N.; Zhao, W.; Zhou, L.; Zhu, P. C.; Wang, X. Y.; Zhu, B.; Zhu, J. A High-Performing Single-Stage Invert-Structured Solar Water Purifier through Enhanced Absorption and Condensation. *Joule* **2021**, *5*, 1602–1612.

(501) Singh, S. C.; ElKabbash, M.; Li, Z. L.; Li, X. H.; Regmi, B.; Madsen, M.; Jalil, S. A.; Zhan, Z. B.; Zhang, J. H.; Guo, C. L. Solar-Trackable Super-Wicking Black Metal Panel for Photothermal Water Sanitation. *Nat. Sustain.* **2020**, *3*, 938–946.

(502) Chen, C. L.; Zhou, L.; Yu, J. Y.; Wang, Y. X.; Nie, S. M.; Zhu, S. N.; Zhu, J. Dual Functional Asymmetric Plasmonic Structures for Solar Water Purification and Pollution Detection. *Nano Energy* **2018**, *51*, 451–456.

(503) Gao, M. M.; Peh, C. K. P.; Phan, H. T.; Zhu, L. L.; Ho, G. W. Solar Absorber Gel: Localized Macro-Nano Heat Channeling for Efficient Plasmonic Au Nanoflowers Photothermic Vaporization and Triboelectric Generation. *Adv. Energy Mater.* **2018**, *8*, 1800711.

(504) Bai, H. Y.; Hu, J. T.; Lam, S. H.; Guo, Y. Z.; Zhu, X.-M.; Yang, Z.; Wang, J. F. Turning Dielectric MoO<sub>3</sub> Nanospheres from White to Black through Doping for Efficient Solar Seawater Desalination. *ACS Mater. Lett.* **2022**, *4*, 1584–1592.

(505) Cheng, X. Z.; Bai, X. P.; Yang, J. H.; Zhu, X.-M.; Wang, J. F. Titanium Oxynitride Spheres with Broad Plasmon Resonance for Solar Seawater Desalination. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2022**, *14*, 28769–28780.

(506) Xu, Z. Y.; Zhang, L. N.; Zhao, L.; Li, B. J.; Bhatia, B.; Wang, C. X.; Wilke, K. L.; Song, Y.; Labban, O.; Lienhard, J. H.; et al. Ultrahigh-Efficiency Desalination *via* a Thermally-Localized Multistage Solar Still. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2020**, *13*, 830–839.

(507) Li, X. Q.; Ni, G.; Cooper, T.; Xu, N.; Li, J. L.; Zhou, L.; Hu, X. Z.; Zhu, B.; Yao, P. C.; Zhu, J. Measuring Conversion Efficiency of Solar Vapor Generation. *Joule* **2019**, *3*, 1798–1803.

(508) Daqiqeh Rezaei, S.; Dong, Z.; You En Chan, J.; Trisno, J.; Ng, R. J. H.; Ruan, Q.; Qiu, C.-W.; Mortensen, N. A.; Yang, J. K.W. Nanophotonic Structural Colors. *ACS Photonics* **2021**, *8*, 18–33.

(509) Xue, J. C.; Zhou, Z.-K.; Lin, L. M.; Guo, C.; Sun, S.; Lei, D. Y.; Qiu, C.-W.; Wang, X.-H. Perturbative Countersurveillance Metaoptics with Compound Nanosieves. *Light Sci. Appl.* **2019**, *8*, 101.

(510) Vorobyev, A. Y.; Guo, C. Direct Femtosecond Laser Surface Nano/Microstructuring and Its Applications. *Laser Photonics Rev.* **2013**, *7*, 385–407.

(511) Fuentes-Edfuf, Y.; Sánchez-Gil, J. A.; Florian, C.; Giannini, V.; Solis, J.; Siegel, J. Surface Plasmon Polaritons on Rough Metal Surfaces: Role in the Formation of Laser-Induced Periodic Surface Structures. *ACS Omega* **2019**, *4*, 6939–6946.

(512) Geng, J.; Shi, L. P.; Sun, X. Y.; Yan, W.; Qiu, M. Artificial Seeds-Regulated Femtosecond Laser Plasmonic Nanopatterning. *Laser Photonics Rev.* 2022, *16*, 2200232.

(513) Geng, J.; Yan, W.; Shi, L. P.; Qiu, M. Surface Plasmons Interference Nanogratings: Wafer-Scale Laser Direct Structuring in Seconds. *Light: Sci. Appl.* **2022**, *11*, 189.

(514) Huang, J. X.; Xu, K.; Hu, J.; Yuan, D. D.; Li, J.; Qiao, J. Y.; Xu, S. L. Self-Aligned Plasmonic Lithography for Maskless Fabrication of Large-Area Long-Range Ordered 2D Nanostructures. *Nano Lett.* **2022**, *22*, 6223–6228.

(515) Hu, D. J.; Lu, Y. D.; Cao, Y. Y.; Zhang, Y. N.; Xu, Y.; Li, W. X.; Gao, F. H.; Cai, B. Y.; Guan, B.-O.; Qiu, C.-W.; et al. Laser-Splashed Three-Dimensional Plasmonic Nanovolcanoes for Steganog-raphy in Angular Anisotropy. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 9233–9239.

(516) Taylor, A. B.; Siddiquee, A. M.; Chon, J. W. M. Below Melting Point Photothermal Reshaping of Single Gold Nanorods Driven by Surface Diffusion. *ACS Nano* **2014**, *8*, 12071–12079.

(517) Lu, Y. D.; Hu, D. J.; Zhang, M. S.; Yang, L. C.; Li, J. F.; Cao, Y. Y.; Li, X. P. Laser Printing Based on Curvature-Driven Shape Transition of Aluminum Nanodiscs. *Chin. Opt. Lett.* **2021**, *19*, No. 053602.

(518) Zijlstra, P.; Chon, J. W. M.; Gu, M. Five-Dimensional Optical Recording Mediated by Surface Plasmons in Gold Nanorods. *Nature* **2009**, *459*, 410–413.

(519) Zhang, Y. N.; Shi, L.; Hu, D. J.; Chen, S. R.; Xie, S. Y.; Lu, Y. D.; Cao, Y. Y.; Zhu, Z. Q.; Jin, L.; Guan, B.-O.; et al. Full-Visible Multifunctional Aluminium Metasurfaces by *In Situ* Anisotropic Thermoplasmonic Laser Printing. *Nanoscale Horiz.* **2019**, *4*, 601–609. (520) Ouyang, X.; Xu, Y.; Xian, M. C.; Feng, Z. W.; Zhu, L. W.; Cao,

Y. Y.; Lan, S.; Guan, B.-O.; Qiu, C.-W.; Gu, M.; et al. Synthetic Helical Dichroism for Six-Dimensional Optical Orbital Angular Momentum Multiplexing. *Nat. Photonics* **2021**, *15*, 901–907.

(521) Guay, J.-M.; Calà Lesina, A.; Côté, G.; Charron, M.; Poitras, D.; Ramunno, L.; Berini, P.; Weck, A. Laser-Induced Plasmonic Colours on Metals. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 16095.

(522) Kuroiwa, Y.; Tatsuma, T. Laser Printing of Translucent Plasmonic Full-Color Images with Transmission-Scattering Dichroism of Silver Nanoparticles. *ACS Appl. Nano Mater.* **2020**, *3*, 2472–2479.

(523) Chen, Q. R.; Kuroiwa, Y.; Tatsuma, T. Laser Printing of Translucent Plasmonic Multicolor Images Based on Gold Nanoparticles. *Electrochemistry* **2021**, *89*, 230–233.

(524) Hwang, J. S.; Arthanari, S.; Ko, P.; Jung, K.; Park, J.-E.; Youn, H.; Yang, M. Y.; Kim, S.-W.; Lee, H.; Kim, Y.-J. Plasmonic Color Printing via Bottom-up Laser-Induced Photomodification Process. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2022**, *14*, 30315–30323.

(525) Zhu, X.; Engelberg, J.; Remennik, S.; Zhou, B.; Pedersen, J. N.; Uhd Jepsen, P.; Levy, U.; Kristensen, A. Resonant Laser Printing of Optical Metasurfaces. *Nano Lett.* **2022**, *22*, 2786–2792.

(526) Wang, Y. X.; Ren, F.; Ding, T. Generation of High Quality, Uniform and Stable Plasmonic Colorants *via* Laser Direct Writing. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2020**, *8*, 2000164.

(527) Zhu, H.; Wu, B.; Gao, M. S.; Ren, F.; Qin, W.; Juodkazis, S.; Chen, F. Femtosecond Laser Direct-Write Plasmonic Nanolithography in Dielectrics. *Small Sci.* **2022**, *2*, 2200038.

(528) Cui, X. M.; Zhu, X. L.; Shao, L.; Wang, J. F.; Kristensen, A. Plasmonic Color Laser Printing inside Transparent Gold Nanodisk-Embedded Poly(dimethylsiloxane) Matrices. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2020**, *8*, 1901605.

(529) Zhang, J. H.; Zhou, T.; Wen, L.; Zhao, J.; Zhang, A. M. A Simple Way to Achieve Legible and Local Controllable Patterning for Polymers Based on a Near-Infrared Pulsed Laser. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 1977–1983.

(530) Hu, D. J.; Li, H.; Zhu, Y. P.; Lei, Y. Q.; Han, J.; Xian, S. L.; Zheng, J. J.; Guan, B.-O.; Cao, Y. Y.; Bi, L.; et al. Ultra-Sensitive Nanometric Flat Laser Prints for Binocular Stereoscopic Image. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 1154.

(531) Geng, J.; Xu, L. Y.; Yan, W.; Shi, L. P.; Qiu, M. High-Speed Laser Writing of Structural Colors for Full-Color Inkless Printing. *Nat. Commun.* 2023, 14, 565.

(532) Liu, H. L.; Dong, W. L.; Wang, H.; Lu, L.; Ruan, Q. F.; Tan, Y. S.; Simpson, R. E.; Yang, J. K. W. Rewritable Color Nanoprints in Antimony Trisulfide Films. *Sci. Adv.* **2020**, *6*, eabb7171.

(533) Dong, W. L.; Liu, H. L.; Behera, J. K.; Lu, L.; Ng, R. J. H.; Sreekanth, K. V.; Zhou, X. L.; Yang, J. K. W.; Simpson, R. E. Wide Bandgap Phase Change Material Tuned Visible Photonics. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1806181.

(534) Wang, J. Z.; Xiong, Z.; Zheng, J.; Zhan, X. J.; Tang, J. Y. Light-Driven Micro/Nanomotor for Promising Biomedical Tools: Principle, Challenge, and Prospect. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2018**, *51*, 1957–1965.

(535) Li, J. G.; Lin, L. H.; Inoue, Y.; Zheng, Y. B. Opto-Thermophoretic Tweezers and Assembly. *J. Micro Nano-Manuf.* 2018, *6*, No. 040801.

(536) Chen, J. J.; Loo, J. F.-C.; Wang, D. P.; Zhang, Y.; Kong, S.-K.; Ho, H.-P. Thermal Optofluidics: Principles and Applications. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2020**, *8*, 1900829.

(537) Eslahian, K. A.; Majee, A.; Maskos, M.; Würger, A. Specific Salt Effects on Thermophoresis of Charged Colloids. *Soft Matter* **2014**, *10*, 1931–1936.

(538) Bregulla, A. P.; Cichos, F. Size Dependent Efficiency of Photophoretic Swimmers. *Faraday Discuss.* **2015**, *184*, 381–391.

(539) Xuan, M. J.; Wu, Z. G.; Shao, J. X.; Dai, L. R.; Si, T. Y.; He, Q. Near Infrared Light-Powered Janus Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticle Motors. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2016**, 138, 6492–6497.

6944

(540) Lu, J. S.; Yang, H. B.; Zhou, L. N.; Yang, Y. Q.; Luo, S.; Li, Q.; Qiu, M. Light-Induced Pulling and Pushing by the Synergic Effect of Optical Force and Photophoretic Force. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2017**, *118*, No. 043601.

(541) Shao, L.; Käll, M. Light-Driven Rotation of Plasmonic Nanomotors. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2018**, *28*, 1706272.

(542) Peng, X. L.; Lin, L. H.; Hill, E. H.; Kunal, P.; Humphrey, S. M.; Zheng, Y. B. Optothermophoretic Manipulation of Colloidal Particles in Nonionic Liquids. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2018**, *122*, 24226–24234.

(543) Ly, A.; Majee, A.; Würger, A. Nanoscale Seebeck Effect at Hot Metal Nanostructures. *New J. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, No. 025001.

(544) Xuan, M. J.; Mestre, R.; Gao, C. Y.; Zhou, C.; He, Q.; Sánchez, S. Noncontinuous Super-Diffusive Dynamics of a Light-Activated Nanobottle Motor. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 6838– 6842.

(545) Kim, J. T.; Choudhury, U.; Jeong, H.-H.; Fischer, P. Nanodiamonds That Swim. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1701024.

(546) Liao, M.; Sun, H.; Tao, X.; Xu, X. J.; Li, Z.; Fu, X. M.; Xie, S. L.; Ye, L.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, B. J.; et al. Alignment of Thermally Conducting Nanotubes Making High-Performance Light-Driving Motors. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 26765–26771.

(547) Hill, E. H.; Li, J. G.; Lin, L. H.; Liu, Y. R.; Zheng, Y. B. Opto-Thermophoretic Attraction, Trapping, and Dynamic Manipulation of Lipid Vesicles. *Langmuir* **2018**, *34*, 13252–13262.

(548) Fränzl, M.; Thalheim, T.; Adler, J.; Huster, D.; Posseckardt, J.; Mertig, M.; Cichos, F. Thermophoretic Trap for Single Amyloid Fibril and Protein Aggregation Studies. *Nat. Methods* **2019**, *16*, 611–614.

(549) Yang, P.-P.; Zhai, Y.-G.; Qi, G.-B.; Lin, Y.-X.; Luo, Q.; Yang, Y.; Xu, A.-P.; Yang, C.; Li, Y.-S.; Wang, L.; et al. NIR Light Propulsive Janus-Like Nanohybrids for Enhanced Photothermal Tumor Therapy. *Small* **2016**, *12*, 5423–5430.

(550) Wu, Z. G.; Si, T. Y.; Gao, W.; Lin, X. K.; Wang, J.; He, Q. Superfast Near-Infrared Light-Driven Polymer Multilayer Rockets. *Small* **2016**, *12*, 577–582.

(551) Wu, Y. J.; Si, T. Y.; Shao, J. X.; Wu, Z. G.; He, Q. Near-Infrared Light-Driven Janus Capsule Motors: Fabrication, Propulsion, and Simulation. *Nano Res.* **2016**, *9*, 3747–3756.

(552) Lin, X. K.; Si, T. Y.; Wu, Z. G.; He, Q. Self-Thermophoretic Motion of Controlled Assembled Micro-/Nanomotors. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2017**, *19*, 23606–23613.

(553) Rao, Q. L.; Si, T. Y.; Wu, Z. G.; Xuan, M. J.; He, Q. A Light-Activated Explosive Micropropeller. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 4621.

(554) Simoncelli, S.; Johnson, S.; Kriegel, F.; Lipfert, J.; Feldmann, J. Stretching and Heating Single DNA Molecules with Optically Trapped Gold–Silica Janus Particles. *ACS Photonics* **2017**, *4*, 2843–2851.

(555) Herms, A.; Günther, K.; Sperling, E.; Heerwig, A.; Kick, A.; Cichos, F.; Mertig, M. Concept, Synthesis, and Structural Characterization of DNA Origami Based Self-Thermophoretic Nanoswimmers. *Phys. Status Solidi A* **2017**, *214*, 1600957.

(556) Xuan, M. J.; Shao, J. X.; Gao, C. Y.; Wang, W.; Dai, L. R.; He, Q. Self-Propelled Nanomotors for Thermomechanically Percolating Cell Membranes. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 12463–12467.

(557) Maier, C. M.; Huergo, M. A.; Milosevic, S.; Pernpeintner, C.; Li, M.; Singh, D. P.; Walker, D.; Fischer, P.; Feldmann, J.; Lohmüller, T. Optical and Thermophoretic Control of Janus Nanopen Injection into Living Cells. *Nano Lett.* **2018**, *18*, 7935–7941.

(558) Heerwig, A.; Schubel, M.; Schirmer, C.; Herms, A.; Cichos, F.; Mertig, M. DNA Origami Ring Structures as Construction Element of Self-Thermophoretic Swimmers. *Phys. Status Solidi A* **2019**, *216*, 1800775.

(559) Cui, T. T.; Wu, S.; Sun, Y. H.; Ren, J. S.; Qu, X. G. Self-Propelled Active Photothermal Nanoswimmer for Deep-Layered Elimination of Biofilm *In Vivo. Nano Lett.* **2020**, *20*, 7350–7358.

(560) Heidari, M.; Bregulla, A.; Landin, S. M.; Cichos, F.; von Klitzing, R. Self-Propulsion of Janus Particles near a Brush-Functionalized Substrate. *Langmuir* **2020**, *36*, 7775–7780.

(561) Kavokine, N.; Zou, S. Y.; Liu, R. B.; Niguès, A.; Zou, B. S.; Bocquet, L. Ultrafast Photomechanical Transduction through Thermophoretic Implosion. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 50.

(562) Braun, M.; Würger, A.; Cichos, F. Trapping of Single Nano-Objects in Dynamic Temperature Fields. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2014**, *16*, 15207–15213.

(563) Braun, M.; Bregulla, A. P.; Günther, K.; Mertig, M.; Cichos, F. Single Molecules Trapped by Dynamic Inhomogeneous Temperature Fields. *Nano Lett.* **2015**, *15*, 5499–5505.

(564) Nedev, S.; Carretero-Palacios, S.; Kühler, P.; Lohmüller, T.; Urban, A. S.; Anderson, L. J. E.; Feldmann, J. An Optically Controlled Microscale Elevator Using Plasmonic Janus Particles. *ACS Photonics* **2015**, *2*, 491–496.

(565) Lin, L. H.; Peng, X. L.; Mao, Z. M.; Wei, X. L.; Xie, C.; Zheng, Y. B. Interfacial-Entropy-Driven Thermophoretic Tweezers. *Lab Chip.* **2017**, *17*, 3061–3070.

(566) Lin, L. H.; Peng, X. L.; Wei, X. L.; Mao, Z. M.; Xie, C.; Zheng, Y. B. Thermophoretic Tweezers for Low-Power and Versatile Manipulation of Biological Cells. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 3147–3154.

(567) Lin, L. H.; Wang, M. S.; Peng, X. L.; Lissek, E. N.; Mao, Z. M.; Scarabelli, L.; Adkins, E.; Coskun, S.; Unalan, H. E.; Korgel, B. A.; et al. Opto-Thermoelectric Nanotweezers. *Nat. Photonics* **2018**, *12*, 195–201.

(568) Jones, S.; Andrén, D.; Karpinski, P.; Käll, M. Photothermal Heating of Plasmonic Nanoantennas: Influence on Trapped Particle Dynamics and Colloid Distribution. *ACS Photonics* **2018**, *5*, 2878–2887.

(569) Smalley, D. E.; Nygaard, E.; Squire, K.; Van Wagoner, J.; Rasmussen, J.; Gneiting, S.; Qaderi, K.; Goodsell, J.; Rogers, W.; Lindsey, M.; et al. A Photophoretic-Trap Volumetric Display. *Nature* **2018**, 553, 486–490.

(570) Paul, D.; Chand, R.; Kumar, G. V. P. Optothermal Evolution of Active Colloidal Matter in a Defocused Laser Trap. *ACS Photonics* **2022**, *9*, 3440–3449.

(571) Li, J. G.; Liu, Y. R.; Lin, L. H.; Wang, M. S.; Jiang, T. Z.; Guo, J. H.; Ding, H. R; Kollipara, P. S.; Inoue, Y.; Fan, D. L.; et al. Optical Nanomanipulation on Solid Substrates *via* Optothermally-Gated Photon Nudging. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 5672.

(572) Sharma, V.; Paul, D.; Chaubey, S. K.; Tiwari, S.; Kumar, G. V. P. Large-Scale Optothermal Assembly of Colloids Mediated by a Gold Microplate. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2020**, *32*, 324002.

(573) Braun, M.; Cichos, F. Optically Controlled Thermophoretic Trapping of Single Nano-Objects. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 11200–11208.

(574) Bespalova, M. I.; Mahanta, S.; Krishnan, M. Single-Molecule Trapping and Measurement in Solution. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **2019**, *51*, 113–121.

(575) Lin, L. H.; Zhang, J. L.; Peng, X. L.; Wu, Z. L.; Coughlan, A. C. H.; Mao, Z. M.; Bevan, M. A.; Zheng, Y. B. Opto-Thermophoretic Assembly of Colloidal Matter. *Sci. Adv.* **2017**, *3*, e1700458.

(576) Lin, L. H.; Lepeshov, S.; Krasnok, A.; Jiang, T. Z.; Peng, X. L.; Korgel, B. A.; Alù, A.; Zheng, Y. B. All-Optical Reconfigurable Chiral Meta-Molecules. *Mater. Today* **2019**, *25*, 10–20.

(577) Li, J. G.; Wang, M. S.; Wu, Z. L.; Li, H. N; Hu, G. W.; Jiang, T. Z.; Guo, J. H.; Liu, Y. R.; Yao, K.; Chen, Z. H.; et al. Tunable Chiral Optics in All-Solid-Phase Reconfigurable Dielectric Nanostructures. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 973–979.

(578) Mishra, S. R.; Tracy, J. B. Sequential Actuation of Shape-Memory Polymers through Wavelength-Selective Photothermal Heating of Gold Nanospheres and Nanorods. *ACS Appl. Nano Mater.* **2018**, *1*, 3063–3067.

(579) Fang, L.; Fang, T. Y.; Liu, X. X.; Ni, Y. R.; Lu, C. H.; Xu, Z. X. Precise Stimulation of Near-Infrared Light Responsive Shape-Memory Polymer Composites Using Upconversion Particles with Photo-thermal Capability. *Compos. Sci. Technol.* **201**7, *152*, 190–197.

(580) Li, G.; Wang, S. W.; Liu, Z. T.; Liu, Z. W.; Xia, H. S.; Zhang, C.; Lu, X. L.; Jiang, J. Q.; Zhao, Y. 2D-to-3D Shape Transformation of Room-Temperature-Programmable Shape-Memory Polymers through Selective Suppression of Strain Relaxation. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 40189–40197.

**Chemical Reviews** 

(581) Toncheva, A.; Khelifa, F.; Paint, Y.; Voué, M.; Lambert, P.; Dubois, P.; Raquez, J.-M. Fast IR-Actuated Shape-Memory Polymers Using *In Situ* Silver Nanoparticle-Grafted Cellulose Nanocrystals. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 29933–29942.

(582) Guo, Q. Y.; Bishop, C. J.; Meyer, R. A.; Wilson, D. R.; Olasov, L.; Schlesinger, D. E.; Mather, P. T.; Spicer, J. B.; Elisseeff, J. H.; Green, J. J. Entanglement-Based Thermoplastic Shape Memory Polymeric Particles with Photothermal Actuation for Biomedical Applications. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2018**, 10, 13333-13341.

(583) Yang, Z.; Han, X. M.; Lee, H. K.; Phan-Quang, G. C.; Koh, C. S. L.; Lay, C. L.; Lee, Y. H.; Miao, Y.-E.; Liu, T. X.; Phang, I. Y.; et al. Shape-Dependent Thermo-Plasmonic Effect of Nanoporous Gold at the Nanoscale for Ultrasensitive Heat-Mediated Remote Actuation. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 16005–16012.

(584) Zhou, Y.; Tan, J. Y.; Chong, D. D.; Wan, X. H.; Zhang, J. Rapid Near-Infrared Light Responsive Shape Memory Polymer Hybrids and Novel Chiral Actuators Based on Photothermal  $W_{18}O_{49}$  Nanowires. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1901202.

(585) Xiao, Y.-Y.; Jiang, Z.-C.; Hou, J.-B.; Zhao, Y. Desynchronized Liquid Crystalline Network Actuators with Deformation Reversal Capability. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 624.

(586) Gelebart, A. H.; Mulder, D. J.; Vantomme, G.; Schenning, A. P. H. J.; Broer, D. J. A Rewritable, Reprogrammable, Dual Light-Responsive Polymer Actuator. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 13436–13439.

(587) Lahikainen, M.; Zeng, H.; Priimagi, A. Reconfigurable Photoactuator through Synergistic Use of Photochemical and Photothermal Effects. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 4148.

(588) Lu, X. L.; Zhang, H.; Fei, G. X.; Yu, B.; Tong, X.; Xia, H. S.; Zhao, Y. Liquid-Crystalline Dynamic Networks Doped with Gold Nanorods Showing Enhanced Photocontrol of Actuation. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1706597.

(589) Ge, F. J.; Yang, R.; Tong, X.; Camerel, F.; Zhao, Y. A Multifunctional Dye-Doped Liquid Crystal Polymer Actuator: Light-Guided Transportation, Turning in Locomotion, and Autonomous Motion. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 11758–11763.

(590) Dong, L. L.; Tong, X.; Zhang, H. J.; Chen, M. Q.; Zhao, Y. Near-Infrared Light-Driven Locomotion of a Liquid Crystal Polymer Trilayer Actuator. *Mater. Chem. Front.* **2018**, *2*, 1383–1388.

(591) Dong, Y.; Wang, J.; Guo, X. K; Yang, S. S.; Ozen, M. O.; Chen, P.; Liu, X.; Du, W.; Xiao, F.; Demirci, U.; et al. Multi-Stimuli-Responsive Programmable Biomimetic Actuator. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 4087.

(592) Kuenstler, A. S.; Kim, H.; Hayward, R. C. Liquid Crystal Elastomer Waveguide Actuators. *Adv. Mater.* **2019**, *31*, 1901216.

(593) Jiang, Z.-C.; Xiao, Y.-Y.; Tong, X.; Zhao, Y. Selective Decrosslinking in Liquid Crystal Polymer Actuators for Optical Reconfiguration of Origami and Light-Fueled Locomotion. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 5332–5337.

(594) Wang, M.; Han, Y.; Guo, L.-X.; Lin, B.-P.; Yang, H. Photocontrol of Helix Handedness in Curled Liquid Crystal Elastomers. *Liq. Cryst.* **2019**, *46*, 1231–1240.

(595) Rogóż, M.; Dradrach, K.; Xuan, C.; Wasylczyk, P. A Millimeter-Scale Snail Robot Based on a Light-Powered Liquid Crystal Elastomer Continuous Actuator. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2019**, *40*, 1900279.

(596) Feng, W.; Liu, D. Q.; Broer, D. J. Functional Liquid Crystal Polymer Surfaces with Switchable Topographies. *Small Struct.* **2021**, *2*, 2000107.

(597) Wang, Y. C.; Yin, R.; Jin, L. S.; Liu, M. Z.; Gao, Y. C.; Raney, J.; Yang, S. 3D-Printed Photoresponsive Liquid Crystal Elastomer Composites for Free-Form Actuation. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2023**, *33*, 2210614.

(598) Sun, Z. F.; Yamauchi, Y.; Araoka, F.; Kim, Y. S.; Bergueiro, J.; Ishida, Y.; Ebina, Y.; Sasaki, T.; Hikima, T.; Aida, T. An Anisotropic Hydrogel Actuator Enabling Earthworm-Like Directed Peristaltic Crawling. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 15772–15776.

(599) Ding, T.; Valev, V. K.; Salmon, A. R.; Forman, C. J.; Smoukov, S. K.; Scherman, O. A.; Frenkel, D.; Baumberg, J. J. Light-Induced

Actuating Nanotransducers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2016, 113, 5503–5507.

(600) Yang, Y.; Tan, Y.; Wang, X. L.; An, W. L.; Xu, S. M.; Liao, W.; Wang, Y. Z. Photothermal Nanocomposite Hydrogel Actuator with Electric-Field-Induced Gradient and Oriented Structure. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2018**, *10*, 7688–7692.

(601) Fan, W. X.; Shan, C. Y.; Guo, H. Y.; Sang, J. W.; Wang, R.; Zheng, R. R.; Sui, K. Y.; Nie, Z. H. Dual-Gradient Enabled Ultrafast Biomimetic Snapping of Hydrogel Materials. *Sci. Adv.* **2019**, *5*, eaav7174.

(602) Hippler, M.; Blasco, E.; Qu, J. Y.; Tanaka, M.; Barner-Kowollik, C.; Wegener, M.; Bastmeyer, M. Controlling the Shape of 3D Microstructures by Temperature and Light. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 232.

(603) Zhang, H.; Koens, L.; Lauga, E.; Mourran, A.; Möller, M. A Light-Driven Microgel Rotor. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1903379.

(604) Kim, Y.; Nam, J.-M. Mechanically Interlocked Gold Nanocatenanes. *Nat. Synth.* **2022**, *1*, 649–657.

(605) Lim, H.; Park, T.; Na, J.; Park, C.; Kim, B.; Kim, E. Construction of a Photothermal Venus Flytrap from Conductive Polymer Bimorphs. *NPG Asia Mater.* **2017**, *9*, e399.

(606) Yang, Y. Y.; Liu, Y. T.; Shen, Y. J. Plasmonic-Assisted Graphene Oxide Films with Enhanced Photothermal Actuation for Soft Robots. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2020**, *30*, 1910172.

(607) Quinn, M. D. J.; Wang, T.; Du, J. D.; Boyd, B. J.; Hawley, A.; Notley, S. M. Graphene as a Photothermal Actuator for Control of Lipid Mesophase Structure. *Nanoscale* **201**7, *9*, 341–348.

(608) Wang, Y.; Li, M.; Chang, J.-K.; Aurelio, D.; Li, W. Y.; Kim, B. J.; Kim, J. H.; Liscidini, M.; Rogers, J. A.; Omenetto, F. G. Light-Activated Shape Morphing and Light-Tracking Materials Using Biopolymer-Based Programmable Photonic Nanostructures. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 1651.

(609) Deng, J.; Li, J. F.; Chen, P. N.; Fang, X.; Sun, X. M.; Jiang, Y. S.; Weng, W.; Wang, B. J.; Peng, H. S. Tunable Photothermal Actuators Based on a Pre-Programmed Aligned Nanostructure. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 225–230.

(610) Villangca, M. J.; Palima, D.; Bañas, A. R.; Glückstad, J. Light-Driven Micro-Tool Equipped with a Syringe Function. *Light: Sci. Appl.* **2016**, *5*, e16148.

(611) Li, J. J.; Zhang, R.; Mou, L. L.; Jung de Andrade, M.; Hu, X. Y.; Yu, K. Q.; Sun, J. K.; Jia, T. J.; Dou, Y. Y.; Chen, H.; et al. Photothermal Bimorph Actuators with In-Built Cooler for Light Mills, Frequency Switches, and Soft Robots. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1808995.

(612) Lv, X. D.; Wang, W. Z.; Clancy, A. J.; Yu, H. F. High-Speed, Heavy-Load, and Direction-Controllable Photothermal Pneumatic Floating Robot. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2021**, *13*, 23030–23037.

(613) Li, H.; Wang, J. F. Ultrafast Yet Controllable Dual-Responsive All-Carbon Actuators for Implementing Unusual Mechanical Movements. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2019**, *11*, 10218–10225.

(614) Linghu, S. Y.; Gu, Z. Q.; Lu, J. S.; Fang, W.; Yang, Z. Y.; Yu, H. K.; Li, Z. Y.; Zhu, R. L.; Peng, J.; Zhan, Q. W.; et al. Plasmon-Driven Nanowire Actuators for on-Chip Manipulation. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 385.

(615) Wang, X. J.; Zhang, C.; Chen, F. Q.; Xiang, J. X.; Wang, S. S.; Liu, Z.; Ding, T. Optically Triggered Nanoscale Plasmonic Dynamite. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 13667–13673.

(616) Hines, L.; Petersen, K.; Lum, G. Z.; Sitti, M. Soft Actuators for Small-Scale Robotics. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1603483.

(617) Livshits, M. Y.; Razgoniaev, A. O.; Arbulu, R. C.; Shin, J.; McCullough, B. J.; Qin, Y.; Ostrowski, A. D.; Rack, J. J. Generating Photonastic Work from Irradiated Dyes in Electrospun Nanofibrous Polymer Mats. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2018**, 10, 37470–37477. (618) Wang, J. Z.; Xiong, Z.; Tang, J. Y. The Encoding of Light-Driven Micro/Nanorobots: From Single to Swarming Systems. Adv.

*Intell. Syst.* **2021**, *3*, 2000170. (619) Liu, Y.; Shaw, B.; Dickey, M. D.; Genzer, J. Sequential Self-Folding of Polymer Sheets. *Sci. Adv.* **2017**, *3*, e1602417. (620) Wang, T. Y.; Torres, D.; Fernández, F. E.; Wang, C.; Sepúlveda, N. Maximizing the Performance of Photothermal Actuators by Combining Smart Materials with Supplementary Advantages. *Sci. Adv.* **201**7, *3*, e1602697.

(621) Zeng, H.; Wani, O. M.; Wasylczyk, P.; Kaczmarek, R.; Priimagi, A. Self-Regulating Iris Based on Light-Actuated Liquid Crystal Elastomer. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1701814.

(622) Zuo, B.; Wang, M.; Lin, B.-P.; Yang, H. Visible and Infrared Three-Wavelength Modulated Multi-Directional Actuators. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 4539.

(623) Li, Z. W.; Ye, Z. Y.; Han, L. L.; Fan, Q. S.; Wu, C. L. M.; Ding, D.; Xin, H. L.; Myung, N. V.; Yin, Y. D. Polarization-Modulated Multidirectional Photothermal Actuators. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2006367.

(624) Li, Y.; Liu, Y. J.; Luo, D. Polarization Dependent Light-Driven Liquid Crystal Elastomer Actuators Based on Photothermal Effect. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2021**, *9*, 2001861.

(625) Zhang, F.; Li, Y.-H.; Qi, M.-Y.; Yamada, Y. M.; Anpo, M.; Tang, Z.-R.; Xu, Y.-J. Photothermal Catalytic CO<sub>2</sub> Reduction over Nanomaterials. *Chem Catal.* **2021**, *1*, 272–297.

(626) Fang, S.; Hu, Y. H. Thermo-Photo Catalysis: A Whole Greater Than the Sum of Its Parts. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2022, *51*, 3609–3647.

(627) Chen, X.; Shen, S.; Guo, L.; Mao, S. S. Semiconductor-Based Photocatalytic Hydrogen Generation. *Chem. Rev.* **2010**, *110*, 6503–6570.

(628) Sun, M.; Zhao, B.; Chen, F.; Liu, C.; Lu, S.; Yu, Y.; Zhang, B. Thermally-Assisted Photocatalytic  $CO_2$  Reduction to Fuels. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2021**, 408, 127280.

(629) Wang, Z.; Yang, Z.; Kadirova, Z. C.; Guo, M.; Fang, R.; He, J.; Yan, Y.; Ran, J. Photothermal Functional Material and Structure for Photothermal Catalytic CO<sub>2</sub> Reduction: Recent Advance, Application and Prospect. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2022**, 473, 214794.

(630) Yao, P.; Gong, H.; Wu, Z.-Y.; Fu, H.; Li, B.; Zhu, B.; Ji, J.; Wang, X.; Xu, N.; Tang, C. Greener and Higher Conversion of Esterification *via* Interfacial Photothermal Catalysis. *Nat. Sustain.* **2022**, *5*, 348–356.

(631) Huang, H.; Shi, R.; Li, Z.; Zhao, J.; Su, C.; Zhang, T. Triphase Photocatalytic  $CO_2$  Reduction over Silver-Decorated Titanium Oxide at a Gas–Water Boundary. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2022**, *61*, e202200802.

(632) Li, L.; Xu, L.; Hu, Z.; Yu, J. C. Enhanced Mass Transfer of Oxygen through a Gas-Liquid-Solid Interface for Photocatalytic Hydrogen Peroxide Production. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2106120.

(633) Sheng, X.; Liu, Z.; Zeng, R.; Chen, L.; Feng, X.; Jiang, L. Enhanced Photocatalytic Reaction at Air-Liquid-Solid Joint Interfaces. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 12402-12405.

(634) Martin, D. J.; Liu, G.; Moniz, S. J.; Bi, Y.; Beale, A. M.; Ye, J.; Tang, J. Efficient Visible Driven Photocatalyst, Silver Phosphate: Performance, Understanding and Perspective. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2015, 44, 7808–7828.

(635) Feng, X.; Liu, D.; Yan, B.; Shao, M.; Hao, Z.; Yuan, G.; Yu, H.; Zhang, Y. Highly Active  $PdO/Mn_3O_4/CeO_2$  Nanocomposites Supported on One Dimensional Halloysite Nanotubes for Photoassisted Thermal Catalytic Methane Combustion. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 18552–18556.

(636) Li, Z.; Liu, J.; Zhao, Y.; Waterhouse, G. I.; Chen, G.; Shi, R.; Zhang, X.; Liu, X.; Wei, Y.; Wen, X. D. Co-Based Catalysts Derived from Layered-Double-Hydroxide Nanosheets for the Photothermal Production of Light Olefins. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1800527.

(637) Li, X.; Zhang, X.; Everitt, H. O.; Liu, J. Light-Induced Thermal Gradients in Ruthenium Catalysts Significantly Enhance Ammonia Production. *Nano Lett.* **2019**, *19*, 1706–1711.

(638) Sanz, J.; Ortiz, D.; Alcaraz De La Osa, R.; Saiz, J.; González, F.; Brown, A.; Losurdo, M.; Everitt, H.; Moreno, F. UV Plasmonic Behavior of Various Metal Nanoparticles in the Near-and Far-Field Regimes: Geometry and Substrate Effects. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2013, *117*, 19606–19615.

(639) Zhang, X.; Li, X.; Reish, M. E.; Zhang, D.; Su, N. Q.; Gutiérrez, Y.; Moreno, F.; Yang, W.; Everitt, H. O.; Liu, J. Plasmon-Enhanced Catalysis: Distinguishing Thermal and Nonthermal Effects. *Nano Lett.* **2018**, *18*, 1714–1723.

(640) Dubi, Y.; Un, I. W.; Baraban, J. H.; Sivan, Y. Distinguishing Thermal from Non-Thermal Contributions to Plasmonic Hydrodefluorination. *Nat. Catal.* **2022**, *5*, 244–246.

(641) Robatjazi, H.; Schirato, A.; Alabastri, A.; Christopher, P.; Carter, E. A.; Nordlander, P.; Halas, N. J. Reply to: Distinguishing Thermal from Non-Thermal Contributions to Plasmonic Hydrodefluorination. *Nat. Catal.* **2022**, *5*, 247–250.

(642) Robatjazi, H.; Bao, J. L.; Zhang, M.; Zhou, L.; Christopher, P.; Carter, E. A.; Nordlander, P.; Halas, N. J. Plasmon-Driven Carbon– Fluorine ( $C(sp^3)$ –F) Bond Activation with Mechanistic Insights into Hot-Carrier-Mediated Pathways. *Nat. Catal.* **2020**, *3*, 564–573.

(643) Zhou, L.; Swearer, D. F.; Zhang, C.; Robatjazi, H.; Zhao, H.; Henderson, L.; Dong, L.; Christopher, P.; Carter, E. A.; Nordlander, P. Quantifying Hot Carrier and Thermal Contributions in Plasmonic Photocatalysis. *Science* **2018**, *362*, 69–72.

(644) Sivan, Y.; Baraban, J.; Un, I. W.; Dubi, Y. Comment on "Quantifying Hot Carrier and Thermal Contributions in Plasmonic Photocatalysis". *Science* **2019**, *364*, eaaw9367.

(645) Sun, H.; Zhang, Q.; Li, J.; Peng, S.; Wang, X.; Cai, R. Near-Infrared Photoactivated Nanomedicines for Photothermal Synergistic Cancer Therapy. *Nano Today* **2021**, *37*, 101073.

(646) Chen, J.; Ning, C.; Zhou, Z.; Yu, P.; Zhu, Y.; Tan, G.; Mao, C. Nanomaterials as Photothermal Therapeutic Agents. *Prog. Mater. Sci.* **2019**, *99*, 1–26.

(647) Zhou, G.; Li, M. Near-Infrared-II Plasmonic Trienzyme-Integrated Metal–Organic Frameworks with High-Efficiency Enzyme Cascades for Synergistic Trimodal Oncotherapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2200871.

(648) Wang, Y. F.; Meng, H.-M; Li, Z. H. Near-Infrared Inorganic Nanomaterial-Based Nanosystems for Photothermal Therapy. *Nanoscale* **2021**, *13*, 8751–8772.

(649) He, P.; Lei, Q.; Yang, B.; Shang, T.; Shi, J.; Ouyang, Q.; Wang, W.; Xue, L.; Kong, F.; Li, Z.; et al. Dual-Stage Irradiation of Size-Switchable Albumin Nanocluster for Cascaded Tumor Enhanced Penetration and Photothermal Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 13919–13932.

(650) Yin, N.; Wang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Cao, Y.; Jin, L.; Liu, J.; Zhang, T.; Song, S.; Liu, X.; Zhang, H. Modulating Nanozyme-Based Nanomachines *via* Microenvironmental Feedback for Differential Photothermal Therapy of Orthotopic Gliomas. *Adv. Sci.* **2023**, *10*, 2204937.

(651) Qiu, W.; Zhao, W.; Zhang, L.; Wang, H.; Li, N.; Chen, K.; Zhang, H.; Wang, Y. A Solid–Liquid Composite Lubricating "Nano-Snowboard" for Long-Acting Treatment of Osteoarthritis. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2208189.

(652) Wang, Y.; Jia, L.; Hu, T.; Yang, Z.; Yang, C.; Lin, H.; Zhang, F.; Yu, K.; Qu, F.; Guo, W. Hollow Nanooxidase Enhanced Phototherapy against Solid Tumors. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2022**, *14*, 56597–56612.

(653) Lv, Z.; He, S.; Wang, Y.; Zhu, X. Noble Metal Nanomaterials for NIR-Triggered Photothermal Therapy in Cancer. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **2021**, *10*, 2001806.

(654) Cheng, L.; Wang, X.; Gong, F.; Liu, T.; Liu, Z. 2D Nanomaterials for Cancer Theranostic Applications. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 1902333.

(655) Rastinehad, A. R.; Anastos, H.; Wajswol, E.; Winoker, J. S.; Sfakianos, J. P.; Doppalapudi, S. K.; Carrick, M. R.; Knauer, C. J.; Taouli, B.; Lewis, S.; et al. Gold Nanoshell-Localized Photothermal Ablation of Prostate Tumors in a Clinical Pilot Device Study. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2019**, *116*, 18590–18596.

(656) Yin, B.; Ho, W. K. H.; Xia, X.; Chan, C. K. W.; Zhang, Q.; Ng, Y. M.; Lam, C. Y. K.; Cheung, J. C. W.; Wang, J.; Yang, M.; et al. A Multilayered Mesoporous Gold Nanoarchitecture for Ultraeffective Near-Infrared Light-Controlled Chemo/Photothermal Therapy for Cancer Guided by SERS Imaging. *Small* **2023**, *19*, 2206762.

(657) Zhou, G.; Chen, Y.; Chen, W.; Wu, H.; Yu, Y.; Sun, C.; Hu, B.; Liu, Y. Renal Clearable Catalytic 2D Au–Porphyrin Coordination Polymer Augmented Photothermal-Gas Synergistic Cancer Therapy. *Small* **2023**, *19*, 2206749.

(658) Feng, Y.; Ning, X.; Wang, J.; Wen, Z.; Cao, F.; You, Q.; Zou, J.; Zhou, X.; Sun, T.; Cao, J.; et al. Mace-Like Plasmonic Au–Pd Heterostructures Boost Near-Infrared Photoimmunotherapy. *Adv. Sci.* **2023**, *10*, 2204842.

(659) Liu, W.; Wang, Y.; Wang, Y.; Li, X.; Qi, K.; Wang, J.; Xu, H. Black Silver Nanocubes@Amino Acid-Encoded Highly Branched Gold Shells with Efficient Photothermal Conversion for Tumor Therapy. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2023**, 15, 236–248.

(660) Arami, H.; Kananian, S.; Khalifehzadeh, L.; Patel, C. B.; Chang, E.; Tanabe, Y.; Zeng, Y.; Madsen, S. J.; Mandella, M. J.; Natarajan, A.; et al. Remotely Controlled Near-Infrared-Triggered Photothermal Treatment of Brain Tumours in Freely Behaving Mice Using Gold Nanostars. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2022**, *17*, 1015–1022.

(661) Chen, C.; Chu, G.; He, W.; Liu, Y.; Dai, K.; Valdez, J.; Moores, A.; Huang, P.; Wang, Z.; Jin, J.; et al. A Janus Au– Polymersome Heterostructure with Near-Field Enhancement Effect for Implant-Associated Infection Phototherapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2023**, *35*, 2207950.

(662) Li, S.; Xu, B.; Lu, M.; Sun, M.; Yang, H.; Liu, S.; Huang, Z.; Liu, H. Tensile-Strained Palladium Nanosheets for Synthetic Catalytic Therapy and Phototherapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2202609.

(663) Feng, E.; Liu, Y.; Lv, S.; Liu, D.; Huang, S.; Li, Z.; Song, F. Fine-Tuning Cu (II)-Induced Self-Assembly of Hydrophilic Cyanine Dyes for Enhanced Tumor Photothermal Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2209258.

(664) He, J.; Hua, S.; Zhang, D.; Wang, K.; Chen, X.; Zhou, M. SERS/NIR-II Optical Nanoprobes for Multidimensional Tumor Imaging from Living Subjects, Pathology, and Single Cells and Guided NIR-II Photothermal Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2208028.

(665) Ye, J.; Lv, W.; Li, C.; Liu, S.; Yang, X.; Zhang, J.; Wang, C.; Xu, J.; Jin, G.; Li, B.; et al. Tumor Response and NIR-II Photonic Thermal Co-Enhanced Catalytic Therapy Based on Single-Atom Manganese Nanozyme. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2206157.

(666) Fluksman, A.; Lafuente, A.; Li, Z.; Sort, J.; Lope-Piedrafita, S.; Esplandiu, M. J.; Nogues, J.; Roca, A. G.; Benny, O.; Sepulveda, B. Efficient Tumor Eradication at Ultralow Drug Concentration *via* Externally Controlled and Boosted Metallic Iron Magnetoplasmonic Nanocapsules. *ACS Nano* **2023**, *17*, 1946–1958.

(667) Ye, Y.; He, J.; Wang, H.; Li, W.; Wang, Q.; Luo, C.; Tang, X.; Chen, X.; Jin, X.; Yao, K.; et al. Cell Wall Destruction and Internal Cascade Synergistic Antifungal Strategy for Fungal Keratitis. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 18729–18745.

(668) Li, J.; Ren, H.; Qiu, Q.; Yang, X.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, C.; Sun, B.; Lovell, J. F.; Zhang, Y. Manganese Coordination Micelles That Activate Stimulator of Interferon Genes and Capture *In Situ* Tumor Antigens for Cancer Metalloimmunotherapy. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 16909–16923.

(669) Chang, M.; Hou, Z.; Wang, M.; Wen, D.; Li, C.; Liu, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Lin, J. Cu Single Atom Nanozyme Based High-Efficiency Mild Photothermal Therapy through Cellular Metabolic Regulation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2022**, *61*, e202209245.

(670) Zhang, S.; Li, Z.; Wang, Q.; Liu, Q.; Yuan, W.; Feng, W.; Li, F. An NIR-II Photothermally Triggered "Oxygen Bomb" for Hypoxic Tumor Programmed Cascade Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2201978.

(671) Liu, S.; Zhang, T.; Li, S.; Wu, Q.; Wang, K.; Xu, X.; Lu, M.; Shao, R.; Zhao, W.; Liu, H. Biomimetic Nanobomb for Synergistic Therapy with Inhibition of Cancer Stem Cells. *Small* **2023**, *19*, 2206503.

(672) Li, H.; Yang, K.; Hai, L.; Wang, Z.; Luo, Y.; He, L.; Yi, W.; Li, J.; Xu, C.; Deng, L.; et al. Photothermal-Triggered Release of Alkyl Radicals and Cascade Generation of Hydroxyl Radicals *via* a Versatile Hybrid Nanocatalyst for Hypoxia-Irrelevant Synergistic Antibiofilm Therapy. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2023**, *455*, 140903.

(673) Yang, B.; Zhang, Y.; Sun, L.; Wang, J.; Zhao, Z.; Huang, Z.; Mao, W.; Xue, R.; Chen, R.; Luo, J.; et al. Modulated Ultrasmall  $\gamma$ -Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> Nanocrystal Assemblies for Switchable Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Photothermal-Ferroptotic-Chemical Synergistic Cancer Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2023**, 33, 2211251.

(674) Qin, W.; Huang, J.; Yang, C.; Yue, Q.; Chen, S.; Wang, M.; Gao, S.; Zhou, X.; Yang, X.; Zhang, Y. Protease-Activatable Nanozyme with Photoacoustic and Tumor-Enhanced Magnetic Resonance Imaging for Photothermal Ferroptosis Cancer Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2023**, *33*, 2209748.

(675) Zhang, P.; Qiao, Y.; Zhu, L.; Qin, M.; Li, Q.; Liu, C.; Xu, Y.; Zhang, X.; Gan, Z.; Hou, Y. Nanoprobe Based on Biominerals in Protein Corona for Dual-Modality MR Imaging and Therapy of Tumors. *ACS Nano* **2023**, *17*, 184–196.

(676) Chen, Y.; Yu, Z.; Zheng, K.; Ren, Y.; Wang, M.; Wu, Q.; Zhou, F.; Liu, C.; Liu, L.; Song, J.; et al. Degradable Mesoporous Semimetal Antimony Nanospheres for Near-Infrared II Multimodal Theranostics. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 539.

(677) Wang, J.; Sun, Z.; Wang, S.; Zhao, C.; Xu, J.; Gao, S.; Yang, M.; Sheng, F.; Gao, S.; Hou, Y. Biodegradable Ferrous Sulfide-Based Nanocomposites for Tumor Theranostics through Specific Intratumoral Acidosis-Induced Metabolic Symbiosis Disruption. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2022**, 144, 19884–19895.

(678) Zhu, W.; Mei, J.; Zhang, X.; Zhou, J.; Xu, D.; Su, Z.; Fang, S.; Wang, J.; Zhang, X.; Zhu, C. Photothermal Nanozyme-Based Microneedle Patch against Refractory Bacterial Biofilm Infection *via* Iron-Actuated Janus Ion Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2207961.

(679) Zhao, H.; Liu, Z.; Wei, Y.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z.; Ren, J.; Qu, X. NIR-II Light Leveraged Dual Drug Synthesis for Orthotopic Combination Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 20353–20363.

(680) Qiu, S.; Wu, X.; Li, Z.; Xu, X.; Wang, J.; Du, Y.; Pan, W.; Huang, R.; Wu, Y.; Yang, Z.; et al. A Smart Nanoreactor Based on an O<sub>2</sub>-Economized Dual Energy Inhibition Strategy Armed with Dual Multi-stimuli Responsive "Doorkeepers" for Enhanced CDT/PTT of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 17062–17079.

(681) Wang, M.; Liang, Y.; Liao, F.; Younis, R. M.; Zheng, Y.; Zhao, X.; Yu, X.; Guo, W.; Zhang, D.-Y. Iridium Tungstate Nanozyme-Mediated Hypoxic Regulation and Anti-Inflammation for Duplex Imaging Guided Photothermal Therapy of Metastatic Breast Tumors. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2022**, *14*, 56471–56482.

(682) Yan, H.; Dong, J.; Luan, X.; Wang, C.; Song, Z.; Chen, Q.; Ma, J.; Du, X. Ultrathin Porous Nitrogen-Doped Carbon-Coated CuSe Heterostructures for Combination Cancer Therapy of Photothermal Therapy, Photocatalytic Therapy, and Logic-Gated Chemotherapy. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2022**, *14*, 56237–56252.

(683) Wang, J.; Hao, B.; Xue, K.; Fu, H.; Xiao, M.; Zhang, Y.; Shi, L.; Zhu, C. A Smart Photothermal Nanosystem with an Intrinsic Temperature-Control Mechanism for Thermostatic Treatment of Bacterial Infections. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2205653.

(684) Duan, X.; Zhang, Q.; Jiang, Y.; Wu, X.; Yue, X.; Geng, Y.; Shen, J.; Ding, D. Semiconducting Polymer Nanoparticles with Intramolecular Motion-Induced Photothermy for Tumor Phototheranostics and Tooth Root Canal Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2200179.

(685) Wen, K.; Tan, H.; Peng, Q.; Chen, H.; Ma, H.; Wang, L.; Peng, A.; Shi, Q.; Cai, X.; Huang, H. Achieving Efficient NIR-II Type-I Photosensitizers for Photodynamic/Photothermal Therapy upon Regulating Chalcogen Elements. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2108146.

(686) Chen, P.; Qu, F.; Chen, S.; Li, J.; Shen, Q.; Sun, P.; Fan, Q. Bandgap Modulation and Lipid Intercalation Generates Ultrabright D-A–D-Based Zwitterionic Small-Molecule Nanoagent for Precise NIR-II Excitation Phototheranostic Applications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2208463.

(687) Liu, J.; Xiong, Y.; Gao, Y.; Xu, X.; Chen, K.; Shen, Q.; Huang, W.; Fan, Q.; Wang, Q. Molecular Oligomerization and Donor Engineering Strategies for Achieving Superior NIR-II Fluorescence Imaging and Thermotherapy under 1064 nm Laser Irradiation. *Small* **2023**, *19*, 2205640.

(688) Xiao, P.; Xie, W.; Zhang, J.; Wu, Q.; Shen, Z.; Guo, C.; Wu, Y.; Wang, F.; Tang, B. Z.; Wang, D. De Novo Design of Reversibly pH-Switchable NIR-II Aggregation-Induced Emission Luminogens for Efficient Phototheranostics of Patient-Derived Tumor Xenografts. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2023**, *145*, 334–344.

(689) Bai, Y.; Huang, P.; Feng, N.; Li, Y.; Huang, J.; Jin, H.; Zhang, M.; Sun, J.; Li, N.; Zhang, H.; et al. Treat the "Untreatable" by a Photothermal Agent: Triggering Heat and Immunological Responses for Rabies Virus Inactivation. *Adv. Sci.* **2023**, *10*, 2205461.

(690) Li, Y.; Tang, Y.; Hu, W.; Wang, Z.; Li, X.; Lu, X.; Chen, S.; Huang, W.; Fan, Q. Incorporation of Robust NIR-II Fluorescence Brightness and Photothermal Performance in a Single Large  $\pi$ -Conjugated Molecule for Phototheranostics. *Adv. Sci.* **2023**, *10*, 2204695.

(691) Li, C.; Jiang, G.; Yu, J.; Ji, W.; Liu, L.; Zhang, P.; Du, J.; Zhan, C.; Wang, J.; Tang, B. Z. Fluorination Enhances NIR-II Emission and Photothermal Conversion Efficiency of Phototheranostic Agents for Imaging-Guided Cancer Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2023**, *35*, 2208229.

(692) Ma, X.; Huang, Y.; Chen, W.; Liu, J.; Liu, S. H.; Yin, J.; Yang, G.-F. J-Aggregates Formed by NaCl Treatment of Aza-Coating Heptamethine Cyanines and Their Application to Monitoring Salt Stress of Plants and Promoting Photothermal Therapy of Tumors. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2023**, *62*, e202216109.

(693) Chen, S.; Pan, Y.; Chen, K.; Chen, P.; Shen, Q.; Sun, P.; Hu, W.; Fan, Q. Increasing Molecular Planarity through Donor/Side-Chain Engineering for Improved NIR-IIa Fluorescence Imaging and NIR-II Photothermal Therapy under 1064 nm. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2023**, *62*, e202215372.

(694) Xu, G.; Li, C.; Chi, C.; Wu, L.; Sun, Y.; Zhao, J.; Xia, X.-H.; Gou, S. A Supramolecular Photosensitizer Derived from an Arene-Ru(II) Complex Self-Assembly for NIR Activated Photodynamic and Photothermal Therapy. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 3064.

(695) Bian, H.; Ma, D.; Pan, F.; Zhang, X.; Xin, K.; Zhang, X.; Yang, Y.; Peng, X.; Xiao, Y. Cardiolipin-Targeted NIR-II Fluorophore Causes "Avalanche Effects" for Re-Engaging Cancer Apoptosis and Inhibiting Metastasis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2022**, 144, 22562–22573.

(696) Liu, K.; Jiang, Z.; Lalancette, R. A.; Tang, X.; Jäkle, F. Near-Infrared-Absorbing B–N Lewis Pair-Functionalized Anthracenes: Electronic Structure Tuning, Conformational Isomerism, and Applications in Photothermal Cancer Therapy. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2022, 144, 18908–18917.

(697) Chen, Y.; He, P.; Jana, D.; Wang, D.; Wang, M.; Yu, P.; Zhu, W.; Zhao, Y. Glutathione-Depleting Organic Metal Adjuvants for Effective NIR-II Photothermal Immunotherapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2201706.

(698) Chang, R.; Zou, Q.; Zhao, L.; Liu, Y.; Xing, R.; Yan, X. Amino-Acid-Encoded Supramolecular Photothermal Nanomedicine for Enhanced Cancer Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2200139.

(699) Wu, J.; Zhang, Y.; Jiang, K.; Wang, X.; Blum, N. T.; Zhang, J.; Jiang, S.; Lin, J.; Huang, P. Enzyme-Engineered Conjugated Polymer Nanoplatform for Activatable Companion Diagnostics and Multistage Augmented Synergistic Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2200062.

(700) Cheng, H.-B.; Dai, H.; Tan, X.; Li, H.; Liang, H.; Hu, C.; Huang, M.; Lee, J. Y.; Zhao, J.; Zhou, L.; et al. A Facile, Protein-Derived Supramolecular Theranostic Strategy for Multimodal-Imaging-Guided Photodynamic and Photothermal Immunotherapy *In Vivo. Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2109111.

(701) Yang, X.; Yang, T.; Liu, Q.; Zhang, X.; Yu, X.; Kwok, R. T. K.; Hai, L.; Zhang, P.; Tang, B. Z.; Cai, L.; et al. Biomimetic Aggregation-Induced Emission Nanodots with Hitchhiking Function for T Cell-Mediated Cancer Targeting and NIR-II Fluorescence-Guided Mild-Temperature Photothermal Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2206346.

(702) Guo, X.; Yang, J.; Li, M.; Zhang, F.; Bu, W.; Li, H.; Wu, Q.; Yin, D.; Jiao, L.; Hao, E. Unique Double Intramolecular and Intermolecular Exciton Coupling in Ethene-Bridged aza-BODIPY Dimers for High-Efficiency Near-Infrared Photothermal Conversion and Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2022**, *61*, e202211081. (703) Xu, C.; Jiang, Y.; Han, Y.; Pu, K.; Zhang, R. A Polymer Multicellular Nanoengager for Synergistic NIR-II Photothermal Immunotherapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2008061.

(704) Xu, Y.; Li, C.; Wu, X.; Li, M.-X.; Ma, Y.; Yang, H.; Zeng, Q.; Sessler, J. L.; Wang, Z.-X. Sheet-like 2D Manganese(IV) Complex with High Photothermal Conversion Efficiency. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2022**, *144*, 18834–18843.

(705) Chen, W.; Liu, C.; Ji, X.; Joseph, J.; Tang, Z.; Ouyang, J.; Xiao, Y.; Kong, N.; Joshi, N.; Farokhzad, O. C.; et al. Stanene-Based Nanosheets for  $\beta$ -Elemene Delivery and Ultrasound-Mediated Combination Cancer Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 7155–7164.

(706) Zhang, Q.; Guo, Q.; Chen, Q.; Zhao, X.; Pennycook, S. J.; Chen, H. Highly Efficient 2D NIR-II Photothermal Agent with Fenton Catalytic Activity for Cancer Synergistic Photothermal-Chemodynamic Therapy. *Adv. Sci.* **2020**, *7*, 1902576.

(707) Qin, Y.; Zhang, X.; Lächelt, U.; Huang, R. Unveiling the Multiple Tumor-Targeted Impairments of Covalent-Organic Framework-Switched Photothermal Shielding Nanoparticles. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2023**, 33, 2211075.

(708) Sheng, S.; Yu, X.; Xing, G.; Jin, L.; Zhang, Y.; Zhu, D.; Dong, X.; Mei, L.; Lv, F. An Apoptotic Body-based Vehicle with Navigation for Photothermal-Immunotherapy by Precise Delivery and Tumor Microenvironment Regulation. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2023**, *33*, 2212118.

(709) Whang, C.-H.; Hong, J.; Kim, D.; Ryu, H.; Jung, W.; Son, Y.; Keum, H.; Kim, J.; Shin, H.; Moon, E.; et al. Systematic Screening and Therapeutic Evaluation of Glyconanoparticles with Differential Cancer Affinities for Targeted Cancer Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2203993.

(710) Du, T.; Shi, Z.; Qin, Z.; Hu, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Jiang, H.; Wang, X. Tailoring Photothermally Triggered Phase Transition of Multimodal Cascade Theranostics Platform by Spherical Nucleic Acids. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2207410.

(711) Mei, Y.; Tang, L.; Zhang, L.; Hu, J.; Zhang, Z.; He, S.; Zang, J.; Wang, W. A Minimally Designed PD-L1-Targeted Nanocomposite for Positive Feedback-Based Multimodal Cancer Therapy. *Mater. Today* **2022**, *60*, 52–68.

(712) Chen, M.; Winston, D. D.; Wang, M.; Niu, W.; Cheng, W.; Guo, Y.; Wang, Y.; Luo, M.; Xie, C.; Leng, T.; et al. Hierarchically Multifunctional Bioactive Nanoglass for Integrated Tumor/Infection Therapy and Impaired Wound Repair. *Mater. Today* **2022**, *53*, 27–40. (713) Luan, X.; Pan, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Zhou, D.; Zhao, W.; Zeng, F.; Zhu, Z.; Lu, Q.; Lu, Q.; Gao, Y.; et al. Targeted Self-assembly of Renal

Clearable  $Cu_{2-x}$ Se to Induce Lysosome Swelling for Multimodal Imaging Guided Photothermal/Chemodynamic Synergistic Therapy. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2208354.

(714) Tang, W.; Yang, Z.; He, L.; Deng, L.; Fathi, P.; Zhu, S.; Li, L.; Shen, B.; Wang, Z.; Jacobson, O.; et al. A Hybrid Semiconducting Organosilica-Based O<sub>2</sub> Nanoeconomizer for on-Demand Synergistic Photothermally Boosted Radiotherapy. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 523. (715) Luo, D.; Carter, K. A.; Miranda, D.; Lovell, J. F. Chemophototherapy: An Emerging Treatment Option for Solid

Tumors. Adv. Sci. 2017, 4, 1600106.

(716) Wang, X.; Yang, T.; Yu, Z.; Liu, T.; Jin, R.; Weng, L.; Bai, Y.; Gooding, J. J.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, X. Intelligent Gold Nanoparticles with Oncogenic MicroRNA-Dependent Activities to Manipulate Tumorigenic Environments for Synergistic Tumor Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2110219.

(717) Yang, K.; Hua, B.; Qi, S.; Bai, B.; Yu, C.; Huang, F.; Yu, G. Suprasomes Based on Host–Guest Molecular Recognition: An Excellent Alternative to Liposomes in Cancer Theranostics. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2022**, *61*, e202213572.

(718) Zhang, L.; Chen, Y.; Li, Z.; Li, L.; Saint-Cricq, P.; Li, C.; Lin, J.; Wang, C.; Su, Z.; Zink, J. I. Tailored Synthesis of Octopus-Type Janus Nanoparticles for Synergistic Actively-Targeted and Chemo-Photothermal Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 2118–2121. (719) Kim, J.; Kim, J.; Jeong, C.; Kim, W. J. Synergistic Nanomedicine by Combined Gene and Photothermal Therapy. *Adv. Drug Delivery Rev.* **2016**, *98*, 99–112.

(720) Huang, X.; Lu, Y.; Guo, M.; Du, S.; Han, N. Recent Strategies for Nano-Based PTT Combined with Immunotherapy: From a Biomaterial Point of View. *Theranostics* **2021**, *11*, 7546–7569.

(721) Kang, X.; Bu, F.; Feng, W.; Liu, F.; Yang, X.; Li, H.; Yu, Y.; Li, G.; Xiao, H.; Wang, X. Dual-Cascade Responsive Nanoparticles Enhance Pancreatic Cancer Therapy by Eliminating Tumor-Resident Intracellular Bacteria. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2206765.

(722) Song, X.; Qian, R.; Li, T.; Fu, W.; Fang, L.; Cai, Y.; Guo, H.; Xi, L.; Cheang, U. K. Imaging-Guided Biomimetic M1 Macrophage Membrane-Camouflaged Magnetic Nanorobots for Photothermal Immunotargeting Cancer Therapy. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2022**, *14*, 56548–56559.

(723) Sun, R.; Liu, M.; Lu, J.; Chu, B.; Yang, Y.; Song, B.; Wang, H.; He, Y. Bacteria Loaded with Glucose Polymer and Photosensitive ICG Silicon-Nanoparticles for Glioblastoma Photothermal Immunotherapy. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 5127.

(724) Tang, H.; Qu, X.; Zhang, W.; Chen, X.; Zhang, S.; Xu, Y.; Yang, H.; Wang, Y.; Yang, J.; Yuan, W-E; et al. Photosensitizer Nanodot Eliciting Immunogenicity for Photo-Immunologic Therapy of Postoperative Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus Infection and Secondary Recurrence. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2107300.

(725) Li, X.; Yong, T.; Wei, Z.; Bie, N.; Zhang, X.; Zhan, G.; Li, J.; Qin, J.; Yu, J.; Zhang, B.; et al. Reversing Insufficient Photothermal Therapy-Induced Tumor Relapse and Metastasis by Regulating Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 2794.

(726) Yuan, J.; Liu, H.; Zhang, H.; Wang, T.; Zheng, Q.; Li, Z. Controlled Activation of TRPV1 Channels on Microglia to Boost Their Autophagy for Clearance of Alpha-Synuclein and Enhance Therapy of Parkinson's Disease. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, *34*, 2108435.

(727) Zhong, Y.; Li, T.; Zhu, Y.; Zhou, J.; Akinade, T. O.; Lee, J.; Liu, F.; Bhansali, D.; Lao, Y.-H.; Quek, C. H.; et al. Targeting Proinflammatory Molecules Using Multifunctional MnO Nanoparticles to Inhibit Breast Cancer Recurrence and Metastasis. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 20430–20444.

(728) Refaat, A.; del Rosal, B.; Bongcaron, V.; Walsh, A. P. G.; Pietersz, G.; Peter, K.; Moulton, S. E.; Wang, X. Activated Platelet-Targeted IR780 Immunoliposomes for Photothermal Thrombolysis. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2023**, *33*, 2209019.

(729) Mura, S.; Nicolas, J.; Couvreur, P. Stimuli-Responsive Nanocarriers for Drug Delivery. *Nat. Mater.* **2013**, *12*, 991–1003.

(730) Senapati, S.; Mahanta, A. K.; Kumar, S.; Maiti, P. Controlled Drug Delivery Vehicles for Cancer Treatment and Their Performance. *Signal Transduct. Target. Ther.* **2018**, *3*, 7.

(731) Goodman, A. M.; Neumann, O.; Norregaard, K.; Henderson, L.; Choi, M. R.; Clare, S. E.; Halas, N. J. Near-Infrared Remotely Triggered Drug-Release Strategies for Cancer Treatment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2017**, *114*, 12419–12424.

(732) Rahoui, N.; Jiang, B.; Taloub, N.; Huang, Y. D. Spatio-Temporal Control Strategy of Drug Delivery Systems Based Nano Structures. J. Controlled Release 2017, 255, 176–201.

(733) Yang, H.; Chen, Z.; Zhang, L.; Yung, W.-Y.; Leung, K. C.-F.; Chan, H. Y. E.; Choi, C. H. J. Mechanism for the Cellular Uptake of Targeted Gold Nanorods of Defined Aspect Ratios. *Small* **2016**, *12*, 5178–5189.

(734) Su, Y.-L.; Chen, K.-T.; Sheu, Y.-C.; Sung, S.-Y.; Hsu, R.-S.; Chiang, C.-S.; Hu, S.-H. The Penetrated Delivery of Drug and Energy to Tumors by Lipo-Graphene Nanosponges for Photolytic Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2016**, *10*, 9420–9433.

(735) Liu, J.; Dong, J.; Zhang, T.; Peng, Q. Graphene-Based Nanomaterials and Their Potentials in Advanced Drug Delivery and Cancer Therapy. *J. Controlled Release* **2018**, *286*, 64–73.

(736) Ni, W.; Wu, J.; Fang, H.; Feng, Y.; Hu, Y.; Lin, L.; Chen, J.; Chen, F.; Tian, H. Photothermal-Chemotherapy Enhancing Tumor Immunotherapy by Multifunctional Metal-Organic Framework Based Drug Delivery System. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 7796–7805.

(737) Yao, S.; Wang, Y.; Chi, J.; Yu, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Luo, Y.; Wang, Y. Porous MOF Microneedle Array Patch with Photothermal Responsive Nitric Oxide Delivery for Wound Healing. *Adv. Sci.* **2022**, *9*, 2103449.

(738) Zhan, C.; Huang, Y.; Lin, G.; Huang, S.; Zeng, F.; Wu, S. A Gold Nanocage/Cluster Hybrid Structure for Whole-Body Multispectral Optoacoustic Tomography Imaging, EGFR Inhibitor Delivery, and Photothermal Therapy. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1900309.

(739) Han, X.; Huang, J.; Lin, H.; Wang, Z.; Li, P.; Chen, Y. 2D Ultrathin MXene-Based Drug-Delivery Nanoplatform for Synergistic Photothermal Ablation and Chemotherapy of Cancer. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **2018**, *7*, 1701394.

(740) Qiu, M.; Wang, D.; Liang, W.; Liu, L.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, X.; Sang, D. K.; Xing, C.; Li, Z.; Dong, B.; et al. Novel Concept of the Smart NIR-Light-Controlled Drug Release of Black Phosphorus Nanostructure for Cancer Therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2018**, *115*, 501–506.

(741) Lee, H. P.; Gaharwar, A. K. Light-Responsive Inorganic Biomaterials for Biomedical Applications. *Adv. Sci.* **2020**, *7*, 2000863. (742) Blanco, E.; Shen, H.; Ferrari, M. Principles of Nanoparticle Design for Overcoming Biological Barriers to Drug Delivery. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2015**, 33, 941–951.

(743) Kinnear, C.; Moore, T. L.; Rodriguez-Lorenzo, L.; Rothen-Rutishauser, B.; Petri-Fink, A. Form Follows Function: Nanoparticle Shape and Its Implications for Nanomedicine. *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, *117*, 11476–11521.

(744) Zheng, N.; Wang, Q.; Li, C.; Wang, X.; Liu, X.; Wang, X.; Deng, G.; Wang, J.; Zhao, L.; Lu, J. Responsive Degradable Theranostic Agents Enable Controlled Selenium Delivery to Enhance Photothermal Radiotherapy and Reduce Side Effects. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **2021**, *10*, 2002024.

(745) Jin, Z.; Nguyen, K. T.; Go, G.; Kang, B.; Min, H.-K.; Kim, S.-J.; Kim, Y.; Li, H.; Kim, C. S.; Lee, S.; et al. Multifunctional Nanorobot System for Active Therapeutic Delivery and Synergistic Chemo-photothermal Therapy. *Nano Lett.* **2019**, *19*, 8550–8564.

(746) Wang, P.; Zhang, L.; Zheng, W.; Cong, L.; Guo, Z.; Xie, Y.; Wang, L.; Tang, R.; Feng, Q.; Hamada, Y.; et al. Thermo-Triggered Release of CRISPR-Cas9 System by Lipid-Encapsulated Gold Nanoparticles for Tumor Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 1491–1496.

(747) Yao, X.; Niu, X.; Ma, K.; Huang, P.; Grothe, J.; Kaskel, S.; Zhu, Y. Graphene Quantum Dots-Capped Magnetic Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticles as a Multifunctional Platform for Controlled Drug Delivery, Magnetic Hyperthermia, and Photothermal Therapy. *Small* **2017**, *13*, 1602225.

(748) Dibaba, S. T.; Caputo, R.; Xi, W.; Zhang, J. Z.; Wei, R.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, J.; Ren, W.; Sun, L. NIR Light-Degradable Antimony Nanoparticle-Based Drug-Delivery Nanosystem for Synergistic Chemo–Photothermal Therapy *in Vitro. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 48290–48299.

(749) He, T.; Yuan, Y.; Jiang, C.; Blum, N. T.; He, J.; Huang, P.; Lin, J. Light-Triggered Transformable Ferrous Ion Delivery System for Photothermal Primed Chemodynamic Therapy. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 6047–6054.

(750) Cao, Y.; Wu, T.; Zhang, K.; Meng, X.; Dai, W.; Wang, D.; Dong, H.; Zhang, X. Engineered Exosome-Mediated Near-Infrared-II Region  $V_2C$  Quantum Dot Delivery for Nucleus-Target Low-Temperature Photothermal Therapy. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 1499– 1510.

(751) Webber, M. J.; Langer, R. Drug Delivery by Supramolecular Design. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2017, 46, 6600-6620.

(752) Yu, G.; Yang, Z.; Fu, X.; Yung, B. C.; Yang, J.; Mao, Z.; Shao, L.; Hua, B.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, F.; et al. Polyrotaxane-Based Supra-molecular Theranostics. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 766.

(753) Wang, X.; Wang, C.; Wang, X.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Cheng, Y. A Polydopamine Nanoparticle-Knotted Poly(ethylene glycol) Hydrogel for On-Demand Drug Delivery and Chemo-photothermal Therapy. *Chem. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1370–1376.

(754) Ma, X.; Li, X.; Shi, J.; Yao, M.; Zhang, X.; Hou, R.; Shao, N.; Luo, Q.; Gao, Y.; Du, S.; et al. Host–Guest Polypyrrole Nanocomplex for Three-Stimuli-Responsive Drug Delivery and Imaging-Guided Chemo-Photothermal Synergetic Therapy of Refractory Thyroid Cancer. *Adv. Healthc. Mater.* **2019**, *8*, 1900661. (755) Xu, C.; Feng, Q.; Yang, H.; Wang, G.; Huang, L.; Bai, Q.; Zhang, C.; Wang, Y.; Chen, Y.; Cheng, Q.; et al. A Light-Triggered Mesenchymal Stem Cell Delivery System for Photoacoustic Imaging and Chemo-Photothermal Therapy of Triple Negative Breast Cancer. *Adv. Sci.* **2018**, *5*, 1800382.

(756) Sun, M.; Ji, Z.; He, L.; Zhao, C.; Ma, L.; Xu, X.; Cornel, E. J.; Fan, Z.; Xu, X. Instant Intracellular Delivery of miRNA *via* Photothermal Effect Induced on Plasmonic Pyramid Arrays. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2022**, *32*, 2107999.

(757) Xiong, R.; Hua, D.; Van Hoeck, J.; Berdecka, D.; Leger, L.; De Munter, S.; Fraire, J. C.; Raes, L.; Harizaj, A.; Sauvage, F.; et al. Photothermal Nanofibres Enable Safe Engineering of Therapeutic Cells. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2021**, *16*, 1281–1291.

(758) Wu, Y-C.; Wu, T.-H.; Clemens, D. L.; Lee, B.-Y.; Wen, X.; Horwitz, M. A.; Teitell, M. A.; Chiou, P. Y. Massively Parallel Delivery of Large Cargo into Mammalian Cells with Light Pulses. *Nat. Methods* **2015**, *12*, 439–444.

(759) Fu, Y.; Yang, L.; Zhang, J.; Hu, J.; Duan, G.; Liu, X.; Li, Y.; Gu, Z. Polydopamine Antibacterial Materials. *Mater. Horiz.* **2021**, *8*, 1618–1633.

(760) Ji, H.; Sun, H.; Qu, X. Antibacterial Applications of Graphene-Based Nanomaterials: Recent Achievements and Challenges. *Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev.* **2016**, *105*, 176–189.

(761) Zhong, Y.; Zheng, X. T.; Zhao, S.; Su, X.; Loh, X. J. Stimuli-Activable Metal-Bearing Nanomaterials and Precise On-Demand Antibacterial Strategies. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 19840–19872.

(762) Mao, D.; Hu, F.; Kenry; Ji, S.; Wu, W.; Ding, D.; Kong, D.; Liu, B. Metal-Organic-Framework-Assisted *In Vivo* Bacterial Metabolic Labeling and Precise Antibacterial Therapy. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, 30, 1706831.

(763) Hoiby, N.; Bjarnsholt, T.; Givskov, M.; Molin, S.; Ciofu, O. Antibiotic Resistance of Bacterial Biofilms. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents* **2010**, 35, 322–332.

(764) Wang, Y.; Jin, Y.; Chen, W.; Wang, J.; Chen, H.; Sun, L.; Li, X.; Ji, J.; Yu, Q.; Shen, L.; et al. Construction of Nanomaterials with Targeting Phototherapy Properties to Inhibit Resistant Bacteria and Biofilm Infections. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2019**, 358, 74–90.

(765) Huo, J.; Jia, Q.; Huang, H.; Zhang, J.; Li, P.; Dong, X.; Huang, W. Emerging Photothermal-Derived Multimodal Synergistic Therapy in Combating Bacterial Infections. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2021**, *50*, 8762–8789.

(766) Li, X.; Bai, H.; Yang, Y.; Yoon, J.; Wang, S.; Zhang, X. Supramolecular Antibacterial Materials for Combatting Antibiotic Resistance. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *31*, 1805092.

(767) Shan, J.; Li, X.; Yang, K.; Xiu, W.; Wen, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Yuwen, L.; Weng, L.; Teng, Z.; Wang, L. Efficient Bacteria Killing by Cu<sub>2</sub>WS<sub>4</sub> Nanocrystals with Enzyme-like Properties and Bacteria-Binding Ability. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 13797–13808.

(768) Chen, Z.; Ji, H.; Liu, C.; Bing, W.; Wang, Z.; Qu, X. A Multinuclear Metal Complex Based DNase-Mimetic Artificial Enzyme: Matrix Cleavage for Combating Bacterial Biofilms. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 10732–10736.

(769) Yang, Y.; Wu, X.; He, C.; Huang, J.; Yin, S.; Zhou, M.; Ma, L.; Zhao, W.; Qiu, L.; Cheng, C.; et al. Metal–Organic Framework/Ag-Based Hybrid Nanoagents for Rapid and Synergistic Bacterial Eradication. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 13698–13708.

(770) Ye, Y.; He, J.; Qiao, Y.; Qi, Y.; Zhang, H.; Santos, H. A.; Zhong, D.; Li, W.; Hua, S.; Wang, W.; et al. Mild Temperature Photothermal Assisted Anti-Bacterial and Anti-Inflammatory Nanosystem for Synergistic Treatment of Post-Cataract Surgery Endophthalmitis. *Theranostics* **2020**, *10*, 8541–8557.

(771) Li, N.; Wu, G.; Tang, L.; Zhou, W.; Yang, S.; Pan, Q.; Wang, M.; Wu, P.; Xiao, H.; He, Y.; et al. Metabolic Labeling Strategy Boosted Antibacterial Efficiency for Photothermal and Photodynamic Synergistic Bacteria-Infected Wound Therapy. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2022**, *14*, 46362–46373.

(772) Yin, W.; Yu, J.; Lv, F.; Yan, L.; Zheng, L. R.; Gu, Z.; Zhao, Y. Functionalized Nano-MoS<sub>2</sub> with Peroxidase Catalytic and Near-

Infrared Photothermal Activities for Safe and Synergetic Wound Antibacterial Applications. *ACS Nano* **2016**, *10*, 11000–11011. (773) Liu, Z.; Zhao, X.; Yu, B.; Zhao, N.; Zhang, C.; Xu, F.-J. Rough

Carbon-Iron Oxide Nanohybrids for Near-Infrared-II Light-Responsive Synergistic Antibacterial Therapy. ACS Nano 2021, 15, 7482–7490.

(774) Mao, C.; Xiang, Y.; Liu, X.; Zheng, Y.; Yeung, K. W. K.; Cui, Z.; Yang, X.; Li, Z.; Liang, Y.; Zhu, S.; et al. Local Photothermal/ Photodynamic Synergistic Therapy by Disrupting Bacterial Membrane To Accelerate Reactive Oxygen Species Permeation and Protein Leakage. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 17902–17914.

(775) Yin, Q.; Tan, L.; Lang, Q.; Ke, X.; Bai, L.; Guo, K.; Qiao, R.; Bai, S. Plasmonic Molybdenum Oxide Nanosheets Supported Silver Nanocubes for Enhanced Near-Infrared Antibacterial Activity: Synergism of Photothermal Effect, Silver Release and Photocatalytic Reactions. *Appl. Catal. B-Environ.* **2018**, *224*, 671–680.

(776) Wang, Y.; Fei, Y.; Yang, T.; Luo, Z.; Xu, Y.; Su, B.; Lin, X. Nanotechnology for Ultrafast Nucleic Acid Amplification. *Nano Today* **2023**, *48*, 101749.

(777) Mohammadyousef, P.; Paliouras, M.; Trifiro, M. A.; Kirk, A. G. Plasmonic and Label-Free Real-Time Quantitative PCR for Pointof-Care Diagnostics. *Analyst* **2021**, *146*, 5619–5630.

(778) Cao, Z.; Ye, Y.; Li, G.; Zhang, R.; Dong, S.; Liu, Y. Monolithically Integrated Microchannel Plate Functionalized with ZnO Nanorods for Fluorescence-Enhanced Digital Polymerase Chain Reaction. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2022**, *213*, 114499.

(779) Cheong, J.; Yu, H.; Lee, C. Y.; Lee, J.-U.; Choi, H.-J.; Lee, J.-H.; Lee, H.; Cheon, J. Fast Detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA *via* the Integration of Plasmonic Thermocycling and Fluorescence Detection in a Portable Device. *Nat. Biomed. Eng.* **2020**, *4*, 1159–1167.

(780) Kim, J.; Kim, H.; Park, J. H.; Jon, S. Gold Nanorod-Based Photo-PCR System for One-Step, Rapid Detection of Bacteria. *Nanotheranostics* **2017**, *1*, 178–185.

(781) Roche, P. J. R.; Najih, M.; Lee, S. S.; Beitel, L. K.; Carnevale, M. L.; Paliouras, M.; Kirk, A. G.; Trifiro, M. A. Real Time Plasmonic qPCR: How Fast is Ultra-Fast? 30 Cycles in 54 Seconds. *Analyst* **2017**, *142*, 1746–1755.

(782) Li, T.-J.; Chang, C.-M.; Chang, P.-Y.; Chuang, Y.-C.; Huang, C.-C.; Su, W.-C.; Shieh, D.-B. Handheld Energy-Efficient Magneto-Optical Real-Time Quantitative PCR Device for Target DNA Enrichment and Quantification. *NPG Asia Mater.* **2016**, *8*, e277.

(783) van Kasteren, P. B.; van der Veer, B.; van den Brink, S.; Wijsman, L.; de Jønge, J.; van den Brandt, A.; Molenkamp, R.; Reusken, C.; Meijer, A. Comparison of Seven Commercial RT-PCR Diagnostic Kits for COVID-19. *J. Clin. Virol.* **2020**, *128*, 104412.

(784) Petralia, S.; Conoci, S. PCR Technologies for Point of Care Testing: Progress and Perspectives. *ACS Sens.* **2017**, *2*, 876–891.

(785) Talebian, S.; Wallace, G. G.; Schroeder, A.; Stellacci, F.; Conde, J. Nanotechnology-Based Disinfectants and Sensors for SARS-CoV-2. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2020**, *15*, 618–624.

(786) Rasmi, Y.; Saloua, K. S.; Nemati, M.; Choi, J. R. Recent Progress in Nanotechnology for COVID-19 Prevention, Diagnostics and Treatment. *Nanomaterials* **2021**, *11*, 1788.

(787) Jiang, F.; Deng, L.; Zhang, L.; Cai, Y.; Cheung, C. W.; Xia, Z. Review of the Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *J. Gen. Intern. Med.* **2020**, 35, 1545–1549.

(788) Soh, J. O.; Park, B. C.; Park, H. S.; Kim, M. S.; Fu, H. E.; Kim, Y. K.; Lee, J. H. Multifunctional Nanoparticle Platform for Surface Accumulative Nucleic Acid Amplification and Rapid Electrochemical Detection: An Application to Pathogenic Coronavirus. *ACS Sens.* **2023**, *8*, 839–847.

(789) Kumar, S.; Karmacharya, M.; Joshi, S. R.; Gulenko, O.; Park, J.; Kim, G.-H.; Cho, Y.-K. Photoactive Antiviral Face Mask with Self-Sterilization and Reusability. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 337–343.

(790) De Sio, L.; Ding, B.; Focsan, M.; Kogermann, K.; Pascoal-Faria, P.; Petronela, F.; Mitchell, G.; Zussman, E.; Pierini, F. Personalized Reusable Face Masks with Smart Nano-Assisted Destruction of Pathogens for COVID-19: A Visionary Road. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2021**, *27*, 6112–6130.

(791) Cai, X.; Chen, M.; Prominski, A.; Lin, Y.; Ankenbruck, N.; Rosenberg, J.; Nguyen, M.; Shi, J.; Tomatsidou, A.; Randall, G.; et al. A Multifunctional Neutralizing Antibody-Conjugated Nanoparticle Inhibits and Inactivates SARS-CoV-2. *Adv. Sci.* **2022**, *9*, 2103240.

(792) Franke, K.; Vlasits, A. Unblinding with Infrared Nanosensors. *Science* **2020**, 368, 1057–1058.

(793) Nelidova, D.; Morikawa, R. K.; Cowan, C. S.; Raics, Z.; Goldblum, D.; Scholl, H. P.; Szikra, T.; Szabo, A.; Hillier, D.; Roska, B. Restoring Light Sensitivity Using Tunable Near-Infrared Sensors. *Science* **2020**, *368*, 1108–1113.

(794) Meng, F. L.; Yilmaz, G.; Ding, T. P.; Gao, M.; Ho, G. W. A Hybrid Solar Absorber–Electrocatalytic N-Doped Carbon/Alloy/ Semiconductor Electrode for Localized Photothermic Electrocatalysis. *Adv. Mater.* **2019**, *31*, 1903605.

(795) Schorr, N. B.; Counihan, M. J.; Bhargava, R.; Rodríguez-López, J. Impact of Plasmonic Photothermal Effects on the Reactivity of Au Nanoparticle Modified Graphene Electrodes Visualized Using Scanning Electrochemical Microscopy. *Anal. Chem.* **2020**, *92*, 3666– 3673.

(796) Wang, Y.; Zhou, L.; Luo, X.; Zhang, Y.; Sun, J.; Ning, X.; Yuan, Y. Solar Photothermal Electrodes for Highly Efficient Microbial Energy Harvesting at Low Ambient Temperatures. *ChemSusChem* **2018**, *11*, 4071–4076.

(797) Chen, S.; Wang, L.; Hu, X. Photothermal Supercapacitors at – 40 °C Based on Bifunctional TiN Electrodes. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2021**, *423*, 130162.

(798) Lin, M.; Hu, H.; Zhou, S.; Xu, S. Soft Wearable Devices for Deep-Tissue Sensing. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2022**, *7*, 850–869.

(799) Kim, J.; Campbell, A. S.; de Avila, B. E.-F.; Wang, J. Wearable Biosensors for Healthcare Monitoring. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2019**, *37*, 389–406.

(800) Lee, G.-H.; Moon, H.; Kim, H.; Lee, G. H.; Kwon, W.; Yoo, S.; Myung, D.; Yun, S. H.; Bao, Z.; Hahn, S. K. Multifunctional Materials for Implantable and Wearable Photonic Healthcare Devices. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2020**, *5*, 149–165.

(801) Fan, X.; Ding, Y.; Liu, Y.; Liang, J.; Chen, Y. Plasmonic  $Ti_3C_2T_x$  MXene Enables Highly Efficient Photothermal Conversion for Healable and Transparent Wearable Device. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 8124–8134.

(802) Yang, D.; Ni, Y.; Kong, X.; Li, S.; Chen, X.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z. L. Self-Healing and Elastic Triboelectric Nanogenerators for Muscle Motion Monitoring and Photothermal Treatment. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 14653–14661.

(803) Wang, X.; Lei, Z.; Ma, X.; He, G.; Xu, T.; Tan, J.; Wang, L.; Zhang, X.; Qu, L.; Zhang, X. A Lightweight MXene-Coated Nonwoven Fabric with Excellent Flame Retardancy, EMI Shielding, and Electrothermal/Photothermal Conversion for Wearable Heater. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2022**, 430, 132605.

(804) Chao, M.; Di, P.; Yuan, Y.; Xu, Y.; Zhang, L.; Wan, P. Flexible Breathable Photothermal-Therapy Epidermic Sensor with MXene for Ultrasensitive Wearable Human-Machine Interaction. *Nano Energy* **2023**, *108*, 108201.

(805) Du, S.; Suo, H.; Xie, G.; Lyu, Q.; Mo, M.; Xie, Z.; Zhou, N.; Zhang, L.; Tao, J.; Zhu, J. Self-Powered and Photothermal Electronic Skin Patches for Accelerating Wound Healing. *Nano Energy* **2022**, *93*, 106906.

(806) Zhang, X.; Li, T.-T.; Ren, H.-T.; Peng, H.-K.; Shiu, B.-C.; Wang, Y.; Lou, C.-W.; Lin, J.-H. Dual-Shell Photothermoelectric Textile Based on a PPy Photothermal Layer for Solar Thermal Energy Harvesting. ACS App. Mater. Interfaces **2020**, *12*, 55072–55082.

(807) Li, M.; Chen, J.; Luo, M.; Zhong, W.; Wang, W.; Qing, X.; Lu, Y.; Yang, L.; Liu, Q.; Wang, Y. Wearable Thermoelectric 3D Spacer Fabric Containing a Photothermal ZrC Layer with Improved Power Generation Efficiency. *Energy Convers. Manag.* **2021**, *243*, 114432.

(808) Safari, A.; Saidur, R.; Sulaiman, F.; Xu, Y.; Dong, J. A Review on Supercooling of Phase Change Materials in Thermal Energy Storage Systems. *Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev.* **2017**, *70*, 905–919.

(809) Liu, H.; Tian, X.; Ouyang, M.; Wang, X.; Wu, D.; Wang, X. Microencapsulating N-Docosane Phase Change Material into CaCO<sub>3</sub>/Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> Composites for High-Efficient Utilization of Solar Photothermal Energy. *Renew. Energy* **2021**, *179*, 47–64.

(810) Lin, S. C.; Al-Kayiem, H. H. Evaluation of Copper Nanoparticles–Paraffin Wax Compositions for Solar Thermal Energy Storage. *Sol. Energy* **2016**, *132*, 267–278.

(811) Tang, L.-S.; Yang, J.; Bao, R.-Y.; Liu, Z.-Y.; Xie, B.-H.; Yang, M.-B.; Yang, W. Polyethylene Glycol/Graphene Oxide Aerogel Shape-Stabilized Phase Change Materials for Photo-to-Thermal Energy Conversion and Storage *via* Tuning the Oxidation Degree of Graphene Oxide. *Energy Convers. Manag.* 2017, 146, 253–264.

(812) Tang, B.; Qiu, M.; Zhang, S. Thermal Conductivity Enhancement of  $PEG/SiO_2$  Composite PCM by In Situ Cu Doping. Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells **2012**, 105, 242–248.

(813) Fan, X.; Liu, L.; Jin, X.; Wang, W.; Zhang, S.; Tang, B. MXene  $Ti_3C_2T_x$  for Phase Change Composite with Superior Photothermal Storage Capability. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2019**, *7*, 14319–14327.

(814) Maithya, O. M.; Zhu, X.; Li, X.; Korir, S. J.; Feng, X.; Sui, X.; Wang, B. High-Energy Storage Graphene Oxide Modified Phase Change Microcapsules from Regenerated Chitin Pickering Emulsion for Photothermal Conversion. *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells* **2021**, *222*, 110924.

(815) Zhao, Q.; Yang, W.; Li, Y.; He, Z.; Li, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Wang, R.; Fan, J.; Zhang, K. Multifunctional Phase Change Microcapsules Based on Graphene Oxide Pickering Emulsion for Photothermal Energy Conversion and Superhydrophobicity. *Int. J. Energy Res.* **2020**, *44*, 4464–4474.

(816) Mo, Z.; Mo, P.; Yi, M.; Hu, Z.; Tan, G.; Selim, M. S.; Chen, Y.; Chen, X.; Hao, Z.; Wei, X.  $Ti_3C_2T_x$ @ Polyvinyl Alcohol Foam-Supported Phase Change Materials with Simultaneous Enhanced Thermal Conductivity and Solar-Thermal Conversion Performance. *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells* **2021**, *219*, 110813.

(817) Tang, L.; Zhao, X.; Feng, C.; Bai, L.; Yang, J.; Bao, R.; Liu, Z.; Yang, M.; Yang, W. Bacterial Cellulose/MXene Hybrid Aerogels for Photodriven Shape-Stabilized Composite Phase Change Materials. *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells* **2019**, 203, 110174.

(818) Lin, P.; Xie, J.; He, Y.; Lu, X.; Li, W.; Fang, J.; Yan, S.; Zhang, L.; Sheng, X.; Chen, Y. MXene Aerogel-Based Phase Change Materials toward Solar Energy Conversion. *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells* **2020**, *206*, 110229.

(819) Zhang, Y.; Wang, J.; Qiu, J.; Jin, X.; Umair, M. M.; Lu, R.; Zhang, S.; Tang, B. Ag-Graphene/PEG Composite Phase Change Materials for Enhancing Solar-Thermal Energy Conversion and Storage Capacity. *Appl. Energy* **2019**, *237*, 83–90.

(820) Xu, J.; Tan, Y.; Du, X.; Du, Z.; Cheng, X.; Wang, H. Cellulose Nanofibril/Polypyrrole Hybrid Aerogel Supported Form-Stable Phase Change Composites with Superior Energy Storage Density and Improved Photothermal Conversion Efficiency. *Cellulose* **2020**, *27*, 9547–9558.

(821) Fan, P.; Fan, Z.; Huang, F.; Yang, J.; Chen, F.; Fei, Z.; Zhong, M. GO@Polyaniline Nanorod Array Hierarchical Structure: A Photothermal Agent with High Photothermal Conversion Efficiency for Fast Near-Infrared Responsive Hydrogels. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2019**, *58*, 3893–3901.

(822) Tan, Y.; Du, X.; Du, Z.; Wang, H.; Cheng, X. Form-Stable Phase Change Composites Based on Nanofibrillated Cellulose/ Polydopamine Hybrid Aerogels with Extremely High Energy Storage Density and Improved Photothermal Conversion Efficiency. *RSC Adv.* **2021**, *11*, 5712–5721.